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How to Use the CFA
Program Curriculum

The CFA’ Program exams measure your mastery of the core knowledge, skills, and
abilities required to succeed as an investment professional. These core competencies
are the basis for the Candidate Body of Knowledge (CBOK™). The CBOK consists of
four components:

= A broad outline that lists the major CFA Program topic areas (www
.cfainstitute.org/programs/cfa/curriculum/cbok)

= Topic area weights that indicate the relative exam weightings of the top-level
topic areas (www.cfainstitute.org/programs/cfa/curriculum)

= Learning outcome statements (LOS) that advise candidates about the
specific knowledge, skills, and abilities they should acquire from curricu-
lum content covering a topic area: LOS are provided at the beginning of
each block of related content and the specific lesson that covers them. We
encourage you to review the information about the LOS on our website
(www.cfainstitute.org/programs/cfa/curriculum/study-sessions), including
the descriptions of LOS “command words” on the candidate resources page
at www.cfainstitute.org.

= The CFA Program curriculum that candidates receive upon exam
registration

Therefore, the key to your success on the CFA exams is studying and understanding
the CBOK. You can learn more about the CBOK on our website: www.cfainstitute
.org/programs/cfa/curriculum/cbok.

The entire curriculum, including the practice questions, is the basis for all exam
questions and is selected or developed specifically to teach the knowledge, skills, and
abilities reflected in the CBOK.

ERRATA

The curriculum development process is rigorous and includes multiple rounds of
reviews by content experts. Despite our efforts to produce a curriculum that is free
of errors, there are instances where we must make corrections. Curriculum errata are
periodically updated and posted by exam level and test date online on the Curriculum
Errata webpage (www.cfainstitute.org/en/programs/submit-errata). If you believe you
have found an error in the curriculum, you can submit your concerns through our
curriculum errata reporting process found at the bottom of the Curriculum Errata
webpage.

DESIGNING YOUR PERSONAL STUDY PROGRAM

An orderly, systematic approach to exam preparation is critical. You should dedicate
a consistent block of time every week to reading and studying. Review the LOS both
before and after you study curriculum content to ensure that you have mastered the


www.cfainstitute.org/programs/cfa/curriculum/cbok
www.cfainstitute.org/programs/cfa/curriculum/cbok
www.cfainstitute.org/programs/cfa/curriculum
www.cfainstitute.org/programs/cfa/curriculum/study-sessions
www.cfainstitute.org
www.cfainstitute.org/programs/cfa/curriculum/cbok
www.cfainstitute.org/programs/cfa/curriculum/cbok
www.cfainstitute.org/en/programs/submit-errata
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applicable content and can demonstrate the knowledge, skills, and abilities described
by the LOS and the assigned reading. Use the LOS self-check to track your progress
and highlight areas of weakness for later review.

Successful candidates report an average of more than 300 hours preparing for each
exam. Your preparation time will vary based on your prior education and experience,
and you will likely spend more time on some study sessions than on others.

CFA INSTITUTE LEARNING ECOSYSTEM (LES)

Your exam registration fee includes access to the CFA Program Learning Ecosystem
(LES). This digital learning platform provides access, even offline, to all of the curricu-
lum content and practice questions and is organized as a series of short online lessons
with associated practice questions. This tool is your one-stop location for all study
materials, including practice questions and mock exams, and the primary method by
which CFA Institute delivers your curriculum experience. The LES offers candidates
additional practice questions to test their knowledge, and some questions in the LES
provide a unique interactive experience.

PREREQUISITE KNOWLEDGE

The CFA’ Program assumes basic knowledge of Economics, Quantitative Methods,
and Financial Statements as presented in introductory university-level courses in
Statistics, Economics, and Accounting. CFA Level I candidates who do not have a
basic understanding of these concepts or would like to review these concepts can
study from any of the three pre-read volumes.

FEEDBACK

Please send any comments or feedback to info@cfainstitute.org, and we will review
your suggestions carefully.
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LEARNING MODULE

Intercorporate Investments

by Susan Perry Williams, CPA, CMA, PhD.

Susan Perry Williams, CPA, CMA, PhD, is Professor Emeritus at the McIntire School of
Commerce, University of Virginia (USA).

LEARNING OUTCOMES

Mastery | The candidate should be able to:

] describe the classification, measurement, and disclosure under
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for 1)
investments in financial assets, 2) investments in associates, 3) joint
ventures, 4) business combinations, and 5) special purpose and
variable interest entities

] compare and contrast IFRS and US GAAP in their classification,
measurement, and disclosure of investments in financial assets,
investments in associates, joint ventures, business combinations, and
special purpose and variable interest entities

] analyze how different methods used to account for intercorporate
investments affect financial statements and ratios

Note: New rulings and/or
pronouncements issued after
the publication of the readings
in financial reporting and
analysis may cause some of the
information in these readings
to become dated. Candidates
are expected to be familiar

with the overall analytical
framework contained in the
study session readings, as well
as the implications of alternative
accounting methods for
financial analysis and valuation,
as provided in the assigned
readings. Candidates are not
responsible for changes that
occur after the material was
written.
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INTRODUCTION

Intercorporate investments (investments in other companies) can have a significant
impact on an investing company’s financial performance and position. Companies
invest in the debt and equity securities of other companies to diversify their asset
base, enter new markets, obtain competitive advantages, deploy excess cash, and
achieve additional profitability. Debt securities include commercial paper, corporate
and government bonds and notes, redeemable preferred stock, and asset-backed
securities. Equity securities include common stock and non-redeemable preferred
stock. The percentage of equity ownership a company acquires in an investee depends
on the resources available, the ability to acquire the shares, and the desired level of
influence or control.

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the US Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) worked to reduce differences in accounting stan-
dards that apply to the classification, measurement, and disclosure of intercorporate
investments. The resulting standards have improved the relevance, transparency, and
comparability of information provided in financial statements.

Complete convergence between IFRS accounting standards and US GAAP did not
occur for accounting for financial instruments, and some differences still exist. The
terminology used in this reading is IFRS-oriented. US GAAP may not use identical
terminology, but in most cases the terminology is similar.

BASIC CORPORATE INVESTMENT CATEGORIES

] describe the classification, measurement, and disclosure under
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for 1)
investments in financial assets, 2) investments in associates, 3) joint
ventures, 4) business combinations, and 5) special purpose and
variable interest entities

] compare and contrast IFRS and US GAAP in their classification,
measurement, and disclosure of investments in financial assets,
investments in associates, joint ventures, business combinations, and
special purpose and variable interest entities

In general, investments in marketable debt and equity securities can be categorized
as 1) investments in financial assets in which the investor has no significant influ-
ence or control over the operations of the investee, 2) investments in associates in
which the investor can exert significant influence (but not control) over the investee,
3) joint ventures where control is shared by two or more entities, and 4) business
combinations, including investments in subsidiaries, in which the investor obtains a
controlling interest over the investee. The distinction between investments in financial
assets, investments in associates, and business combinations is based on the degree
of influence or control rather than purely on the percent holding. However, lack of
influence is generally presumed when the investor holds less than a 20% equity inter-
est, significant influence is generally presumed between 20% and 50%, and control is
presumed when the percentage of ownership exceeds 50%.
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The following excerpt from Note 2 to the Financial Statements in the 2017 Annual
Report of GlaxoSmithKline, a British pharmaceutical and healthcare company, illus-
trates the categorization and disclosure in practice:

Entities over which the Group has the power to direct the relevant activities
so as to affect the returns to the Group, generally through control over the
financial and operating policies, are accounted for as subsidiaries.

Where the Group has the ability to exercise joint control over, and
rights to the net assets of, entities, the entities are accounted for as joint
ventures. Where the Group has the ability to exercise joint control over an
arrangement, but has rights to specified assets and obligations for specified
liabilities of the arrangement, the arrangement is accounted for as a joint
operation. Where the Group has the ability to exercise significant influence
over entities, they are accounted for as associates. The results and assets
and liabilities of associates and joint ventures are incorporated into the
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting.
The Group’s rights to assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of joint oper-
ations are included in the consolidated financial statements in accordance
with those rights and obligations.

A summary of the financial reporting and relevant standards for various types
of corporate investment is presented in Exhibit 1 (the headings in Exhibit 1 use the
terminology of IFRS; US GAAP categorizes intercorporate investments similarly but
not identically). The reader should be alert to the fact that value measurement and/
or the treatment of changes in value can vary depending on the classification and
whether IFRS or US GAAP is used. The alternative treatments are discussed in greater
depth later in this reading.

Exhibit 1: Summary of Accounting Treatments for Investments

Business

In Financial Assets In Associates Combinations In Joint Ventures

Controlling Shared control

Usually > 50% or

Influence Not significant

Usually < 20%

Significant

Typical percentage Usually 20% to 50%

interest other indications of
control
US GAAP P FASB ASC Topic 320 FASB ASC Topic FASB ASC Topics 805 FASB ASC Topic 323
323 and 810
Financial Reporting  Classified as: Equity method Consolidation IFRS: Equity method
= Fair value through profit
or loss
= Fair value through other
comprehensive income
= Amortized cost
Applicable IFRS 2 IFRS 9 IAS 28 IAS 27 IFRS 11
IFRS 3 IFRS 12
IFRS 10 IAS 28

US GAAP b

FASB ASC Topic 320

FASB ASC Topic
323

FASB ASC Topics 805
and 810

FASB ASC Topic 323
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3 [FRS 9 Financial Instruments; IAS 28 Investments in Associates; IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements;
IFRS 3 Business Combinations; IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements; IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements;
IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities.

b FASB ASC Topic 320 [Investments—Debt and Equity Securities]; FASB ASC Topic 323 [Investments—
Equity Method and Joint Ventures]; FASB ASC Topics 805 [Business Combinations] and 810
[Consolidations].

INVESTMENTS IN FINANCIAL ASSETS: IFRS 9

] describe the classification, measurement, and disclosure under
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for 1)
investments in financial assets, 2) investments in associates, 3) joint
ventures, 4) business combinations, and 5) special purpose and
variable interest entities

] compare and contrast IFRS and US GAAP in their classification,
measurement, and disclosure of investments in financial assets,
investments in associates, joint ventures, business combinations, and
special purpose and variable interest entities

Both IASB and FASB developed revised standards for financial investments. The [ASB
issued the first phase of their project dealing with classification and measurement of
financial instruments by including relevant chapters in IFRS 9, Financial Instruments.
IFRS 9, which replaces IAS 39, became effective for annual periods on 1 January
2018. The FASB’s guidance relating to the accounting for investments in financial
instruments is contained in ASC 825, Financial Instruments, which has been updated
several times, with the standard being effective for periods after 15 December 2017.
The resulting US GAAP guidance has many consistencies with IFRS requirements,
but there are also some differences.

IFRS 9 is based on an approach that considers the contractual characteristics of
cash flows as well as the management of the financial assets. The portfolio approach
of the previous standard (i.e., designation of held for trading, available-for-sale, and
held-to-maturity) is no longer appropriate, and the terms available-for-sale and
held-to-maturity no longer appear in IFRS 9. Another key change in IFRS 9, compared
with IAS 39, relates to the approach to loan impairment. In particular, companies are
required to migrate from an incurred loss model to an expected credit loss model.
This results in companies evaluating not only historical and current information about
loan performance, but also forward-looking information.!

The criteria for using amortized cost are similar to those of the IAS 39 “management
intent to hold-to-maturity” classification. Specifically, to be measured at amortized
cost, financial assets must meet two criteria:2

1. A business model test:® The financial assets are being held to collect con-
tractual cash flows; and

1 Under US GAAP, requirements for assessing credit impairment are included in ASC 326, which is
effective for most public companies beginning January 1, 2020.

2 IFRS 9, paragraph 4.1.2.

3 A business model refers to how an entity manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows — by
collecting contractual cash flows, selling financial assets or both. (IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, Project
Summary, July 2014)
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2. A cash flow characteristic test: The contractual cash flows are solely pay-
ments of principal and interest on principal.

Classification and Measurement

IERS 9 divides all financial assets into two classifications—those measured at amortized
cost and those measured at fair value. Under this approach, there are three different
categories of measurement:

=  Amortised cost
= Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) or
= Fair Value through Other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

All financial assets are measured at fair value when initially acquired (which will
generally be equal to the cost basis on the date of acquisition). Subsequently, financial
assets are measured at either fair value or amortized cost. Financial assets that meet the
two criteria above are generally measured at amortized cost. If the financial asset meets
the criteria above but may be sold, a “hold-to-collect and sell” business model, it may
be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). However,
management may choose the “fair value through profit or loss” (FVPL) option to
avoid an accounting mismatch.* An “accounting mismatch” refers to an inconsistency
resulting from different measurement bases for assets and liabilities, i.e., some are
measured at amortized cost and some at fair value. Debt instruments are measured
at amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), or fair
value through profit or loss (FVPL) depending upon the business model.

Equity instruments are measured at FVPL or at FVOCI; they are not eligible for
measurement at amortized cost. Equity investments held-for-trading must be measured
at FVPL. Other equity investments can be measured at FVPL or FVOCI; however, the
choice is irrevocable. If the entity uses the FVOCI option, only the dividend income
is recognized in profit or loss. Furthermore, the requirements for reclassifying gains
or losses recognized in other comprehensive income are different for debt and equity
instruments.

4 IFRS 9, paragraph 4.1.5.
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Exhibit 2: Financial Assets Classification and Measurement Model, IFRS 9

Debt Equity
Yes Yes
Y A
Yes .
1. Is the business objective Held for Trading

for financial assets to collect

contractual cash flows? and No No
2. Are the contractual cash —
flows solely for principal Yes
and interest on principal? Designated at FVOCI?
Yes No
A
Yes

Designated at FVPL? —

No
Y A Y Y
. Changes in fair value Changes in fair value
Amortized Cost recognized in Profit recognized in Other
or FVOCI or Loss Comprehensive Income

Financial assets that are derivatives are measured at fair value through profit or loss
(except for hedging instruments). Embedded derivatives are not separated from the
hybrid contract if the asset falls within the scope of this standard and the asset as a
whole is measured at FVPL.

Exhibit 3 contains an excerpt from the 2017 Deutsche Bank financial statements
that describes how financial assets and financial liabilities are determined, measured,
and recognized on its financial statements.

Exhibit 3: Excerpt from Deutsche Bank’s 2017 Financial Statements

Financial Assets

IERS 9 requires that an entity’s business model and a financial instrument’s
contractual cash flows will determine its classification and measurement in the
financial statements. Upon initial recognition each financial asset will be classified
as either fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), amortized cost, or fair value
through Other Comprehensive Income (‘FVOCT’). As the requirements under
IFRS 9 are different than the assessments under the existing IAS 39 rules, there
will be some differences from the classification and measurement of financial
assets under IAS 39, including whether to elect the fair value option on certain
assets. The classification and measurement of financial liabilities remain largely
unchanged under IFRS 9 from current requirements.

In 2015, the Group made an initial determination of business models and
assessed the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets within
such business models to determine the potential classification and measurement
changes as a result of IFRS 9. As a result of the initial analysis performed, in 2016
the Group identified a population of financial assets which are to be measured at
either amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, which
will be subject to the IFRS 9 impairment rules. In 2017, the Group updated its
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business model assessments and completed outstanding classification decisions.
On initial recognition of an equity investment not held for trading, the Group
may on an investment-by-investment basis, irrevocably elect to present subse-
quent fair value changes in OCIL The Group has not made any such elections.
Where issued debt liabilities are designated at fair value, the fair value move-
ments attributable to an entity’s own credit risk will be recognized in Other
Comprehensive Income rather than in the Statement of Income. The standard
also allows the Group the option to elect to apply early the presentation of fair
value movements of an entity’s credit risk in Other Comprehensive Income
prior to adopting IFRS 9 in full. The Group did not early adopt this requirement

Reclassification of Investments

Under IFRS 9, the reclassification of equity instruments is not permitted because an
entity’s initial classification of FVPL and FVOCI is irrevocable. Reclassification of debt
instruments is only permitted if the business model for the financial assets (objective
for holding the financial assets) has changed in a way that significantly affects oper-
ations. Changes to the business model will require judgment and are expected to be
very infrequent.

When reclassification is deemed appropriate, there is no restatement of prior
periods at the reclassification date. For example, if the financial asset is reclassified
from amortized cost to FVPL, the asset is then measured at fair value with any gain
or loss immediately recognized in profit or loss. If the financial asset is reclassified
from FVPL to amortized cost, the fair value at the reclassification date becomes the
carrying amount.

In summary, the major changes made by IFRS 9 are:

= A business model approach to classification of debt instruments.

= Three classifications for financial assets:

¢ Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
 fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), and
e amortized cost.

= Reclassifications of debt instruments are permitted only when the business
model changes. The choice to measure equity investments at FVOCI or
FVPL is irrevocable.

= A redesign of the provisioning models for financial assets, financial guar-
antees, loan commitments, and lease receivables. The new standard moves
the recognition criteria from an “incurred loss” model to an “expected
loss” model. Under the new criteria, there is an earlier recognition of
impairment—12 month expected losses for performing assets and lifetime
expected losses for non-performing assets, to be captured upfront.”

Analysts typically evaluate performance separately for operating and investing
activities. Analysis of operating performance should exclude items related to invest-
ing activities such as interest income, dividends, and realized and unrealized gains
and losses. For comparative purposes, analysts should exclude non-operating assets
in the determination of return on net operating assets. IFRS and US GAAP® require

5 IFRS 9, paragraphs 5.5.4, 5.5.5, 5.5.15, 5.5.16.
6 IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and FASB ASC Section 320-10-50 [Investments—Debt and
Equity Securities—Overall-Disclosure].



© CFA Institute. For candidate use only. Not for distribution.
10 Learning Module 1 Intercorporate Investments

disclosure of fair value of each class of investment in financial assets. Using market
values and adjusting pro forma financial statements for consistency improves assess-
ments of performance ratios across companies.

4 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

] describe the classification, measurement, and disclosure under
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for 1)
investments in financial assets, 2) investments in associates, 3) joint
ventures, 4) business combinations, and 5) special purpose and
variable interest entities

] compare and contrast IFRS and US GAAP in their classification,
measurement, and disclosure of investments in financial assets,
investments in associates, joint ventures, business combinations, and
special purpose and variable interest entities

] analyze how different methods used to account for intercorporate
investments affect financial statements and ratios

Under both IFRS and US GAAP, when a company (investor) holds 20 to 50% of the
voting rights of an associate (investee), either directly or indirectly (i.e., through sub-
sidiaries), it is presumed that the company has (or can exercise) significant influence,
but not control, over the investee’s business activities.’ Conversely, if the investor holds,
directly or indirectly, less than 20% of the voting power of the associate (investee), it is
presumed that the investor cannot exercise significant influence, unless such influence
can be demonstrated. IAS 28 (IFRS) and FASB ASC Topic 323 (US GAAP) apply to
most investments in which an investor has significant influence; they also provide
guidance on accounting for investments in associates using the equity method.® These
standards note that significant influence may be evidenced by

= representation on the board of directors;

= participation in the policy-making process;

= material transactions between the investor and the investee;

= interchange of managerial personnel; or

= technological dependency.

The ability to exert significant influence means that the financial and operating
performance of the investee is partly influenced by management decisions and oper-
ational skills of the investor. The equity method of accounting for the investment

reflects the economic reality of this relationship and provides a more objective basis
for reporting investment income.

7 The determination of significant influence under IFRS also includes currently exercisable or convertible
warrants, call options, or convertible securities that the investor owns, which give it additional voting
power or reduce another party’s voting power over the financial and operating policies of the investee.
Under US GAAP, the determination of an investor’s voting stock interest is based only on the voting shares
outstanding at the time of the purchase. The existence and effect of securities with potential voting rights
are not considered.

8 IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures and FASB ASC Topic 323 [Investments—Equity
Method and Joint Ventures].
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Joint ventures—ventures undertaken and controlled by two or more parties—can
be a convenient way to enter foreign markets, conduct specialized activities, and
engage in risky projects. They can be organized in a variety of different forms and
structures. Some joint ventures are primarily contractual relationships, whereas
others have common ownership of assets. They can be partnerships, limited liability
companies (corporations), or other legal forms (unincorporated associations, for
example). IFRS identify the following common characteristics of joint ventures: 1) A
contractual arrangement exists between two or more venturers, and 2) the contractual
arrangement establishes joint control. Both IFRS and US GAAP? require the equity
method of accounting for joint ventures.1?

Only under rare circumstances will joint ventures be allowed to use proportionate
consolidation under IFRS and US GAAP. On the venturer’s financial statements, pro-
portionate consolidation requires the venturer’s share of the assets, liabilities, income,
and expenses of the joint venture to be combined or shown on a line-by-line basis
with similar items under its sole control. In contrast, the equity method results in a
single line item (equity in income of the joint venture) on the income statement and
a single line item (investment in joint venture) on the balance sheet.

Because the single line item on the income statement under the equity method
reflects the net effect of the sales and expenses of the joint venture, the total income
recognized is identical under the two methods. In addition, because the single line
item on the balance sheet item (investment in joint venture) under the equity method
reflects the investors’ share of the net assets of the joint venture, the total net assets
of the investor is identical under both methods. There can be significant differences,
however, in ratio analysis between the two methods because of the differential effects
on values for total assets, liabilities, sales, expenses, etc.

Equity Method of Accounting: Basic Principles

Under the equity method of accounting, the equity investment is initially recorded on
the investor’s balance sheet at cost. In subsequent periods, the carrying amount of the
investment is adjusted to recognize the investor’s proportionate share of the investee’s
earnings or losses, and these earnings or losses are reported in income. Dividends or
other distributions received from the investee are treated as a return of capital and
reduce the carrying amount of the investment and are not reported in the investor’s
profit or loss. The equity method is often referred to as “one-line consolidation”
because the investor’s proportionate ownership interest in the assets and liabilities of
the investee is disclosed as a single line item (net assets) on its balance sheet, and the
investor’s share of the revenues and expenses of the investee is disclosed as a single
line item on its income statement. (Contrast these disclosures with the disclosures
on consolidated statements in Section 6.) Equity method investments are classified
as non-current assets on the balance sheet. The investor’s share of the profit or loss
of equity method investments, and the carrying amount of those investments, must
be separately disclosed on the income statement and balance sheet.

9 Under US GAAP, ASC 323-10 provides guidance on the application of the equity method of accounting.
10 IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements classifies joint arrangements as either a joint operation or a joint venture.
Joint ventures are arrangements wherein parties with joint control have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement. Joint ventures are required to use equity method under IAS 28.

1
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EXAMPLE 1

Equity Method: Balance in Investment Account

1. Branch (a fictitious company) purchases a 20% interest in Williams (a fic-
titious company) for €200,000 on 1 January 2016. Williams reports income
and dividends as follows:

Income Dividends
2016 €200,000 €50,000
2017 300,000 100,000
2018 400,000 200,000

€900,000 €350,000

Calculate the investment in Williams that appears on Branch’s balance sheet
as of the end of 2018.

Solution:

Investment in Williams at 31 December 2018:

Initial cost €200,000

Equity income 2016 €40,000 = (20% of €200,000 Income)
Dividends received 2016 (€10,000) = (20% of €50,000 Dividends)
Equity income 2017 €60,000 = (20% of €300,000 Income)
Dividends received 2017 (€20,000) = (20% of €100,000 Dividends)
Equity income 2018 €80,000 = (20% of €400,000 Income)
Dividends received 2018 (€40,000) = (20% of €200,000 Dividends)
Balance-Equity €310,000 = [€200,000 + 20% x (€900,000
Investment - €350,000)]

This simple example implicitly assumes that the purchase price equals the pur-
chased equity (20%) in the book value of Williams’ net assets.

Using the equity method, the investor includes its share of the investee’s profit and
losses on the income statement. The equity investment is carried at cost, plus its share
of post-acquisition income, less dividends received. The recorded investment value can
decline as a result of investee losses or a permanent decline in the investee’s market
value. If the investment value is reduced to zero, the investor usually discontinues
the equity method and does not record further losses. If the investee subsequently
reports profits, the equity method is resumed after the investor’s share of the profits
equals the share of losses not recognized during the suspension of the equity method.
Exhibit 4 contains excerpts from Deutsche Bank’s 2017 annual report that describes
its accounting treatment for investments in associates.
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Exhibit 4: Excerpt from Deutsche Bank 2017 Annual Report

[From Note 01] ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence, but not a
controlling interest, over the operating and financial management policy deci-
sions of the entity. Significant influence is generally presumed when the Group
holds between 20 % and 50 % of the voting rights. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are consid-
ered in assessing whether the Group has significant influence. Among the other
factors that are considered in determining whether the Group has significant
influence are representation on the board of directors (supervisory board in the
case of German stock corporations) and material intercompany transactions.
The existence of these factors could require the application of the equity method
of accounting for a particular investment even though the Group’s investment
is less than 20 % of the voting stock.

Investments in associates are accounted for under the equity method of
accounting. The Group’s share of the results of associates is adjusted to conform
to the accounting policies of the Group and is reported in the Consolidated
Statement of Income as Net income (loss) from equity method investments. The
Group’s share in the associate’s profits and losses resulting from intercompany
sales is eliminated on consolidation.

If the Group previously held an equity interest in an entity (for example, as
available for sale) and subsequently gained significant influence, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured to fair value and any gain or loss is recognized
in the Consolidated Statement of Income. Any amounts previously recognized
in other comprehensive income associated with the equity interest would be
reclassified to the Consolidated Statement of Income at the date the Group
gains significant influence, as if the Group had disposed of the previously held
equity interest.

Under the equity method of accounting, the Group’s investments in asso-
ciates and jointly controlled entities are initially recorded at cost including any
directly related transaction costs incurred in acquiring the associate, and sub-
sequently increased (or decreased) to reflect both the Group’s pro-rata share of
the post-acquisition net income (or loss) of the associate or jointly controlled
entity and other movements included directly in the equity of the associate or
jointly controlled entity. Goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate or a
jointly controlled entity is included in the carrying value of the investment (net
of any accumulated impairment loss). As goodwill is not reported separately
it is not specifically tested for impairment. Rather, the entire equity method
investment is tested for impairment at each balance sheet date.

If there is objective evidence of impairment, an impairment test is performed
by comparing the investment’s recoverable amount, which is the higher of its value
in use and fair value less costs to sell, with its carrying amount. An impairment
loss recognized in prior periods is only reversed if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the in-vestment’s recoverable amount since the last
impairment loss was recognized. If this is the case the carrying amount of the
investment is increased to its higher recoverable amount. The increased carrying
amount of the investment in associate attributable to a reversal of an impairment
loss shall not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognized for the investment in prior years.

At the date that the Group ceases to have significant influence over the
associate or jointly controlled entity the Group recognizes a gain or loss on the
disposal of the equity method investment equal to the difference between the sum
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of the fair value of any retained investment and the proceeds from disposing of
the associate and the carrying amount of the investment. Amounts recognized
in prior periods in other comprehensive income in relation to the associate are
accounted for on the same basis as would have been required if the investee had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

[From Note 17] EQUITY METHOD INVESTMENTS

Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities are accounted for using

the equity method of accounting.

The Group holds interests in 77 (2016: 92) associates and 13 (2016: 14) jointly
controlled entities. There are no individually material investments in associates

and joint ventures.

Aggregated financial information on the Group’s
share in associates and joint ventures that are

individually immaterial (in €m) Dec 31, 2017 Dec 31, 2016
Carrying amount of all associated that are individu- 866 1,027

ally immaterial to the Group

Aggregated amount of the Group’s share of profit 141 183
(loss) from continuing operations

Aggregated amount of the Group’s share of post-tax 0 0
profit (loss) from discontinued operations

Aggregated amount of the Group’s share of other (36) 11
comprehensive income

Aggregated amount of the Group’s share of total 105 194

comprehensive income

It is interesting to note the explanations for the treatment of associates when the
ownership percentage is less than 20% or is greater than 50%. The equity method
reflects the strength of the relationship between the investor and its associates. In the
instances where the percentage ownership is less than 20%, Deutsche Bank uses the
equity method because it has significant influence over these associates’ operating and
financial policies either through its representation on their boards of directors and/
or other measures. The equity method provides a more objective basis for reporting
investment income than the accounting treatment for investments in financial assets
because the investor can potentially influence the timing of dividend distributions.
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AMORTIZATION OF EXCESS PURCHASE PRICE, FAIR
VALUE OPTION, AND IMPAIRMENT

] describe the classification, measurement, and disclosure under
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for 1)
investments in financial assets, 2) investments in associates, 3) joint
ventures, 4) business combinations, and 5) special purpose and
variable interest entities

] compare and contrast IFRS and US GAAP in their classification,
measurement, and disclosure of investments in financial assets,
investments in associates, joint ventures, business combinations, and
special purpose and variable interest entities

The cost (purchase price) to acquire shares of an investee is often greater than the
book value of those shares. This is because, among other things, many of the investee’s
assets and liabilities reflect historical cost rather than fair value. IFRS allow a company
to measure its property, plant, and equipment using either historical cost or fair value
(less accumulated depreciation).!! US GAAP, however, require the use of historical
cost (less accumulated depreciation) to measure property, plant, and equipment.!?

When the cost of the investment exceeds the investor’s proportionate share of the
book value of the investee’s (associate’s) net identifiable tangible and intangible assets
(e.g., inventory, property, plant and equipment, trademarks, patents), the difference
is first allocated to specific assets (or categories of assets) using fair values. These
differences are then amortized to the investor’s proportionate share of the investee’s
profit or loss over the economic lives of the assets whose fair values exceeded book
values. It should be noted that the allocation is not recorded formally; what appears
initially in the investment account on the balance sheet of the investor is the cost.
Over time, as the differences are amortized, the balance in the investment account
will come closer to representing the ownership percentage of the book value of the
net assets of the associate.

IFRS and US GAAP both treat the difference between the cost of the acquisition
and investor’s share of the fair value of the net identifiable assets as goodwill. Therefore,
any remaining difference between the acquisition cost and the fair value of net iden-
tifiable assets that cannot be allocated to specific assets is treated as goodwill and is
not amortized. Instead, it is reviewed for impairment on a regular basis, and written
down for any identified impairment. Goodwill, however, is included in the carrying
amount of the investment, because investment is reported as a single line item on
the investor’s balance sheet.!3

11 After initial recognition, an entity can choose to use either a cost model or a revaluation model to
measure its property, plant, and equipment. Under the revaluation model, property, plant, and equipment
whose fair value can be measured reliably can be carried at a revalued amount. This revalued amount is
its fair value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation

12 Successful companies should be able to generate, through the productive use of assets, economic value
in excess of the resale value of the assets themselves. Therefore, investors may be willing to pay a premium
in anticipation of future benefits. These benefits could be a result of general market conditions, the investor’s
ability to exert significant influence on the investee, or other synergies.

13 If the investor’s share of the fair value of the associate’s net assets (identifiable assets, liabilities, and
contingent liabilities) is greater than the cost of the investment, the difference is excluded from the carrying
amount of the investment and instead included as income in the determination of the investor’s share of
the associate’s profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

15
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Equity Method Investment in Excess of Book Value

1. Blake Co. and Brown Co. are two hypothetical companies. Assume that
Blake Co. acquires 30% of the outstanding shares of Brown Co. At the
acquisition date, book values and fair values of Brown’s recorded assets and

liabilities are as follows:

Book Value Fair Value
Current assets €10,000 €10,000
Plant and equipment 190,000 220,000
Land 120,000 140,000
€320,000 €370,000
Liabilities 100,000 100,000
Net assets €220,000 €270,000

Blake Co. believes the value of Brown Co. is higher than the book value of
its identifiable net assets. They offer €100,000 for a 30% interest in Brown,
which represents a €34,000 excess purchase price. The difference be-
tween the fair value and book value of the net identifiable assets is €50,000
(€270,000 — 220,000). Based on Blake Co’s 30% ownership, €15,000 of the
excess purchase price is attributable to the net identifiable assets, and the
residual is attributable to goodwill. Calculate goodwill.

Solution:

Purchase price €100,000

30% of book value of Brown (30% x €220,000) 66,000

Excess purchase price €34,000

Attributable to net assets

Plant and equipment (30% x €30,000) €9,000

Land (30% x €20,000) 6,000

Goodwill (residual) 19,000
€34,000

As illustrated above, goodwill is the residual excess not allocated to identifi-
able assets or liabilities. The investment is carried as a non-current asset on
the Blake’s book as a single line item (Investment in Brown, €100,000) on the
acquisition date.

Amortization of Excess Purchase Price

The excess purchase price allocated to the assets and liabilities is accounted for in a
manner that is consistent with the accounting treatment for the specific asset or liability
to which it is assigned. Amounts allocated to assets and liabilities that are expensed
(such as inventory) or periodically depreciated or amortized (plant, property, and
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intangible assets) must be treated in a similar manner. These allocated amounts are
not reflected on the financial statements of the investee (associate), and the invest-
ee’s income statement will not reflect the necessary periodic adjustments. Therefore,
the investor must directly record these adjustment effects by reducing the carrying
amount of the investment on its balance sheet and by reducing the investee’s profit
recognized on its income statement. Amounts allocated to assets or liabilities that
are not systematically amortized (e.g., land) will continue to be reported at their fair
value as of the date the investment was acquired. As stated above, goodwill is included
in the carrying amount of the investment instead of being separately recognized. It is
not amortized because it is considered to have an indefinite life.

Using the example above and assuming a 10-year useful life for plant, property, and
equipment and using straight-line depreciation, the annual amortization is as follows:

Account Excess Price (€) Useful Life Amortization/Year (€)
Plant and equipment 9,000 10 years 900
Land 6,000 Indefinite 0
Goodwill 19,000 Indefinite 0

Annual amortization would reduce the investor’s share of the investee’s reported
income (equity income) and the balance in the investment account by €900 for each
year over the 10-year period.

EXAMPLE 3

Equity Method Investments with Goodwill

On 1 January 2018, Parker Company acquired 30% of Prince Inc. common shares
for the cash price of €500,000 (both companies are fictitious). It is determined
that Parker has the ability to exert significant influence on Prince’s financial and
operating decisions. The following information concerning Prince’s assets and
liabilities on 1 January 2018 is provided:

Prince, Inc.

Book Value Fair Value Difference
Current assets €100,000 €100,000 €0
Plant and
equipment 1,900,000 2,200,000 300,000

€2,000,000 €2,300,000 €300,000
Liabilities 800,000 800,000 0
Net assets €1,200,000 €1,500,000 €300,000

The plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis and have
10 years of remaining life. Prince reports net income for 2018 of €100,000 and
pays dividends of €50,000. Calculate the following:

1. Goodwill included in the purchase price.

Solution:
Purchase price €500,000
Acquired equity in book value of Prince’s net assets (30% x
€1,200,000) 360,000

Excess purchase price €140,000

17
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Attributable to plant and equipment (30% x €300,000) (90,000)
Goodwill (residual) €50,000

2. Investment in associate (Prince) at the end of 2018.

Solution:

Investment in associate

Purchase price €500,000
Parker’s share of Prince’s net income (30% x €100,000) 30,000
Dividends received (30% of €50,000) (15,000)
Amortization of excess purchase price attributable to plant

and equipment (€90,000 + 10 years) (9,000)
31 December 2018 balance in investment in Prince €506,000

An alternate way to look at the balance in the investment account is that it
reflects the basic valuation principle of the equity method. At any point in
time, the investment account balance equals the investor’s (Parker) pro-
portionate share of the net equity (net assets at book value) of the investee
(Prince) plus the unamortized balance of the original excess purchase price.
Applying this principle to this example:

2018 Beginning net assets = €1,200,000
Plus: Net income 100,000
Less: Dividends (50,000)
2018 Ending net assets €1,250,000
Parker’s proportionate share of Prince’s recorded net

assets (30% x €1,250,000) €375,000
Unamortized excess purchase price (€140,000 — 9,000) 131,000
Investment in Prince €506,000

Note that the unamortized excess purchase price is a cost incurred by
Parker, not Prince. Therefore, the total amount is included in the investment
account balance.

Fair Value Option

Both IFRS and US GAAP give the investor the option to account for their equity
method investment at fair value.* Under US GAAP, this option is available to all enti-
ties; however, under IFRS, its use is restricted to venture capital organizations, mutual
funds, unit trusts, and similar entities, including investment-linked insurance funds.

Both standards require that the election to use the fair value option occur at the
time of initial recognition and is irrevocable. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
investment is reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value as well as any interest and dividends received included in the

14 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. FASB ASC Section 825-10-25 [Financial Instruments—Overall-Recognition].
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investor’s profit or loss (income). Under the fair value method, the investment account
on the investor’s balance sheet does not reflect the investor’s proportionate share of
the investee’s profit or loss, dividends, or other distributions. In addition, the excess
of cost over the fair value of the investee’s identifiable net assets is not amortized,
nor is goodwill created.

Impairment

Both IFRS and US GAAP require periodic reviews of equity method investments for
impairment. If the fair value of the investment is below its carrying value and this
decline is deemed to be other than temporary, an impairment loss must be recognized.

Under IFRS, there must be objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or
more (loss) events that occurred after the initial recognition of the investment, and that
loss event has an impact on the investment’s future cash flows, which can be reliably
estimated. Because goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment and
is not separately recognized, it is not separately tested for impairment. Instead, the
entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment by comparing its
recoverable amount with its carrying amount.!® The impairment loss is recognized
on the income statement, and the carrying amount of the investment on the balance
sheet is either reduced directly or through the use of an allowance account.

US GAAP takes a different approach. If the fair value of the investment declines
below its carrying value and the decline is determined to be permanent, US GAAP1®
requires an impairment loss to be recognized on the income statement and the carrying
value of the investment on the balance sheet is reduced to its fair value.

Both IFRS and US GAAP prohibit the reversal of impairment losses even if the
fair value later increases.

Section 6 of this reading discusses impairment tests for the goodwill attributed to
a controlling investment (consolidated subsidiary). Note the distinction between the
disaggregated goodwill impairment test for consolidated statements and the impair-
ment test of the total fair value of equity method investments.

TRANSACTIONS WITH ASSOCIATES AND DISCLOSURE

] describe the classification, measurement, and disclosure under
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for 1)
investments in financial assets, 2) investments in associates, 3) joint
ventures, 4) business combinations, and 5) special purpose and
variable interest entities

] compare and contrast IFRS and US GAAP in their classification,
measurement, and disclosure of investments in financial assets,
investments in associates, joint ventures, business combinations, and
special purpose and variable interest entities

15 Recoverable amount is the higher of “value in use” or net selling price. Value in use is equal to the
present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of an asset and from
its disposal at the end of its useful life. Net selling price is equal to fair value less cost to sell.

16 FASB ASC Section 323-10-35 [Investments—Equity Method and Joint Ventures—Overall-Subsequent
Measurement].

19
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Because an investor company can influence the terms and timing of transactions
with its associates, profits from such transactions cannot be realized until confirmed
through use or sale to third parties. Accordingly, the investor company’s share of
any unrealized profit must be deferred by reducing the amount recorded under the
equity method. In the subsequent period(s) when this deferred profit is considered
confirmed, it is added to the equity income. At that time, the equity income is again
based on the recorded values in the associate’s accounts.

Transactions between the two affiliates may be upstream (associate to investor)
or downstream (investor to associate). In an upstream sale, the profit on the inter-
company transaction is recorded on the associate’s income (profit or loss) statement.
The investor’s share of the unrealized profit is thus included in equity income on the
investor’s income statement. In a downstream sale, the profit is recorded on the inves-
tor’s income statement. Both IFRS and US GAAP require that the unearned profits
be eliminated to the extent of the investor’s interest in the associate.l” The result is
an adjustment to equity income on the investor’s income statement.

EXAMPLE 4

Equity Method with Sale of Inventory: Upstream Sale

On 1 January 2018, Wicker Company acquired a 25% interest in Foxworth
Company (both companies are fictitious) for €1,000,000 and used the equity
method to account for its investment. The book value of Foxworth’s net assets
on that date was €3,800,000. An analysis of fair values revealed that all fair
values of assets and liabilities were equal to book values except for a building.
The building was undervalued by €40,000 and has a 20-year remaining life. The
company used straight-line depreciation for the building. Foxworth paid €3,200
in dividends in 2018. During 2018, Foxworth reported net income of €20,000.
During the year, Foxworth sold inventory to Wicker. At the end of the year,
there was €8,000 profit from the upstream sale in Foxworth’s net income. The
inventory sold to Wicker by Foxworth had not been sold to an outside party.

1. Calculate the equity income to be reported as a line item on Wicker’s 2018
income statement.

Solution:
Equity Income
Wicker’s share of Foxworth’s reported income (25% x
€20,000) €5,000
Amortization of excess purchase price attributable to
building, (€10,000 + 20) (500)
Unrealized profit (25% x €8,000) (2,000)
Equity income 2018 €2,500

17 IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures; FASB ASC Topic 323 [Investments—Equity
Method and Joint Ventures].
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2. Calculate the balance in the investment in Foxworth to be reported on the
31 December 2018 balance sheet.

Purchase price €1,000,000
Acquired equity in book value of Foxworth’s net assets
(25% x €3,800,000) 950,000
Excess purchase price €50,000
Attributable to:
Building (25% x €40,000) €10,000
Goodwill (residual) 40,000
€50,000
Solution:

Investment in Foxworth:

Purchase price €1,000,000
Equity income 2018 2,500
Dividends received (25% x €3,200) (800)
Investment in Foxworth, 31 Dec 2018 €1,001,700

Composition of investment account:

Wicker’s proportionate share of Foxworth’s net
equity (net assets at book value) [25% x (€3,800,000 +

(20,000 — 8,000) — 3,200)] €952,200
Unamortized excess purchase price (€50,000 — 500) 49,500
€1,001,700

EXAMPLE 5

Equity Method with Sale of Inventory: Downstream Sale

Jones Company owns 25% of Jason Company (both fictitious companies) and
appropriately applies the equity method of accounting. Amortization of excess
purchase price, related to undervalued assets at the time of the investment,
is €8,000 per year. During 2017 Jones sold €96,000 of inventory to Jason for
€160,000. Jason resold €120,000 of this inventory during 2017. The remainder
was sold in 2018. Jason reports income from its operations of €800,000 in 2017
and €820,000 in 2018.

1. Calculate the equity income to be reported as a line item on Jones’s 2017
income statement.

Solution:
Equity Income 2017

Jones’s share of Jason’s reported income (25% x €800,000) €200,000
Amortization of excess purchase price (8,000)
Unrealized profit (25% x €16,000) (4,000)

21



© CFA Institute. For candidate use only. Not for distribution.
22 Learning Module 1 Intercorporate Investments

Equity income 2017 €188,000

Jones’s profit on the sale to Jason = €160,000 — 96,000 = €64,000

Jason sells 75% (€120,000/160,000) of the goods purchased from Jones; 25% is
unsold.

Total unrealized profit = €64,000 x 25% = €16,000

Jones’s share of the unrealized profit = €16,000 x 25% = €4,000
Alternative approach:

Jones’s profit margin on sale to Jason: 40% (€64,000/€160,000)
Jason’s inventory of Jones’s goods at 31 Dec 2017: €40,000
Jones’s profit margin on this was 40% x 40,000 = €16,000

Jones’s share of profit on unsold goods = €16,000 x 25% = €4,000

2. Calculate the equity income to be reported as a line item on Jones’s 2018
income statement.

Solution:
Equity Income 2018

Jones’s share of Jason’s reported income (25% x €820,000) €205,000

Amortization of excess purchase price (8,000)
Realized profit (25% x €16,000) 4,000
Equity income 2018 €201,000

Jason sells the remaining 25% of the goods purchased from Jones.

Disclosure

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the information necessary
for investors. Both IFRS and US GAAP require disclosure about the assets, liabilities,
and results of equity method investments. For example, in their 2017 annual report,
within its note titled “Principles of Consolidation,” Deutsche Bank reports that:

Investments in associates are accounted for under the equity method of
accounting. The Group’s share of the results of associates is adjusted to
conform to the accounting policies of the Group and is reported in the
Consolidated Statement of Income as Net income (loss) from equity method
investments. The Group’s share in the associate’s profits and losses resulting
from intercompany sales is eliminated on consolidation.

If the Group previously held an equity interest in an entity (for exam-
ple, as available for sale) and subsequently gained significant influence, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured to fair value and any gain or
loss is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income. Any amounts
previously recognized in other comprehensive income associated with
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the equity interest would be reclassified to the Consolidated Statement of
Income at the date the Group gains significant influence, as if the Group
had disposed of the previously held equity interest.

Under the equity method of accounting, the Group’s investments
in associates and jointly controlled entities are initially recorded at cost
including any directly related transaction costs incurred in acquiring the
associate, and subsequently increased (or decreased) to reflect both the
Group’s pro-rata share of the post-acquisition net income (or loss) of the
associate or jointly controlled entity and other movements included directly
in the equity of the associate or jointly controlled entity. Goodwill arising
on the acquisition of an associate or a jointly controlled entity is included
in the carrying value of the investment (net of any accumulated impairment
loss). As goodwill is not reported separately it is not specifically tested
for impairment. Rather, the entire equity method investment is tested for
impairment at each balance sheet date.

For practical reasons, associated companies’ results are sometimes included in
the investor’s accounts with a certain time lag, normally not more than one quarter.
Dividends from associated companies are not included in investor income because
it would be a double counting. Applying the equity method recognizes the investor’s
full share of the associate’s income. Dividends received involve exchanging a por-
tion of equity interest for cash. In the consolidated balance sheet, the book value
of shareholdings in associated companies is increased by the investor’s share of the
company’s net income and reduced by amortization of surplus values and the amount
of dividends received.

Issues for Analysts

Equity method accounting presents several challenges for analysis. First, analysts
should question whether the equity method is appropriate. For example, an investor
holding 19% of an associate may in fact exert significant influence but may attempt to
avoid using the equity method to avoid reporting associate losses. On the other hand,
an investor holding 25% of an associate may be unable to exert significant influence
and may be unable to access cash flows, and yet may prefer the equity method to
capture associate income.

Second, the investment account represents the investor’s percentage ownership in
the net assets of the investee company through “one-line consolidation” There can be
significant assets and liabilities of the investee that are not reflected on the investor’s
balance sheet, which will significantly affect debt ratios. Net margin ratios could be
overstated because income for the associate is included in investor net income but is
not specifically included in sales. An investor may actually control the investee with
less than 50% ownership but prefer the financial results using the equity method.
Careful analysis can reveal financial performance driven by accounting structure.

Finally, the analyst must consider the quality of the equity method earnings. The
equity method assumes that a percentage of each dollar earned by the investee com-
pany is earned by the investor (i.e., a fraction of the dollar equal to the fraction of the
company owned), even if cash is not received. Analysts should, therefore, consider
potential restrictions on dividend cash flows (the statement of cash flows).
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ACQUISITION METHOD

] describe the classification, measurement, and disclosure under
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for 1)
investments in financial assets, 2) investments in associates, 3) joint
ventures, 4) business combinations, and 5) special purpose and
variable interest entities

] compare and contrast IFRS and US GAAP in their classification,
measurement, and disclosure of investments in financial assets,
investments in associates, joint ventures, business combinations, and
special purpose and variable interest entities

] analyze how different methods used to account for intercorporate
investments affect financial statements and ratios

Business combinations (controlling interest investments) involve the combination of
two or more entities into a larger economic entity. Business combinations are typically
motivated by expectations of added value through synergies, including potential for
increased revenues, elimination of duplicate costs, tax advantages, coordination of
the production process, and efficiency gains in the management of assets.!8

Under IERS, there is no distinction among business combinations based on the
resulting structure of the larger economic entity. For all business combinations, one
of the parties to the business combination is identified as the acquirer. Under US
GAADP, an acquirer is identified, but the business combinations are categorized as
merger, acquisition, or consolidation based on the legal structure after the combina-
tion. Each of these types of business combinations has distinctive characteristics that
are described in Exhibit 5. Features of variable interest and special purpose entities
are also described in Exhibit 5 because these are additional instances where control
is exerted by another entity. Under both IFRS and US GAAP, business combinations
are accounted for using the acquisition method.

Exhibit 5: Types of Business Combinations

Merger

The distinctive feature of a merger is that only one of the entities remains in
existence. One hundred percent of the target is absorbed into the acquiring
company. Company A may issue common stock, preferred stock, bonds, or
pay cash to acquire the net assets. The net assets of Company B are transferred
to Company A. Company B ceases to exist and Company A is the only entity
that remains.

Company A + Company B = Company A

Acquisition

The distinctive feature of an acquisition is the legal continuity of the entities.
Each entity continues operations but is connected through a parent—subsidiary
relationship. Each entity is an individual that maintains separate financial records,
but the parent (the acquirer) provides consolidated financial statements in each
reporting period. Unlike a merger or consolidation, the acquiring company does

18 IFRS 3, Business Combinations, revised in 2008 and FASB ASC Topic 805 [Business Combinations]
provide guidance on business combinations.
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not need to acquire 100% of the target. In fact, in some cases, it may acquire
less than 50% and still exert control. If the acquiring company acquires less than
100%, non-controlling (minority) shareholders’ interests are reported on the
consolidated financial statements.

Company A + Company B = (Company A + Company B)

Consolidation

The distinctive feature of a consolidation is that a new legal entity is formed
and none of the predecessor entities remain in existence. A new entity is cre-
ated to take over the net assets of Company A and Company B. Company A
and Company B cease to exist and Company C is the only entity that remains.

Company A + Company B = Company C

Special Purpose or Variable Interest Entities

The distinctive feature of a special purpose (variable interest) entity is that control
is not usually based on voting control, because equity investors do not have a
sufficient amount at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional
subordinated financial support. Furthermore, the equity investors may lack a
controlling financial interest. The sponsoring company usually creates a special
purpose entity (SPE) for a narrowly defined purpose. IFRS require consolidation
if the substance of the relationship indicates control by the sponsor.

Under IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements and SIC-12, Consolidation-Special
Purpose Entities, the definition of control extends to a broad range of activities. The
control concept requires judgment and evaluation of relevant factors to determine
whether control exists. Control is present when 1) the investor has the ability to exert
influence on the financial and operating policy of the entity; and 2) is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee. Consolidation
criteria apply to all entities that meet the definition of control.

US GAAP uses a two-component consolidation model that includes both a variable
interest component and a voting interest (control) component. Under the variable
interest component, US GAAP1? requires the primary beneficiary of a variable interest
entity (VIE) to consolidate the VIE regardless of its voting interests (if any) in the VIE
or its decision-making authority. The primary beneficiary is defined as the party that
will absorb the majority of the VIE’s expected losses, receive the majority of the VIE’s
expected residual returns, or both.

In the past, business combinations could be accounted for either as a purchase
transaction or as a uniting (or pooling) of interests. However, the use of the pooling
accounting method for acquisitions is no longer permitted, and IFRS and US GAAP
now require that all business combinations be accounted for in a similar manner.
The acquisition method developed by the IASB and the FASB replaces the purchase
method, and substantially reduces any differences between IFRS and US GAAP for
business combinations.?0

Acquisition Method

IFRS and US GAAP require the acquisition method of accounting for business com-
binations, although both have a few specific exemptions.

19 FASB ASC Topic 810 [Consolidation].
20 IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements; IFRS 3, Business Combinations; FASB ASC Topic 805
[Business Combinations]; FASB ASC Topic 810 [Consolidations].
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Under this approach, the fair value of the consideration given by the acquiring
company is the appropriate measurement for acquisitions and also includes the
acquisition-date fair value of any contingent consideration. Direct costs of the business
combination, such as professional and legal fees, valuation experts, and consultants,
are expensed as incurred.

The acquisition method (which replaced the purchase method) addresses three
major accounting issues that often arise in business combinations and the preparation
of consolidated (combined) financial statements:

= The recognition and measurement of the assets and liabilities of the com-
bined entity;

= The initial recognition and subsequent accounting for goodwill; and

= The recognition and measurement of any non-controlling interest.

Recognition and Measurement of Identifiable Assets and Liabilities

IFRS and US GAAP require that the acquirer measure the identifiable tangible and
intangible assets and liabilities of the acquiree (acquired entity) at fair value as of the
date of the acquisition. The acquirer must also recognize any assets and liabilities
that the acquiree had not previously recognized as assets and liabilities in its financial
statements. For example, identifiable intangible assets (for example, brand names,
patents, technology) that the acquiree developed internally would be recognized by
the acquirer.

Recognition and Measurement of Contingent Liabilities?’

On the acquisition date, the acquirer must recognize any contingent liability assumed
in the acquisition if 1) it is a present obligation that arises from past events, and 2) it
can be measured reliably. Costs that the acquirer expects (but is not obliged) to incur,
however, are not recognized as liabilities as of the acquisition date. Instead, the acquirer
recognizes these costs in future periods as they are incurred. For example, expected
restructuring costs arising from exiting an acquiree’s business will be recognized in
the period in which they are incurred.

There is a difference between IFRS and US GAAP with regard to treatment of con-
tingent liabilities. IFRS include contingent liabilities if their fair values can be reliably
measured. US GAAP includes only those contingent liabilities that are probable and
can be reasonably estimated.

Recognition and Measurement of Indemnification Assets

On the acquisition date, the acquirer must recognize an indemnification asset if the
seller (acquiree) contractually indemnifies the acquirer for the outcome of a con-
tingency or an uncertainty related to all or part of a specific asset or liability of the
acquiree. The seller may also indemnify the acquirer against losses above a specified
amount on a liability arising from a particular contingency. For example, the seller
guarantees that an acquired contingent liability will not exceed a specified amount.
In this situation, the acquirer recognizes an indemnification asset at the same time
it recognizes the indemnified liability, with both measured on the same basis. If the
indemnification relates to an asset or a liability that is recognized at the acquisition
date and measured at its acquisition date fair value, the acquirer will also recognize
the indemnification asset at the acquisition date at its acquisition date fair value.

21 A contingent liability must be recognized even if it is not probable that an outflow of resources or
economic benefits will be used to settle the obligation.



© CFA Institute. For candidate use only. Not for distribution.

Acquisition Method

Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Liabilities

At the acquisition date, identifiable assets and liabilities acquired are classified in
accordance with IFRS (or US GAAP) standards. The acquirer reclassifies the finan-
cial assets and liabilities of the acquiree based on the contractual terms, economic
conditions, and the acquirer’s operating or accounting policies, as they exist at the
acquisition date.

Recognition and Measurement of Goodwill

IFRS allows two options for recognizing goodwill at the transaction date. The good-
will option is on a transaction-by-transaction basis. “Partial goodwill” is measured as
the fair value of the acquisition (fair value of consideration given) less the acquirer’s
share of the fair value of all identifiable tangible and intangible assets, liabilities, and
contingent liabilities acquired. “Full goodwill” is measured as the fair value of the
entity as a whole less the fair value of all identifiable tangible and intangible assets,
liabilities, and contingent liabilities. US GAAP views the entity as a whole and requires
full goodwill.?2

Because goodwill is considered to have an indefinite life, it is not amortized. Instead,
it is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or circumstances
indicate that goodwill might be impaired.

EXAMPLE 6

Recognition and Measurement of Goodwill

Acquirer contributes $800,000 for an 80% interest in Acquiree. The identifiable
net assets have a fair value of $900,000. The fair value of the entire entity is
determined to be $1 million.

IERS

Partial Goodwill

Fair value of consideration $800,000
80% of Fair value of identifiable net assets 720,000
Goodwill recognized $80,000

IFRS and US GAAP
Full Goodwill

Fair value of entity $1,000,000
Fair value of identifiable assets 900,000
Goodwill recognized $100,000

Recognition and Measurement when Acquisition Price Is Less than Fair Value

Occasionally, a company faces adverse circumstances such that its market value drops
below the fair value of its net assets. In an acquisition of such a company, where the
purchase price is less than the fair value of the target’s (acquiree’s) net assets, the
acquisition is considered to be a “bargain purchase” acquisition. IFRS and US GAAP
require the difference between the fair value of the acquired net assets and the pur-
chase price to be recognized immediately as a gain in profit or loss. Any contingent

22 FASB ASC Topic 805 [Business Combinations].
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consideration must be measured and recognized at fair value at the time of the busi-
ness combination. Any subsequent changes in value of the contingent consideration
are recognized in profit or loss.

Impact of the Acquisition Method on Financial Statements,
Post-Acquisition

Example 7 shows the consolidated balance sheet of an acquiring company after the
acquisition.

EXAMPLE 7

Acquisition Method Post-Combination Balance Sheet

1. Franklin Company, a hypothetical company, acquired 100% of the outstand-
ing shares of Jefferson, Inc. (another fictitious company) by issuing 1,000,000
shares of its €1 par common stock (€15 market value). Immediately before
the transaction, the two companies compiled the following information:

Franklin Jefferson Jefferson
Book Value Book Value Fair Value
(000) (000) (000)
Cash and receivables €10,000 €300 €300
Inventory 12,000 1,700 3,000
PP&E (net) 27,000 2,500 4,500
€49,000 €4,500 €7,800
Current payables 8,000 600 600
Long-term debt 16,000 2,000 1,800
24,000 2,600 2,400
Net assets €25,000 €1,900 €5,400
Shareholders’ equity:
Capital stock (€1 par) €5,000 €400
Additional paid in capital 6,000 700
Retained earnings €14,000 €800

Jefterson has no identifiable intangible assets. Show the balances in the
post-combination balance sheet using the acquisition method.

Solution:

Under the acquisition method, the purchase price allocation would be as
follows:

Fair value of the stock issued

(1,000,000 shares at market value of €15) €15,000,000
Book value of Jefferson’s net assets 1,900,000
Excess purchase price €13,100,000
Fair value of the stock issued €15,000,000

Fair value allocated to identifiable net assets 5,400,000
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Goodwill €9,600,000

Allocation of excess purchase price (based on the differences between fair
values and book values):

Inventory €1,300,000
PP&E (net) 2,000,000
Long-term debt 200,000
Goodwill 9,600,000

€13,100,000

Both IFRS and US GAARP record the fair value of the acquisition at the mar-
ket value of the stock issued, or €15,000,000. In this case, the purchase price
exceeds the book value of Jefferson’s net assets by €13,100,000. Inventory,
PP&E (net), and long-term debt are adjusted to fair values. The excess of the
purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets results in good-
will recognition of €9,600,000.

The post-combination balance sheet of the combined entity would appear as
follows:

Franklin Consolidated Balance Sheet (Acquisition Method) (000)

Cash and receivables €10,300
Inventory 15,000
PP&E (net) 31,500
Goodwill 9,600
Total assets €66,400
Current payables €8,600
Long-term debt 17,800
Total liabilities €26,400
Capital stock (€1 par) €6,000
Additional paid in capital 20,000
Retained earnings 14,000
Total stockholders’ equity €40,000
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity €66,400

Assets and liabilities are combined using book values of Franklin plus fair
values for the assets and liabilities acquired from Jefferson. For example, the
book value of Franklin’s inventory (€12,000,000) is added to the fair value of
inventory acquired from Jefferson (€3,000,000) for a combined inventory of
€15,000,000. Long-term debt has a book value of €16,000,000 on Franklin’s
pre-acquisition statements, and Jefferson’s fair value of debt is €1,800,000.
The combined long-term debt is recorded as €17,800,000.

Franklin’s post-merger financial statement reflects in stockholders’ equi-

ty the stock issued by Franklin to acquire Jefferson. Franklin issues stock
with a par value of €1,000,000; however, the stock is measured at fair value
under both IFRS and US GAAP. Therefore, the consideration exchanged

is 1,000,000 shares at market value of €15, or €15,000,000. Prior to the
transaction, Franklin had 5,000,000 shares of €1 par stock outstanding
(€5,000,000). The combined entity reflects the Franklin capital stock out-
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standing of €6,000,000 (€5,000,000 plus the additional 1,000,000 shares

of €1 par stock issued to effect the transaction). Franklin’s additional paid
in capital of €6,000,000 is increased by the €14,000,000 additional paid in
capital from the issuance of the 1,000,000 shares (€15,000,000 less par value
of €1,000,000) for a total of €20,000,000. At the acquisition date, only the
acquirer’s retained earnings are carried to the combined entity. Earnings of
the target are included on the consolidated income statement and retained
earnings only in post-acquisition periods.

In the periods subsequent to the business combination, the financial statements
continue to be affected by the acquisition method. Net income reflects the performance
of the combined entity. Under the acquisition method, amortization/depreciation is
based on historical cost of Franklin’s assets and the fair value of Jefferson’s assets. Using
Example 7, as Jefferson’s acquired inventory is sold, the cost of goods sold would be
€1,300,000 higher and depreciation on PP&E would be €2,000,000 higher over the
life of the asset than if the companies had not combined.

THE CONSOLIDATION PROCESS

] describe the classification, measurement, and disclosure under
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for 1)
investments in financial assets, 2) investments in associates, 3) joint
ventures, 4) business combinations, and 5) special purpose and
variable interest entities

] compare and contrast IFRS and US GAAP in their classification,
measurement, and disclosure of investments in financial assets,
investments in associates, joint ventures, business combinations, and
special purpose and variable interest entities

Consolidated financial statements combine the separate financial statements for
distinct legal entities, the parent and its subsidiaries, as if they were one economic
unit. Consolidation combines the assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses of sub-
sidiaries with the parent company. Transactions between the parent and subsidiary
(intercompany transactions) are eliminated to avoid double counting and premature
income recognition. Consolidated statements are presumed to be more meaningful
in terms of representational faithfulness. It is important for the analyst to consider
the differences in IFRS and US GAAP, valuation bases, and other factors that could
impair the validity of comparative analyses.

Business Combination with Less than 100% Acquisition

The acquirer purchases 100% of the equity of the target company in a transaction
structured as a merger or consolidation. For a transaction structured as an acquisition,
however, the acquirer does not have to purchase 100% of the equity of the target in
order to achieve control. The acquiring company may purchase less than 100% of the
target because it may be constrained by resources or it may be unable to acquire all
the outstanding shares. As a result, both the acquirer and the target remain separate
legal entities. Both IFRS and US GAAP presume a company has control if it owns
more than 50% of the voting shares of an entity. In this case, the acquiring company
is viewed as the parent, and the target company is viewed as the subsidiary. Both
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the parent and the subsidiary typically prepare their own financial records, but the
parent also prepares consolidated financial statements at each reporting period. The
consolidated financial statements are the primary source of information for investors
and analysts.

Non-controlling (Minority) Interests: Balance Sheet

A non-controlling (minority) interest is the portion of the subsidiary’s equity (residual
interest) that is held by third parties (i.e., not owned by the parent). Non-controlling
interests are created when the parent acquires less than a 100% controlling interest
in a subsidiary. IFRS and US GAAP have similar treatment for how non-controlling
interests are classified.>> Non-controlling interests in consolidated subsidiaries are
presented on the consolidated balance sheet as a separate component of stockholders’
equity. IFRS and US GAAP differ, however, on the measurement of non-controlling
interests. Under IFRS, the parent can measure the non-controlling interest at either
its fair value (full goodwill method) or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets (partial goodwill method). Under US
GAADPD, the parent must use the full goodwill method and measure the non-controlling
interest at fair value.
Example 8 illustrates the differences in reporting requirements.

EXAMPLE 8

Non-controlling Asset Valuation

On 1 January 2018, the hypothetical Parent Co. acquired 90% of the outstanding
shares of the hypothetical Subsidiary Co. in exchange for shares of Parent Co’s
no par common stock with a fair value of €180,000. The fair market value of the
subsidiary’s shares on the date of the exchange was €200,000. Below is selected
financial information from the two companies immediately prior to the exchange
of shares (before the parent recorded the acquisition):

Subsidiary
Parent Book

Value Book Value Fair Value
Cash and receivables €40,000 €15,000 €15,000
Inventory 125,000 80,000 80,000
PP&E (net) 235,000 95,000 155,000

€400,000 €190,000 €250,000

Payables 55,000 20,000 20,000
Long-term debt 120,000 70,000 70,000

175,000 90,000 90,000
Net assets €225,000 €100,000 €160,000
Shareholders’ equity:
Capital stock (no par) €87,000 €34,000
Retained earnings €138,000 €66,000

23 IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements and FASB ASC Topic 810 [Consolidation].
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1. Calculate the value of PP&E (net) on the consolidated balance sheet under
both IFRS and US GAAP.

Solution:

Relative to fair value, the PP&E of the subsidiary is understated by €60,000.
Under the acquisition method (IFRS and US GAAP), as long as the parent
has control over the subsidiary (i.e., regardless of whether the parent had
purchased 51% or 100% of the subsidiary’s stock), it would include 100% of
the subsidiary’s assets and liabilities at fair value on the consolidated balance
sheet. Therefore, PP&E on the consolidated balance sheet would be valued
at €390,000.

2. Calculate the value of goodwill and the value of the non-controlling interest
at the acquisition date under the full goodwill method.

Solution:

Under the full goodwill method (mandatory under US GAAP and optional
under IFRS), goodwill on the consolidated balance sheet would be the dif-
ference between the total fair value of the subsidiary and the fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable net assets.

Fair value of the subsidiary €200,000
Fair value of subsidiary’s identifiable net assets 160,000
Goodwill €40,000

The value of the non-controlling interest is equal to the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the subsidiary’s fair value. The non-con-
trolling interest’s proportionate share of the subsidiary is 10% and the fair
value of the subsidiary is €200,000 on the acquisition date. Under the full
goodwill method, the value of the non-controlling interest would be €20,000
(10% x €200,000).

3. Calculate the value of goodwill and the value of the non-controlling interest
at the acquisition date under the partial goodwill method.

Solution:

Under the partial goodwill method (IFRS only), goodwill on the parent’s
consolidated balance sheet would be €36,000, the difference between the
purchase price and the parent’s proportionate share of the subsidiary’s iden-
tifiable assets.

Acquisition price €180,000
90% of fair value 144,000
Goodwill €36,000

The value of the non-controlling interest is equal to the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
net assets. The non-controlling interest’s proportionate share is 10%, and the
fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable net assets on the acquisition date

is €160,000. Under the partial goodwill method, the value of the non-con-
trolling interest would be €16,000 (10% x €160,000).

Regardless of which method is used, goodwill is not amortized under either
IFRS or US GAAP but it is tested for impairment at least annually.
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For comparative purposes, below is the balance sheet at the acquisition date
under the full goodwill and partial goodwill methods.

Comparative Consolidated Balance Sheet at Acquisition Date:

Acquisition Method

Full Goodwill Partial Goodwill

Cash and receivables €55,000 €55,000
Inventory 205,000 205,000
PP&E (net) 390,000 390,000
Goodwill 40,000 36,000
Total assets €690,000 €686,000
Payables €75,000 €75,000
Long-term debt 190,000 190,000
Total liabilities €265,000 €265,000
Shareholders’ equity:

Noncontrolling interests €20,000 €16,000
Capital stock (no par) €267,000 €267,000
Retained earnings 138,000 138,000
Total equity €425,000 €421,000
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity €690,000 €686,000

Non-controlling (Minority) Interests: Income Statement

On the income statement, non-controlling (minority) interests are presented as a line
item reflecting the allocation of profit or loss for the period. Intercompany transac-
tions, if any, are eliminated in full.

Using assumed data consistent with the facts in Example 8, the amounts included
for the subsidiary in the consolidated income statements under IFRS and US GAAP
are presented below. Income taxes are ignored in the table. In practice, however,
non-controlling interest on the consolidated income statement is the non-controlling
interest's share of the subsidiary's after-tax income.

Full Goodwill Partial Goodwill
Sales €250,000 €250,000
Cost of goods sold 137,500 137,500
Interest expense 10,000 10,000
Depreciation expense 39,000 39,000
Income from continuing operations €63,500 €63,500
Non-controlling interest (10%) (6,350) (6,350)
Consolidated net income to parent’s shareholders €57,150 €57,150

Income to the parent’s shareholders is €57,150 using either method. This is because
the fair value of the PP&E is allocated to non-controlling shareholders as well as to
the controlling shareholders under the full goodwill and the partial goodwill meth-
ods. Therefore, the non-controlling interests will share in the adjustment for excess
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depreciation resulting from the €60,000 increase in PP&E. Because depreciation
expense is the same under both methods, it results in identical net income to all
shareholders, whichever method is used to recognize goodwill and to measure the
non-controlling interest.

Although net income to parent’s shareholders is the same, the impact on ratios
would be different because total assets and stockholders’ equity would differ.

Impact on Ratios

Full Goodwill (%) Partial Goodwill

(%)
Return on assets 8.28 8.33
Return on equity 13.45 13.57

Over time, the value of the subsidiary will change as a result of net income and
changes in equity. As a result, the value of the non-controlling interest on the parent’s
consolidated balance sheet will also change.

Goodwill Impairment

Although goodwill is not amortized, it must be tested for impairment at least annually
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be
impaired. If it is probable that some or all of the goodwill will not be recovered through
the profitable operations of the combined entity, it should be partially or fully written
off by charging it to an expense. Once written down, goodwill cannot be later restored.

IFRS and US GAAP differ on the definition of the levels at which goodwill is
assigned and how goodwill is tested for impairment.

Under IFRS, at the time of acquisition, the total amount of goodwill recognized
is allocated to each of the acquirer’s cash-generating units that will benefit from the
expected synergies resulting from the combination with the target. A cash-generating
unit represents the lowest level within the combined entity at which goodwill is moni-
tored for impairment purposes.2* Goodwill impairment testing is then conducted under
a one-step approach. The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is calculated
and compared with the carrying value of the cash-generating unit.2> An impairment
loss is recognized if the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
its carrying value. The impairment loss (the difference between these two amounts) is
first applied to the goodwill that has been allocated to the cash-generating unit. Once
this has been reduced to zero, the remaining amount of the loss is then allocated to
all of the other non-cash assets in the unit on a pro rata basis.

Under US GAADPD, at the time of acquisition, the total amount of goodwill rec-
ognized is allocated to each of the acquirer’s reporting units. A reporting unit is an
operating segment or component of an operating segment that is one level below the
operating segment as a whole. Goodwill impairment testing is then conducted under
a two-step approach: identification of impairment and then measurement of the loss.
First, the carrying amount of the reporting unit (including goodwill) is compared to
its fair value. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, potential

24 A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

25 The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is the higher of net selling price (i.e., fair value less
costs to sell) and its value in use. Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be
derived from the cash-generating unit. The carrying value of a cash-generating unit is equal to the carrying
value of the unit’s assets and liabilities including the goodwill that has been allocated to that unit.
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impairment has been identified. The second step is then performed to measure the
amount of the impairment loss. The amount of the impairment loss is the difference
between the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill and its carrying amount.
The implied fair value of goodwill is determined in the same manner as in a business
combination (it is the difference between the fair value of the reporting unit and the
fair value of the reporting unit’s assets and liabilities). The impairment loss is applied
to the goodwill that has been allocated to the reporting unit. After the goodwill of the
reporting unit has been eliminated, no other adjustments are made automatically to
the carrying values of any of the reporting unit’s other assets or liabilities. However, it
may be prudent to test other asset values for recoverability and possible impairment.

Under both IFRS and US GAAP, the impairment loss is recorded as a separate line
item in the consolidated income statement.

EXAMPLE 9

Goodwill Impairment: IFRS

1. The cash-generating unit of a French company has a carrying value of
€1,400,000, which includes €300,000 of allocated goodwill. The recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is determined to be €1,300,000, and the
estimated fair value of its identifiable net assets is €1,200,000. Calculate the
impairment loss.

Solution:
Recoverable amount of unit €1,300,000
Carrying amount of unit 1,400,000
Impairment loss €100,000

The impairment loss of €100,000 is reported on the income statement, and
the goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit would be reduced by
€100,000 to €200,000.

If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit had been €800,000 in-
stead of €1,300,000, the impairment loss recognized would be €600,000. This
would first be absorbed by the goodwill allocated to the unit (€300,000).
Once this has been reduced to zero, the remaining amount of the impair-
ment loss (€300,000) would then be allocated on a pro rata basis to the other
non-cash assets within the unit.

EXAMPLE 10

Goodwill Impairment: US GAAP

1. A reporting unit of a US corporation (e.g., a division) has a fair value of
$1,300,000 and a carrying value of $1,400,000 that includes recorded good-
will of $300,000. The estimated fair value of the identifiable net assets of
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the reporting unit at the impairment test date is $1,200,000. Calculate the
impairment loss.

Solution:

Step 1 - Determination of an Impairment Loss

Because the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying book
value, a potential impairment loss has been identified.

Fair value of unit: $1,300,000 < $1,400,000

Step 2 - Measurement of the Impairment Loss

Fair value of reporting unit $1,300,000
Less: net assets 1,200,000
Implied goodwill $100,000
Current carrying value of goodwill $300,000
Less: implied goodwill 100,000
Impairment loss $200,000

The impairment loss of $200,000 is reported on the income statement, and
the goodwill allocated to the reporting unit would be reduced by $200,000
to $100,000.

If the fair value of the reporting unit was $800,000 (instead of $1,300,000),
the implied goodwill would be a negative $400,000. In this case, the max-
imum amount of the impairment loss recognized would be $300,000, the
carrying amount of goodwill.

FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION

] describe the classification, measurement, and disclosure under
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for 1)
investments in financial assets, 2) investments in associates, 3) joint
ventures, 4) business combinations, and 5) special purpose and
variable interest entities

] compare and contrast IFRS and US GAAP in their classification,
measurement, and disclosure of investments in financial assets,
investments in associates, joint ventures, business combinations, and
special purpose and variable interest entities

The presentation of consolidated financial statements is similar under IFRS and US
GAAP. For example, selected financial statements for GlaxoSmithKline are shown
in Exhibit 6 and Exhibit 7. GlaxoSmithKline is a leading pharmaceutical company
headquartered in the United Kingdom.

The consolidated balance sheet in Exhibit 6 combines the operations of
GlaxoSmithKline and its subsidiaries. The analyst can observe that in 2017
GlaxoSmithKline had investments in financial assets (other investments of £918,000,000
and liquid investments of £78,000,000), and investments in associates and joint ventures
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of £183,000,000. In 2017 GlaxoSmithKline did not acquire any additional companies,
however, it made a number of small business disposals during the year for a net
cash consideration of £342,000,000, including contingent consideration receivable
of £86,000,000. In addition, during 2017 GlaxoSmithKline made cash investment of
£15,000,000 in Associates and disposed of two associated for a cash consideration
of £198,000,000.26 The decrease in goodwill on the balance sheet reflects exchange
adjustments recognized by GlaxoSmithKline due to the weakness of the functional
currency of the parent (Pound Sterling). Note that GlaxoSmithKline has £6,172,000,000
in contingent consideration liabilities, which relate to future events such as develop-
ment milestones or sales performance for acquired companies. Of the £6 billion total
contingent liability, £1,076,000,000 is expected to be paid within one year in respect
of the Novartis Vaccines business, which reached its sales milestone. The remaining
contingent consideration relates to the acquisition of the Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare
joint venture and Novartis Vaccines are expected to be paid over a number of years.?’
The analyst can also note that GlaxoSmithKline is the parent company in a less than
100% acquisition. The minority interest of £3,557,000,000 in the equity section is the
portion of the combined entity that accrues to non-controlling shareholders.

Exhibit 6: GlaxoSmithKline Consolidated Balance Sheet at 31 December

2017

Notes 2017 £m 2016 £m
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 17 10,860 10,808
Goodwill 18 5,734 5,965
Other intangible assets 19 17,562 18,776
Investments in associates and joint ventures 20 183 263
Other investments 21 918 985
Deferred tax assets 14 3,796 4,374
Derivative financial instruments 42 8 —
Other non-current assets 22 1,413 1,199
Total non-current assets 40,474 42,370
Current assets
Inventories 23 5,557 5,102
Current tax recoverable 14 258 226
Trade and other receivables 24 6,000 6,026
Derivative financial instruments 42 68 156
Liquid investments 31 78 89
Cash and cash equivalents 25 3,833 4,897
Assets held for sale 26 113 215
Total current assets 15,907 16,711
Total assets 56,381 59,081
Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings 31 (2,825) (4,129)

26 Note 38: Acquisitions and Disposals, GlaxoSmithKline financial statements 2017
27 The notes state that the amount included in the balance sheet is the present value of the expected
contingent consideration payments, which have been discounted using a rate of 8.5%.
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Notes 2017 £m 2016 £m

Contingent consideration liabilities 39 (1,076) (561)
Trade and other payables 27 (20,970) (11,964)
Derivative financial instruments 42 (74) (194)
Current tax payable 14 (995) (1,305)
Short-term provisions 29 (629) (848)
Total current liabilities (26,569) (19,001)
Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings 31 (14,264) (14,661)
Corporation tax payable 14 (411) —
Deferred tax liabilities 14 (1,396) (1,934)
Pensions and other post-employment benefits 28 (3,539) (4,090)
Other provisions 29 (636) (652)
Contingent consideration liabilities 39 (5,096) (5,335)
Other non-current liabilities 30 (981) (8,445)
Total non-current liabilities (26,323) (35,117)
Total liabilities (52,892) (54,118)
Net assets 3,489 4,963
Equity
Share capital 33 1,343 1,342
Share premium account 33 3,019 2,954
Retained earnings 34 (6,477) (5,392)
Other reserves 34 2,047 2,220
Shareholders’ equity (68) 1,124
Non-controlling interests 3,557 3,839
Total equity 3,489 4,963

The consolidated income statement for GlaxoSmithKline is presented in Exhibit 7.
IFRS and US GAAP have similar formats for consolidated income statements. Each
line item (e.g., turnover [sales], cost of sales, etc.) includes 100% of the parent and the
subsidiary transactions after eliminating any upstream (subsidiary sells to parent) or
downstream (parent sells to subsidiary) intercompany transactions. The portion of
income accruing to non-controlling shareholders is presented as a separate line item
on the consolidated income statement. Note that net income would be the same under
IFRS and US GAAP?8 The analyst will need to make adjustments for any analysis
comparing specific line items that might differ between IFRS and US GAAP.

28 It is possible, however, for differences to arise through the application of different accounting rules
(e.g., valuation of fixed assets).
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Exhibit 7: GlaxoSmithKline Consolidated Income Statement for the Year Ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016 2015
Total

Notes £m £m £fm
Turnover 6 30,186 27,889 23,923
Cost of sales (10,342) (9,290) (8,853)
Gross profit 19,844 18,599 15,070
Selling, general and administration (9,672) (9,366) (9,232)
Research and development (4,476) (3,628) (3,560)
Royalty income 356 398 329
Other operating income 7 (1,965) (3,405) 7,715
Operating profit 8 4,087 2,598 10,322
Finance income 11 65 72 104
Finance costs 12 (734) (736) (757)
Profit on disposal of interests in
Associates 95 — 843
Share of after tax profits of associ-
ates and joint ventures 13 13 5 14
Profit before taxation 3,525 1,939 10,526
Taxation 14 (1,356) (877) (2,154)
Profit after taxation for the year 2,169 1,062 8,372
Profit/(loss) attributable to
non-controlling interests 637 150 (50)
Profit attributable to shareholders 1,532 912 8,472

2,169 1,062 8,372

Basic earnings per share (pence) 15 31.4p 18.8p 174.3p
Diluted earnings per share (pence) 15 31.0p 18.6p 172.3p

VARIABLE INTEREST AND SPECIAL PURPOSE ENTITIES

] describe the classification, measurement, and disclosure under
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for 1)
investments in financial assets, 2) investments in associates, 3) joint
ventures, 4) business combinations, and 5) special purpose and
variable interest entities

] compare and contrast IFRS and US GAAP in their classification,
measurement, and disclosure of investments in financial assets,
investments in associates, joint ventures, business combinations, and
special purpose and variable interest entities
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Special purpose entities (SPEs) are enterprises that are created to accommodate
specific needs of the sponsoring entity.?? The sponsoring entity (on whose behalf
the SPE is created) frequently transfers assets to the SPE, obtains the right to use
assets held by the SPE, or performs services for the SPE, while other parties (capital
providers) provide funding to the SPE. SPEs can be a legitimate financing mechanism
for a company to segregate certain activities and thereby reduce risk. SPEs may take
the form of a limited liability company (corporation), trust, partnership, or unin-
corporated entity. They are often created with legal arrangements that impose strict
and sometimes permanent limits on the decision-making powers of their governing
board or management.

Beneficial interest in an SPE may take the form of a debt instrument, an equity
instrument, a participation right, or a residual interest in a lease. Some beneficial
interests may simply provide the holder with a fixed or stated rate of return, while
beneficial interests give the holder the rights or the access to future economic ben-
efits of the SPE’s activities. In most cases, the creator/sponsor of the entity retains a
significant beneficial interest in the SPE even though it may own little or none of the
SPE’s voting equity.

In the past, sponsors were able to avoid consolidating SPEs on their financial state-
ments because they did not have “control” (i.e., own a majority of the voting interest)
of the SPE. SPEs were structured so that the sponsoring company had financial control
over their assets or operating activities, while third parties held the majority of the
voting interest in the SPE.

These outside equity participants often funded their investments in the SPE with
debt that was either directly or indirectly guaranteed by the sponsoring companies.
The sponsoring companies, in turn, were able to avoid the disclosure of many of these
guarantees as well as their economic significance. In addition, many sponsoring com-
panies created SPEs to facilitate the transfer of assets and liabilities from their own
balance sheets. As a result, they were able to recognize large amounts of revenue and
gains, because these transactions were accounted for as sales. By avoiding consolida-
tion, sponsoring companies did not have to report the assets and the liabilities of the
SPE; financial performance as measured by the unconsolidated financial statements
was potentially misleading. The benefit to the sponsoring company was improved
asset turnover, lower operating and financial leverage metrics, and higher profitability.

Enron, for example, used SPEs to obtain off-balance sheet financing and artificially
improve its financial performance. Its subsequent collapse was partly attributable to
its guarantee of the debt of the SPEs it had created.

To address the accounting issues arising from the misuse and abuse of SPEs, the
IASB and the FASB worked to improve the consolidation models to take into account
financial arrangements where parties other than the holders of the majority of the
voting interests exercise financial control over another entity. IFRS 10, Consolidated
Financial Statements, revised the definition of control to encompass many special
purpose entities. Special purpose entities involved in a structured financial transaction
will require an evaluation of the purpose, design, and risks.

In developing new accounting standards to address this consolidation issue, the
FASB used the more general term variable interest entity (VIE) to more broadly
define an entity that is financially controlled by one or more parties that do not hold
a majority voting interest. Therefore, under US GAAP, a VIE includes other entities
besides SPEs. FASB ASC Topic 810 [Consolidation] provides guidance for US GAAP,
which classifies special purpose entities as variable interest entities if:

1. total equity at risk is insufficient to finance activities without financial sup-
port from other parties, or

29 The term “special purpose entity” is used by IFRS and “variable interest entity” and “special purpose
entity” is used by US GAAP.
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2. equity investors lack any one of the following:
a. the ability to make decisions;
b. the obligation to absorb losses; or

¢. the right to receive returns.

Common examples of variable interests are entities created to lease real estate or
other property, entities created for the securitization of financial assets, or entities
created for research and development activity.

Under FASB ASC Topic 810 [Consolidation], the primary beneficiary of a VIE
must consolidate it as a subsidiary regardless of how much of an equity investment
the beneficiary has in the VIE. The primary beneficiary (which is often the sponsor) is
the entity that is expected to absorb the majority of the VIE’s expected losses, receive
the majority of the VIE’s residual returns, or both. If one entity will absorb a majority
of the VIE’s expected losses and another unrelated entity will receive a majority of
the VIE’s expected residual returns, the entity absorbing a majority of the losses must
consolidate the VIE. If there are non-controlling interests in the VIE, these would also
be shown in the consolidated balance sheet and consolidated income statement of the
primary beneficiary. ASC Topic 810 also requires entities to disclose information about
their relationships with VIEs, even if they are not considered the primary beneficiary.

Securitization of Assets

Example 11 shows the effects of securitizing assets on companies’ balance sheets.

EXAMPLE 11

Receivables Securitization

Odena, a (fictional) Italian auto manufacturer, wants to raise €55M in capital by
borrowing against its financial receivables. To accomplish this objective, Odena
can choose between two alternatives:

Alternative 1 Borrow directly against the receivables; or

Alternative 2 Create a special purpose entity, invest €5M in the SPE, have the
SPE borrow €55M, and then use the funds to purchase €60M of
receivables from Odena.

Using the financial statement information provided below, describe the
effect of each Alternative on Odena, assuming that Odena meets the definition
of control and will consolidate the SPE.

Odena Balance Sheet

Cash €30,000,000
Accounts receivable 60,000,000
Other assets 40,000,000

Total assets €130,000,000
Current liabilities €27,000,000
Noncurrent liabilities 20,000,000

Total liabilities €47,000,000

1M
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Shareholder equity €83,000,000
Total liabilities and equity €130,000,000

Alternative 1:

Odena’s cash will increase by €55M (to €85M) and its debt will increase by €55M
(to €75M). Its sales and net income will not change.

Odena: Alternative 1 Balance Sheet

Cash €85,000,000
Accounts receivable 60,000,000
Other assets 40,000,000
Total assets €185,000,000
Current liabilities €27,000,000
Noncurrent liabilities 75,000,000
Total liabilities €102,000,000
Shareholder equity €83,000,000
Total liabilities and equity €185,000,000

Alternative 2:

Odena’s accounts receivable will decrease by €60M and its cash will increase
by €55 (it invests €5M in cash in the SPE). However, if Odena is able to sell the
receivables to the SPE for more than their carrying value (for example, €65), it
would also report a gain on the sale in its profit and loss. Equally important, the
SPE may be able to borrow the funds at a lower rate than Odena, since they are
bankruptcy remote from Odena (i.e., out of reach of Odena’s creditors), and the
lenders to the SPE are the claimants on its assets (i.e., the purchased receivables).

SPE Balance Sheet

Accounts receivable €60,000,000
Total assets €60,000,000
Long-term debt €55,000,000
Equity 5,000,000
Total liabilities and equity €60,000,000

Because Odena consolidates the SPE, its financial balance sheet would look like
the following:

Odena: Alternative 2 Consolidated Balance Sheet

Cash €85,000,000
Accounts receivable 60,000,000
Other assets 40,000,000

Total assets €185,000,000
Current liabilities €27,000,000
Noncurrent liabilities 75,000,000

Total liabilities €102,000,000
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Shareholder equity €83,000,000
Total liabilities and equity €185,000,000

Therefore, the consolidated balance sheet of Odena would look exactly the same
as if it borrowed directly against the receivables. In addition, as a result of the
consolidation, the transfer (sale) of the receivables to the SPE would be reversed
along with any gain Odena recognized on the sale.

ADDITIONAL ISSUES IN BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
THAT IMPAIR COMPARABILITY

] describe the classification, measurement, and disclosure under
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for 1)
investments in financial assets, 2) investments in associates, 3) joint
ventures, 4) business combinations, and 5) special purpose and
variable interest entities

] compare and contrast IFRS and US GAAP in their classification,
measurement, and disclosure of investments in financial assets,
investments in associates, joint ventures, business combinations, and
special purpose and variable interest entities

Accounting for business combinations is a complex topic. In addition to the basics
covered so far in this reading, we briefly mention some of the more common issues
that impair comparability between IFRS and US GAAP.

Contingent Assets and Liabilities

Under IFRS, the cost of an acquisition is allocated to the fair value of assets, liabilities,
and contingent liabilities. Contingent liabilities are recorded separately as part of
the cost allocation process, provided that their fair values can be measured reliably.
Subsequently, the contingent liability is measured at the higher of the amount ini-
tially recognized or the best estimate of the amount required to settle. As mentioned
previously, GlaxoSmithKline had approximately £6 billion in contingent liabilities in
relation to a number of purchases for the year ended 31 December 2017, with the
notes to the financial statements further stating that the £6 billion was the expected
value of the contingent consideration payments, discounted at an appropriate discount
rate. Contingent assets are not recognized under IFRS.

Under US GAAP, contractual contingent assets and liabilities are recognized and
recorded at their fair values at the time of acquisition. Non-contractual contingent
assets and liabilities must also be recognized and recorded only if it is “more likely
than not” they meet the definition of an asset or a liability at the acquisition date.
Subsequently, a contingent liability is measured at the higher of the amount initially
recognized or the best estimate of the amount of the loss. A contingent asset, however,
is measured at the lower of the acquisition date fair value or the best estimate of the
future settlement amount.
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Contingent Consideration

Contingent consideration may be negotiated as part of the acquisition price. For
example, the acquiring company (parent) may agree to pay additional money to the
acquiree’s (subsidiary’s) former shareholders if certain agreed upon events occur.
These can include achieving specified sales or profit levels for the acquiree and/or the
combined entity. Under both IFRS and US GAAP, contingent consideration is initially
measured at fair value. IFRS and US GAAP classify contingent consideration as an
asset, liability or equity. In subsequent periods, changes in the fair value of liabilities
(and assets, in the case of US GAAP) are recognized in the consolidated income
statement. Both IFRS and US GAAP do not remeasure equity classified contingent
consideration; instead, settlement is accounted for within equity.

In-Process R&D

IFRS and US GAAP recognize in-process research and development acquired in a
business combination as a separate intangible asset and measure it at fair value (if
it can be measured reliably). In subsequent periods, this research and development
is subject to amortization if successfully completed (a marketable product results)
or to impairment if no product results or if the product is not technically and/or
financially viable.

Restructuring Costs

IFRS and US GAAP do not recognize restructuring costs that are associated with the
business combination as part of the cost of the acquisition. Instead, they are recognized
as an expense in the periods the restructuring costs are incurred.

SUMMARY

Intercompany investments play a significant role in business activities and create
significant challenges for the analyst in assessing company performance. Investments
in other companies can take five basic forms: investments in financial assets, invest-
ments in associates, joint ventures, business combinations, and investments in special
purpose and variable interest entities. Key concepts are as follows:

= Investments in financial assets are those in which the investor has no signifi-
cant influence. They can be measured and reported as

¢ Fair value through profit or loss.
e Fair value through other comprehensive income.

e Amortized cost.

IFRS and US GAAP treat investments in financial assets in a similar manner.

= Investments in associates and joint ventures are those in which the investor
has significant influence, but not control, over the investee’s business activ-
ities. Because the investor can exert significant influence over financial and
operating policy decisions, IFRS and US GAAP require the equity method
of accounting because it provides a more objective basis for reporting
investment income.
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¢ The equity method requires the investor to recognize income as earned
rather than when dividends are received.

¢ The equity investment is carried at cost, plus its share of post-acquisition
income (after adjustments) less dividends received.

¢ The equity investment is reported as a single line item on the balance
sheet and on the income statement.

= JFRS and US GAAP accounting standards require the use of the acquisition
method to account for business combinations. Fair value of the consider-
ation given is the appropriate measurement for identifiable assets and liabili-
ties acquired in the business combination.

= Goodwill is the difference between the acquisition value and the fair value
of the target’s identifiable net tangible and intangible assets. Because it is
considered to have an indefinite life, it is not amortized. Instead, it is evalu-
ated at least annually for impairment. Impairment losses are reported on the
income statement. IFRS use a one-step approach to determine and measure
the impairment loss, whereas US GAAP uses a two-step approach.

= If the acquiring company acquires less than 100%, non-controlling
(minority) shareholders’ interests are reported on the consolidated finan-
cial statements. IFRS allows the non-controlling interest to be measured at
either its fair value (full goodwill) or at the non-controlling interest’s pro-
portionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets (partial goodwill).
US GAAP requires the non-controlling interest to be measured at fair value
(full goodwill).

= Consolidated financial statements are prepared in each reporting period.

= Special purpose (SPEs) and variable interest entities (VIEs) are required to
be consolidated by the entity which is expected to absorb the majority of the
expected losses or receive the majority of expected residual benefits.
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PRACTICE PROBLEMS

The following information relates to questions
1-6

Burton Howard, CFA, is an equity analyst with Maplewood Securities. Howard
is preparing a research report on Confabulated Materials, SA, a publicly trad-
ed company based in France that complies with IFRS 9. As part of his analysis,
Howard has assembled data gathered from the financial statement footnotes of
Confabulated’s 2018 Annual Report and from discussions with company manage-
ment. Howard is concerned about the effect of this information on Confabulat-
ed’s future earnings.

Information about Confabulated’s investment portfolio for the years ended

31 December 2017 and 2018 is presented in Exhibit 1. As part of his research,
Howard is considering the possible effect on reported income of Confabulated’s
accounting classification for fixed income investments.

Exhibit 1: Confabulated’s Investment Portfolio (€ Thousands)

Characteristic Bugle AG Cathay Corp Dumas SA
Classification FVPL FVOCI Amortized cost
Cost* €25,000 €40,000 €50,000
Market value, 31 December 2017 29,000 38,000 54,000
Market value, 31 December 2018 28,000 37,000 55,000

* All securities were acquired at par value.

In addition, Confabulated’s annual report discusses a transaction under which
receivables were securitized through a special purpose entity (SPE) for Confabu-
lated’s benefit.

1. The balance sheet carrying value of Confabulated’s investment portfolio (in €
thousands) at 31 December 2018 is closest to:

A. 112,000.
B. 115,000.
(. 118,000.

2. The balance sheet carrying value of Confabulated’s investment portfolio at 31 De-
cember 2018 would have been higher if which of the securities had been reclassi-

fied as FVPL security?
A. Bugle.
B. Cathay.

C. Dumas.
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3. Compared to Confabulated’s reported interest income in 2018, if Dumas had
been classified as FVPL, the interest income would have been:

A. lower.
B. the same.

C. higher.

4. Compared to Confabulated’s reported earnings before taxes in 2018, if Dumas
had been classified as a FVPL security, the earnings before taxes (in € thousands)
would have been:

A. the same.
B. €1,000 lower.

C. €1,000 higher.

5. Confabulated’s reported interest income would be lower if the cost was the same
but the par value (in € thousands) of:

A. Bugle was €28,000.
B. Cathay was €37,000.
(. Dumas was €55,000.
6. Confabulated’s special purpose entity is most likely to be:
A. held oft-balance sheet.
B. consolidated on Confabulated’s financial statements.

(. consolidated on Confabulated’s financial statements only if it is a “qualifying
SPE”

The following information relates to questions
7-11

Cinnamon, Inc. is a diversified manufacturing company headquartered in the
United Kingdom. It complies with IFRS. In 2017, Cinnamon held a 19 percent
passive equity ownership interest in Cambridge Processing. In December 2017,
Cinnamon announced that it would be increasing its ownership interest to 50
percent effective 1 January 2018 through a cash purchase. Cinnamon and Cam-
bridge have no intercompany transactions.

Peter Lubbock, an analyst following both Cinnamon and Cambridge, is curious
how the increased stake will affect Cinnamon’s consolidated financial statements.
He asks Cinnamon’s CFO how the company will account for the investment, and
is told that the decision has not yet been made. Lubbock decides to use his exist-
ing forecasts for both companies’ financial statements to compare the outcomes
of alternative accounting treatments.

Lubbock assembles abbreviated financial statement data for Cinnamon (Exhibit
1) and Cambridge (Exhibit 2) for this purpose.
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Exhibit 1: Selected Financial Statement Information for Cinnamon, Inc.

(£ Millions)
Year ending 31 December 2017 2018*
Revenue 1,400 1,575
Operating income 126 142
Net income 62 69
31 December 2017 2018*
Total assets 1,170 1,317
Shareholders’ equity 616 685

* Estimates made prior to announcement of increased stake in Cambridge.

Exhibit 2: Selected Financial Statement Information for Cambridge

Processing (£ Millions)

Year ending 31 December 2017 2018*
Revenue 1,000 1,100
Operating income 80 88
Net income 40 44
Dividends paid 20 22
31 December 2017 2018*
Total assets 800 836
Shareholders’ equity 440 462

* Estimates made prior to announcement of increased stake by Cinnamon.

7. In 2018, if Cinnamon is deemed to have control over Cambridge, it will most
likely account for its investment in Cambridge using:

A. the equity method.
B. the acquisition method.

(. proportionate consolidation.

8. At 31 December 2018, Cinnamon’s total shareholders’ equity on its balance sheet
would most likely be:

A. highest if Cinnamon is deemed to have control of Cambridge.

B. independent of the accounting method used for the investment in
Cambridge.

(. highest if Cinnamon is deemed to have significant influence over
Cambridge.

9. In 2018, Cinnamon’s net profit margin would be kighest if:

A. it is deemed to have control of Cambridge.
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B. it had not increased its stake in Cambridge.

C. it is deemed to have significant influence over Cambridge.

10. At 31 December 2018, assuming control and recognition of goodwill, Cinna-
mon’s reported debt to equity ratio will most likely be highest if it accounts for its
investment in Cambridge using the:

A. equity method.
B. full goodwill method.

(. partial goodwill method.

11. Compared to Cinnamon’s operating margin in 2017, if it is deemed to have con-
trol of Cambridge, its operating margin in 2018 will most likely be:

A. lower.
B. higher.

C. the same.

The following information relates to questions
12-16

Zimt, AG is a consumer products manufacturer headquartered in Austria. It
complies with IFRS. In 2017, Zimt held a 10 percent passive stake in Oxbow Lim-
ited. In December 2017, Zimt announced that it would be increasing its owner-
ship to 50 percent effective 1 January 2018.

Franz Gelblum, an analyst following both Zimt and Oxbow, is curious how the
increased stake will affect Zimt’s consolidated financial statements. Because
Gelblum is uncertain how the company will account for the increased stake, he
uses his existing forecasts for both companies’ financial statements to compare
various alternative outcomes.

Gelblum gathers abbreviated financial statement data for Zimt (Exhibit 1) and
Oxbow (Exhibit 2) for this purpose.

Exhibit 1: Selected Financial Statement Estimates for Zimt AG (€ Millions)

Year ending 31 December 2017 2018*
Revenue 1,500 1,700
Operating income 135 153
Net income 66 75
31 December 2017 2018*
Total assets 1,254 1,421
Shareholders’ equity 660 735

* Estimates made prior to announcement of increased stake in Oxbow.
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Exhibit 2: Selected Financial Statement Estimates for Oxbow Limited

(€ Millions)
Year ending 31 December 2017 2018*
Revenue 1,200 1,350
Operating income 120 135
Net income 60 68
Dividends paid 20 22
31 December 2017 2018*
Total assets 1,200 1,283
Shareholders’ equity 660 706

* Estimates made prior to announcement of increased stake by Zimt.

12. At 31 December 2018, Zimt’s total assets balance would most likely be:

A. highest if Zimt is deemed to have control of Oxbow.
B. highest if Zimt is deemed to have significant influence over Oxbow.

C. unaffected by the accounting method used for the investment in Oxbow.

13. Based on Gelblum’s estimates, if Zimt is deemed to have significant influence
over Oxbow, its 2018 net income (in € millions) would be closest to:

A. €75.
B. €109.
¢ €143.

14. Based on Gelblum’s estimates, if Zimt is deemed to have joint control of Oxbow,
and Zimt uses the proportionate consolidation method, its 31 December 2018
total liabilities (in € millions) will most likely be closest to:

A. €686.
B. €975.
C €1,263.

15. Based on Gelblum’s estimates, if Zimt is deemed to have control over Oxbow, its
2018 consolidated sales (in € millions) will be closest to:

A. €1,700.
B. €2,375.
(. €3,050.

16. Based on Gelblum’s estimates, and holding the size of Zimt’s ownership stake in
Oxbow constant, Zimt’s net income in 2018 will most likely be:

A. highest if Zimt is deemed to have control of Oxbow.

B. highest if Zimt is deemed to have significant influence over Oxbow.
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(. independent of the accounting method used for the investment in Oxbow.

The following information relates to questions
17-22

17.

18.

BetterCare Hospitals, Inc. operates a chain of hospitals throughout the United
States. The company has been expanding by acquiring local hospitals. Its largest
acquisition, that of Statewide Medical, was made in 2001 under the pooling of
interests method. BetterCare complies with US GAAP.

BetterCare is currently forming a 50/50 joint venture with Supreme Healthcare
under which the companies will share control of several hospitals. BetterCare
plans to use the equity method to account for the joint venture. Supreme Health-
care complies with IFRS and will use the proportionate consolidation method to
account for the joint venture.

Erik Ohalin is an equity analyst who covers both companies. He has estimated
the joint venture’s financial information for 2018 in order to prepare his estimates
of each company’s earnings and financial performance. This information is pre-
sented in Exhibit 1.

Exhibit 1: Selected Financial Statement Forecasts for Joint

Venture ($ Millions)

Year ending 31 December 2018
Revenue 1,430
Operating income 128
Net income 62
31 December 2018
Total assets 1,500
Shareholders’ equity 740

Supreme Healthcare recently announced it had formed a special purpose entity
through which it plans to sell up to $100 million of its accounts receivable. Su-
preme Healthcare has no voting interest in the SPE, but it is expected to absorb
any losses that it may incur. Ohalin wants to estimate the impact this will have on
Supreme Healthcare’s consolidated financial statements.

Compared to accounting principles currently in use, the pooling method Bet-
terCare used for its Statewide Medical acquisition has most likely caused its
reported:

A. revenue to be higher.
B. total equity to be lower.

(. total assets to be higher.

Based on Ohalin’s estimates, the amount of joint venture revenue (in $ millions)
included on BetterCare’s consolidated 2018 financial statements should be closest

51




© CFA Institute. For candidate use only. Not for distribution.
52 Learning Module 1 Intercorporate Investments

to:

A. $0.
B. $715.

C $1,430.

19. Based on Ohalin’s estimates, the amount of joint venture net income included on
the consolidated financial statements of each venturer will most likely be:

A. higher for BetterCare.
B. higher for Supreme Healthcare.

C. the same for both BetterCare and Supreme Healthcare.

20. Based on Ohalin’s estimates, the amount of the joint venture’s 31 December 2018
total assets (in $ millions) that will be included on Supreme Healthcare’s consoli-
dated financial statements will be closest to:

A. s0.
B. $750.
C $1,500.

21. Based on Ohalin’s estimates, the amount of joint venture shareholders’ equity
at 31 December 2018 included on the consolidated financial statements of each
venturer will most likely be:

A. higher for BetterCare.
B. higher for Supreme Healthcare.

C. the same for both BetterCare and Supreme Healthcare.

22. If Supreme Healthcare sells its receivables to the SPE, its consolidated financial
results will least likely show:

A. a higher revenue for 2018.
B. the same cash balance at 31 December 2018.

C. the same accounts receivable balance at 31 December 2018.

The following information relates to questions
23-29

John Thronen is an analyst in the research department of an international
securities firm. Thronen is preparing a research report on Topmaker, Inc., a
publicly-traded company that complies with IFRS. Thronen reviews two of Top-
maker’s recent transactions relating to investments in Blanco Co. and Rainer Co.

Investment in Blanca Co.

On 1 January 2016, Topmaker invested $11 million in Blanca Co. debt securities
(with a 5.0% stated coupon rate on par value, payable each 31 December). The par
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value of the securities is $10 million, and the market interest rate in effect when
the bonds were purchased was 4.0%. Topmaker designates the investment as
held-to-maturity. On 31 December 2016, the fair value of the securities was $12
million.

Blanca Co. plans to raise $40 million in capital by borrowing against its financial
receivables. Blanca plans to create a special purpose entity (SPE), invest $10
million in the SPE, have the SPE borrow $40 million, and then use the total funds
to purchase $50 million of receivables from Blanca. Blanca meets the definition
of control and plans to consolidate the SPE. Blanca’s current balance sheet is
presented in Exhibit 1.

Exhibit 1: Blanca Co. Balance Sheet at 31 December 2016 ($ millions)

Cash 20 Current liabilities 25
Accounts receivable 50 Noncurrent liabilities 30
Other assets 30 Shareholders’ equity 45
Total assets 100 Total liabilities and equity 100

Investment in Rainer Co.

On 1 January 2016, Topmaker acquired a 15% equity interest with voting power
in Rainer Co. for $300 million. Exhibit 2 presents selected financial information
for Rainer on the acquisition date. Thronen notes that the plant and equipment
are depreciated on a straight-line basis and have 10 years of remaining life. Top-
maker has representation on Rainer’s board of directors and participates in the

associate’s policy-making process.

Selected Financial Data for Rainer Co., 1 January 2016

n Date) ($ millions)

Book Value Fair Value
Current assets 270 270
Plant and equipment 2,900 3,160
Total assets 3,170 3,430
Liabilities 1,830 1,830
Net assets 1,340 1,600

Thronen notes that, for fiscal year 2016, Rainer reported total revenue of $1,740
million and net income of $360 million, and paid dividends of $220 million.

Thronen is concerned about possible goodwill impairment for Topmaker due to
expected changes in the industry effective at the end of 2017. He calculates the
impairment loss based on selected data from the projected consolidated balance
sheet data presented in Exhibit 3, assuming that the cash-generating unit and
reporting unit of Topmaker are the same.
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Exhibit 3: Selected Financial Data for Topmaker, Inc., Estimated Year Ending

31 December 2017 ($ millions)

Carrying value of cash-generating unit/reporting unit 15,200
Recoverable amount of cash-generating unit/reporting unit 14,900
Fair value of reporting unit 14,800
Identifiable net assets 14,400
Goodwill 520

Finally, Topmaker announces its plan to increase its ownership interest in Rainer
to 80% effective 1 January 2018 and will account for the investment in Rainer
using the partial goodwill method. Thronen estimates that the fair market value
of the Rainer’s shares on the expected date of exchange is $2 billion with the iden-
tifiable assets valued at $1.5 billion.

23. The carrying value of Topmaker’s investment in Blanca’s debt securities reported
on the balance sheet at 31 December 2016 is:

A. $10.94 million.
B. $11.00 million.

C. $12.00 million.

24. Based on Exhibit 1 and Blanca’s plans to borrow against its financial receivables,
the new consolidated balance sheet will show total assets of:

A. $50 million.
B. $140 million.
€. $150 million.
25. Based on Exhibit 2, Topmaker’s investment in Rainer resulted in goodwill of:
A. $21 million.
B. $60 million.
C.  $99 million.
26. Topmaker’s influence on Rainer’s business activities can be best described as:
A. significant.
B. controlling.

C. shared control.

27. Using only the information from Exhibit 2, the carrying value of Topmaker’s
investment in Rainer at the end of 2018 is closest to:

A. $282 million.
B. $317 million.

C. $321 million.
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28. Based on Exhibit 3, Topmaker’s impairment loss under IFRS is:

A. $120 million.
B. $300 million.

C. $400 million.

29. Based on Thronen’s value estimates on the acquisition date of 1 January 2018, the
estimated value of the minority interest related to Rainer will be:

A. $300 million.
B. $400 million.

C. $500 million.

The following information relates to questions
30-35

Percy Byron, CFA, is an equity analyst with a UK-based investment firm. One
firm Byron follows is NinMount PLC, a UK-based company. On 31 December
2018, NinMount paid £320 million to purchase a 50 percent stake in Boswell
Company. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of Boswell’s net as-
sets was attributable to previously unrecorded licenses. These licenses were esti-
mated to have an economic life of six years. The fair value of Boswell’s assets and
liabilities other than licenses was equal to their recorded book values. NinMount
and Boswell both use the pound sterling as their reporting currency and prepare
their financial statements in accordance with IFRS.

Byron is concerned whether the investment should affect his “buy” rating on
NinMount common stock. He knows NinMount could choose one of several ac-
counting methods to report the results of its investment, but NinMount has not
announced which method it will use. Byron forecasts that both companies’ 2019
financial results (excluding any merger accounting adjustments) will be identical
to those of 2018.

NinMount’s and Boswell’s condensed income statements for the year ended 31
December 2018, and condensed balance sheets at 31 December 2018, are pre-
sented in Exhibits 1 and 2, respectively.

Exhibit 1: NinMount PLC and Boswell Company Income Statements for the

Year Ended 31 December 2018 (£ millions)

NinMount Boswell
Net sales 950 510
Cost of goods sold (495) (305)
Selling expenses (50) (15)
Administrative expenses (136) (49)
Depreciation & amortization expense (102) (92)
Interest expense (42) (32)

Income before taxes 125 17
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NinMount Boswell
Income tax expense (50) (7)
Net income 75 10

Exhibit 2: NinMount PLC and Boswell Company Balance Sheets at 31

December 2018 (£ millions)

NinMount Boswell
Cash 50 20
Receivables—net 70 45
Inventory 130 75
Total current assets 250 140
Property, plant, & equipment—net 1,570 930
Investment in Boswell 320 —
Total assets 2,140 1,070
Current liabilities 110 920
Long-term debt 600 400
Total liabilities 710 490
Common stock 850 535
Retained earnings 580 45
Total equity 1,430 580
Total liabilities and equity 2,140 1,070

Note: Balance sheets reflect the purchase price paid by NinMount, but do not yet consider the impact of
the accounting method choice.

30. NinMount’s current ratio on 31 December 2018 most likely will be highest if the
results of the acquisition are reported using:

A. the equity method.
B. consolidation with full goodwill.

(. consolidation with partial goodwill.

31. NinMount’s long-term debt to equity ratio on 31 December 2018 most likely will
be lowest if the results of the acquisition are reported using:

A. the equity method.
B. consolidation with full goodwill.

C. consolidation with partial goodwill.

32. Based on Byron’s forecast, if NinMount deems it has acquired control of Boswell,
NinMount’s consolidated 2019 depreciation and amortization expense (in £ mil-
lions) will be closest to:

A. 102.

B. 148.
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¢ 204.

33. Based on Byron’s forecast, NinMount’s net profit margin for 2019 most likely will
be highest if the results of the acquisition are reported using:

A. the equity method.
B. consolidation with full goodwill.

C. consolidation with partial goodwill.

34. Based on Byron’s forecast, NinMount’s 2019 return on beginning equity most
likely will be the same under:

A. either of the consolidations, but different under the equity method.

B. the equity method, consolidation with full goodwill, and consolidation with
partial goodwill.

(. none of the equity method, consolidation with full goodwill, or consolida-
tion with partial goodwill.

35. Based on Byron’s forecast, NinMount’s 2019 total asset turnover ratio on begin-
ning assets under the equity method is most likely:

A. lower than if the results are reported using consolidation.
B. the same as if the results are reported using consolidation.

C. higher than if the results are reported using consolidation.
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SOLUTIONS

B is correct. Under IFRS 9, FVPL and FVOCI securities are carried at market
value, whereas amortized cost securities are carried at historical cost. €28,000 +
37,000 + 50,000 = €115,000.

C is correct. If Dumas had been classified as a FVPL security, its carrying value
would have been the €55,000 fair value rather than the €50,000 historical cost.

B is correct. The coupon payment is recorded as interest income whether secu-
rities are amortized cost or FVPL. No adjustment is required for amortization
since the bonds were bought at par.

Cis correct. Unrealized gains and losses are included in income when securities
are classified as FVPL. During 2018 there was an unrealized gain of €1,000.

B is correct. The difference between historical cost and par value must be
amortized under the effective interest method. If the par value is less than the
initial cost (stated interest rate is greater than the effective rate), the interest
income would be lower than the interest received because of amortization of the
premium.

B is correct. Under IFRS, SPEs must be consolidated if they are conducted for the
benefit of the sponsoring entity. Further, under IFRS, SPEs cannot be classified

as qualifying. Under US GAAP, qualifying SPEs (a classification which has been
eliminated) do not have to be consolidated.

B is correct. If Cinnamon is deemed to have control over Cambridge, it would
use the acquisition method to account for Cambridge and prepare consolidated
financial statements. Proportionate consolidation is used for joint ventures; the
equity method is used for some joint ventures and when there is significant influ-
ence but not control.

A is correct. If Cinnamon is deemed to have control over Cambridge, consol-
idated financial statements would be prepared and Cinnamon’s total share-
holders’ equity would increase and include the amount of the noncontrolling
interest. If Cinnamon is deemed to have significant influence, the equity method
would be used and there would be no change in the total shareholders’ equity of
Cinnamon.

C is correct. If Cinnamon is deemed to have significant influence, it would report
half of Cambridge’s net income as a line item on its income statement, but no
additional revenue is shown. Its profit margin is thus higher than if it consoli-
dated Cambridge’s results, which would impact revenue and income, or if it only
reported 19 percent of Cambridge’s dividends (no change in ownership).

Cis correct. The full and partial goodwill method will have the same amount of
debt; however, shareholders’ equity will be higher under full goodwill (and the
debt to equity ratio will be lower). Therefore, the debt to equity will be higher
under partial goodwill. If control is assumed, Cinnamon cannot use the equity
method.

A is correct. Cambridge has a lower operating margin (88/1,100 = 8.0%) than
Cinnamon (142/1,575 = 9.0%). If Cambridge’s results are consolidated with
Cinnamon’s, the consolidated operating margin will reflect that of the combined
company, or 230/2,675 = 8.6%.
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12. A is correct. When a company is deemed to have control of another entity, it
records all of the other entity’s assets on its own consolidated balance sheet.

13. B is correct. If Zimt is deemed to have significant influence, it would use the
equity method to record its ownership. Under the equity method, Zimt’s share of
Oxbow’s net income would be recorded as a single line item. Net income of Zimt
=75+ 0.5(68) = 109.

14. B is correct. Under the proportionate consolidation method, Zimt’s balance sheet
would show its own total liabilities of €1,421 — 735 = €686 plus half of Oxbow’s
liabilities of €1,283 — 706 = €577. €686 + (0.5 x 577) = €974.5.

15. C is correct. Under the assumption of control, Zimt would record its own sales
plus 100 percent of Oxbow’s. €1,700 + 1,350 = €3,050.

16. C is correct. Net income is not affected by the accounting method used to ac-
count for active investments in other companies. “One-line consolidation” and
consolidation result in the same impact on net income; it is the disclosure that
differs.

17. B is correct. Statewide Medical was accounted for under the pooling of interest
method, which causes all of Statewide’s assets and liabilities to be reported at his-
torical book value. The excess of assets over liabilities generally is lower using the
historical book value method than using the fair value method (this latter method
must be used under currently required acquisition accounting). It would have no
effect on revenue.

18. A is correct. Under the equity method, BetterCare would record its interest in
the joint venture’s net profit as a single line item, but would show no line-by-line
contribution to revenues or expenses.

19. C is correct. Net income will be the same under the equity method and propor-
tional consolidation. However, sales, cost of sales, and expenses are different be-
cause under the equity method the net effect of sales, cost of sales, and expenses
is reflected in a single line.

20. B is correct. Under the proportionate consolidation method, Supreme Health-
care’s consolidated financial statements will include its 50 percent share of the
joint venture’s total assets.

21. Cis correct. The choice of equity method or proportionate consolidation does
not affect reported shareholders’ equity.

22. A is correct. Revenue will not be higher for 2018 because Supreme Healthcare
controls the SPE and thus eliminates intra-entity transactions and balances in
consolidation. Consolidated revenue will thus present the results as if this trans-
action did not occur.

23. A is correct. Since the investment is designated as held-to-maturity, it is reported
at amortized cost at 31 December 2016 using the effective interest method where
the amortization is calculated as the difference between the amount received and
the interest income.

The interest payment each period is $500,000, which is calculated as the product
of the par value of $10 million and the stated 5% coupon rate. The interest in-
come of $440,000 is the product of the 4.0% market rate in effect when the bonds
were purchased and the initial fair value of $11 million. The difference between
the interest payment of $500,000 and the interest income of $440,000, equal to
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$60,000, is the amortization amount for 2016.

So, the initial fair value of $11 million is reduced by the amortization amount of
$60,000, resulting in an amortized cost of $10.94 million at 31 December 2016.

24. B is correct. The SPE balance sheet will show accounts receivable of $50 million,
long-term debt of $40 million and equity of $10 million. When the balance sheets
of Blanca and the SPE are consolidated, Blanca’s cash will increase by $40 million
due to the sale of the receivables to the SPE (net of its $10 million cash invest-
ment in the SPE). Long-term debt (non-current liabilities) will also increase by
$40 million. So, the consolidated balance sheet will show total assets of $140 mil-
lion and will look the same as if Blanca borrowed directly against the receivables.

Blanca Co. Current Balance Sheet (before consolidation)

Cash 20 Current liabilities 25
Accounts receivable 50 Noncurrent liabilities 30
Other assets 30 Shareholders’ equity 45
Total assets 100 Total liabilities and equity 100

SPE Balance Sheet ($ Millions)

Long-term debt $40
Accounts receivable $50 Equity $10
Total assets $50 Total liabilities and equity $50

Blanca Co. Consolidated Balance Sheet ($ Millions)

Cash $60 Current liabilities $25
Accounts receivable $50 Noncurrent liabilities $70
Other assets $30 Shareholder’s equity $45
Total assets $140 Total liabilities and equity $140

25. B is correct. The goodwill in Topmaker’s $300 million purchase of Rainer’s com-
mon shares using the equity method is $60 million, calculated as:

$ Millions
Purchase price $300
Less: 15% of book value of Rainer: (15% x $1,340) 201
Excess purchase price 99
Attributable to net assets 39
Plant and equipment (15% x ($3,160 — $2,900))
Goodwill (residual) 60
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26. A is correct. Topmaker’s representation on the Rainer board of directors and par-
ticipation in Rainer’s policymaking process indicate significant influence. Signif-
icant influence is generally assumed when the percentage of ownership interest
is between 20% and 50%. Topmaker’s representation on the board of directors
and participation in the policymaking process, however, demonstrate significant
influence despite its 15% equity interest.

27. Bis correct. The carrying value of Topmaker’s investment in Rainer using the
equity method is $317 million and is calculated as:

$ Millions
Purchase price $300
Plus: Topmaker’s share of Rainer’s net income 54
(15% x $360)
Less: Dividends received (15% x $220) 33
Less: Amortization of excess purchase price attributable to plant and equip- 3.9
ment (15% x ($3,160 — $2,900))) / 10 years
Investment in associate (Rainer) at the end of 2018 $317.1

28. B is correct. The goodwill impairment loss under IFRS is $300 million, calculated
as the difference between the recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit and
the carrying value of the cash-generating unit. Topmaker’s recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit is $14,900 million, which is less than the carrying value
of the cash-generating unit of $15,200 million. This results in an impairment loss
of $300 million ($14,900 — $15,200).

29. A is correct. According to IFRS, under the partial goodwill method, the value of
the minority interest is equal to the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share
of the subsidiary’s identifiable net assets. Rainer’s proportionate share is 20% and
the value of its identifiable assets on the acquisition date is $1.5 billion. The value
of the minority interest is $300 million (20% x $1.5 billion).

30. A is correct. The current ratio using the equity method of accounting is Current
assets/Current liabilities = £250/£110 = 2.27. Using consolidation (either full or
partial goodwill), the current ratio = £390/£200 = 1.95. Therefore, the current
ratio is highest using the equity method.

31. A is correct. Using the equity method, long-term debt to equity = £600/£1,430
= 0.42. Using the consolidation method, long-term debt to equity = long-term
debt/equity = £1,000/£1,750 = 0.57. Equity includes the £320 noncontrolling in-
terest under either consolidation. It does not matter if the full or partial goodwill
method is used since there is no goodwill.

32. Cis correct. The projected depreciation and amortization expense will include
NinMount’s reported depreciation and amortization (£102), Boswell’s reported
depreciation and amortization (£92), and amortization of Boswell’s licenses (£10
million). The licenses have a fair value of £60 million. £320 purchase price indi-
cates a fair value of £640 for the net assets of Boswell. The net book (fair) value of
the recorded assets is £580. The previously unrecorded licenses have a fair value
of £60 million. The licenses have a remaining life of six years; the amortization
adjustment for 2018 will be £10 million. Therefore, Projected depreciation and
amortization = £102 + £92 + £10 = £204 million.

33. A is correct. Net income is the same using any of the methods but under the
equity method, net sales are only £950; Boswell’s sales are not included in the net
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sales figure. Therefore, net profit margin is highest using the equity method.

A is correct. Net income is the same using any of the choices. Beginning equity
under the equity method is £1,430. Under either of the consolidations, beginning
equity is £1,750 since it includes the £320 noncontrolling interest. Return on
beginning equity is highest under the equity method.

A is correct. Using the equity method, Total asset turnover = Net sales/Beginning
total assets = £950/£2,140 = 0.444. Total asset turnover on beginning assets using
consolidation = £1,460/£2,950 = 0.495. Under consolidation, Assets = £2,140

- 320 + 1,070 + 60 = £2,950. Therefore, total asset turnover is lowest using the
equity method.
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LEARNING MODULE

Employee Compensation:
Post-Employment and Share-Based

LEARNING OUTCOMES

Mastery | The candidate should be able to:

|:| contrast types of employee compensation

] explain how share-based compensation affects the financial
statements

] explain how to forecast share-based compensation expense and
shares outstanding in a financial statement model and their use in
valuation

explain how post-employment benefits affect the financial statements

0O

explain financial modeling and valuation considerations for
post-employment benefits

INTRODUCTION

Employee compensation often accounts for the majority of costs at most companies
and is thus a key input for earnings forecasts and valuation. Share-based compen-
sation and post-employment benefits are two types of compensation that present
analytical and modeling difficulties, owing to their measurement complexities. Unlike
salaries paid shortly after an employee performs services, share-based compensation
and post-employment benefits can be paid many years in the future at a cost that is
uncertain, requiring assumptions and estimates by management.

This module provides an overview of the financial reporting for share-based com-
pensation and post-employment benefits and methods of analyzing related disclosures,
as well as financial statement modeling and valuation considerations. Although we
focus on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as the basis for discussion,
instances where US GAAP significantly differs are also discussed.

CFA Institute would like to thank
Elaine Henry, PhD, CFA, and
Elizabeth A. Gordon, PhD, MBA,
CPA, for their contributions to
prior editions of this learning
module.
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LEARNING MODULE OVERVIEW @

=  Employers (issuers) compensate employees and other sources
of human capital in several forms, including short-term ben-
efits, share-based compensation, termination benefits, and post-em-
ployment benefits. Short-term benefits typically comprise the majority
of compensation costs.

= The underlying accounting principle for compensation is that issuers
recognize the fair value of compensation as an expense in the period
that an employee provides services. The offsetting entry to the expense
is typically to a current liability, which is later settled when cash or
other consideration is paid.

= Share-based compensation deviates from basic compensation account-
ing because it is typically settled in shares, measurement requires
judgment because share prices are dynamic, and vesting can take
multiple years and may not occur at all. The general approach is to
measure the fair value of the share-based award at the grant date,
recognize it as an expense over the vesting period with the offsetting
entry to equity, and transfer the entries from one equity account to
another at settlement.

= A restricted stock unit (RSU) is a common instrument used in share-
based compensation arrangements. The fair value of an RSU is the
market price of the underlying share at the grant date, which is then
expensed over the vesting period if vesting conditions are met or likely
to be met. Settlement occurs simultaneously with vesting, as the RSUs
convert to common shares.

=  Employee stock options are another common instrument used as
share-based compensation. The fair value of stock options is estimated
using a valuation model at the grant date, which is then expensed over
the vesting period if vesting conditions are met or likely to be met.
Settlement occurs if the options are exercised by the recipient, which
results in a cash inflow to financing activities and share issuance by the
issuer.

= In a financial statement model, share-based compensation is usually
forecast using a percentage-of-revenues approach, separate from other
operating expenses. The forecast is made in conjunction with forecasts
of share grants and settlements, which drive the forecast of shares
outstanding.

= While share-based compensation is a non-cash expense, it is a real
cost that dilutes the interest of existing shareholders in the issuer.
Therefore, analysts should deduct it from free cash flow in discounted
cash flow valuation or use an alternative method to account for the
dilution.

= DPost-employment benefit plans are structured as defined contribution
or defined benefit. Defined contribution (DC) plans affect the financial
statements in substantially the same manner as short-term benefits.
Defined benefit (DB) plans, which expose the issuer/sponsor to invest-
ment and actuarial risk, have more complex accounting.
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= DB plans require the sponsor to recognize service cost, interest cost,
and remeasurements on the income statement, the plans’ funded sta-
tus as a liability or asset on the balance sheet, and plan contributions
on the statement of cash flows.

= DB plans are no longer common in the corporate sector in most coun-
tries, though they remain common in the public sector. Some compa-
nies have significant legacy DB plan obligations that can represent a
material portion of the issuer’s enterprise value, especially if interest
rates are low.

= Analysts forecast DB plans in financial statement and valuation models
by forecasting the underlying components (service cost, discount rate,
plan contributions, and benefit payments). An underfunded plan and
future service costs are included in discounted cash flow valuations.

TYPES OF EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION

|:| contrast types of employee compensation

Compensation to employees and other sources of human capitall is structured to
attract, retain, and motivate talent. For many companies, compensation costs are the
largest component of operating expenses and human capital management is key to
their strategy.

Compensation can take many forms, ranging from cash wages and commissions
to medical benefits and life insurance. The types and amounts of compensation paid
by a company are determined in the market for human capital and vary by employee
role, labor laws, and industry customs. Recruiting and training new employees is
costly, so retention of existing staff by the provision of competitive compensation is
an important consideration.

Accounting standards divide compensation into five general types shown in Exhibit
1, with distinctions based on the (a) time between employee service and payment and
(b) form of payment.

1 Such as contract workers and members of the board of directors; hereafter we use the term “employees”
to refer to all sources of human capital.
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Exhibit 1: Types of Employee Compensation

Category Definition Common examples

Short-term benefits Compensation expected to = Salaries and wages

be paid within 12 months. . Annual bonuses

= Non-monetary benefits such as
medical care

Contributions to social security
schemes

= Paid leave

Long-term benefits Compensation expected = Long-term paid leave (e.g.,

to be paid after 12 sabbatical)

months. = Long-term disability benefits
Termination benefits Compensation paid in = Severance

the event of employee = Continued access to medical and

termination. other non-monetary benefits
= Career counseling and outplace-
ment services
Share-based Compensation in the = Restricted stock
compensation form of, or in reference = Stock options
to, shares of the employ-
er’s stock.
Post-employment Compensation expected = Pension and lump sum payments
benefits to be paid after to retirees

employee retirement. Retiree life insurance and medical

care

IAS 19 Employee Benefits® brings uniformity in employers’ financial reporting across
types of compensation with an underlying principle: recognize compensation costs
at fair value in the period that the employee provides services, which is typically the
same period that the compensation vests. Vesting refers to when an employee earns
(becomes unconditionally entitled to) compensation, thereby creating an obligation
for the employer to pay that compensation. Vesting is followed by settlement, the
date the employer pays the compensation in cash or in another form. The basic steps
are shown in Exhibit 2.

Exhibit 2: Compensation Timeline

Vesting Settlement

Employer
communicates
terms of

compensation
and employee
accepts them.

Employee
becomes entitled
to compensation,
usually the same
time as services

are provided.

Employer pays
compensation to
employee.

2 Under US GAAP, the accounting guidance for employee compensation is spread across several sections
of FASB’s Accounting Standards Codification.
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The accounting for short-term benefits, which comprise the majority of compen-
sation costs for most companies, is straightforward. Compensation expense and
a corresponding current liability are recognized as compensation vests, usually at
the same time the employee performs services. At settlement, cash is paid, and the
liability is derecognized. Cash compensation is an outflow in operating activities on
the statement of cash flows.

Some compensation costs are capitalized as an asset, with compensation expense
on the income statement deferred to when the employee service is consumed. A
common example is for manufacturing-related employees. Compensation costs are
capitalized to inventories and later expensed as cost of sales when goods are sold. This
requires a variation of the accounting model, which is shown along with the general
case in Example 1.

EXAMPLE 1

Short-Term Benefits on the Financial Statements

Company hires an employee in the legal department on 1 January, compensat-
ing them with an annual salary of SGD 82,200 paid every two weeks. The first
payment date is 14 January.

Grant Vesting Settlement
1January 1 January - 14 January 14 January
Income No impact  General and administrative No impact
statement expense +3,162*
Balance sheet  No impact Accrued compensation Accrued compensa-
+3,162 tion (3,162)
Statement of No impact  No impact Cash flows from
cash flows operations (3,162)

*SGD 82,200 / (52 weeks per year / 2 week pay period) = SGD 3,162.

Company hires an employee in the manufacturing division on 1 January,
compensating them with an annual salary of SGD 102,200 paid every two weeks.
The first payment date is 14 January. The goods that the employee helped make
are sold to customers on 3 April.

Grant Vesting Settlement Sale
1January 1 January - 14 January 14 January 3 April

Income No No impact No impact Cost of

statement impact sales +3,931

Balance No Inventories +3,931 Accrued Inventories

sheet impact Accrued compensation compensa-  (3,931)
+3,931 tion (3,931)

Statement No No impact Cash flows  No impact

of cash impact from opera-

flows tions (3,931)

The accounting shown in Example 1 is also utilized for share-based compensation
and post-employment benefits: compensation expense is recognized on the income
statement as the compensation earned by the employee. However, measurement of
the expense and the effect on the balance sheet and statement of cash flows differ
because of differences in structure, shown in Exhibit 3.
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Exhibit 3: Short-Term Benefits vs. Share-Based Compensation and

Post-Employment Benefits

Short-Term Benefits Share-Based Post-Employment
(e.g., Salaries) Compensation Benefits
Typical vesting Days or weeks Years Years, decades
period
Form of payment Cash Shares* Cash
Amount recognized Undiscounted salary, Fair value, mea- Present value of esti-
over the vesting wage, etc. sured on the grant  mated future benefits
period date

*Some companies pay share-based compensation settled in cash, which is accounted for like short-term
benefits.

Regardless of the form of compensation, most companies aggregate and report com-
pensation expense on the income statement based on the employee’s function, such that
all compensation expenses related to R&D employees are reported in “R&D Expenses,’
compensation expenses related to sales employees are reported in “Selling, General,
and Administrative Expenses,” and so on. An exception is termination benefits, which
are often incurred as part of corporate restructurings, so may instead be reported on
the income statement as a discrete line item such as “Restructuring Charges”

Share-Based Compensation

Share-based compensation is typically awarded as a bonus to highly compensated
employees, such as managers and those in technical roles. For executive managers at
many public companies, share-based compensation accounts for a majority of their
total compensation.

Formally, companies create share-based compensation plans with specific features,
including employee eligibility, the type of instrument awarded, maximum number of
shares that can be issued, and vesting conditions. Each plan is approved by the board of
directors and, often, a shareholder vote.? For example, the NYSE-listed Singapore-based
internet company Sea Limited issues share-based awards to employees and directors
under its “2009 Share Incentive Plan,” which has been amended and approved by
shareholders several times. Many companies have multiple plans.

Share-based compensation has several advantages over cash compensation. It aligns
employees’ financial interests with those of shareholders, reducing principal-agency
conflicts of interest, and can allow employees to participate in firm value creation.
Share-based compensation is often combined with minimum share ownership require-
ments for managers to further foster employee ownership and shareholder alignment.
Multi-year vesting periods, common in share-based compensation plans, improves
employee retention. Finally, share-based compensation has the advantage of requiring
no cash outlay, thereby preserving liquidity, which is especially beneficial for younger
companies that might otherwise struggle to attract top talent.

There are disadvantages to share-based compensation. One is that the recipient
of the share-based compensation may have limited influence over the company’s
share price, so share-based compensation may not necessarily reward individual
performance or influence their actions. Another disadvantage is that increased firm
ownership may lead to suboptimal risk-taking by managers. Fearing a large share price
decline and loss of personal wealth, managers may seek less risky and less profitable

3 Some stock exchanges like the NYSE and NASDAQ require shareholder approval for the creation and
major modification of all share-based compensation plans.
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investments. Managers already hold concentrated positions in their employer by way
of their salary and reputation, which share ownership can compound. An opposite
effect, excessive risk-taking, can occur with the awarding of stock options. Because
options have skewed payouts that only reward upside, managers may take more risk
than appropriate in an attempt to maximize short-term gain over longer-term viabil-
ity. Finally, share-based compensation means that employees also lose wealth from
share price declines and underperformance against alternatives. Severe declines and
prolonged underperformance can make shares less valuable to the employee than had
the company paid in cash, damaging retention.

Note that while no initial cash outlay is required when a company issues shares
to employees, there is an implicit cash cost to share-based compensation. The shares
could have been issued to investors for cash, and many companies repurchase shares
in the open market to offset dilution from issuance to employees.

FINANCIAL REPORTING FOR SHARE-BASED
COMPENSATION

] explain how share-based compensation affects the financial
statements

The accounting for share-based compensation prescribed in IFRS 2 Share-based
Payment is shown in Example 2.

EXAMPLE 2

Share-Based Compensation Accounting

g 4

Measure fair value of
the award, adjusted
for estimated number
of awards expected
not to vest.

Settlement

Vesting

Shares issued to
employee

® Recognize fair value
as share-based
compensation
expense over the
vesting period.

® Adjust orreverse

entries if needed for

changes in estimates

Company grants 25,000 shares to an employee in the R&D division on 1 January
20X1. The award vests three years from the grant date. The fair value of the
award on 1 January 20X1 is BRL 273,000.
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Year Ended 31
December
20X1

Year Ended 31
December
20X2

Year Ended 31
December
20X3

Income
statement

Balance sheet

R&D expense
91,000

Share-based com-
pensation reserve
(equity) +91,000

R&D expense
91,000

Share-based com-
pensation reserve
(equity) +91,000

R&D expense 91,000

Share-based compen-
sation reserve (equity)
+91,000

Transfer 273,000 from
share-based compensa-
tion reserve to com-
mon stock and paid-in
capital accounts upon
settlement

Statement of
cash flows

No impact* No impact* No impact*

*If using the indirect method, add BRL 91,000 to reconcile net income to cash flows from operating
activities.

Notice that the accounting in Example 2 is similar to that for salaries shown in
Example 1, but with three key differences.

1. The offsetting entry to compensation expense is made to an equity, not
liability, account on the balance sheet because compensation is settled in
shares not cash.

2. Vesting is over three years, rather than two weeks, so a single grant affects
the financial statements over multiple years.

3. Fair value is used as the measurement basis, rather than the undiscounted
amount to be paid at settlement.

Notice that fair value is measured only once, at the grant date. Any subsequent
change in the fair value, which we would expect as the share price changes, has no
effect. Companies make grants on an ongoing basis, so share price changes will affect
the fair value of future grants, but the accounting for a past grant does not change
even if the issuer’s share price changes significantly.

An important feature for any share-based award is what employees must do for
the award to vest. Vesting can be conditioned on service and/or performance. A ser-
vice condition, as in Example 2, is the most common vesting condition. A service
condition means that compensation vests on a future date, requiring the employee to
remain employed until that time. Service conditions of three to five years are common
in practice. A performance condition is an additional criterion for vesting, such as
the company meeting or exceeding a target for EPS, return on invested capital, or
segment profit. Performance conditions can be a market condition, which relates to
the employer’s share price, such as requiring the company’s shares to meet or exceed
a total shareholder return target or outperform an index of peers’ share prices. Market
conditions are common in share-based awards granted to executive managers. If an
employee leaves the firm before an award vests, the unvested awards are forfeit.

Exhibit 4 distinguishes between four instruments used in share-based compen-
sation plans. This module focuses on the first two because they are most common
and assumes that share-based compensation is settled by issuing shares, not settled
in cash. If the compensation is cash settled, an issuer would report compensation
expense as shown in Example 1.
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Exhibit 4: Instruments Used in Share-Based Compensation Plans

Instrument Also Known as Description

Restricted stock Restricted stock awards Awards of shares or share-like
RSUs units with sale and other restric-
Performance shares or perfor- tions that are lifted upon vesting.

mance share units

Stock options Share options Awards of non-tradeable call
options, typically at the money, on
the employer’s stock.

Stock Stock appreciation rights Awards of cash or shares based on

appreciation-based Phantom shares the performance of shares over a
period.

Stock Employee stock purchase plan Permits employees to purchase a

purchase-based Employee stock ownership plan  limited number of newly issued

shares at a discount.

Restricted stock

Restricted stock involves common shares granted to employees but subject to selling
and other restrictions. Restricted stock is also referred to as performance shares if
vesting is based not only on service but also on performance conditions. Restricted
stock generally has voting rights and dividend participation, but it is not tradeable.
Upon settlement, restrictions are lifted so the recipient is free to sell their shares.
Restricted stock units (RSUs) are similar to restricted stock, but rather than actual
shares, they are instruments which represent the right to receive shares upon settle-
ment. RSUs are a common form of share-based compensation at many companies.
RSUs have neither voting rights nor dividend participation and are also not tradeable.

The grant-date fair value for restricted stock and RSU awards is the market price
of the underlying shares. For RSUs, the share price is typically adjusted downward for
dividends expected to be paid over the vesting period if the RSU does not participate
in dividends.

KNOWLEDGE CHECK y

Effect of RSU Awards on the Financial Statements

Workflow Corporation (“Workflow”) is a Japan-based company that designs,
makes, and sells project management software for businesses. To motivate and
retain employees, as well as preserve cash, Workflow pays bonuses to employees
in management and technical roles in shares.

Under its Equity Compensation Plan approved by shareholders, Workflow
grants RSUs representing one share of its no-par value common stock. The
RSUs vest in three years, contingent on service. The company accounts for
forfeitures as they occur and does not pay or expect to pay dividends. Three-
quarters of the grants were made to employees in the R&D division with the
balance granted to executive management. RSU grants and share prices on the
grant dates were as follows:

n
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Number of RSUs
Date Granted Share Price (JPY)
1 January 20X1 4,542,000 4,360
1 January 20X2 3,521,000 3,270
1 January 20X3 5,198,000 3,333

1. Calculate the effect on the financial statements for the years ended 31 De-
cember 20X1, 20X2, and 20X3.

Solution:

First we calculate the annual share-based compensation expense by taking
the product of the RSUs granted and the grant-date share prices, further
multiplied by the fraction of awards that vest each period.

A B (AxB) C (AxB)xC
Share Aggregate Fair Annual Compensation
Price Value Vesting per Expense
Date RSUs Granted (JPY) (millions of JPY) Year (millions of JPY)
1 January 20X1 4,542,000 4,360 19,803 1/3 6,601
1 January 20X2 3,521,000 3,270 11,514 1/3 3,838
1 January 20X3 5,198,000 3,333 17,325 1/3 5,775

The financial statement impacts were as follows, in millions of JPY:

Year Ended 31 Year Ended 31 Year Ended 31

December December December
20X1 20X2 20X3
Income R&D expense R&D expense R&D expense 12,161
statement 4,951 7,829 General and administra-
General and General and tive expense 4,054
administrative administrative

expense 1,650 expense 2,610

Balance sheet Share-based Share-based com- Share-based compen-
compensation pensation reserve  sation reserve (equity)
reserve (equity) (equity) +10,439 +16,214
+6,601 Transfer 33,254 from

share-based compensa-
tion reserve to paid-in
capital account upon
settlement

Statement of No impact* No impact* No impact*
cash flows

*As a non-cash transaction, share-based compensation does not impact cash
flows. If Workflow prepares its statement of cash flows using the indirect
method, share-based compensation expense will be added back to reconcile
net income to cash flows from operating activities.
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2. Assume the share prices on 1 January 20X2 and 20X3 were 25% higher. Cal-
culate and explain the effect on the income statement.

Solution:

First, we recalculate the annual compensation expense using the new share
prices of 3,270 x 1.25 = 4,088 and 3,333 x 1.25 = 4,166 JPY as of 1 January
20X2 and 1 January 20X3, respectively.
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A B (A xB) C (AxB)xC
Share Annual Compensation
Price Fair Value Vesting per Expense
Date RSUs Granted (JPY) (millions of JPY) Year (millions of JPY)
1 January 20X1 4,542,000 4,360 19,803 1/3 6,601
1 January 20X2 3,521,000 4,088 14,394 1/3 4,798
1 January 20X3 5,198,000 4,166 21,655 1/3 7,218

The effect on the income statement is as follows:

Share-based compensation expense

based on 20X1 20X2 20X3
Prior share price 6,601 10,439 16,214
New share price 6,601 11,399 18,617
% difference 0% 9% 15%

Although the share prices were 25% higher as of 1 January 20X2 and 20X3,
the increase in share-based compensation expense on the income statement
is significantly lower. In fact, 20X1 share-based compensation expense does
not change, regardless of how the shares performed after the grant date.
This is a result of the accounting that uses grant-date fair values and the
three-year vesting period, which phases in the expense over time.

Stock options

Employee stock options are non-tradeable call options on the employer’s stock typi-
cally issued at the money (i.e., strike price equal to the share price on the grant date).
If the share price exceeds the strike price after the award vests, but before the award
expires, the employee recipient can exercise the option and earn the spread between
the share price and strike price.

While the grant-date fair value of restricted stock or RSUs is simply the share
price, the fair value of employee stock options on the grant date must be estimated.
An option’s fair value consists of its intrinsic value and time value. The intrinsic value
of an out-of-the-money or at-the-money option is zero, but the time value could be
significant. Option valuation models, including the Black—Scholes option pricing
model and binomial model discussed elsewhere in the curriculum, are commonly
used by companies to estimate the fair value of employee stock option grants. Neither
IFRS nor US GAAP prescribe a particular model, but the valuation method must (1)
be consistent with fair value measurement requirements (2) be based on established
principles of financial economic theory, and (3) reflect all substantive characteristics
of the award.

Companies are required to disclose the material assumptions used to value the
options in the notes to financial statements. Higher assumed volatility, a longer
estimated life, a higher risk-free interest rate, and lower dividend yield increase the
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estimated fair value, and vice versa. The volatility assumption is the most subjective
input. Companies typically use a market-derived assumption such as the implied
volatility on the company’s exchange-traded options or the historical volatility of
their share price.

Besides the measurement of fair value, another difference in the accounting
between RSUs and options is how they are settled. When RSUs vest, settlement occurs
automatically, converting to common stock. The only accounting entry required is
transferring amounts from the share-based compensation reserve account to com-
mon stock and paid-in capital accounts on the balance sheet. When options vest,
settlement does not occur until the options are exercised, which is at the employee’s
discretion and depends on the share price. At settlement, a cash inflow is recorded in
financing activities on the statement of cash flows for the number of options exercised
multiplied by the strike price.

KNOWLEDGE CHECK [ f

Effect of Option Awards on the Financial
Statements

Under its Equity Compensation Plan, Workflow Corporation grants 25 million
stock options to executives on 1 January 20X1 that vest on 31 December 20X3.
The options are granted at the money. The share price and fair value per option
on the grant date are JPY 4,360 and JPY 1,288, respectively. The options expire
seven years after the grant date.

1. Calculate the share-based compensation expense Workflow will recognize
and its effect on the financial statements for the years ended 31 December
20X1, 20X2, and 20X3.

Solution:

First, we calculate the aggregate fair value by taking the product of the op-
tions granted and the grant-date fair value.

Aggregate fair value of option grants = Options granted x Option fair value
Aggregate fair value of option grants = 25 million x JPY 1,288

Aggregate fair value of option grants = JPY 32,200 million

Each year, Workflow will recognize the fraction of the aggregate fair value
that vests on the income statement (i.e., 1/3 in this case because the vesting
period is three years). The offsetting entry is made to share-based compen-
sation reserve in equity on the balance sheet.
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For each year ended 31 December 20X1, 20X2, and 20X3:

Income Statement General and administrative expense of 10,733 million
JPY. This represents the vesting of one-third of the
awards granted on 1 January 20X1.

Balance Sheet Increase in equity of 10,733 million JPY

Statement of Cash Flows Share-based compensation expense does not impact
cash flows. If Workflow prepares its statement of
cash flows using the indirect method, share-based
compensation expense of 10,733 million JPY will be
added back to reconcile net income to cash flows
from operating activities.

2. Calculate the effect on the financial statements for the year ended 31 De-
cember 20X4 if the share price remains below JPY 4,360 that year.

Solution:

If the share price remains below JPY 4,360, the options are out of the money
so the grantees will not exercise them. There is no financial statement
impact.

3. In 20X5, the share price increases to JPY 5,400 and 6 million options are
exercised. Calculate the effect on the financial statements that year.

Solution:

Upon exercise of the options, Workflow will recognize a cash inflow in fi-
nancing activities for the receipt of strike price multiplied by the number of
options exercised. The entry made to the share-based compensation reserve
account is transferred to paid-in capital on the balance sheet.

Year Ended 31 December

20X5

Income statement No impact.

Balance sheet Share-based compensation reserve (equity) -7,728.
Paid-in capital (equity) +30,888.

Statement of cash flows Cash inflow from financing activities of JPY 23,160
million.

Notice that the share price at settlement does not affect share-based com-
pensation expense.

THE DEBATE OVER ACCOUNTING FOR SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Before IFRS 2 and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 123R
were issued in 2004 and 2005, respectively, IFRS and US GAAP permitted the
measurement and expense of share-based compensation using intrinsic value at
the grant date, not fair value. Since most stock options are issued at the money,
share-based compensation expense for options was zero.

There was considerable debate among standard setters, issuers, investors, and
politicians about the correct measurement basis for stock awards. In the 1990s,
in fact, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) sought to change the
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standard from intrinsic to fair value measurement, which caused the US Congress
to threaten to revoke FASB’s independence. Arguments for using intrinsic value
or not expensing share-based compensation at all include the following:

= Fair value is uncertain, so the expense would be imprecise.

= Asa non-cash transaction (and one that debits expense and credits
equity), it is not economically meaningful.

=  Expensing share-based compensation “double counts” the impact on
EPS, as it would both reduce net income and increase shares outstand-
ing, which would hurt valuation.

= Stock issuance is a financing transaction, which is not expensed in
other circumstances.

= Expensing share-based compensation would disproportionately harm
younger, innovative companies.

After IFRS 2 and SFAS 123R required expensing at fair value in 2004 and 2005,
companies began to report non-GAAP profit measures with greater frequency,
with share-based compensation expense as the primary adjustment (add back)
to GAAP earnings. Many investors use non-GAAP measures in profitability
and valuation analyses, though security regulators take enforcement actions on
issuers that emphasize non-GAAP measures over GAAP measures. After the US
SEC made public warnings about this issue in 2016, several large US technol-
ogy companies including Apple, Amazon.com, Alphabet, Microsoft, and Meta
Platforms that use significant amounts of share-based compensation stopped
reporting non-GAAP earnings. The following is a quote from Alphabet’s CFO
announcing the change:

“Stock-based compensation (SBC) has always been an important part of
how we reward our employees in a way that aligns their interests with those
of all shareholders. Although it’s not a cash expense, we consider it to be
a real cost of running our business because SBC is critical to our ability
to attract and retain the best talent in the world. Starting with our first
quarter results for 2017, we will no longer regularly exclude stock-based
compensation expense from Non-GAARP results”

DISCUSSION

Evaluate the arguments mentioned for not expensing share-based com-
pensation. Do you agree they are valid? What are the counter arguments?

Post your response on the discussion board for this lesson on the Learning
EcoSystem. We encourage you to read and reply to other candidates’ responses.

THE SHIFT TO RESTRICTED STOCK

Besides the increase in reporting of non-GAAP earnings, companies responded
to the expensing of stock options at fair value by shifting from granting options
to granting restricted stock, particularly RSUs, in share-based compensation
plans. In 2021, options were used in fewer than 50% of compensation packages
for S&P 500 company CEOs, with boards instead choosing to compensate
executives in RSUs.*

4 Equilar, “CEO Pay Trends, featuring commentary from Meridian Compensation Partners” (July 2021).
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Besides the change in accounting requirements for options, reasons compa-
nies have shifted to compensating with RSUs include the following:

= Employees may prefer RSUs. Provided that vesting conditions are met,
and the share price does not fall to zero, RSUs will have some value
even in a downturn while stock options may expire out of the money.
“Underwater options” were a common problem for many employees
after the technology bubble burst in the early 2000s and after the
Global Financial Crisis.

=  RSUs may better align employee and shareholder interests than
options. An RSU holder is exposed to both downside and upside risks.
In contrast, recipients of options have an asymmetric payoff function
that may incentivize inappropriate risk-taking to the detriment of
long-term company performance.

= RSUs are simpler for employees to understand, are more straight-
forward for individual tax calculations, and do not require paying an
exercise price (in cash) to receive compensation.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION TAX AND SHARE
COUNT EFFECTS, NOTE DISCLOSURES

] explain how share-based compensation affects the financial
statements

Share-based compensation is deductible for issuers’ taxable income in most jurisdic-
tions. However, the deduction often differs in timing and size from the share-based
compensation expense recognized on an income statement prepared under IFRS or
US GAAP, as shown in Exhibit 5.

Exhibit 5: Financial Reporting vs. Tax Treatment of Share-Based

Compensation

Financial reporting: stock-based  Tax return: deduction for stock-based

compensation expense compensation
Timing Over the vesting period At settlement
Amount Grant-date fair value Share price on the settlement date
(RSUs)

Intrinsic value at exercise (options)

The details of accounting for income taxes related to share-based compensation is
beyond the scope of this module, but what is important is the effect of the differences
described in Exhibit 5 if an issuer’s share price at the grant date differs from its share
price at settlement, as is often the case.

A higher share price at settlement versus the grant date results in a higher tax
deduction than the cumulative stock-based compensation expense. This is known as
an excess tax benefit or tax windfall because taxable income and tax expense are
reduced. Conversely, a lower share price at settlement versus at the grant date results
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in a lower tax deduction than the cumulative stock-based compensation expense. This
is known as a “tax shortfall” because taxable income and tax expense are increased.
IFRS and US GAAP treat tax windfalls and shortfalls differently on the financial
statements, as shown in Exhibit 6.

Exhibit 6: IFRS and US GAAP Treatment of Tax Windfalls and Shortfalls from

Share-Based Compensation

IFRS US GAAP
Share price on settlement Gain recognized directly in  Decrease in income tax
date > share price on grant stockholders’ equity. expense on the income
date (excess tax benefit or tax statement.
windfall)
Share price on settlement date  Loss recognized directly in  Increase in income tax
< share price on grant date (tax stockholders’ equity. expense on the income
shortfall) statement.

Under IFRS, tax windfalls and shortfalls are recognized directly in equity as gains and
losses, respectively. Under US GAADP, they are included as decreases and increases,
respectively, in income tax expense on the income statement. The logic of the IFRS
approach is that tax windfalls and shortfalls are caused by changes in the stock price,
which are shareholder to shareholder transactions (not transactions involving the com-
pany), so they should not be reported in earnings. US GAAP had the same approach
as IFRS prior to 2017, but it was changed as part of a simplification initiative.

The result for US GAAP reporters is that share-based compensation introduces
volatility in the effective tax rate (income tax expense as a percentage of income before
taxes) and may cause large differences between an issuer’s effective and statutory tax
rates, as in Example 3.

EXAMPLE 3

Tax Effects of Share-Based Compensation under US GAAP

The NASDAQ-listed internet company Meta Platforms (the parent of Facebook,
Instagram, and WhatsApp) reports under US GAAP. The company’s share price
rose by 30% and 23% in 2020 and 2021, respectively. For those years, the com-
pany reported effective tax rates materially below its statutory tax rate of 21%.
Excess tax benefits of share-based compensation were one of the contributors,
reducing the tax rate by over two percentage points in 2021, as disclosed in the
following reconciliation in the notes to Meta’s financial statements in its 2021
annual report.

Year ended 31 December 2021 2020
Statutory tax rate 21% 21%
State income taxes 1.0% 0.8%
Excess tax benefits related to share-based compensation (2.2%) (1.6%)
R&D tax credits (1.3%) (1.3%)
Foreign-derived intangible income deduction (3.5%) (1.9%)
Effect of non-US operations 0.9% (2.4%)
R&D capitalization — (3.0%)



© CFA Institute. For candidate use only. Not for distribution.
Share-Based Compensation Tax and Share Count Effects, Note Disclosures

Year ended 31 December 2021 2020
Other 0.8% 0.6%
Effective tax rate 16.7% 12.2%

In the same annual report, Meta Platforms stated:

“The accounting for share-based compensation may increase or decrease
our effective tax rate based upon the difference between our share-based
compensation expense and the deductions taken on our tax return, which
depend upon the stock price at the time of employee award vesting.

If our stock price remains constant...we expect our effective tax rate for
the full year 2022 to be similar to the effective tax rate for the full year 2021.”

Meta Platforms’ share price declined by 72% from January through October
2022. This resulted in its effective tax rate sharply increasing to the 21% statu-
tory rate, as excess tax benefits evaporated. In the third quarter of 2022, Meta
Platform’s effective tax rate increased 8 percentage points from the third quarter
of 2021.

An implication of this for analysts is to closely examine the reconciliation of the
statutory to effective tax rate for US GAAP reporters and not assume the historical
effective tax rate will persist if the company reported a tax windfall or shortfall from
share-based compensation. Because tax windfalls and shortfalls are recognized directly
in equity for IFRS reporters, they will have comparatively more stable effective tax
rates with less deviation from statutory tax rates than their US GAAP counterparts.

Share-Based Compensation and Shares Outstanding

Basic shares outstanding — presented on the income statement as a weighted average
for the reporting period and on the balance sheet and statement of stockholders’ equity
as of period end — increases when share-based awards settle. For many companies,
share-based compensation is a primary driver of the share count over time. For example,
Meta Platforms’ shares outstanding increased by approximately 1% per year over the
decade since its 2012 IPO, primarily from the settlement of RSUs. Some companies
offset this dilution with share repurchases, which Meta Platforms began to do in 2017.

Basic shares outstanding in each period does not include share-based awards that
have not settled. These are included in diluted shares outstanding, using the treasury
stock method, not simple addition. The treasury stock method adds a “net” amount of
potentially dilutive securities like unvested RSUs to basic shares outstanding. Proceeds
from the exercise or conversion of the potentially dilutive securities are assumed to
be used to repurchase shares at the average share price for the reporting period. The
calculation is as follows:

Basic shares outstanding
Plus: Shares issued from conversion or exercise of share-based awards

Minus: (Assumed proceeds from conversion or exercise of the share-based awards /
Average share price for the reporting period)

Diluted shares outstanding.

Importantly, only share-based awards that management judges as likely to vest are
included in the calculation. In practice, awards with service vesting conditions are
usually included but awards with performance conditions that have not been met as of
the end of the reporting period are excluded. For example, if a company has unvested
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RSUs outstanding that vest if EPS grows by 30% over three years but EPS only grew
by 5% in the first year, management will probably exclude the RSUs for the diluted
EPS calculation in that first year.

Assumed proceeds from conversion or exercise of the share-based awards is the
sum of two components: cash proceeds from exercise (for options this is the strike
price multiplied by the number of options, but zero for RSUs) and unrecognized
share-based compensation expense.

Average
unrecognized
share-based

Assumed Cash proceeds

proceeds from exercise

compensation
expense

Cash proceeds from exercise is straightforward, but the second component requires
some explanation. The treasury stock method assumes the vesting and settlement of
share-based awards today. We therefore add future share-based compensation expense
associated with these awards that is avoided by settling the awards today. Unrecognized
share-based compensation expense as of the end of a period is a product of the
unvested awards and their grant-date fair values. Average unrecognized share-based
compensation expense is simply the average of the last two period-end values.

EXAMPLE 4

EPS with Unvested RSUs and Options

This example continues from the prior Workflow Corporation Knowledge Checks.

1. Workflow Corporation had basic shares outstanding of 176,401,000 in 20X1
and reported positive net income. The company had no other potentially
dilutive securities outstanding besides RSUs and employee stock options.

Assuming that Workflow’s average share price was JPY 4,200 during 20X1
and the company reported unrecognized share-based compensation ex-
pense of JPY 21,467 million related to options and 13,202 million related
to RSUs as of 31 December 20X1, calculate diluted shares outstanding and
anti-dilutive securities.

Solution:
Basic shares outstanding 176,401,000
Effect of dilutive securities: 1,571,667
Diluted shares outstanding: 177,972,667

25 million shares were excluded from the calculation because they are
anti-dilutive.

Options:
Options outstanding 25,000,000
Minus: Assumed repurchases of 28,508,095 million*

Dilutive shares: 0, because the options are anti-dilutive since they are
out of the money.

*Assumed repurchases are calculated as
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Assumed proceeds from cash exercise (25 million x JPY 4,360)
=JPY 109,000 million

Average unrecognized share-based compensation expense: (0+21,467 million)/2
= 10,734 million

JPY 109,000 + 10,734 million / Average share price of 4,200

= 28,508,905 million assumed repurchases

RSUs:
Unvested RSUs 3,028,000
Minus: Assumed repurchases of 1,456,333**
Dilutive shares: 1,571,667

**Assumed repurchases are calculated as:

Assumed proceeds from cash exercise = 0

Average unrecognized share-based compensation expense: (0+13,202 million)/2
= 6,601 million

0 + 6,601 million / Average share price of 4,200

= 1,456,333 assumed repurchases

In general, the results of the treasury stock method are as follows:

= In-the-money options (average share price > strike price) are dilutive and
included in diluted shares outstanding.

= Out-of-the-money and at-the-money options are anti-dilutive and left out of
diluted shares outstanding.

= RSUs are dilutive except when the average stock price is materially below
the stock price at the RSU grant date. This can result in anti-dilutive RSUs
because the unrecognized stock-based compensation expense is based on
grant date share prices.

= Rapid increases in the share price can result in more dilution (and vice

versa), because the assumed number of shares that can be repurchased falls
with a higher average share price.

Diluted EPS cannot exceed basic EPS, so companies that report a net loss will report
the same basic and diluted shares outstanding, regardless of how many potentially
dilutive share-based awards and other securities are outstanding, as in Example 5.

EXAMPLE 5

Anti-Dilutive Share-Based Awards

The NASDAQ-listed software company ServiceNow reported net losses from
inception through 2018. In its 2018 annual report, the company reported the
following in its notes to financial statements.

Year ended 31 December 2018 2017 2016

Numerator:

Net loss (26,704) (116,846) (414,249)
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Year ended 31 December 2018 2017 2016
Denominator:

Basic and diluted shares 177,846,023 171,175,577 164,533,823
outstanding

Net loss per share — basic (0.15) (0.68) (2.52)

and diluted

Potentially dilutive securities that are not included in the calculation of
diluted net loss per share because doing so would be anti-dilutive are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2018 2017 2016
Options 1,810,580 3,369,732 5,818,435
RSUs 10,201,660 11,403,341 12,222,282
Employee stock purchase 317,940 361,688 366,529
plan

Convertible debt 5,806,933 13,589,879 7,783,023
Warrants 13,589,879 13,589,879 7,783,023
Total 31,727,069 42,314,596 33,973,292

Notice how 31.7 million shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted
shares outstanding in 2018 because they are anti-dilutive. Including these would
increase the share count by 18%, to 210 million. While this sounds like a drastic
adjustment, in the three years after 2018 when the company reached profitability,
ServiceNow’s diluted share count increased by 25 million shares to 203 million.

Analysts should add anti-dilutive securities to a company’s diluted share count
(as disclosed in the notes to financial statements) for valuation purposes, especially
in two cases.

The first case is companies that have reported a net loss, like ServiceNow in
Example 5. Since diluted EPS cannot be greater than basic EPS, such a company will
report equal amounts of basic and diluted shares outstanding, regardless of how many
RSUs, options, and other instruments like convertible debt securities are outstand-
ing. Analysts should be most alert to this with unprofitable companies in sectors like
technology that tend to use significant amounts of share-based compensation.

The second case is companies that have had large share price declines, or a volatile
share price generally, as in Example 6.

EXAMPLE 6

Selecting the Right Share Count

Returning to Meta Platforms from Example 3, we can see the effects of a 72%
decline in the share price from January to October 2022 on the share count.
Based on the preceding discussion, we expect the number of dilutive RSUs to
fall because the number of shares assumed to be repurchased in the treasury
stock method rises as the share price falls, while the assumed proceeds — based
on grant date share prices — is fixed. Equivalently, we expect the number of
anti-dilutive RSUs to increase.

The note disclosure from Meta Platforms’ quarterly report from the quarter
ended 30 September 2022 confirms this.
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Three Months Ended 30 September,

2022 2021
Basic shares outstanding 2,682 2,814
Dilutive RSUs 5 45
Diluted shares outstanding 2,687 2,859
Note: Anti-dilutive RSUs 119 0

Notice how this went in the opposite direction in terms of EPS as the effective
tax rate (a lower share count increases EPS while the effective tax rate increase
is a drag). In both cases, an analyst should be cautious about simply assuming
the most recent quarter’s value will persist.

Disclosures for Share-Based Compensation

IFRS 2 requires companies to disclose information that enables users of the financial
statements to understand (1) the nature and extent of share-based payment arrange-
ments that existed during the period; (2) how the fair value of the equity instruments
granted during the period was determined; and (3) the effect of share-based payment
transactions on the company’s net income (loss) during the period and on its financial
position.

These disclosures are typically made in the notes to the financial statements in
a note titled “Share-Based Payments” or similar. Additionally, the proxy statement
or other governance reports will contain disclosures on executive management and
directors’ compensation, which typically have a significant share-based component.
Example 7 illustrates disclosures.

EXAMPLE 7

Meta Platforms’ Share-Based Compensation

Meta Platforms’ notes to financial statements include the following about its
share-based compensation plans.

Share-based Compensation

Share-based compensation expense consists of the company’s restricted stock
units (RSUs) expense. RSUs granted to employees are measured based on the
grant-date fair value. In general, our RSUs vest over a service period of four
years. Share-based compensation expense is generally recognized based on the
straight-line basis over the requisite service period. We account for forfeitures
as they occur.

Since 2020, we have maintained one active share-based employee compen-
sation plan, the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, which...provides for the issuance
of incentive and nonqualified stock options, restricted stock awards, stock
appreciation rights, RSUs, performance shares, and stock bonuses to qualified
employees, directors, and consultants. Shares that are withheld in connection
with the net settlement of RSUs or forfeited under our stock plan are added to
the reserves of the Amended 2012 Plan.

The following table summarizes the activities for our unvested RSUs for the
year ended December 31, 2021:
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Number
of Shares Weighted-Average Grant
(thousands) Date Fair Value per Share
Unvested at 31 December 2020 96,733 $181.88
Granted 59,127 $305.40
Vested (44,574) $198.95
Forfeited (12,438) $211.58
Unvested at 31 December 2021 98,848 $244.58

The weighted-average grant date fair value of RSUs granted in the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $188.73 and $173.66, respectively. The fair
value as of the respective vesting dates of RSUs that vested during the years
ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 was $14.42 billion, $9.38 billion, and
$6.01 billion, respectively. The income tax benefit recognized related to awards
vested or exercised during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019
was $3.08 billion, $1.81 billion, and $0.98 billion, respectively.

As of December 31, 2021, there was $22.77 billion of unrecognized share-
based compensation expense related to RSUs awards. This unrecognized com-
pensation expense is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of
approximately three years based on vesting under the award service conditions.

Source: Meta Platforms 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-k, pgs. 104—105

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION AND FINANCIAL
STATEMENT MODELING

] explain how to forecast share-based compensation expense and
shares outstanding in a financial statement model and their use in
valuation

Like other compensation costs, share-based compensation is typically not a discrete
line item on the income statement; it is included in operating expenses based on the
employee recipient’s role at the company. Therefore, one approach to forecasting
share-based compensation is to do so implicitly while making operating expense or
margin forecasts. For example, if an analyst models R&D expense as a percentage
of sales and R&D expense includes some amount of share-based compensation, the
analyst has effectively made a share-based compensation forecast. This approach is
suitable so long as the share-based component of operating expenses shares drivers
with, and behaves the same as, the cash-based components of the operating expense.
This is generally the case except for companies that are in the early stages of their
life cycle. Share-based compensation tends to decline as a percentage of revenue
as companies reach maturity, so for earlier stage companies, analysts should model
share-based compensation discretely.

Beyond the income statement, however, forecasting share-based compensation as
a discrete item is necessary for the statement of cash flows, to arrive at more accurate
free cash flow forecasts, and to not understate cash on the balance sheet (by mistakenly
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assuming all compensation is in cash). Analysts may also forecast share-based com-
pensation discretely to compute non-GAAP metrics such as adjusted EBITDA and
earnings for use in comparisons and valuation.

The common approach to forecasting share-based compensation expense is as a
percentage of revenues. With that as the forecast object, an analyst can use a variety
of forecasting approaches such as a historical average, management guidance, or by
assuming the percentage will revert to an industry or sector average over time. To
ensure that the balance sheet balances, this forecast needs to be integrated appro-
priately in the financial statements by following the accounting model introduced in
the prior lessons: the offsetting entry to share-based compensation is to equity. If the
indirect method is used for deriving cash flows from operating activities, the expense
needs to be added back in reconciliation from net income on the statement of cash
flows. We demonstrate this in Example 8.

EXAMPLE 8

Forecasting Stock-Based Compensation

Workflow Corporation reported the following on its income statement and
notes to financial statements for the three years ended 31 December 20X3 (in
millions of JPY).

20X3 20X2 20X1
Revenues 41,628 24,970 15,687
Cost of revenues 4,279 3,162 2,187
Gross profit 37,349 21,809 13,500
Operating expenses:
Research and development 11,172 6,663 4,932
Sales and marketing 15,559 9,706 5,821
General and administrative 6,529 4,192 2,576
Total operating expenses 33,260 20,561 1,330
Operating income (loss) 4,090 1,248 170

Amounts include share-based compensation as follows:

20X3 20X2 20X1
Cost of revenues 44 17 6
Research and development 3,161 1,023 1,368
Sales and marketing 1,630 516 560
General and administrative 915 326 768
Total share-based compensation 5,751 1,882 2,661

expense

One approach to modeling the income statement in future years, starting
with 20X4 is to do the following:

1. Subtract share-based compensation expense from the costs and
expenses lines on the income statement

2. Express the adjusted costs and expenses and total share-based com-
pensation expense as percentages of revenues

3. Forecast the percentages of revenues
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4. Calculate the adjusted and reported figures using the percentages and

a revenue forecast

For example, an analyst may model Workflow’s 20X4E income statement in

the following manner.

20X4E 20X3 20X2 20X1

Revenues 62,440 41,628 24,970 15,687
Cost of revenues excl. share-based 4,995 4,234 3,145 2,181
compensation

% of revenues 8% 10% 13% 14%
Gross profit excl. share-based 57,445 37,349 21,826 13,505
compensation
Operating expenses:
Research and development excl. 11,864 8,010 5,639 3,564
share-based compensation

% of revenues 19% 19% 23% 23%
Sales and marketing excl. share-based 19,356 13,930 9,190 5,261
compensation

% of revenues 31% 33% 37% 34%
General and administrative excl. 8,117 5,613 3,866 1,848
share-based compensation

% of revenues 13% 13% 15% 12%
Share-based compensation 7,493 5,751 1,882 2,661

% of revenues 12% 14% 8% 17%
Total operating expenses 46,830 33,260 20,561 1,330
Operating income (loss) 10,615 4,090 1,248 170

Modeling share-based compensation expense as a discrete line item (apart
from the functional costs and expenses it is reported in) is useful for modeling
purposes because share-based compensation needs to be added back on the
statement of cash flows and because it might have a different driver from cash-

based costs and expenses.

Forecasting Shares Outstanding with Share-Based Awards

Analysts need to forecast shares outstanding as an input for forecasts of EPS.
Share-based compensation is one the primary drivers of shares outstanding.
Forecasting the effect of share-based compensation on shares outstanding starts

with forecasts of

1. grants of share-based awards, net of forfeitures; and

2. settlements of awards

for each period, in terms of common shares. Grants net of forfeitures is typically

modeled using growth rates off historical values presented in note disclosures. It should
be compatible with the forecast of share-based compensation expense. Settlements of
awards can be modeled the same way, or by assuming that a percentage of outstand-
ing awards settles each period. Once those are forecasted, we can model basic shares
outstanding using the following framework:

Basic shares outstanding, beginning of period

Plus: RSUs vested and/or share options exercised
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Plus: share issuances from secondaries, acquisitions, etc.

Less: share repurchases

Basic shares outstanding, end of period.

Diluted shares outstanding is forecast by adding a number of dilutive securities to the
forecast of basic shares outstanding. This can be challenging to determine because it
is based on the treasury stock method, and note disclosures are limited. A common
approach is to assume a percentage of outstanding awards are dilutive, with the per-
centage based off historical observations.

Besides the impact to shares outstanding, option exercises also affect the statement
of cash flows (and, in turn, the balance sheet) because cash is received from exercises.
RSU vesting does not materially affect the financial statements.

Valuation Considerations with Share-Based Compensation

Some analysts ignore share-based compensation in valuation, believing it irrelevant to
value because it is not a cash expense. This is flawed because share-based compensation
is a transfer of value from an issuer to its employees and dilutes existing shareholders.
It is illogical to believe, for example, that a company could increase its value simply
by replacing its cash compensation with shares. Second, many companies offset the
dilution from share-based compensation by repurchasing shares in an equivalent
amount on the open market, which effectively results in share-based compensation
behaving like a cash expense.

Since share-based compensation is non-cash, discounted cash flow models used
to value companies and their equity do not account for it by default. Accordingly, we
need to modify the model to account for the effect of

= dilution from outstanding but unvested share-based awards and

s dilution from future share-based awards.

Accounting for the first effect is straightforward: use diluted shares outstanding
(which the analyst may further increase by the number of anti-dilutive securities)
as the share count to compute per-share value in the valuation model. By spreading
equity value over an increased number of shares, dilution from outstanding awards is
accounted for. Some analysts may find this method not conservative enough because
the treasury stock method assumes repurchases which may not occur. An alternative is
to use basic shares outstanding plus the gross amount of potentially dilutive securities
(including share-based awards) as the share count instead.

The most pragmatic method to account for the second effect, dilution from expected
future share-based awards, in a discounted cash flow valuation is to deduct share-based
compensation from free cash flow. This is not theoretically correct because share-based
compensation expense is not cash, but alternative methods such as reducing equity
value by an estimated dilution factor or increasing the share count by an additional
amount are time-consuming and should deliver the same result.

The primary consideration with share-based compensation in multiples-based
valuations is whether the multiple is using a non-GAAP measure such as adjusted
EBITDA or adjusted EPS in the denominator that excludes share-based compen-
sation. While such measures overstate profits (share-based compensation is a real
cost), what is important for multiples is transparency and consistency. If an analyst
is analyzing multiples for several companies as well as industry and sector averages,
all of them should be based on GAAP measures or all of them should be based on
the same non-GAAP measure. GAAP and non-GAAP multiples are not comparable.
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FREE CASH FLOW MEASURES AND SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Free cash flow is commonly used in performance and valuation analyses because
it measures cash profits after reinvestment. Since share-based compensation is
a non-cash transaction, it does not affect free cash flow.

Analysts should be cautious in using free cash flow-based profitability mea-
sures (e.g., free cash flow as percentage of sales) and valuation multiples (e.g.,
share price to free cash flow per share) for companies that use a significant
amount of share-based compensation because it may over- and understate
profitability and valuation, respectively. For example, consider the following
two hypothetical companies.

Company A Company B
Market capitalization 10,000 10,000
Revenues 1,000 1,000
Net income 120 120
Share-based compensation expense 0 150
Cash flow from operating activities 420 570
Capital expenditures 300 300

By virtue of using share-based compensation rather than only cash compensation
like company A, company B’s free cash flow is higher, which flatters its free cash
flow-based profitability and valuation measures.

Company A Company B
Net margin 12% 12%
Free cash flow margin 12% 27%
P/E multiple 83 83
Price/free cash flow multiple 83 37

One might argue that Company B is undervalued relative to Company A because
its free cash flow multiple (37) is substantially lower than Company A’s (83). This
argument is dubious, because the difference in multiples is purely the result of
Company B choosing to pay employees with shares rather than cash, which is
still a transfer of value and dilutes existing shareholders’ interests in the company.

FINANCIAL REPORTING FOR POST-EMPLOYMENT
BENEFITS

] explain how post-employment benefits affect the financial statements

Post-employment benefits include cash (pension) benefits and non-monetary benefits
for retired employees. Many companies offer some type of post-employment benefits
to attract and retain talent, with practices varying by labor market customs and laws.
For instance, in some countries, such as the United Kingdom, companies are required
by law to offer pension plans and automatically enroll employees. Other countries,
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such as the United States, do not require companies to offer post-employment benefits
but offer tax advantages for doing so. In countries with government-sponsored health
care plans, employer-sponsored retirement health care benefits are less common.

Post-employment benefits are classified as either defined contribution (DC)
or defined benefit (DB). In DC plans, the employer sponsor makes agreed-upon
contributions to the plan. Employees may also make contributions. Employees may
choose how to invest their plan funds from designated options, typically composed of
mutual and exchange traded funds of equities and bonds. After the employer makes
agreed-upon contributions, it has no further obligation. The employer is not obligated
to make future contributions, gains or losses related to plan investments accrue to the
employee, and the employee bears the investment risk of assets not being sufficient
to meet future needs and actuarial risks such as outliving assets. These features make
forecasting the employer’s obligations straightforward.

Globally, post-employment benefits have shifted to DC over time, particularly
in the private sector, as employers have sought to reduce risks. However, in some
countries like the Netherlands and Japan, DC plans remain rare.”

DB plans are commitments to pay a defined amount after an employee’s retirement.
Benefits can be lump sum or periodic pension payments until death. The amount of
benefit is usually based on a formula with parameters such as the employee’s years of
service and compensation before retirement. For example, a DB plan may provide for
a retiree to be paid, annually until death, an amount in cash equal to the product of 1%
of their final year’s salary and their years of service at the company. DB plans typically
have criteria in terms of years of service that qualify an employee to receive future
benefits. For example, an employee may qualify for benefits after five years of service.
Additional benefits are earned through additional years of service, but the employee
would still be entitled to retirement benefits even if they left the company in year six.

Regulations usually require employers to pre-fund DB plans by setting aside assets
in a separate legal entity like a trust. Employers make contributions to plan assets to
meet regulatory minimum funding levels or on a discretionary basis to ensure that
future benefits can be paid. Plan assets are typically invested in bonds, equities, deriv-
atives, cash, and other assets. Plan contributions and the plan’s investment returns
fund the benefit payments to retirees.

In many jurisdictions, employers’ plan contributions are tax deductible, so contri-
bution decisions are made with tax planning considerations (e.g., a company in a tax
jurisdiction with limits on tax loss carryforwards may choose to make contributions
only in years when it has positive taxable income).

Unlike DC benefits in which the employer’s obligation is limited to the contri-
bution, employers bear the investment risk of DB plan investment performance not
meeting expectations and the actuarial risks associated with retirement ages, life
expectancies, and future salaries deviating from expectations. Along with the shift
to DC plans, many DB plans in the private sector have been closed and/or frozen. A
closed DB plan means that new employees can no longer enter the plan. A frozen
DB plan means that current beneficiaries no longer accrue additional benefits from
service, so their future benefit payments are fixed. In cases of closed and frozen plans,
affected employees’ benefits are typically replaced by DC plans.

Other post-employment benefits (OPEB) refer to DB plans that pay non-monetary
benefits, such as life insurance and medical care for retirees. Companies are often not
required by regulations to pre-fund OPEB plans. This is partly because governments
do not typically insure OPEB, OPEB usually represents a much smaller financial
liability, and OPEB plans are often easier to discontinue should the costs become
burdensome. Therefore, many OPEB plans are unfunded or have no specific assets

5 Thinking Ahead Institute, “Global Pension Assets Study 2022,” www.thinkingaheadinstitute.org/content/
uploads/2022/02/GPAS_2022.pdf.
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set aside to meet future payments; many companies simply make benefit payments

as they are arise (i.e., a “pay-as-you-go” plan). OPEB does obligate the employer to

pay benefits in the future and thus exposes them to investment and actuarial risks.
Exhibit 7 summarizes the three general types of post-employment benefits.

Exhibit 7: Types of Post-Employment Benefits

Amount of Post-Employment

Obligation of Sponsoring

Sponsoring Company’s Pre-

Type of Benefit Benefit to Employee Company Funding of Its Future Obligation
DC plan Amount of future benefit is not Amount of the company’s obli-  Not applicable.

defined. Actual future benefit gation (contribution) is defined

will depend on contributions and  in each period. The contribu-

investment performance of plan tion, if any, is typically made

assets. on a periodic basis with no

Investment and actuarial risks are  additional future obligation.

borne by employee.
DB plan Amount of future benefit is Amount of the future obli- Companies typically fund DB

OPEB (e.g., retirees’
health care)

defined, based on the plan’s for-
mula (often a function of length of
service and final year’s compensa-
tion).

Investment and actuarial risks are
borne by company.

Amount of future benefit depends
on plan specifications and type of
benefit. Investment and actuarial
risks usually borne by company.

gation, based on the plan’s
formula, must be estimated in
the current period.

Eventual benefits are specified.
The amount of the future obli-
gation must be estimated in the
current period.

plans by contributing funds to a
pension trust.

Regulatory funding requirements
vary by country.

Companies typically do not fund
OPEB obligations.

Financial Reporting for DC Plans

The financial reporting for DC plans is substantially the same as for short-term ben-
efits introduced in the beginning of this module. Employers’ plan contributions are
recognized as an expense on the income statement, grouped with other functional
costs in the relevant operating expense category (as with share-based compensation,
pension expense is typically not a discrete line on the income statement). Because the
employer’s obligation is limited to its contribution, the only balance sheet effect is a
current liability for vested but not-yet-settled contributions. Plan contributions are a
cash outflow in operating activities on the statement of cash flows.

EXAMPLE 9

Employer’s Accounting for DC Post-Employment Benefits

ﬂ Estimate ﬂ- Recognize plan ﬁ- Employer makes

undiscounted value
of plan contribution
for the period.

contributions as
compensation
expense and accrued
compensation liability
over the vesting
period.

e Adjust orreverse
entries if needed for
changes in estimates.

contribution to
the plan.

® Accrued
compensation liability
is derecognized.
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Company makes contributions equal to 5% of an employee’s salary to a DC plan
every two weeks. The annual salary for an employee in the legal department is
SGD 82,200. The first payment date is in two weeks, on 14 January.
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Grant Vesting Settlement

1 January 1 January - 14 January 14 January
Income statement No financial statement impact. ~ General and administrative No impact

Plan contribution is estimated  expense +158

at SGD 158.

Balance sheet Accrued compensation +158

Statement of cash flows No impact

Accrued compensation (158)

Cash flows from operations
(158)

The DC plan is a separate legal entity with its own financial statements. Plan assets,
liabilities, and transactions such as withdrawals to employees are not recognized on
the employer’s financial statements.

Financial Reporting for DB Plans

Under IFRS and US GAADP, all post-employment benefits other than those explic-
itly structured as DC plans are classified as DB plans, so OPEB and even informal
post-employment benefit arrangements are accounted for using the DB accounting
model.

In a DB plan, employees earn retirement benefits through service. The size of
benefit payments is typically a function of the employee’s years of service and final
year’s salary, and the aggregate benefit depends on their lifespan after retirement. The
accounting model for DB plans follows the same underlying principle as the other
forms of compensation discussed in the module: recognize the fair value of compen-
sation in the period that employees perform services. Since benefits are settled years
or decades in the future and their amount is uncertain, an employer’s accounting for
DB plans requires some modification from the accounting for short-term benefits.

Both IFRS and US GAAP require a DB plan’s funded status to be reported on
the balance sheet, given by Equation 1.

Funded status = Fair value of plan assets — Pension obligation )
where,

Fair value of plan assets = Assets held by the plan (e.g., bonds, stocks, cash,
derivatives) exclusively for paying benefits, measured
at the price that would be received in an orderly sale.
Quoted market prices are used if they are available.
Plan assets are the property of the plan, not the spon-
soring company, so once the employer makes a con-
tribution it cannot be withdrawn. Plan assets are also
protected (i.e., legally isolated) from the sponsor in the
event of its bankruptcy.

Pension obligation = The present value, without deducting any plan assets,
of expected future payments required to settle the obli-
gation resulting from employee service in the current
and prior periods.
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If the funded status is negative, the plan is an overfunded plan and the funded
status is reported on the balance sheet as a net pension liability. If the funded status
is positive, the plan is an overfunded plan and the funded status is reported on the
balance sheet as a net pension asset.® This is one of the rare instances where accounting
standards permit a “net” rather than “gross” presentation on the financial statements.
However, different plans’ funded statuses cannot be netted (e.g., an overfunded plan
cannot be netted against an underfunded plan). It is not uncommon for a company
to report both a net pension asset and a liability, for example if it sponsors both an
overfunded DB pension plan and an unfunded OPEB plan.

The discount rate used in the pension obligation calculation is the yield on invest-
ment grade corporate bonds (or government bonds in the absence of a liquid market
in corporate bonds) denominated in the same currency as the benefits. Estimating the
pension obligation involves making many actuarial assumptions (e.g., salary growth
rates, retirement dates, mortality), so IAS 19 encourages firms to engage a qualified
actuary.

GENERAL ELECTRIC’S DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN CHALLENGES

DB plans are deferred compensation for the employee and represent a long-term
obligation, not unlike debt, for the employer sponsor. As an alternative to salary
and other short-term benefits, the employer instead commits to providing retire-
ment benefits years in the future while still receiving the benefits of employee
service. Like other forms of leverage, it can pose challenges if the employer’s
obligation becomes too great or if the company faces problems in its business.

At the end of 2007, General Electric (GE), a US-based conglomerate, reported
a surplus for its DB plans of $4 billion. Thereafter, from a decade of low interest
rates, the passage of time, and increasing lifespan assumptions, GE’s DB plans
shifted to a deficit that ballooned to over $35 billion. Combined with poor results
in several of its businesses, GE’s DB plan deficit grew to represent over 40% of
the company’s market capitalization at the end of 2018.

GE’s Pension Net Deficit (Surplus) as % of its Market Capitalization

41%

23% 579

23%
18%
15%

14% 9
13% P, 13%
10% 10% 1%
8%

(1%)

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Source: GE 2007-2020 Annual Reports, Author’s analysis
Unlike companies with high financial leverage in the form of bonds and loans
that tend to benefit from falling interest rates, companies with large DB plans

tend to suffer from falling interest rates because it increases the pension obli-
gation by reducing the discount rate. This can be offset by strong investment

6 The net pension asset or liability may not be reported as a discrete item on the balance sheet but presented
as part of “Other non-current liabilities” or “Other non-current assets” with more detailed disclosures in
the notes to financial statements.
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returns on plan assets, which may happen if the plan assets are long-duration
fixed-income securities, but in many cases, investment returns are overwhelmed
by the effect of lower discount rates (including in the case of GE).

On the income statement, the company recognizes an expense each period for
the cost of providing benefits. Simply recognizing the employer’s plan contribution
as an expense would violate accrual accounting principles: the plan contribution
is not necessarily the employer’s costs of post-employment benefits in that period.
Plan contributions are not required to be made in the same period as the employees’
provision of services; in fact an employer may make no plan contributions for several
years so long as a plan can make payments. However, over those years, employees
provided service, which increased the pension obligation, and their retirement dates
drew closer with the passage of time, which also increased the pension obligation by
unwinding the discount.

Under IFRS, the pension expense has three components, two recognized on the
income statement and one recognized in other comprehensive income (OCI).

1. Service cost, which has two sub-components: current and past.

a. Current service cost is the amount by which a company’s pension obli-
gation increases as a result of employees’ service in the current period.
Recall that a common DB pension formula is to pay benefits based
on a percentage of final year’s salary multiplied by years of service. As
the employee accrues a year of service, their future benefit payments
increase. A qualified actuary calculates service cost using what is known
as the projected unit credit method, the inputs to which are beyond the
level of detail presented to investment analysts.

b. Past service cost is incurred if plan amendments are made that change
the pension obligation relating to employees’ service in prior periods.

Under IFRS, service costs are recognized as an operating expense on
the income statement, generally grouped with other compensation
costs in the relevant functional category (i.e., service costs related

to salespersons’ pensions are expensed as part of sales, general, and
administration).

2. Net interest expense/income. Net interest expense/income represents the
accretion of the pension obligation from the passage of time. It is calculated
by multiplying the net pension liability or net pension asset at the beginning
of the period by the discount rate. Under IFRS, net interest expense/income
is recognized below the operating income line on the income statement,
along with other financing costs like interest cost on debt.

3. Remeasurement. The third component of periodic pension cost is remea-
surement of the net pension liability or asset. Remeasurement includes (a)
any differences between the actual return on plan assets and the amount
assumed in the net interest expense/income calculation and (b) actuarial
gains and losses. Actuarial gains and losses are changes in the pension obli-
gation from changes in actuarial assumptions such as the salary growth rate,
discount rate, mortality rates, and so on. If changes in assumptions increase
the obligation, the increase is referred to as an actuarial loss while decreases
in the obligation are referred to as actuarial gains. Under IFRS, remeasure-
ments are recognized in OCI, not in earnings.
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Notice that the pension expense does not include employer’s contributions to
the plan (nor the settlement of benefits via payments to retirees); it is a non-cash
accrual based on the change in the net pension liability or asset. Plan contributions
are recognized on the statement of cash flows, typically in operating activities, the
same location where the non-cash pension expense is added back if the issuer uses the
indirect method. The statement of cash flows reporting for DB plans is therefore similar
to that for DC plans: plan contributions in cash are outflows in operating activities.

Payments of benefits from the plan to employees are not reported on the company’s
financial statements. The plan is a separate legal entity that prepares its own financial
statements. The payment of benefits is neutral to the funded status reported on the
employer’s balance sheet because it reduces plan assets and the pension obligation
by the same amount. To make the accounting model clearer, Example 10 shows the
impact of a DB pension over multiple periods.

EXAMPLE 10

DB Pensions’ Effect on Financial Statements

Workflow Corporation creates a DB pension plan for qualifying employees at
the beginning of 20X 1. Benefits are cash payments equal to 1% of the employee’s
salary in the 12 months before retirement multiplied by their years of service.
Employees have a choice of receiving benefits as a lump sum at retirement or
as monthly pension payments. At the beginning of 20X1, Workflow contrib-
utes JPY 710 million to the plan, which the plan’s trustees invest primarily in
fixed-income and equity securities.

1. Calculate the effect of the DB plan on Workflow’s financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 20X1 based on the following:

= Service cost is JPY 5 million.

= Yield on long-term investment grade corporate bonds is 2%.
= No benefits are paid to employees.

= The actual return on plan assets for the year was -3%.

= Besides the contribution at the beginning of the year, no further plan
contributions were made.

=  No plan amendments or changes are made in actuarial assumptions.

Solution:
Financial Statement Impact Note
Income Statement Operating expense 5 Service costs. No interest costs
million because the beginning plan
obligation is zero.
Statement of Remeasurements of —21.3  Difference in actual return on
Stockholders’ Equity ~ million plan assets from net interest

income.
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Financial Statement Impact Note

Balance Sheet Cash — 710 million Cash contribution to plan

Net pension asset 683.7 assets.

million Beginning funded status of
710 million reduced by actual
return on plan assets and
service costs.

Statement of Cash Cash flows from operat-  Cash contribution to plan

Flows

ing activities =710 million assets.

2. Calculate the effect of the DB plan on Workflow’s financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2X18 based on the following:

Service cost of JPY 9 million

Benefits paid of JPY 5 million

Yield on long-term investment grade corporate bonds of 2%
Benefit obligation at the beginning of the year of 97

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year of 1,010
Actual return on plan assets of 5%

No plan contributions

No plan amendments or changes in actuarial assumptions

Solution:
Financial Statement Impact Note
Income Statement Operating expense 9 Service costs.
million Net interest income of begin-
Net interest income of ning funded status x discount
18.3 million rate of 2%.
Statement of Remeasurements of 32.24  Difference between actual
Stockholders’ Equity ~ million return on plan assets and net
interest income.
Balance Sheet Net pension asset of Beginning net pension asset of
952.6 million 913 million adjusted by return
on plan assets, service costs,
and interest costs (benefits
paid is neutral to funded
status).
Statement of Cash No impact No plan contributions were
Flows made by Workflow.

US GAAP and IFRS Differences in DB Pension Accounting

US GAAP reporting for DB plans is the same as IFRS on the balance sheet and state-
ment of cash flows but is significantly different on the income statement and in OCL
Under US GAAP, the pension expense has five components.

1. Current service costs. Same as IFRS, this is computed using the projected
unit credit method and typically reported as an operating expense.
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2. Interest cost, equal to the discount rate multiplied by the pension obligation
at the beginning of the year. This represents the passage of time or unwind-
ing of the discount. Unlike IFRS, this is a “gross” interest expense, rather
than “net,” and typically presented as part of interest expense, below the
operating income line.

3. Expected return on plan assets. Under US GAAP, an expected return on
plan assets, computed as an expected rate of return multiplied by the fair
value of plan assets at the beginning of the period, is recognized. It is not
directly deducted from interest cost like the net interest expense/income
in IFRS but is an offset in earnings. Management’s expected return on plan
assets tends to be based on historical rates of return on classes of assets,
which are dependent on the plan’s asset allocation.

4. Amortization of past service cost. Under US GAADP, past service costs are
reported in OCI in the period in which the change giving rise to the cost
occurs. In subsequent periods, past service costs are amortized to the
income statement over the average service lives of the affected employees.

5. Amortization of net gains or losses. Under US GAAP, all actuarial gains and
losses and differences between the expected and actual return on pension
assets (“remeasurements” in IFRS) can be reported either in P&L or, the
more commonly chosen approach, in OCI and amortized to the income
statement under a so-called corridor approach. The goal is smooth earnings
from large changes in estimates or plan asset valuations.

Under the corridor approach, the net cumulative unrecognized gains and losses at
the beginning of the reporting period are compared with the pension obligation and
the fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the period. If the cumulative amount
of unrecognized gains and losses exceeds 10% of the greater of the pension obligation
or the fair value of plan assets, then the excess is amortized over the expected average
remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plan and is included as
a component of periodic pension cost in earnings. The term “corridor” refers to the
10% range, and only amounts in excess of the corridor must be amortized.

A comparison of IFRS and US GAAP income statement reporting for DB pension
expenses is presented in Exhibit 8.

Exhibit 8: Components of a Company’s DB Pension Periodic Costs

IFRS Component IFRS Recognition US GAAP Component US GAAP Recognition
Service costs Recognized in P&L. Current service costs Recognized in P&L.
Past service costs Recognized in OCI and

subsequently amortized to
P&L over the service life of
employees.

Net interest income/  Recognized in P&L as the follow-  Interest expense on pension Recognized in P&L.
expense ing amount: Net pension liability ~ obligation
or asset x discount rate

Expected return on plan assets Recognized in P&L as the
following amount: Plan
assets x expected return.
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IFRS Component IFRS Recognition US GAAP Component US GAAP Recognition

Remeasurements: Net Recognized in OCI, not in P&L. Actuarial gains and losses Recognized immediately in P&L or,

return on plan assets  , Net return on plan assets = including differences more commonly, recognized in OCI

and actuarial gains Actual return — (Plan assets x between the actual and and subsequently amortized to P&L

and losses Interest rate). expected returns on plan using the corridor or faster recogni-
assets tion method.

Actuarial gains and losses =
Changes in a company’s pension
obligation arising from changes
in actuarial assumptions.

= Difference between expected and
actual return on assets = Actual
return — (Plan assets x Expected
return).

Actuarial gains and losses =
Changes in a company’s pension
obligation arising from changes in
actuarial assumptions.

Disclosures for Post-Employment Benefit Plans

Disclosure requirements for DC benefits are minimal. IAS 19 only requires issuers
to disclose the amount recognized as an expense, which is typically done in the
notes to financial statements as part of a note titled “Employee Compensation,’
“Post-Employment Benefits,” or similar. For example, disclosures for DC benefits
by the Amsterdam-based integrated oil company Shell plc in its annual report are
limited to simply stating the amounts recognized on the income statements for each
of the last three years.

For DB plans including OPEB, IAS 19 requires issuers to make numerous disclo-
sures. In fact, for companies that sponsor DB plans, this disclosure note to the finan-
cial statements is often among the longest. Under IAS 19, management’s disclosures
should accomplish several objectives:

a. Explain the characteristics of its DB plans and risks associated with them

b. Identify and explain the amounts in its financial statements arising from its
DB plans

¢. Describe how its DB plans may affect the amount, timing, and uncertainty
of the entity’s future cash flows

Example 11 is an excerpt of Shell plc’s DB-related disclosures in its notes to
financial statements.

EXAMPLE 11

DB Disclosures from Shell plc’s Annual Report

Retirement benefits are provided in most of the countries where Shell has
operational activities. Shell offers these benefits through funded and unfunded
defined benefit plans and defined contribution plans. The most significant
pensions plans are in the Netherlands, UK and USA. Other post-employment
benefits (OPEB) comprised of retirement health care and life insurance are also
provided in certain countries.
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The Netherlands

The principal defined benefit pension plan in the Netherlands is a funded
career-averaged pension arrangement with retired employees drawing benefits
as an annuity, with a surplus of $1,756 million reported as at December 31, 2021,
(2020: $405 million surplus). Whilst the plan was closed to employees hired
or rehired after July 1, 2013, it currently remains open for ongoing accrual for
existing active members. 26% (2020: 31%) of the overall defined benefit liability
in the Netherlands relates to active members. From July 1, 2013, onwards new
employees in the Netherlands are entitled to membership of a defined contri-
bution pension plan.

United Kingdom

The three largest defined benefit pension plans for employees in the UK are
funded final salary pension arrangements with retired employees mainly drawing
benefits as an annuity with the option to take a portion as a lump sum. The three
plans are separate and independent plans and cannot be netted against each
other. In total, the plans reported a surplus of $3,807 million as at December
31, 2021 (2020: deficit of $76 million), which is after netting of unfunded plans
of $473 million which are reported as non-current liabilities on the balance
sheet. All three plans were closed to new employees hired or rehired, however,
two plans currently remain open for ongoing accrual for existing active mem-
bers. 20% (2020: 23%) of the overall defined liability in the UK relates to active
members. From March 1, 2013 onwards new employees in the UK are entitled
to membership of a defined contribution pension plan.

United States

The principal defined benefit pension plan in the USA is a funded final average
pay pension plan with a surplus of $182 million reported as at December 31, 2021
(2020: $1,846 million deficit). After retirement, all retirees can choose to draw
their benefits as an annuity, whereas others also have the choice to take their
benefit in a lump sum. There is also an unfunded defined benefit pension plan
with a deficit of $1,129 million (2020: $1,475 million deficit). The benefits under
this plan are taken primarily in a lump sum. In addition, the company provides a
defined contribution benefit plan. The funded defined benefit, unfunded defined
benefit and defined contribution pension plans are subject to the provisions of
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA). 24% (2020: 25%) of the
overall defined liability of the funded defined benefit plan in the USA relates
to active members.

United States OPEB

The company also sponsors “other post-retirement employee benefits” (OPEB)
mainly in the USA. The OPEB plans in the USA provide medical, dental, and
vision benefits as well as life insurance benefits to eligible retired employees.
The plans are unfunded, and the company and retirees share the costs with a
deficit of $4,067 million reported as at December 31, 2021 (2020: $4,497 million
deficit). The plan that provides post-retirement medical benefits in the USA is
closed to employees hired or rehired on or after January 1, 2017. Certain life
insurance benefits are paid by the company.

31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Pension obligations (107,336) (115,792)
Plan assets 104,495 102,678

Effect of asset ceilings (13) 17)



© CFA Institute. For candidate use only. Not for distribution.
Financial Reporting for Post-Employment Benefits

31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Surplus (Deficit) (2,854) (13,131)
Recognized on the consolidated balance sheet:

Non-current assets 8,471 2,474
Non-current liabilities: (6,458) (10,237)
pensions

Non-current liabilities: (4,867) (5,368)
OPEB

Total (2,854) (13,131)

Types of Pension Assets

31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Equities 32% 33%
Debt securities 57% 57%
Real estate 7% 6%
Investment funds 3% 3%
Cash 1% 1%
Total 100% 100%

Shell’s contributions to defined benefit pension plans are estimated to be $900
million in 2022.

Assumptions and Sensitivity Analyses

99

31 December 2021 Range of Assumptions

Effect on Defined Benefit
Obligation

Rate of increase in pensions in payment 2.0% -1% to +1%
Discount rate for pension plans 2.0% —1% to +1%
Inflation rate 2.1% —1% to +1%
Expected age at death for men aged 60 87 —1 year to +1 year
Expected age at death for women aged 89 —1 year to +1 year
60

(9,908) to 12,171

18,954 to (14,599)

(10,691) to 13,325
(1,946) to 1,937
(1,863) to 1,972

Analysts should check the disclosed assumptions over time and against other com-
panies for reasonableness. Management may look to be aggressive in their accounting
by using a high discount rate, low salary growth rate, low life expectancy, low inflation
rate, and for OPEB plans that involve post-employment medical care benefits, a lower
healthcare cost growth rate, to reduce the size of the pension obligation and lower the
pension expense. Under US GAAP, management can also be aggressive by increasing
its expected return on plan assets.
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FINANCIAL MODELING AND VALUATION
CONSIDERATIONS FOR POST-EMPLOYMENT
BENEFITS

[

explain financial modeling and valuation considerations for
post-employment benefits

Financial modeling for DC plan expenses is straightforward and typically done implicitly
by making operating expense forecasts (i.e., by modeling SG&A expenses, DC plan
expenses for employees in those functions is implicitly modeled). There are generally
no problems with this approach because DC plan expenses are often structured as
percentages of salaries and made in cash, so they share the same drivers as short-term
benefits and other components of operating expenses. Cash flows are well matched
with the recognized expense and the balance sheet effect is limited to accrued liabilities
that are already forecasted using working capital ratios.

The general approach to modeling of DB plans, including OPEB, on the financial
statements is to model service cost, net interest expense/income, remeasurements,
and the employer’s plan contributions in future periods. These form the basis for the
amounts recognized on the income statement, a net pension asset/liability on the
balance sheet, and plan contributions on the statement of cash flows. For companies
with small DB plans that are well funded (i.e., net pension liability is not more than
5% of the issuer’s equity market capitalization), especially if they are also closed or
frozen, analysts may not make detailed forecasts because the plan is not material to
the investment case.

Valuation Considerations for DB Plans
Valuations must account for two impacts related to DB plans including OPEB:

1. The plan’s funded status, either a net liability of the company to plan benefi-
ciaries or net asset if the plan is overfunded

2. Future service costs, which are future increases in the pension obligation
from employee service. This is applicable unless the company’s plans are
frozen and not accruing additional benefits for service.

To account for the first impact, analysts apply an asymmetrical treatment of under-
funded and overfunded plans. The funded status for an underfunded plan is considered
debt in an enterprise value calculation and/or bridge from enterprise value to equity
value. An overfunded plan is ignored in valuation. This is not simply conservatism
but reflects the fact that an underfunded plan is a liability of a company because the
company is obligated to make benefit payments regardless of the underfunding, while
an overfunded plan is only nominally an asset: plan assets cannot be withdrawn and
distributed to shareholders or other providers of capital; plan assets are solely for
paying benefits. Some data providers follow this approach and include net pension
liabilities in debt and enterprise value quotations.

Future service costs are not included in the plan’s funded status. These are com-
pensation costs in future periods that an employee earns in lieu of short-term benefits.
Analysts should take an approach similar to that for share-based compensation: even
though service costs are not cash expenses, service cost should be deducted from free
cash flow in a discounted cash flow model (i.e., not added back to EBIT and therefore
left expensed when computing free cash flow). Net interest expense/income should
not be included in the discounted cash flow model as it represents the unwinding of
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the discounted pension obligation. Valuation is done on a present value basis, and
the present value of an underfunded pension is already considered by deducting the
net pension liability from enterprise value.
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PRACTICE PROBLEMS

The following information relates to questions
1-7

Kensington plc, a fictional company based in the United Kingdom, sponsors a DB
pension plan for qualifying employees. Kensington prepares its financial state-
ments under IFRS. The discount rate that the company used in estimating the
present value of its pension obligation was 5.48%. Disclosures on Kensington’s
pension plan in the company’s notes to financial statements for the year ended 31
December 20X1 included the following.

Components of periodic benefit cost

Service cost £228
Net interest (income) expense 273
Remeasurements -18
Periodic pension cost £483

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligations at beginning of year £28,416
Service cost 228
Interest cost 1,557
Benefits paid -1,322
Actuarial gain or loss 0
Benefit obligations at end of year £28,879

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year £23,432
Actual return on plan assets 1,302
Employer contributions 693
Benefits paid -1,322
Fair value of plan assets at end of year £24,105
Funded status at beginning of year -£4,984
Funded status at end of year -£4,774

1. At 31 December 20X1, GBP 28,879 million represents:
A. the funded status of the plan.

B. the DB obligation.

C. the fair value of the plan’s assets.

2. The GBP 1,284 million difference in interest expense reported on the income
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statement and the interest cost on the benefit obligation in 20X1 is a result of:

A. interest income on plan assets.
B. the actual return on plan assets.

C. different assumed discount rates.

3. The amount recognized by Kensington as an operating expense on the income
statement for the year ended 31 December 20X1 is closest to:

A. 210.
B. 228.
C 483.

4. The cash outflow recognized by Kensington in cash flows from operating activi-
ties for the year ended 31 December 20X1 is closest to:

A. 228.
B. 693.
¢ 1,322,

5. The amount recognized on the balance sheet decreased from 31 December 20X0
to 31 December 20X1 because:

A. The sum of service cost and interest cost exceeded benefits paid.

B. the discount rate used in estimating the pension obligation exceeded the
actual rate of return of plan assets for the year.

C. the sum of the actual return on plan assets and employer contributions
exceeded the sum of service and interest cost on the benefit obligation.

6. An analyst preparing a discounted cash flow model on 14 January 20X2 to value
Kensington’s equity should deduct which of the following from the estimate of
enterprise value to arrive at equity value?

A. 4,774
B. 4,984
¢ 28,879

7. A 100 basis point decrease in investment grade corporate bond yields may affect
Kensington’s plan funded status by less than the increase in the benefit obligation
because:

A. remeasurements from changes in assumptions are recognized in OCI, not in
earnings.

B. a decrease in service cost will partially offset the increase.

C. the fair value of plan assets may simultaneously increase.
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The following information relates to questions
8-12

XYZ SA is a fictional company that uses a DB pension plan and stock option
grants as part of its compensation to qualified employees. XYZ SA prepares its
financial statements under IFRS.

Information on XYZ’s DB plan and volatility assumptions used to value stock
option grants were as follows:

XYZ SA Defined BP Information, Fiscal Year 2024

Employer contributions 1,000
Current service costs 200
Past service costs 120
Discount rate used to estimate plan liabilities at beginning of year 7.00%
Benefit obligation at beginning of year 42,000
Benefit obligation at end of year 41,720
Actuarial loss due to increase in plan obligation 460
Plan assets at beginning of year 39,000
Plan assets at end of year 38,700
Actual return on plan assets 2,700
Expected rate of return on plan assets 8.00%
Grant Year Weighted Average Expected Volatility

2024 Valuation Assumptions

2020-2024 21.50%
2023 Valuation Assumptions
2019-2023 23.00%

Note: All transactions (including plan amendments) are assumed to occur at year-end.

8. The amount recognized by XYZ as operating expense on the income statement
related to its DB plan for fiscal year 2024 is closest to:

A. 200.
B. 320.
¢ 1,000.

9. If XYZ prepared its financial statements under US GAAP, the total amount
recognized by XYZ on the income statement related to its DB plan for fiscal year
2024 (assuming the company chooses not to immediately recognize the actuarial
loss and assuming there is no amortization of past service costs or actuarial gains
and losses) would be closest to:

A. 28.
B. 59.
C. 530.

10. An analyst is building a financial statement model for XYZ SA. The analyst as-
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sumes that service cost and the discount rate in FY2025 will be the same as in the
previous year. The analyst’s estimate of pension cost recognized on the income
statement in FY2025 is closest to:

A. 320.
B. 404.
C. 531.

11. If XYZ had used the same volatility assumption for its FY2024 option grants that
it had used in FY2023, its FY2024 net income would have been:

A. lower.
B. higher.

C. the same.

12. If XYZ SA also granted RSUs to employees in fiscal 2024, the decrease in XYZ
SA’s share price volatility assumption would:

A. increase the grant-date fair value of the RSUs.
B. decrease the grant-date fair value of the RSUs.

(. not affect the grant-date fair value of the RSUs.

The following information relates to questions
13-19

Sallie Kwan Industrials (SKI) is a Singapore-based automation equipment
manufacturer that reports under US GAAP. The company disclosed the fol-
lowing information in a note to its financial statements titled “Share-Based
Compensation”

Under our Share Incentive Plan, the Company grants restricted stock units
(“RSUSs”) to its officers, employees, directors and other eligible persons of up to
83,000,000 Class A ordinary shares. RSUs vest 25% on the first anniversary year
from the grant date and the remaining 75% vest in 12 substantially equal quarter-
ly installments. RSU activity for the two years ended 31 December 20X2 was as

follows.
Weighted Average Grant-
Date Fair Value per Share
Number of Shares (SGD)
Unvested at 31 December 20X0 4,754,972 12.34
Granted 6,249,313 20.50
Vested and settled (2,131,415) 13.67
Forfeited (791,433) 15.22
Unvested at 31 December 20X1 8,081,437 18.02
Granted 5,034,735 72.37

Vested and settled (3,332,063) 19.25
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Weighted Average Grant-
Date Fair Value per Share

Number of Shares (SGD)
Forfeited (442,181) 28.74
Unvested at 31 December 20X2 9,341,928 46.36

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

Share-based compensation expense for RSUs is measured based on the fair value
of the Company’s ordinary shares on the date of grant. SKI accounts for forfei-
tures as they occur.

Unrecognized share-based compensation expense as of 31 December 20X0,
20X1, and 20X2 was SGD 58.7, SGD 145.6, and SGD 433.1 million, respectively.

The amount recognized as operating expense on SKI's income statement related
to its Equity Incentive Plan for the year ended 31 December 20X2 is closest to:

A. SGD 51.4 million.
B. SGD 64.1 million.

C. SGD 123.1 million.

The increase in SKI’s basic shares outstanding in the year ended 31 December
20X2 from its Equity Incentive Plan is closest to:

A. 2,889,882.
B. 3,332,063.
(. 5,034,735.

The average market price for SKI shares at the time of settlement for the RSUs
that vested in 20X2 was SGD 71.50. Assuming a statutory tax rate of 17%, the
impact to SKI’'s income tax expense for 20X2 related to share-based compensa-
tion is closest to:

A. a SGD 29.6 million increase in income tax expense.
B. a SGD 29.6 million reduction in income tax expense.

(. a SGD174.1 million reduction in income tax expense.
If SKI reported under IFRS instead of US GAAD, its effective tax rate would likely
be:

A. lower.
B. higher.

C. the same.

SKI reported basic shares outstanding of 270,400,000 and positive net income
on its income statement for the year ended 31 December 20X2. Besides unvested
RSUs, SKI had no other potentially dilutive securities outstanding. Assuming an
average share price of SGD 71.50 for the year, diluted shares outstanding for the
year ended 31 December 20X2 is closest to:

A. 273,284,585.

B. 275,695,075.
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(. 279,341,928.

18. If the weighted average share price during 20X2 was lower than SGD 71.50, but
the average unrecognized share-based compensation expense was the same, di-
luted shares outstanding would be the amount calculated in the
previous question.

A. Lower than
B. Higher than

C. The same as

19. An analyst is building a financial statement model for SKI and projects
share-based compensation expense to be 10% of revenues next fiscal year. Based
on the following assumptions, the analyst’s estimated basic share count for SKI
will increase by how many shares next fiscal year?

Revenues FY2025E = SGD 506 million
Weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of vesting RSUs = SGD 46.36

Forfeitures

= 0 shares (the analyst’s share-based compensation expense is net of forfeitures).
A. 1.1 million
B. 1.3 million

C. 10.9 million

The following information relates to questions
20-25

Terra Mercado is a retailer that compensates employees with a DB pension plan
and stock options in addition to short-term benefits and a DC plan. Terra Merca-
do prepares its financial statements in accordance with US GAAP and reports in
BRL.

Peter Friedland, CFA, is an equity analyst concerned with earnings quality. He

is particularly interested in whether the discretionary assumptions the company
is making regarding compensation plans are contributing to the recent earnings
growth at Terra Mercado. He gathers information from the company’s regulatory
filings regarding the pension plan assumptions and assumptions related to option
valuation for the three years ended 31 December 20X3.

Assumptions Used for Terra Mercado DB Plan

20X3 20X2 20X1
Expected long-term rate of return on plan 6.06% 6.14% 6.79%
assets
Discount rate used to estimate pension 4.85% 4.94% 5.38%

obligation at beginning of year
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Assumptions Used for Terra Mercado DB Plan

20X3 20X2 20X1
Estimated salary growth rate 4.00% 4.44% 4.25%
Estimated inflation rate 3.00% 2.72% 2.45%

Assumptions Used for Terra Mercado Option Grants

20X3 20X2 20X1
Risk-free rate 4.6% 3.8% 2.4%
Expected life 5.0 yrs 4.5 yrs 5.0 yrs
Dividend yield 1.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Expected volatility 29% 31% 35%

20.

21.

22,

23.

24.

Compared to the 20X3 reported financial statements, if Terra Mercado had used
the same expected long-term rate of return on plan assets assumption in 20X3
as it used in 20X1, its year-end 20X3 pension obligation would most likely have
been:

A. lower.
B. higher.

C. the same.

Compared to the reported 20X3 financial statements, if Terra Mercado had used
the same discount rate it used in 20X1, it would have most likely reported lower:

A. net income.
B. total liabilities.

C. cash flow from operating activities.

Compared to the assumptions Terra Mercado used to compute its periodic pen-
sion cost in 20X1, earnings in 20X3 were most favorably affected by the change in
the:

A. discount rate.
B. estimated future salary increases.

(. expected long-term rate of return on plan assets.

Compared to the pension assumptions Terra Mercado used in 20X2, which of the
following pairs of assumptions used in 20X3 is mostlikely internally inconsistent?

A. Estimated future salary increases, inflation
B. Discount rate, estimated future salary increases

(. Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, discount rate

Compared to the reported 20X3 financial statements, if Terra Mercado had used
the 20X1 volatility assumption to value its employee stock option grants, it would
have most likely reported higher:

A. net income.
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B. operating expense.

(. accrued compensation liability.

25. Compared to the assumptions Terra Mercado used to value stock options in
20X2, earnings in 20X3 were most favorably affected by the change in the:

A. expected life.
B. risk-free rate.

(. dividend yield.

The following information relates to questions
26-30

Your colleague is building financial statement and discounted cash flow models
for a company and has asked you review their modeling decisions with respect to
the subject company’s post-employment and stock-based compensation plans.

26. Your colleague’s discounted cash flow model expenses service cost and net in-
terest expense in free cash flow and deducts the company’s net pension liability
from enterprise value to arrive at an estimate of equity value. You most likely
recommend that your colleague:

A. make no changes.
B. remove service cost from free cash flow because it is a non-cash expense.

(. remove net interest expense from free cash flow because the net pension, at
present value, is already deducted from enterprise value.

27. Your colleague’s balance sheet is imbalanced, with assets exceeding total liabili-
ties and equity by the same amount as share-based compensation expense, even
though share-based compensation is correctly added back in the reconciliation of
net income to cash flow from operating activities on the statement of cash flow.
Your colleague has most likely forgotten to:

A. add share-based compensation expense to equity.
B. subtract share-based compensation expense from equity.

(. subtract the fair value of share-based award settlements from equity.

28. The subject company reported a net loss on its income statement in the most
recent fiscal period but reported positive free cash flow. Your colleague should
add anti-dilutive securities to diluted shares outstanding in their discounted cash
flow valuation model to account for:

A. forfeited share-based awards.
B. unvested share-based awards.

C. RSUs that settled in the most recent fiscal period.

29. As an alternative to expensing stock-based compensation in free cash flow in
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the discounted cash flow valuation model, your colleague could account for the
expected dilution by:

A. increasing shares outstanding.

B. reducing operating expenses because the company could compensate its
employees in cash rather than shares.

(. increasing net cash because share-based compensation expense is a
non-cash expense.

30. The subject company’s management has provided guidance for the next fiscal
year, which includes an effective tax rate that is substantially below its statutory
tax rate, largely due to tax windfalls from share-based compensation. Using this
effective tax rate for all future years in the model would likely:

A. overstate income tax expense.
B. overstate free cash flow to the firm.

C. understate estimated enterprise value.
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SOLUTIONS

1. Bis correct. GBP 28,879 million is the present value of future benefits as at 31
December 20X1. This is the “gross” liability, before netting the fair value of plan
assets to calculate the funded status.

2. Ais correct. The interest expense reported on the income statement is a “net”
interest expense/income amount computed as the product of the funded status
and discount rate at the beginning of the year. Equivalently, it is the (discount rate
x benefit obligation) — (discount rate x fair value of plan assets).

3. Bis correct. Service cost is an operating expense, representing the increase in the
benefit obligation from current and past service. Net interest expense/income is
financing expense/income recognized below the operating income line. Remea-
surements are recognized in OCI, not in earnings.

4. Bis correct. Employers’ plan contributions are cash outflows in operating
activities.

5. Cis correct. The net pension liability recognized on Kensington’s balance sheet
decreased because the fair value of plan assets increased by more than the benefit
obligation.

A is incorrect. While it is true that the sum of service and interest costs exceeded
benefits paid, benefits paid is deducted from both the benefit obligation and plan
assets, so the relevant spread is between the sum of service and interest costs and
the sum of return on plan assets and employer contributions.

B is incorrect. The discount rate used in estimating the pension obligation was
5.48% and the actual rate of return on plan assets was 1,302/23,432 = 5.56%, 8
basis points higher, not lower.

6. A is correct. The analyst should deduct the net pension liability as of 31 Decem-
ber 20X1 from the estimate of enterprise value to arrive at equity value, as if it
were debt.

B is incorrect. This is the net pension liability from the beginning of 20X1.

Cis incorrect. 28,879 is the gross benefit obligation. Deducting this from enter-
prise value to arrive at equity value would ignore plan assets that are exclusively
for the payment of benefits to plan beneficiaries.

7. Cis correct. A decrease in interest rates may result in an increase in the fair
value of plan assets that offsets the increase in the benefit obligation from a lower
discount rate, especially plan assets invested in longer-duration fixed-income
securities.

8. Bis correct. Service cost, comprising current and past service costs of 200 and
120, respectively, is recognized on the income statement as an operating expense.

9. Ais correct. Under US GAAP—assuming the company chooses not to immedi-
ately recognize the actuarial loss and assuming there is no amortization of past
service costs or actuarial gains and losses—the components of periodic pension
cost that would be reported in P&L include the current service cost of 200, the
interest expense on the pension obligation at the beginning of the period of 2,940
[=7.0% x (42,000 +120)], and the expected return on plan assets, which is a re-
duction of the cost of 3,120 (= 8.0% x 39,000). Summing these three components
gives 28.
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C is correct. Pension costs recognized on the income statement comprise service
cost and net interest expense/income. The analyst assumes service cost remains
the same as in the previous year, or (200+120) = 320. Net interest expense/in-
come is the product of the discount rate and the net pension liability/asset at

the beginning of FY2025, or the end of FY2024, [(41,270-38,700) x 0.07] = 211.
Summing these two components gives 531.

A is correct. In FY2024, XYZ used a lower volatility assumption than it did in
FY2023. Lower volatility reduces the fair value of an option and thus the report-
ed expense as the award vests. Using the FY2023 volatility estimate would have
resulted in higher expense and thus lower net income.

Cis correct. The grant-date fair value of an RSU is the share price, which may be
adjusted for expected dividends. The volatility assumption is not relevant to the
valuation of RSUs.

A is correct. The amount recognized as operating expense is the share-based
compensation expense, which the product of 3,332,063 RSUs vested with a
per-share grant-date fair value of SGD 19.25 less forfeitures of 442,181 with a
per-share grant-date fair value of SGD 28.74. (3,332,063 x 19.25) — (442,181 x
28.74) = 51,433,931.

B is correct. Settlement of RSUs increases basic shares outstanding. The number
of RSUs settled (converted to common shares) in 20X2 is 3,332,063. Forfeit RSUs
are not deducted, as these are RSUs, not common shares.

B is correct. The excess tax benefit or windfall in 20X2 is equal to the statutory
tax rate multiplied by the amount that the tax deduction associated with the
settlement of the share-based award exceeds the share-based compensation
expense recognized on the income statement: statutory tax rate x (tax deduction
— share-based compensation expense). This is equal to 0.17 x [(71.50 x 3,332,063)
-(19.25x 3,332,063)] = 29,597,050.

B is correct. Excess tax benefits or tax windfalls related to share-based compen-
sation are recognized as gains directly in equity under IFRS, not as reductions in
income tax expense on the P&L under US GAAP.

B is correct. Diluted shares outstanding is computed using the treasury stock
method, where unvested RSUs are added to basic shares outstanding, net of
assumed repurchases which is based on the average unrecognized share-based
compensation expense and average prevailing market price for the shares.

Basic shares outstanding: 270,4000,000
Plus: Unvested RSUs of 9,341,928
Minus: Average unrecognized share-based compensa- 4,046,853

tion expense of (145.6 + 433.1 million)/2
= 289.350 million / average share price of 71.50 =

Diluted shares outstanding: 275,695,075

A is correct. A lower weighted average share price in 20X2 would result in a
greater number of shares assumed to be repurchased, thus fewer shares added to
basic shares outstanding in the calculation of diluted shares outstanding.

A is correct. Share-based compensation expense is estimated to be SGD 506
million x 0.10 = SGD 50.6 million. The expense is recognized upon vesting
(which for RSUs is coincident with settlement). The number of shares issued and
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20.

21.

22.

23.

24,

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

therefore increasing basic shares outstanding is SGD 50.6 million / SGD 46.36 =
1.1 million shares.

Cis correct. The assumed long-term rate of return on plan assets is not a com-

ponent used in calculating the pension obligation, so there would be no change.
However, the long-term rate of return can affect the pension expense under US
GAAP.

B is correct. A higher discount rate (5.38% instead of 4.85%) will reduce the
present value of the pension obligation (liability). In most cases, a higher discount
rate will decrease the interest cost component of the net periodic cost because
the decrease in the obligation will more than offset the increase in the discount
rate (except if the pension obligation is of short duration). Therefore, periodic
pension cost would have been lower and reported net income higher. Cash flow
from operating activities should not be affected by the change.

B is correct. In 20X3, the three relevant assumptions were lower than in 20X1.
Lower expected salary increases reduce the service cost component of the peri-
odic pension cost. A lower discount rate will increase the DB obligation and
increase the interest cost component of the periodic pension cost (the increase in
the obligation will, in most cases, more than offset the decrease in the discount
rate). Reducing the expected return on plan assets typically increases the periodic
pension cost.

A is correct. The company’s inflation estimate rose from 20X2 to 20X3. However,
it lowered its estimate of future salary increases. Normally, salary increases are
positively related to inflation.

B is correct. A higher volatility assumption increases the value of the stock option
and thus the compensation expense, which, in turn, reduces net income. There is
no associated liability for equity-settled stock options.

C is correct. A higher dividend yield reduces the value of the option and thus op-
tion expense. The lower expense results in higher earnings. Higher risk-free rates
and expected lives result in higher call option values.

Cis correct. Net interest expense for a DB plan represents the unwinding of
the discount with the passage of time. The discounted cash flow model values a
company at the present time. Service cost is correctly expensed in the model as
it represents increases in the pension obligation unrelated to the time value of
money.

A is correct. The offsetting entry to share-based compensation expense is to
share-based compensation reserve, an account in equity. Ignoring this results in
an expense which decreases retained earnings without a decrease in an asset or
increase in a liability, thus causing an imbalance.

B is correct. All unvested share-based awards, regardless of the spread between
their grant-date fair value and current market price, are anti-dilutive for a compa-
ny that reported a net loss.

A is correct. Dilution from share-based compensation can be accounted for by
expensing share-based compensation in free cash flow or by increasing the share
count for expected dilution.

B and C are incorrect as they would be accretive, not dilutive, to valuation.

B is correct. A lower effective tax would increase free cash flow to the firm
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(After-tax EBIT + D&A — Capex +/- Change in working capital). Tax windfalls
or excess tax benefits decrease the effective tax rate versus the statutory rate
because they are deductible for tax purposes, but not expensed on the income
statement.
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Technology (USA).

LEARNING OUTCOMES

Mastery

The candidate should be able to:

[
[

[

compare and contrast presentation in (reporting) currency,
functional currency, and local currency

describe foreign currency transaction exposure, including accounting
for and disclosures about foreign currency transaction gains and
losses

analyze how changes in exchange rates affect the translated sales of
the subsidiary and parent company

compare the current rate method and the temporal method, evaluate
how each affects the parent company’s balance sheet and income
statement, and determine which method is appropriate in various
scenarios

calculate the translation effects and evaluate the translation of a
subsidiary’s balance sheet and income statement into the parent
company’s presentation currency

analyze how the current rate method and the temporal method affect
financial statements and ratios

analyze how alternative translation methods for subsidiaries
operating in hyperinflationary economies affect financial statements
and ratios

describe how multinational operations affect a company’s effective
tax rate

explain how changes in the components of sales affect the
sustainability of sales growth

analyze how currency fluctuations potentially affect financial results,
given a company’s countries of operation
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INTRODUCTION

] compare and contrast presentation in (reporting) currency,
functional currency, and local currency

] describe foreign currency transaction exposure, including accounting
for and disclosures about foreign currency transaction gains and
losses

According to the World Trade Organization, merchandise exports worldwide were
nearly US$15 trillion in 2010.1 The amount of worldwide merchandise exports in
2010 was more than twice the amount in 2003 (US$7.4 trillion) and more than four
times the amount in 1993 (US$3.7 trillion). The top five exporting countries in 2010,
in order, were China, the United States, Germany, Japan, and the Netherlands. In the
United States alone, 293,131 companies were identified as exporters in 2010, but only
2.2% of those companies were large (more than 500 employees).> The vast majority of
US companies with export activity were small or medium-sized entities.

The point illustrated by these statistics is that many companies engage in trans-
actions that cross national borders. The parties to these transactions must agree on
the currency in which to settle the transaction. Generally, this will be the currency
of either the buyer or the seller. Exporters that receive payment in foreign currency
and allow the purchaser time to pay must carry a foreign currency receivable on
their books. Conversely, importers that agree to pay in foreign currency will have a
foreign currency account payable. To be able to include them in the total amount of
accounts receivable (payable) reported on the balance sheet, these foreign currency
denominated accounts receivable (payable) must be translated into the currency in
which the exporter (importer) keeps its books and presents financial statements.

The prices at which foreign currencies can be purchased or sold are called foreign
exchange rates. Because foreign exchange rates fluctuate over time, the value of foreign
currency payables and receivables also fluctuates. The major accounting issue related
to foreign currency transactions is how to reflect the changes in value for foreign
currency payables and receivables in the financial statements.

Many companies have operations located in foreign countries. For example, the
Swiss food products company Nestlé SA reports that it has factories in 83 countries
and a presence in almost every country in the world. US-based Procter & Gamble’s
annual filing discloses more than 400 subsidiaries located in more than 80 countries
around the world. Foreign subsidiaries are generally required to keep accounting
records in the currency of the country in which they are located. To prepare consol-
idated financial statements, the parent company must translate the foreign currency
financial statements of its foreign subsidiaries into its own currency. Nestlé, for exam-
ple, must translate the assets and liabilities its various foreign subsidiaries carry in
foreign currency into Swiss francs to be able to consolidate those amounts with the
Swiss franc assets and liabilities located in Switzerland.

A multinational company like Nestlé is likely to have two types of foreign currency
activities that require special accounting treatment. Most multinationals (1) engage
in transactions that are denominated in a foreign currency and (2) invest in foreign
subsidiaries that keep their books in a foreign currency. To prepare consolidated

1 World Trade Organization, International Trade Statistics 2011, Table 14, page 21.
2 US Census Bureau, Department of Commerce. A Profile of US Importing and Exporting Companies,
2009-2010. Released 12 April 2012.
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financial statements, a multinational company must translate the foreign currency
amounts related to both types of international activities into the currency in which
the company presents its financial statements.

This reading presents the accounting for foreign currency transactions and the
translation of foreign currency financial statements. The conceptual issues related to
these accounting topics are discussed, and the specific rules embodied in International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and US GAAP are demonstrated through exam-
ples. Fortunately, differences between IFRS and US GAAP with respect to foreign
currency translation issues are minimal.

Analysts need to understand the effects of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on
the financial statements of a multinational company and how a company’s financial
statements reflect foreign currency gains and losses, whether realized or not.

Foreign Currency Transactions

When companies from different countries agree to conduct business with one another,
they must decide which currency will be used. For example, if a Mexican electronic
components manufacturer agrees to sell goods to a customer in Finland, the two
parties must agree whether the Finnish company will pay for the goods in Mexican
pesos, euro, or perhaps even a third currency such as the US dollar. If the transac-
tion is denominated in Mexican pesos, the Finnish company has a foreign currency
transaction but the Mexican company does not. To account for the inventory being
purchased and the account payable in Mexican pesos, the Finnish company must
translate the Mexican peso amounts into euro using appropriate exchange rates.
Although the Mexican company also has entered into an international transaction
(an export sale), it does not have a foreign currency transaction and no translation is
necessary. It simply records the sales revenue and account receivable in Mexican pesos,
which is the currency in which it keeps its books and prepares financial statements.

The currency in which financial statement amounts are presented is known as the
presentation currency. In most cases, a company’s presentation currency will be the
currency of the country where the company is located. Finnish companies are required
to keep accounting records and present financial results in euro, US companies in US
dollars, Chinese companies in Chinese yuan, and so on.

Another important concept in accounting for foreign currency activities is the
functional currency, which is the currency of the primary economic environment in
which an entity operates. Normally, the functional currency is the currency in which
an entity primarily generates and expends cash. In most cases, an organization’s
functional currency will be the same as its presentation currency. And, because most
companies primarily generate and expend cash in the currency of the country where
they are located, the functional and presentation currencies are most often the same
as the local currency where the company operates.

Because the local currency generally is an entity’s functional currency, a multina-
tional corporation with subsidiaries in a variety of different countries is likely to have
a variety of different functional currencies. The Thai subsidiary of a Japanese parent
company, for example, is likely to have the Thai baht as its functional currency, whereas
the Japanese parent’s functional currency is the Japanese yen. But in some cases, the
foreign subsidiary could have the parent’s functional currency as its own. For example,
prior to its 2011 acquisition of McAfee, Intel Corporation had determined that the
US dollar was the functional currency for all of its significant foreign subsidiaries.
However, subsequent to the acquisition of McAfee, as stated in Intel Corporation’s
2011 Annual Report, Note 1: Basis of Presentation, “Certain of the operations acquired
from McAfee have a functional currency other than the US dollar”
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By definition, for accounting purposes, a foreign currency is any currency other
than a company’s functional currency, and foreign currency transactions are those
denominated in a currency other than the company’s functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions occur when a company (1) makes an import purchase or an
export sale that is denominated in a foreign currency or (2) borrows or lends funds
where the amount to be repaid or received is denominated in a foreign currency. In
each of these cases, the company has an asset or a liability denominated in a foreign
currency.

Foreign Currency Transaction Exposure to Foreign Exchange Risk

Assume that FinnCo, a Finland-based company, imports goods from Mexico in January
under 45-day credit terms, and the purchase is denominated in Mexican pesos. By
deferring payment until April, FinnCo runs the risk that from the date the purchase
is made until the date of payment, the value of the Mexican peso might increase rel-
ative to the euro. FinnCo would then need to spend more euro to settle its Mexican
peso account payable. In this case, FinnCo is said to have an exposure to foreign
exchange risk. Specifically, FinnCo has a foreign currency transaction exposure.
Transaction exposure related to imports and exports can be summarized as follows:

= [mport purchase. A transaction exposure arises when the importer is
obligated to pay in foreign currency and is allowed to defer payment until
sometime after the purchase date. The importer is exposed to the risk that
from the purchase date until the payment date the foreign currency might
increase in value, thereby increasing the amount of functional currency
that must be spent to acquire enough foreign currency to settle the account
payable.

m  Export sale. A transaction exposure arises when the exporter agrees to be
paid in foreign currency and allows payment to be made sometime after the
purchase date. The exporter is exposed to the risk that from the purchase
date until the payment date, the foreign currency might decrease in value,
thereby decreasing the amount of functional currency into which the foreign
currency can be converted when it is received.

The major issue in accounting for foreign currency transactions is how to account
for the foreign currency risk—that is, how to reflect in the financial statements the
change in value of the foreign currency asset or liability. Both IFRS and US GAAP
require the change in the value of the foreign currency asset or liability resulting
from a foreign currency transaction to be treated as a gain or loss reported on the
income statement.3

Accounting for Foreign Currency Transactions with Settlement before Balance Sheet
Date

Example 1 demonstrates FinnCo’s accounting, assuming that it purchased goods
on account from a Mexican supplier that required payment in Mexican pesos, and
that it made payment before the balance sheet date. The basic principle is that all
transactions are recorded at the spot rate on the date of the transaction. The foreign
currency risk on transactions, therefore, arises only when the transaction date and
the payment date are different.

3 International standards are presented in International Accounting Standard (IAS) 21, “The Effects of
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates,” and US GAAP standards are presented in FASB ASC Topic 830,
“Foreign Currency Matters.”
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EXAMPLE 1

Accounting for Foreign Currency Transactions with
Settlement before the Balance Sheet Date

1.

FinnCo purchases goods from its Mexican supplier on 1 November 20X1;
the purchase price is 100,000 Mexican pesos. Credit terms allow payment
in 45 days, and FinnCo makes payment of 100,000 pesos on 15 Decem-
ber 20X1. FinnCo’s functional and presentation currency is the euro. Spot
exchange rates between the euro (EUR) and Mexican peso (MXN) are as
follows:

1 November 20X1 MXNI1 = EUR0.0684
15 December 20X1 MXN1 = EUR0.0703

FinnCo’s fiscal year end is 31 December. How will FinnCo account for this
foreign currency transaction, and what effect will it have on the 20X1 finan-
cial statements?

Solution:

The euro value of the Mexican peso account payable on 1 November 20X1
was EUR6,840 (MXN100,000 x EUR0.0684). FinnCo could have paid for its
inventory on 1 November by converting 6,840 euro into 100,000 Mexican
pesos. Instead, the company purchases 100,000 Mexican pesos on 15 De-
cember 20X1, when the value of the peso has increased to EUR0.0703. Thus,
FinnCo pays 7,030 euro to purchase 100,000 Mexican pesos. The net result
is a loss of 190 euro (EUR7,030 — EUR6,840).

Although the cash outflow to acquire the inventory is EUR7,030, the cost
included in the inventory account is only EUR6,840. This cost represents the
amount that FinnCo could have paid if it had not waited 45 days to settle its
account. By deferring payment, and because the Mexican peso increased in
value between the transaction date and settlement date, FinnCo has to pay
an additional 190 euro. The company will report a foreign exchange loss of
EUR190 in its net income in 20X1. This is a realized loss because FinnCo ac-
tually spent an additional 190 euro to purchase its inventory. The net effect
on the financial statements, in EUR, can be seen as follows:

119

Balance Sheet

Income Statement

Stockholders’ Revenues and
Assets = Liabilities + Equity Gains

Expenses and

Cash

-7,030 Retained

Inventory +6,840 earnings -190

-190

exchange loss

-190

Accounting for Foreign Currency Transactions with Intervening Balance Sheet Dates
Another important issue related to the accounting for foreign currency transactions
is what, if anything, should be done if a balance sheet date falls between the initial
transaction date and the settlement date. For foreign currency transactions whose
settlement dates fall in subsequent accounting periods, both IFRS and US GAAP
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require adjustments to reflect intervening changes in currency exchange rates. Foreign
currency transaction gains and losses are reported on the income statement, creating
one of the few situations in which accounting rules allow, indeed require, companies
to include (recognize) a gain or loss in income before it has been realized.
Subsequent foreign currency transaction gains and losses are recognized from the
balance sheet date through the date the transaction is settled. Adding together foreign
currency transaction gains and losses for both accounting periods (transaction initiation
to balance sheet date and balance sheet date to transaction settlement) produces an
amount equal to the actual realized gain or loss on the foreign currency transaction.

EXAMPLE 2

Accounting for Foreign Currency Transaction with
Intervening Balance Sheet Date

1. FinnCo sells goods to a customer in the United Kingdom for £10,000 on 15
November 20X1, with payment to be received in British pounds on 15 Jan-
uary 20X2. FinnCo’s functional and presentation currency is the euro. Spot
exchange rates between the euro (€) and British pound (£) are as follows:

15 November 20X1 £1 = €1.460
31 December 20X1 £1 = €1.480
15 January 20X2 £1 = €1.475

FinnCo’s fiscal year end is 31 December. How will FinnCo account for this
foreign currency transaction, and what effect will it have on the 20X1 and
20X2 financial statements?

Solution:

The euro value of the British pound account receivable at each of the three
relevant dates is determined as follows:

Account Receivable (£10,000)

Date €/£ Exchange Rate Euro Value Change in Euro Value
15 Nov 20X1 €1.460 14,600 N/A
31 Dec 20X1 €1.480 14,800 + 200
15 Jan 20X2 €1.475 14,750 -50

A change in the euro value of the British pound receivable from 15 Novem-
ber to 31 December would be recognized as a foreign currency transaction
gain or loss on FinnCo’s 20X1 income statement. In this case, the increase in
the value of the British pound results in a transaction gain of €200 [£10,000
x (€1.48 — €1.46)]. Note that the gain recognized in 20X1 income is unre-
alized, and remember that this is one of few situations in which companies
include an unrealized gain in income.

Any change in the exchange rate between the euro and British pound that
occurs from the balance sheet date (31 December 20X1) to the transaction
settlement date (15 January 20X2) will also result in a foreign currency
transaction gain or loss. In our example, the British pound weakened slightly
against the euro during this period, resulting in an exchange rate of €1.475/
£1 on 15 January 20X2. The £10,000 account receivable now has a value of
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€14,750, which is a decrease of €50 from 31 December 20X1. FinnCo will
recognize a foreign currency transaction loss on 15 January 20X2 of €50
that will be included in the company’s calculation of net income for the first
quarter of 20X2.

From the transaction date to the settlement date, the British pound has
increased in value by €0.015 (€1.475 — €1.460), which generates a realized
foreign currency transaction gain of €150. A gain of €200 was recognized in
20X1 and a loss of €50 is recognized in 20X2. Over the two-month period,
the net gain recognized in the financial statements is equal to the actual
realized gain on the foreign currency transaction.

In Example 2, FinnCo’s British pound account receivable resulted in a net foreign
currency transaction gain because the British pound strengthened (increased) in value
between the transaction date and the settlement date. In this case, FinnCo has an asset
exposure to foreign exchange risk. This asset exposure benefited the company because
the foreign currency strengthened. If FinnCo instead had a British pound account
payable, a liability exposure would have existed. The euro value of the British pound
account payable would have increased as the British pound strengthened, and FinnCo
would have recognized a foreign currency transaction loss as a result.

Whether a change in exchange rate results in a foreign currency transaction gain
or loss (measured in local currency) depends on (1) the nature of the exposure to
foreign exchange risk (asset or liability) and (2) the direction of change in the value
of the foreign currency (strengthens or weakens).

Foreign Currency

Transaction Type of Exposure Strengthens Weakens
Export sale Asset (account receivable) Gain Loss
Import purchase Liability (account payable) Loss Gain

A foreign currency receivable arising from an export sale creates an asset exposure to
foreign exchange risk. If the foreign currency strengthens, the receivable increases in
value in terms of the company’s functional currency and a foreign currency transaction
gain arises. The company will be able to convert the foreign currency when received
into more units of functional currency because the foreign currency has strengthened.
Conversely, if the foreign currency weakens, the foreign currency receivable loses
value in terms of the functional currency and a loss results.

A foreign currency payable resulting from an import purchase creates a liability
exposure to foreign exchange risk. If the foreign currency strengthens, the payable
increases in value in terms of the company’s functional currency and a foreign cur-
rency transaction loss arises. The company must spend more units of functional cur-
rency to be able to settle the foreign currency liability because the foreign currency
has strengthened. Conversely, if the foreign currency weakens, the foreign currency
payable loses value in terms of the functional currency and a gain exists.

Analytical Issues

Both IFRS and US GAAP require foreign currency transaction gains and losses to
be reported in net income (even if the gains and losses have not yet been realized),
but neither standard indicates where on the income statement these gains and losses
should be placed. The two most common treatments are either (1) as a component
of other operating income/expense or (2) as a component of non-operating income/
expense, in some cases as a part of net financing cost. The calculation of operating
profit margin is affected by where foreign currency transaction gains or losses are
placed on the income statement.
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EXAMPLE 3

Placement of Foreign Currency Transaction Gains/Losses
on the Income Statement—Effect on Operating Profit

1. Assume that FinnCo had the following income statement information in
both 20X1 and 20X2, excluding a foreign currency transaction gain of €200
in 20X1 and a transaction loss of €50 in 20X2.

20X1 20X2
Revenues €20,000 €20,000
Cost of goods sold 12,000 12,000
Other operating expenses, net 5,000 5,000
Non-operating expenses, net 1,200 1,200

FinnCo is deciding between two alternatives for the treatment of foreign
currency transaction gains and losses. Alternative 1 calls for the reporting
of foreign currency transaction gains/losses as part of “Other operating
expenses, net” Under Alternative 2, the company would report this informa-
tion as part of “Non-operating expenses, net”

FinnCo’s fiscal year end is 31 December. How will Alternatives 1 and 2 affect
the company’s gross profit margin, operating profit margin, and net profit
margin for 20X1? For 20X2?

Solution:

Remember that a gain would serve to reduce expenses, whereas a loss would
increase expenses.

20X1—Transaction Gain of €200

Alternative 1 Alternative 2
Revenues €20,000 €20,000
Cost of goods sold (12,000) (12,000)
Gross profit 8,000 8,000
Other operating expenses, net (4,800) incl. gain (5,000)
Operating profit 3,200 3,000
Non-operating expenses, net (1,200) (1,000) incl. gain
Net profit €2,000 €2,000

Profit margins in 20X1 under the two alternatives can be calculated as
follows:
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Alternative 1 Alternative 2
Gross profit margin €8,000/€20,000 = 40.0% €8,000/€20,000 = 40.0%
Operating profit 3,200/20,000 = 16.0% 3,000/20,000 = 15.0%
margin
Net profit margin 2,000/20,000 = 10.0% 2,000/20,000 = 10.0%

20X2—Transaction Loss of €50
Alternative 1 Alternative 2

Revenues €20,000 €20,000
Cost of goods sold (12,000) (12,000)
Gross profit 8,000 8,000
Other operating expenses, net (5,050) incl. loss (5,000)
Operating profit 2,950 3,000
Non-operating expenses, net (1,200) (1,250) incl. loss
Net profit €1,750 €1,750

Profit margins in 20X2 under the two alternatives can be calculated as

follows:
Alternative 1 Alternative 2
Gross profit margin €8,000/€20,000 = 40.0% €8,000/€20,000 = 40.0%
Operating profit 2,950/20,000 = 14.75% 3,000/20,000 = 15.0%
margin
Net profit margin 1,750/20,000 = 8.75% 1,750/20,000 = 8.75%

Gross profit and net profit are unaffected, but operating profit differs under
the two alternatives. In 20X1, the operating profit margin is larger under
Alternative 1, which includes the transaction gain as part of “Other oper-
ating expenses, net” In 20X2, Alternative 1 results in a smaller operating
profit margin than Alternative 2. Alternative 2 has the same operating profit
margin in both periods. Because exchange rates do not fluctuate by the same
amount or in the same direction from one accounting period to the next,
Alternative 1 will cause greater volatility in operating profit and operating
profit margin over time.

Because accounting standards do not provide guidance on the placement of foreign
currency transaction gains and losses on the income statement, companies are free
to choose among the alternatives. Two companies in the same industry could choose
different alternatives, which would distort the direct comparison of operating profit
and operating profit margins between those companies.

A second issue that should be of interest to analysts relates to the fact that unre-
alized foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in net income when
the balance sheet date falls between the transaction and settlement dates. The implicit
assumption underlying this accounting requirement is that the unrealized gain or loss
as of the balance sheet date reflects the company’s ultimate net gain or loss. In reality,
though, the ultimate net gain or loss may vary dramatically because of the possibility
for changes in trend and volatility of currency prices.

This effect was seen in the previous hypothetical Example 2 with FinnCo. Using
given currency exchange rate data shows that the real-world effect can also be quite
dramatic. Assume that a French company purchased goods from a Canadian supplier
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on 1 December 20X1, with payment of 100,000 Canadian dollars (C$) to be made on
15 May 20X2. Actual exchange rates between the Canadian dollar and euro (€) during
the period 1 December 20X1 and 15 May 20X2, the euro value of the Canadian dollar
account payable, and the foreign currency transaction gain or loss are shown below:

Account Payable (C$100,000)

€/C$ € Value Change in € Value (Gain/Loss)
1 Dec X1 0.7285 72,850 N/A
31 Dec X1 0.7571 75,710 2,860 loss
31 Mar X2 0.7517 75,170 540 gain
15 May X2 0.7753 77,530 2,360 loss

As the Canadian dollar strengthened against the euro in late 20X1, the French com-
pany would have recorded a foreign currency transaction loss of €2,860 in the fourth
quarter of 20X1. The Canadian dollar reversed course by weakening over the first
three months of 20X2, resulting in a transaction gain of €540 in the first quarter,
and then strengthened against the euro in the second quarter of 20X2, resulting in a
transaction loss of €2,360. At the time payment is made on 15 May 20X2, the French
company realizes a net foreign currency transaction loss of €4,680 (€77,530 — €72,850).

DISCLOSURES RELATED TO FOREIGN CURRENCY
TRANSACTION GAINS AND LOSSES

] describe foreign currency transaction exposure, including accounting
for and disclosures about foreign currency transaction gains and
losses

Because accounting rules allow companies to choose where they present foreign cur-
rency transaction gains and losses on the income statement, it is useful for companies
to disclose both the amount of transaction gain or loss that is included in income and
the presentation alternative they have selected. IFRS require disclosure of “the amount
of exchange differences recognized in profit or loss,” and US GAAP require disclosure
of “the aggregate transaction gain or loss included in determining net income for the
period,” but neither standard specifically requires disclosure of the line item in which
these gains and losses are located.

Exhibit 1 provides disclosures from BASF AG’s 2011 annual report that the German
company made related to foreign currency transaction gains and losses. Exhibit 2 pres-
ents similar disclosures found in the Netherlands-based Heineken NV’s 2011 Annual
Report. Both companies use IFRS to prepare their consolidated financial statements.

BASF’s income statement in Exhibit 1 does not include a separate line item for
foreign currency gains and losses. From Note 6 in Exhibit 1, an analyst can determine
that BASF has chosen to include “Income from foreign currency and hedging trans-
actions” in “Other operating income.” Of the total amount of €2,008 million reported
as “Other operating income” in 2011, €170 million is attributable to foreign currency
and hedging transaction income. It is not possible to determine from BASF’s financial
statements whether or not these gains were realized in 2011, and any unrealized gain
reported in 2011 income might or might not be realized in 2012.
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Note 7 in Exhibit 1 indicates that “Expenses from foreign currency and hedging
transactions as well as market valuation” in 2011 were €399 million, making up 15% of
Other operating expenses. Combining foreign currency transaction gains and losses
results in a net loss of €229 million, which is equal to 2.55% of BASF’s “Income before
taxes and minority interests.”

Exhibit 1: Excerpts from BASF AG’s 2011 Annual Report Related to Foreign

Currency Transactions
Consolidated Statements of Income Explanation
Million € in Notes 2011 2010
Sales (4) 73,497 63,873
Cost of sales (53,986) (45,310)
Gross profit on sales 19,511 18,563
Selling expenses (7,323) (6,700)
General and administrative expenses (1,315) (1,138)
Research and development expenses (1,605) (1,492)
Other operating income (6) 2,008 1,140
Other operating expenses (7) (2,690) (2,612)
Income from operations (4) 8,586 7,761
(detail omitted)
Financial result (8) 384 (388)
Income before taxes and minority
interests 8,970 7,373
Income taxes 9) (2,367) (2,299)
Income before minority interests 6,603 5,074
Minority interests (10) (415) (517)
Net income 6,188 4,557
Notes:

1. Summary of Accounting Policies

Foreign currency transactions: The cost of assets acquired in foreign cur-
rencies and revenues from sales in foreign currencies are recorded at the
exchange rate on the date of the transaction. Foreign currency receivables
and liabilities are valued at the exchange rates on the balance sheet date.

2. Other Operating Income

Million € 2011 2010
Reversal and adjustment of provisions 170 244
Revenue from miscellaneous revenue-generating activities 207 142
Income from foreign currency and hedging transactions 170 136
Income from the translation of financial statements in foreign currencies 42 76
Gains on the disposal of property, plant and equipment and divestitures 666 101
Reversals of impairments of property, plant and equipment — 40
Gains on the reversal of allowance for doubtful business-related receivables 77 36
Other __676 __365

2,008 1,140

Income from foreign currency and hedging transactions concerned foreign currency transactions, the mea-
surement at fair value of receivables and payables in foreign currencies, as well as currency derivatives
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and other hedging transactions.

3. Other Operating Expenses

Million € 2011 2010

Restructuring measures 233 276

Environmental protection and safety measures, costs of demolition
and removal, and planning expenses related to capital

expenditures that are not subject to mandatory capitalization 203 98
Valuation adjustments on tangible and intangible assets 366 247
Costs from miscellaneous revenue-generating activities 220 180
Expenses from foreign currency and hedging transactions as

well as market valuation 399 601
Losses from the translation of the financial statements in

foreign currencies 56 63
Losses from the disposal of property, plant and equipment

and divestitures 40 24
Oil and gas exploration expenses 184 190
Expenses from additions to allowances for business-related

receivables 124 107
Expenses from the use of inventories measured at market value

and the derecognition of obsolete inventory 233 188
Other 632 638

2,690 2,612

Expenses from foreign currency and hedging transactions as well as market valuation concern foreign cur-
rency translations of receivables and payables as well as changes in the fair value of currency derivatives
and other hedging transactions.

In Exhibit 2, Heineken’s Note 2, Basis of Preparation, part (c) explicitly states that
the euro is the company’s functional currency. Note 3(b)(i) indicates that monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are
translated to the functional currency and that foreign currency differences arising on
the translation (i.e., translation gains and losses) are recognized on the income state-
ment. Note 3(r) discloses that foreign currency gains and losses are included on a net
basis in the other net finance income and expenses. Note 12, “Net finance income and
expense,” shows that a net foreign exchange loss of €107 million existed in 2011 and
a net gain of €61 million arose in 2010. The net foreign currency transaction gain in
2010 amounted to 3.1% of Heineken’s profit before income tax that year, and the net
translation loss in 2011 represented 5.3% of the company’s profit before income tax
in that year. Note 12 also shows gains and losses related to changes in the fair value
of derivatives, some of which related to foreign currency derivatives.

Exhibit 2: Excerpts from Heineken NV’s 2011 Annual Report Related to

Foreign Currency Transactions

Consolidated Income Statement for the

Year Ended 31 December in Millions of EUR  Note 2011 2010
Revenue 5 17,123 16,133
Other income 8 64 239

O

Raw materials, consumables, and services (10,966) (10,291)
Personnel expenses 10 (2,838) (2,665)

Amortisation, depreciation, and impairments 11 (1,168) (1,118)
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Consolidated Income Statement for the

Year Ended 31 December in Millions of EUR  Note 2011 2010

Total expenses (14,972) (14,074)
Results from operating activities 2,215 2,298
Interest income 12 70 100
Interest expenses 12 (494) (590)
Other net finance income/(expenses) 12 (6) (19)
Net finance expenses (430) (509)

Share of profit of associates and joint
ventures and impairments thereof (net of

income tax) 16 240 193
Profit before income tax 2,025 1,982
Income tax expenses 13 (465) (403)
Profit 1,560 1,579
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company (net profit) 1,430 1,447
Minority interest 130 132
Profit 1,560 1,579
Notes:

4. Basis of preparation
a. Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in euro, which is
the Company’s functional currency. All financial information presented
in euro has been rounded to the nearest million unless stated otherwise.

5. Significant accounting policies
a. Foreign currency
i.  Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective
functional currencies of Heineken entities at the exchange rates at
the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denom-
inated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to
the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. . . . Foreign
currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit
or loss, except for differences arising on the retranslation of avail-
able-for-sale (equity) investments and foreign currency differences
arising on the retranslation of a financial liability designated as a
hedge of a net investment, which are recognised in other comprehen-
sive income.*
b. Interest income, interest expenses and other net finance income and
expenses

4 Note that this excerpt uses “retranslation” in the same way that “translation” is used throughout the rest
of this reading. The translation of currency for foreign subsidiaries will be covered in the next section.
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...Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis in the other
net finance income and expenses.

6. Net finance income and expense

Recognised in profit or loss

In millions of EUR 2011 2010
Interest income 70 100
Interest expenses (494) (590)

Dividend income on available-for-sale investments 2 1

Dividend income on investments held for trading 11 7

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of available-for-sale investments 1 —

Net change in fair value of derivatives 96 (75)

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) (107) 61

Impairment losses on available-for-sale investments — (3)

Unwinding discount on provisions (7) 7)

Other net financial income/(expenses) 2) (3)
Other net finance income/(expenses) (6) (19)
Net finance income/(expenses) (430) (509)

Disclosures related to foreign currency are commonly found both in the Management
Discussion & Analysis (MD&A) and the Notes to Financial Statements sections of an
annual report. In applying US GAAP to account for its foreign currency transactions,
Yahoo! Inc. reported the following in the Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
about Market Risk section of its 2011 annual report:

Our exposure to foreign currency transaction gains and losses is the result
of assets and liabilities, (including inter-company transactions) that are
denominated in currencies other than the relevant entity’s functional cur-
rency.... We may enter into derivative instruments, such as foreign currency
forward contracts or other instruments to minimize the short-term foreign
currency fluctuations on such assets and liabilities. The gains and losses
on the forward contracts may not offset any or more than a portion of the
transaction gains and losses on certain foreign currency receivables, invest-
ments and payables recognized in earnings. Transaction gains and losses
on these foreign exchange contracts are recognized each period in other
income, net included on the consolidated statements of income. During the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, we recorded net realized
and unrealized foreign currency transaction gains of $9 million and $13
million, and a transaction loss of $1 million, respectively.

Yahoo!s disclosure clearly explains that both realized and unrealized foreign
currency transaction gains and losses are reflected in income, specifically as a part of
non-operating activities. The net foreign currency transaction gain in 2011 of $9 million
represented only 1.1% of the company’s pretax income ($827.5 million) for the year.

Some companies may choose not to disclose either the location or the amount of
their foreign currency transaction gains and losses, presumably because the amounts
involved are immaterial. There are several reasons why the amount of transaction
gains and losses can be immaterial for a company:

1. The company engages in a limited number of foreign currency transactions
that involve relatively small amounts of foreign currency.

2. The exchange rates between the company’s functional currency and the for-
eign currencies in which it has transactions tend to be relatively stable.
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3. Gains on some foreign currency transactions are naturally offset by losses
on other transactions, such that the net gain or loss is immaterial. For exam-
ple, if a US company sells goods to a customer in Canada with payment in
Canadian dollars to be received in 90 days and at the same time purchases
goods from a supplier in Canada with payment to be made in Canadian
dollars in 90 days, any loss that arises on the Canadian dollar receivable due
to a weakening in the value of the Canadian dollar will be exactly offset by a
gain of equal amount on the Canadian dollar payable.

4. 'The company engages in foreign currency hedging activities to offset the
foreign exchange gains and losses that arise from foreign currency transac-
tions. Hedging foreign exchange risk is a common practice for many compa-
nies engaged in foreign currency transactions.

The two most common types of hedging instruments used to minimize foreign
exchange transaction risk are foreign currency forward contracts and foreign currency
options. Nokia Corporation describes its foreign exchange risk management approach
in its 2011 Form 20-F annual report in Note 34, Risk Management. An excerpt from
that note follows:

Nokia operates globally and is thus exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from various currencies. Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities
together with foreign currency denominated cash flows from highly probable
or probable purchases and sales contribute to foreign exchange exposure.
These transaction exposures are managed against various local currencies
because of Nokia’s substantial production and sales outside the Euro zone.

According to the foreign exchange policy guidelines of the Group, which
remains the same as in the previous year, material transaction foreign
exchange exposures are hedged unless hedging would be uneconomical
due to market liquidity and/or hedging cost. Exposures are defined using
nominal values of the transactions. Exposures are mainly hedged with
derivative financial instruments such as forward foreign exchange con-
tracts and foreign exchange options. The majority of financial instruments
hedging foreign exchange risk have duration of less than a year. The Group
does not hedge forecasted foreign currency cash flows beyond two years.

Elsewhere in its annual report, Nokia provides additional disclosures about the
currencies to which it has exposure and the accounting for different types of hedges.
The company also summarizes the effect of material exchange rate movements. For
example, the 4.2% appreciation of the US dollar in 2011 had a positive effect on
net sales expressed in euro (40% of Nokia’s net sales are in US dollars or currencies
closely following the US dollar) and a negative effect on product cost (60% of Nokia’s
components are sourced in US dollars); this resulted in a slightly negative effect on
operating profit.

TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCY FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

] analyze how changes in exchange rates affect the translated sales of
the subsidiary and parent company

129



130

Learning Module 3

© CFA Institute. For candidate use only. Not for distribution.
Multinational Operations

Many companies have operations in foreign countries. Most operations located in
foreign countries keep their accounting records and prepare financial statements in
the local currency. For example, the US subsidiary of German automaker BMW AG
keeps its books in US dollars. IFRS and US GAAP require parent companies to pre-
pare consolidated financial statements in which the assets, liabilities, revenues, and
expenses of both domestic and foreign subsidiaries are added to those of the parent
company. To prepare worldwide consolidated statements, parent companies must
translate the foreign currency financial statements of their foreign subsidiaries into
the parent company’s presentation currency. BMW AG, for example, must translate
both the US dollar financial statements of its US subsidiary and the South African
rand financial statements of its South African subsidiary into euro to consolidate these
foreign operations. If, for example, the US dollar and South African rand appreciate
against the euro over the course of a given year, the amount of sales translated into
euro will be greater than if the subsidiary’s currencies weaken against the euro.

IFRS and US GAAP have similar rules for the translation of foreign currency finan-
cial statements. To fully understand the results from applying these rules, however,
several conceptual issues must first be examined.

Translation Conceptual Issues

In translating foreign currency financial statements into the parent company’s pre-
sentation currency, two questions must be addressed:

1. What is the appropriate exchange rate to use in translating each financial
statement item?

2. How should the translation adjustment that inherently arises from the trans-
lation process be reflected in the consolidated financial statements? In other
words, how is the balance sheet brought back into balance?

These issues and the basic concepts underlying the translation of financial state-
ments are demonstrated through the following example.

Spanco is a hypothetical Spain-based company that uses the euro as its presenta-
tion currency. Spanco establishes a wholly owned subsidiary, Amerco, in the United
States on 31 December 20X1 by investing €10,000 when the exchange rate between
the euro and the US dollar is €1 = US$1. The equity investment of €10,000 is phys-
ically converted into US$10,000 to begin operations. In addition, Amerco borrows
US$5,000 from local banks on 31 December 20X1. Amerco purchases inventory that
costs US$12,000 on 31 December 20X1 and retains US$3,000 in cash. Amerco’s bal-
ance sheet at 31 December 20X1 thus appears as follows:

Amerco Balance Sheet, 31 December 20X1 (in US Dollars)

Cash $3,000 Notes payable $5,000
Inventory 12,000 Common stock 10,000
Total $15,000 Total $15,000

To prepare a consolidated balance sheet in euro as of 31 December 20X1, Spanco
must translate all of the US dollar balances on Amerco’s balance sheet at the €1 =
US$1 exchange rate. The translation worksheet as of 31 December 20X1 is as follows:

Translation Worksheet for Amerco, 31 December 20X1

usD Exchange Rate (€) EUR
Cash $3,000 1.00 €3,000
Inventory 12,000 1.00 12,000

Total $15,000 €15,000
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Translation Worksheet for Amerco, 31 December 20X1

usD Exchange Rate (€) EUR
Notes payable 5,000 1.00 5,000
Common stock 10,000 1.00 10,000
Total $15,000 €15,000

By translating each US dollar balance at the same exchange rate (€1.00), Amerco’s
translated balance sheet in euro reflects an equal amount of total assets and total
liabilities plus equity and remains in balance.

During the first quarter of 20X2, Amerco engages in no transactions. During that
period, however, the US dollar weakens against the euro such that the exchange rate
on 31 March 20X2 is €0.80 = US$1.

To prepare a consolidated balance sheet at the end of the first quarter of 20X2,
Spanco now must choose between the current exchange rate of €0.80 and the historical
exchange rate of €1.00 to translate Amerco’s balance sheet amounts into euro. The
original investment made by Spanco of €10,000 is a historical fact, so the company
wants to translate Amerco’s common stock in such a way that it continues to reflect
this amount. This goal is achieved by translating common stock of US$10,000 into
euro using the historical exchange rate of €1 = US$1.

Two approaches for translating the foreign subsidiary’s assets and liabilities are
as follows:

1. All assets and liabilities are translated at the current exchange rate (the
spot exchange rate on the balance sheet date).

2. Only monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the current exchange
rate; non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at historical
exchange rates (the exchange rates that existed when the assets and liabili-
ties were acquired). Monetary items are cash and receivables (payables) that
are to be received (paid) in a fixed number of currency units. Non-monetary
assets include inventory, fixed assets, and intangibles, and non-monetary
liabilities include deferred revenue.

These two different approaches are demonstrated and the results analyzed in turn.

All Assets and Liabilities Are Translated at the Current Exchange Rate

The translation worksheet on 31 March 20X2, in which all assets and liabilities are
translated at the current exchange rate (€0.80), is as follows:

Translation Worksheet for Amerco, 31 March 20X2

Change in Euro

Exchange Value since 31 Dec
US Dollar Rate (€) Euro 20X1

Cash $3,000 0.80 C €2,400 —-€600
Inventory 12,000 0.80 C 9,600 -2,400
Total $15,000 €12,000 —€3,000
Notes payable 5,000 0.80 C 4,000 -1,000
Common stock 10,000 1.00 H 10,000 0
Subtotal $15,000 14,000 -1,000
Translation

adjustment (2,000) -2,000

Total €12,000 -€3,000
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Note: C = current exchange rate; H = historical exchange rate

By translating all assets at the lower current exchange rate, total assets are written
down from 31 December 20X1 to 31 March 20X2 in terms of their euro value by
€3,000. Liabilities are written down by €1,000. To keep the euro translated balance
sheet in balance, a negative translation adjustment of €2,000 is created and included
in stockholders’ equity on the consolidated balance sheet.

Those foreign currency balance sheet accounts that are translated using the current
exchange rate are revalued in terms of the parent’s functional currency. This process is
very similar to the revaluation of foreign currency receivables and payables related to
foreign currency transactions. The net translation adjustment that results from trans-
lating individual assets and liabilities at the current exchange rate can be viewed as the
net foreign currency translation gain or loss caused by a change in the exchange rate:

(€600) loss on cash
(€2,400) loss on inventory
€1,000 gain on notes payable
(€2,000) net translation loss

The negative translation adjustment (net translation loss) does not result in a cash
outflow of €2,000 for Spanco and thus is unrealized. The loss could be realized, how-
ever, if Spanco were to sell Amerco at its book value of US$10,000. The proceeds from
the sale would be converted into euro at €0.80 per US$1, resulting in a cash inflow
of €8,000. Because Spanco originally invested €10,000 in its US operation, a realized
loss of €2,000 would result.

The second conceptual issue related to the translation of foreign currency financial
statements is whether the unrealized net translation loss should be included in the
determination of consolidated net income currently or deferred in the stockholders’
equity section of the consolidated balance sheet until the loss is realized through sale
of the foreign subsidiary. There is some debate as to which of these two treatments is
most appropriate. This issue is discussed in more detail after considering the second
approach for translating assets and liabilities.

Only Monetary Assets and Monetary Liabilities Are Translated at the Current Exchange
Rate

Now assume only monetary assets and monetary liabilities are translated at the current
exchange rate. The worksheet at 31 March 20X2, in which only monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at the current exchange rate (€0.80), is as follows:

Translation Worksheet for Amerco, 31 March 20X2

Exchange Change in Euro Value
US Dollar Rate (€) Euro since 31 Dec 20X1

Cash $3,000 0.80 C €2,400 —-€600
Inventory 12,000 1.00 H 12,000 0
Total $15,000 €14,400 -€600
Notes payable 5,000 0.80 C 4,000 -1,000
Common stock 10,000 1.00 H 10,000 0
Subtotal $15,000 14,000 -1,000
Translation

adjustment 400 400
Total €14,400 -€600

Note: C = current exchange rate; H = historical exchange rate
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Using this approach, cash is written down by €600 but inventory continues to be car-
ried at its euro historical cost of €12,000. Notes payable is written down by €1,000. To
keep the balance sheet in balance, a positive translation adjustment of €400 must be
included in stockholders’ equity. The translation adjustment reflects the net translation
gain or loss related to monetary items only:

(€600) loss on cash
€1,000 gain on notes payable
€400 net translation gain

The positive translation adjustment (net translation gain) also is unrealized. The gain
could be realized, however, if:

1. The subsidiary uses its cash (US$3,000) to pay as much of its liabilities as
possible, and

2. The parent sends enough euro to the subsidiary to pay its remaining liabil-
ities (US$5,000 — US$3,000 = US$2,000). As of 31 December 20X1, at the
€1.00 per US$1 exchange rate, Spanco will have sent €2,000 to Amerco to
pay liabilities of US$2,000. On 31 March 20X2, given the €0.80 per US$1
exchange rate, the parent needs to send only €1,600 to pay US$2,000 of lia-
bilities. As a result, Spanco would enjoy a foreign exchange gain of €400.

The second conceptual issue again arises under this approach. Should the unrealized
foreign exchange gain be recognized in current period net income or deferred on the
balance sheet as a separate component of stockholders’ equity? The answer to this
question, as provided by IFRS and US GAAD, is described in Section 3, Translation
Methods.

Balance Sheet Exposure

Those assets and liabilities translated at the current exchange rate are revalued from
balance sheet to balance sheet in terms of the parent company’s presentation currency.
These items are said to be exposed to translation adjustment. Balance sheet items
translated at historical exchange rates do not change in parent currency value and
therefore are not exposed to translation adjustment. Exposure to translation adjust-
ment is referred to as balance sheet translation exposure, or accounting exposure.

A foreign operation will have a net asset balance sheet exposure when assets
translated at the current exchange rate are greater than liabilities translated at the
current exchange rate. A net liability balance sheet exposure exists when liabilities
translated at the current exchange rate are greater than assets translated at the current
exchange rate. Another way to think about the issue is to realize that there is a net asset
balance sheet exposure when exposed assets are greater than exposed liabilities and a
net liability balance sheet exposure when exposed liabilities are greater than exposed
assets. The sign (positive or negative) of the current period’s translation adjustment
is a function of two factors: (1) the nature of the balance sheet exposure (asset or lia-
bility) and (2) the direction of change in the exchange rate (strengthens or weakens).
The relationship between exchange rate fluctuations, balance sheet exposure, and the
current period’s translation adjustment can be summarized as follows:

Balance Sheet Foreign Currency (FC)
Exposure
Strengthens Weakens
Net asset Positive translation adjustment Negative translation adjustment

Net liability Negative translation adjustment  Positive translation adjustment
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These relationships are the same as those summarized in Section 2 with respect to
foreign currency transaction gains and losses. In reference to the example in Section
3, for instance, the amount of exposed assets (the US$3,000 cash) was less than the
amount of exposed liabilities (US$5,000 of notes payable), implying a net liability
exposure. Further, in the example the foreign currency (US$) weakened, resulting in
a positive translation adjustment.

The combination of balance sheet exposure and direction of exchange rate change
determines whether the current period’s translation adjustment will be positive or
negative. After the initial period of operations, a cumulative translation adjustment is
required to keep the translated balance sheet in balance. The cumulative translation
adjustment will be the sum of the translation adjustments that arise over successive
accounting periods. For example, assume that Spanco translates all of Amerco’s assets
and liabilities using the current exchange rate (a net asset balance sheet exposure
exists), which, because of a weakening US dollar in the first quarter of 20X2, resulted
in a negative translation adjustment of €2,000 on 31 March 20X2 (as shown in Section
3). Assume further that in the second quarter of 20X2, the US dollar strengthens
against the euro and there still is a net asset balance sheet exposure, which results in
a positive translation adjustment of €500 for that quarter. Although the current period
translation adjustment for the second quarter of 20X2 is positive, the cumulative
translation adjustment as of 30 June 20X2 still will be negative, but the amount now
will be only €1,500.

TRANSLATION METHODS

] compare the current rate method and the temporal method, evaluate
how each affects the parent company’s balance sheet and income
statement, and determine which method is appropriate in various
scenarios

The two approaches to translating foreign currency financial statements described in
the previous section are known as (1) the current rate method (all assets and liabilities
are translated at the current exchange rate), and (2) the monetary/non-monetary
method (only monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the current exchange
rate). A variation of the monetary/non-monetary method requires not only monetary
assets and liabilities but also non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at
their current value on the balance sheet date to be translated at the current exchange
rate. This variation of the monetary/non-monetary method sometimes is referred to
as the temporal method.

The basic idea underlying the temporal method is that assets and liabilities should be
translated in such a way that the measurement basis (either current value or historical
cost) in the foreign currency is preserved after translating to the parent’s presentation
currency. To achieve this objective, assets and liabilities carried on the foreign currency
balance sheet at a current value should be translated at the current exchange rate, and
assets and liabilities carried on the foreign currency balance sheet at historical costs
should be translated at historical exchange rates. Although neither the IASB nor the
FASB specifically refer to translation methods by name, the procedures specified by
IFRS and US GAAP for translating foreign currency financial statements essentially
require the use of either the current rate or the temporal method.
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Which method is appropriate for an individual foreign entity depends on that
entity’s functional currency. As noted earlier, the functional currency is the currency
of the primary economic environment in which an entity operates. A foreign enti-
ty’s functional currency can be either the parent’s presentation currency or another
currency, typically the currency of the country in which the foreign entity is located.
Exhibit 3 lists the factors that IFRS indicate should be considered in determining a
foreign entity’s functional currency. Although not identical, US GAAP provide similar
indicators for determining a foreign entity’s functional currency.

When the functional currency indicators listed in Exhibit 3 are mixed and the
functional currency is not obvious, IFRS indicate that management should use its best
judgment in determining the functional currency. In this case, however, indicators 1
and 2 should be given priority over indicators 3 through 9.

Exhibit 3: Factors Considered in Determining the Functional Currency

In accordance with IFRS, the following factors should be considered in deter-
mining an entity’s functional currency:

1. The currency that mainly influences sales prices for goods and
services.

2. The currency of the country whose competitive forces and regulations
mainly determine the sales price of its goods and services.

3. The currency that mainly influences labour, material, and other costs
of providing goods and services.

4. The currency in which funds from financing activities are generated.

The currency in which receipts from operating activities are usually
retained.
Additional factors to consider in determining whether the foreign entity’s
functional currency is the same as the parent’s functional currency are

6. Whether the activities of the foreign operation are an extension of the
parent’s or are carried out with a significant amount of autonomy.

7. Whether transactions with the parent are a large or a small proportion
of the foreign entity’s activities.

8. Whether cash flows generated by the foreign operation directly affect
the cash flow of the parent and are available to be remitted to the
parent.

9. Whether operating cash flows generated by the foreign operation are
sufficient to service existing and normally expected debt or whether
the foreign entity will need funds from the parent to service its debt.

The following three steps outline the functional currency approach required by
accounting standards in translating foreign currency financial statements into the
parent company’s presentation currency:

1. Identify the functional currency of the foreign entity.

2. Translate foreign currency balances into the foreign entity’s functional
currency.

3. Use the current exchange rate to translate the foreign entity’s functional cur-
rency balances into the parent’s presentation currency, if they are different.

To illustrate how this approach is applied, consider a US parent company with a
Mexican subsidiary that keeps its accounting records in Mexican pesos. Assume that
the vast majority of the subsidiary’s transactions are carried out in Mexican pesos, but
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it also has an account payable in Guatemalan quetzals. In applying the three steps,
the US parent company first determines that the Mexican peso is the functional cur-
rency of the Mexican subsidiary. Second, the Mexican subsidiary translates its foreign
currency balances (i.e., the Guatemalan quetzal account payable), into Mexican pesos
using the current exchange rate. In step 3, the Mexican peso financial statements
(including the translated account payable) are translated into US dollars using the
current rate method.

Now assume, alternatively, that the primary operating currency of the Mexican sub-
sidiary is the US dollar, which thus is identified as the Mexican subsidiary’s functional
currency. In that case, in addition to the Guatemalan quetzal account payable, all of
the subsidiary’s accounts that are denominated in Mexican pesos also are considered
to be foreign currency balances (because they are not denominated in the subsidiary’s
functional currency, which is the US dollar). Along with the Guatemalan quetzal bal-
ance, each of the Mexican peso balances must be translated into US dollars as if the
subsidiary kept its books in US dollars. Assets and liabilities carried at current value
in Mexican pesos are translated into US dollars using the current exchange rate, and
assets and liabilities carried at historical cost in Mexican pesos are translated into
US dollars using historical exchange rates. After completing this step, the Mexican
subsidiary’s financial statements are stated in terms of US dollars, which is both the
subsidiary’s functional currency and the parent’s presentation currency. As a result,
there is no need to apply step 3.

The following two sections describe the procedures to be followed in applying the
functional currency approach in more detail.

Foreign Currency Is the Functional Currency

In most cases, a foreign entity will operate primarily in the currency of the country
where it is located, which will differ from the currency in which the parent company
presents its financial statements. For example, the Japanese subsidiary of a French
parent company is likely to have the Japanese yen as its functional currency, whereas
the French parent company must prepare consolidated financial statements in euro.
When a foreign entity has a functional currency that differs from the parent’s presenta-
tion currency, the foreign entity’s foreign currency financial statements are translated
into the parent’s presentation currency using the following procedures:

1. All assets and liabilities are translated at the current exchange rate at the
balance sheet date.

2. Stockholders’ equity accounts are translated at historical exchange rates.

3. Revenues and expenses are translated at the exchange rate that existed
when the transactions took place. For practical reasons, a rate that approxi-
mates the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions, such as an average
exchange rate, may be used.

These procedures essentially describe the current rate method.

When the current rate method is used, the cumulative translation adjustment
needed to keep the translated balance sheet in balance is reported as a separate com-
ponent of stockholders’ equity.

The basic concept underlying the current rate method is that the entire investment
in a foreign entity is exposed to translation gain or loss. Therefore, all assets and all
liabilities must be revalued at each successive balance sheet date. The net translation
gain or loss that results from this procedure is unrealized, however, and will be realized
only when the entity is sold. In the meantime, the unrealized translation gain or loss
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that accumulates over time is deferred on the balance sheet as a separate component of
stockholders’ equity. When a specific foreign entity is sold, the cumulative translation
adjustment related to that entity is reported as a realized gain or loss in net income.

The current rate method results in a net asset balance sheet exposure (except in
the rare case in which an entity has negative stockholders’ equity):

Items Translated at Current Exchange Rate

Total assets > Total liabilities — Net asset balance sheet exposure

When the foreign currency increases in value (i.e., strengthens), application of the
current rate method results in an increase in the positive cumulative translation
adjustment (or a decrease in the negative cumulative translation adjustment) reflected
in stockholders’ equity. When the foreign currency decreases in value (i.e., weakens),
the current rate method results in a decrease in the positive cumulative translation
adjustment (or an increase in the negative cumulative translation adjustment) in
stockholders’ equity.

Parent’s Presentation Currency Is the Functional Currency

In some cases, a foreign entity might have the parent’s presentation currency as its
functional currency. For example, a Germany-based manufacturer might have a
100%-owned distribution subsidiary in Switzerland that primarily uses the euro in
its day-to-day operations and thus has the euro as its functional currency. As a Swiss
company, however, the subsidiary is required to record its transactions and keep its
books in Swiss francs. In that situation, the subsidiary’s Swiss franc financial state-
ments must be translated into euro as if the subsidiary’s transactions had originally
been recorded in euro. US GAAP refer to this process as remeasurement. IFRS do not
refer to this process as remeasurement but instead describe this situation as “reporting
foreign currency transactions in the functional currency” To achieve the objective of
translating to the parent’s presentation currency as if the subsidiary’s transactions had
been recorded in that currency, the following procedures are used:

1.

a. Monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the current exchange
rate.

b. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost are trans-
lated at historical exchange rates.

¢. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at current value are
translated at the exchange rate at the date when the current value was
determined.

2. Stockholders’ equity accounts are translated at historical exchange rates.
3.

a. Revenues and expenses, other than those expenses related to non-mon-
etary assets (as explained in 3.b. below), are translated at the exchange
rate that existed when the transactions took place (for practical reasons,
average rates may be used).

b. Expenses related to non-monetary assets, such as cost of goods sold
(inventory), depreciation (fixed assets), and amortization (intangible
assets), are translated at the exchange rates used to translate the related
assets.
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These procedures essentially describe the temporal method.

Under the temporal method, companies must keep record of the exchange rates
that exist when non-monetary assets (inventory, prepaid expenses, fixed assets, and
intangible assets) are acquired, because these assets (normally measured at historical
cost) are translated at historical exchange rates. Keeping track of the historical exchange
rates for these assets is not necessary under the current rate method. Translating these
assets (and their related expenses) at historical exchange rates complicates application
of the temporal method.

The historical exchange rates used to translate inventory (and cost of goods sold)
under the temporal method will differ depending on the cost flow assumption—first
in, first out (FIFO); last in, first out (LIFO); or average cost—used to account for inven-
tory. Ending inventory reported on the balance sheet is translated at the exchange rate
that existed when the inventory’s acquisition is assumed to have occurred. If FIFO
is used, ending inventory is assumed to be composed of the most recently acquired
items and thus inventory will be translated at relatively recent exchange rates. If LIFO
is used, ending inventory is assumed to consist of older items and thus inventory
will be translated at older exchange rates. The weighted-average exchange rate for
the year is used when inventory is carried at weighted-average cost. Similarly, cost
of goods sold is translated using the exchange rates that existed when the inventory
items assumed to have been sold during the year (using FIFO or LIFO) were acquired.
If weighted-average cost is used to account for inventory, cost of goods sold will be
translated at the weighted-average exchange rate for the year.

Under both international and US accounting standards, when the temporal
method is used, the translation adjustment needed to keep the translated balance
sheet in balance is reported as a gain or loss in net income. US GAAP refer to these as
remeasurement gains and losses. The basic assumption underlying the recognition of
a translation gain or loss in income relates to timing. Specifically, if the foreign entity
primarily uses the parent company’s currency in its day-to-day operations, then the
foreign entity’s monetary items that are denominated in a foreign currency generate
translation gains and losses that will be realized in the near future and thus should
be reflected in current net income.

The temporal method generates either a net asset or a net liability balance sheet
exposure, depending on whether assets translated at the current exchange rate—that
is, monetary assets and non-monetary assets measured on the balance sheet date at
current value (exposed assets)—are greater than or less than liabilities translated at
the current exchange rate—that is, monetary liabilities and non-monetary liabilities
measured on the balance sheet date at current value (exposed liabilities):

Items Translated at Current Exchange Rate
Exposed assets > Exposed liabilities — Net asset balance sheet exposure

Exposed assets < Exposed liabilities — Net liability balance sheet exposure

Most liabilities are monetary liabilities. Only cash and receivables are monetary
assets, and non-monetary assets generally are measured at their historical cost. As
a result, liabilities translated at the current exchange rate (exposed liabilities) often
exceed assets translated at the current exchange rate (exposed assets), which results
in a net liability balance sheet exposure when the temporal method is applied.

Translation of Retained Earnings

Stockholders’ equity accounts are translated at historical exchange rates under both
the current rate and the temporal methods. This approach creates somewhat of a
problem in translating retained earnings (R/E), which are the accumulation of previous
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years’ income less dividends over the life of the company. At the end of the first year
of operations, foreign currency (FC) retained earnings are translated into the parent’s
currency (PC) as follows:

Net income in FC [Translated according to the Net income in PC
method used to translate the

income statement]

- Dividends in FC  x  Exchange rate when dividends = - Dividends in PC
declared

R/E in FC R/E in PC

Retained earnings in parent currency at the end of the first year become the begin-
ning retained earnings in parent currency for the second year, and the translated
retained earnings in the second year (and subsequent years) are then calculated in
the following manner:

Beginning R/E in FC [From last year’s translation] - Beginning R/E in PC

+ Net income in FC [Translated according to = + Net income in PC
method used to translate the
income statement]
- Dividends in FC x  Exchange rate when dividends = — Dividends in PC
declared

Ending R/E in FC Ending R/E in PC

Exhibit 4 summarizes the translation rules as discussed in Section 3.

Exhibit 4: Rules for the Translation of a Foreign Subsidiary’s Foreign

Currency Financial Statements into the Parent’s Presentation Currency
under IFRS and US GAAP

Foreign Subsidiary’s Functional Currency

Parent’s Presentation
Foreign Currency Currency

Translation method: Current Rate Method Temporal Method

Exchange rate at which financial state-
ment items are translated from the for-
eign subsidiary’s bookkeeping currency
to the parent’s presentation currency:

Assets
Monetary, such as cash and receivables Current rate Current rate
Non-monetary
= measured at current value (e.g., Current rate Current rate
marketable securities and inventory
measured at market value under the
lower of cost or market rule)
= measured at historical costs, (e.g., Current rate Historical rates
inventory measured at cost under
the lower of cost or market rule;
property, plant & equipment; and
intangible assets)

Liabilities
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Foreign Subsidiary’s Functional Currency

Foreign Currency

Parent’s Presentation
Currency

Translation method:

Current Rate Method

Temporal Method

Monetary, such as accounts payable,

accrued expenses, long-term debt, and

deferred income taxes
Non-monetary

= measured at current value

= not measured at current value, such

as deferred revenue
Equity
Other than retained earnings

Retained earnings

Revenues
Expenses
Most expenses

Expenses related to assets translated

Current rate

Current rate

Current rate

Historical rates

Beginning balance plus
translated net income
less dividends trans-
lated at historical rate

Average rate

Average rate

Average rate

Current rate

Current rate

Historical rates

Historical rates

Beginning balance plus
translated net income
less dividends translated
at historical rate

Average rate

Average rate

Historical rates

at historical exchange rate, such as
cost of goods sold, depreciation, and
amortization

Treatment of the translation adjust-
ment in the parent’s consolidated
financial statements

Accumulated as a Included as gain or loss
separate component of in net income
equity

Highly Inflationary Economies

When a foreign entity is located in a highly inflationary economy, the entity’s functional
currency is irrelevant in determining how to translate its foreign currency financial
statements into the parent’s presentation currency. IFRS require that the foreign
entity’s financial statements first be restated for local inflation using the procedures
outlined in IAS 29, “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies.” Then, the
inflation-restated foreign currency financial statements are translated into the parent’s
presentation currency using the current exchange rate.

US GAAP require a very different approach for translating the foreign currency
financial statements of foreign entities located in highly inflationary economies. US
GAAP do not allow restatement for inflation but instead require the foreign entity’s
financial statements to be remeasured as if the functional currency were the reporting
currency (i.e., the temporal method).

US GAAP define a highly inflationary economy as one in which the cumulative
three-year inflation rate exceeds 100% (but note that the definition should be applied
with judgment, particularly because the trend of inflation can be as important as the
absolute rate). A cumulative three-year inflation rate of 100% equates to an average
of approximately 26% per year. IAS 21 does not provide a specific definition of high
inflation, but IAS 29 indicates that a cumulative inflation rate approaching or exceeding
100% over three years would be an indicator of hyperinflation. If a country in which
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a foreign entity is located ceases to be classified as highly inflationary, the functional
currency of that entity must be identified to determine the appropriate method for
translating the entity’s financial statements.

The FASB initially proposed that companies restate for inflation and then translate
the financial statements, but this approach met with stiff resistance from US multi-
national corporations. Requiring the temporal method ensures that companies avoid
a “disappearing plant problem” that exists when the current rate method is used in
a country with high inflation. In a highly inflationary economy, as the local currency
loses purchasing power within the country, it also tends to weaken in value in relation
to other currencies. Translating the historical cost of assets such as land and buildings
at progressively weaker exchange rates causes these assets to slowly disappear from
the parent company’s consolidated financial statements. Example 4 demonstrates the
effect of three different translation approaches when books are kept in the currency
of a highly inflationary economy. Example 4 pertains to Turkey in the period 2000 to
2002, when it was recognized as one of the few highly inflationary countries. Turkey is
no longer viewed as having a highly inflationary economy. (In 2010, the International
Practices Task Force of the Center for Audit Quality SEC Regulations Committee indi-
cated that Venezuela had met the thresholds for being considered highly inflationary.)

EXAMPLE 4

Foreign Currency Translation in a Highly Inflationary
Economy

1. Turkey was one of the few remaining highly inflationary countries at the
beginning of the 21st century. Annual inflation rates and selected exchange
rates between the Turkish lira (TL) and US dollar during the 2000—-2002
period were as follows:

Date Exchange Rates Year Inflation Rate (%)
01 Jan 2000 TL542,700 = US$1

31 Dec 2000 TL670,800 = US$1 2000 38

31 Dec 2001 TL1,474,525 = US$1 2001 69

31 Dec 2002 TL1,669,000 = US$1 2002 45

Assume that a US-based company established a subsidiary in Turkey on

1 January 2000. The US parent sent the subsidiary US$1,000 on 1 January
2000 to purchase a piece of land at a cost of TL542,700,000 (TL542,700/
US$ x US$1,000 = TL542,700,000). Assuming no other assets or liabilities,
what are the annual and cumulative translation gains or losses that would be
reported under each of three possible translation approaches?

Solution:

Approach 1: Translate Using the Current Rate Method

The historical cost of the land is translated at the current exchange rate,
which results in a new translated amount at each balance sheet date.
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Annual Cumulative
Current Exchange  Translated Amount Translation Translation
Date Carrying Value Rate in US$ Gain (Loss) Gain (Loss)
01 Jan 2000 TL542,700,000 542,700 $1,000 N/A N/A
31 Dec 2000 542,700,000 670,800 809 ($191) ($191)
31 Dec 2001 542,700,000 1,474,525 368 (441) (632)
31 Dec 2002 542,700,000 1,669,000 325 (43) (675)

At the end of three years, land that was originally purchased with US$1,000
would be reflected on the parent’s consolidated balance sheet at US$325
(and remember that land is not a depreciable asset). A cumulative transla-
tion loss of US$675 would be reported as a separate component of stock-
holders’ equity on 31 December 2002. Because this method accounts for
adjustments in exchange rates but does not account for likely changes in
the local currency values of assets, it does a poor job of accurately reflecting
the economic reality of situations such as the one in our example. That is
the major reason this approach is not acceptable under either IFRS or US
GAAP.

Approach 2: Translate Using the Temporal Method (US GAAP ASC 830)

The historical cost of land is translated using the historical exchange rate,
which results in the same translated amount at each balance sheet date.

Annual Cumulative

Historical Exchange Translated Translation Translation

Date Carrying Value Rate Amount in US$ Gain (Loss) Gain (Loss)
01 Jan 2000 TL542,700,000 542,700 $1,000 N/A N/A
31 Dec 2000 542,700,000 542,700 1,000 N/A N/A
31 Dec 2001 542,700,000 542,700 1,000 N/A N/A
31 Dec 2002 542,700,000 542,700 1,000 N/A N/A

Under this approach, land continues to be reported on the parent’s consol-
idated balance sheet at its original cost of US$1,000 each year. There is no
translation gain or loss related to balance sheet items translated at historical
exchange rates. This approach is required by US GAAP and ensures that
non-monetary assets do not disappear from the translated balance sheet.

Approach 3: Restate for Inflation/Translate Using Current Exchange Rate (IAS
21)

The historical cost of the land is restated for inflation, and then the infla-
tion-adjusted historical cost is translated using the current exchange rate.

Annual Cumulative

Inflation  Restated Carrying Current Exchange Translated Translation Translation

Date Rate (%) Value Rate Amount in US$ Gain (Loss) Gain (Loss)
01 Jan 00 TL542,700,000 542,700 $1,000 N/A N/A

31 Dec 00 38 748,926,000 670,800 1,116 $116 $116
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Annual Cumulative
Inflation  Restated Carrying Current Exchange Translated Translation Translation
Date Rate (%) Value Rate Amount in US$ Gain (Loss) Gain (Loss)
31 Dec 01 69 1,265,684,940 1,474,525 858 (258) (142)
31 Dec 02 45 1,835,243,163 1,669,000 1,100 242 100

Under this approach, land is reported on the parent’s 31 December 2002
consolidated balance sheet at US$1,100 with a cumulative, unrealized gain
of US$100. Although the cumulative translation gain on 31 December 2002
is unrealized, it could have been realized if (1) the land had appreciated in
TL value by the rate of local inflation, (2) the Turkish subsidiary sold the
land for TL1,835,243,163, and (3) the sale proceeds were converted into
US$1,100 at the current exchange rate on 31 December 2002.

This approach is required by IAS 21. It is the approach that, apart from
doing an appraisal, perhaps best represents economic reality, in the sense
that it reflects both the likely change in the local currency value of the land
as well as the actual change in the exchange rate.

ILLUSTRATION OF TRANSLATION METHODS

] compare the current rate method and the temporal method, evaluate
how each affects the parent company’s balance sheet and income
statement, and determine which method is appropriate in various
scenarios

] calculate the translation effects and evaluate the translation of a
subsidiary’s balance sheet and income statement into the parent
company’s presentation currency

To demonstrate the procedures required in translating foreign currency financial state-
ments (excluding hyperinflationary economies), assume that Interco is a Europe-based
company that has the euro as its presentation currency. On 1 January 20X1, Interco
establishes a wholly owned subsidiary in Canada, Canadaco. In addition to Interco
making an equity investment in Canadaco, a long-term note payable to a Canadian
bank was negotiated to purchase property and equipment. The subsidiary begins
operations with the following balance sheet in Canadian dollars (C$):

Canadaco Balance Sheet, 1 January 20X1

Assets

Cash C$1,500,000

Property and equipment 3,000,000
C$4,500,000

Liabilities and Equity

Long-term note payable C$3,000,000
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1,500,000

C$4,500,000

Canadaco purchases and sells inventory in 20X1, generating net income of C$1,180,000,
out of which C$350,000 in dividends are paid. The company’s income statement and
statement of retained earnings for 20X1 and balance sheet at 31 December 20X1 follow:

Canadaco Income Statement and Statement of Retained

Earnings, 20X1

Sales

Cost of sales

Selling expenses

Depreciation expense

Interest expense

Income tax

Net income

Less: Dividends, 1 Dec 20X1
Retained earnings, 31 Dec 20X1

C$12,000,000
(9,000,000)
(750,000)
(300,000)
(270,000)
(500,000)

C$1,180,000
(350,000)

C$830,000

Canadaco Balance Sheet, 31 December 20X1

Assets Liabilities and Equity

Cash C$980,000 Accounts payable C$450,000

Accounts receivable 900,000 Total current liabilities 450,000

Inventory 1,200,000 Long-term notes payable 3,000,000
Total current assets C$3,080,000 Total liabilities C$3,450,000

Property and equipment 3,000,000 Capital stock 1,500,000

Less: accumulated

depreciation (300,000) Retained earnings 830,000
Total C$5,780,000 C$5,780,000

Inventory is measured at historical cost on a FIFO basis.

To translate Canadaco’s Canadian dollar financial statements into euro for consol-
idation purposes, the following exchange rate information was gathered:

Date €perCS$
1 January 20X1 0.70
Average, 20X1 0.75
Weighted-average rate when inventory was acquired 0.74
1 December 20X1 when dividends were declared 0.78
31 December 20X1 0.80

During 20X1, the Canadian dollar strengthened steadily against the euro from an
exchange rate of €0.70 at the beginning of the year to €0.80 at year-end.
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The translation worksheet that follows shows Canadaco’s translated financial
statements under each of the two translation methods. Assume first that Canadaco’s
functional currency is the Canadian dollar, and thus the current rate method must
be used. The Canadian dollar income statement and statement of retained earnings
are translated first. Income statement items for 20X1 are translated at the average
exchange rate for 20X1 (€0.75), and dividends are translated at the exchange rate that
existed when they were declared (€0.78). The ending balance in retained earnings as
of 31 December 20X1 of €612,000 is transferred to the Canadian dollar balance sheet.
The remaining balance sheet accounts are then translated. Assets and liabilities are
translated at the current exchange rate on the balance sheet date of 31 December
20X1 (€0.80), and the capital stock account is translated at the historical exchange
rate (€0.70) that existed on the date that Interco made the capital contribution. A
positive translation adjustment of €202,000 is needed as a balancing amount, which
is reported in the stockholders’ equity section of the balance sheet.

If instead Interco determines that Canadaco’s functional currency is the euro (the
parent’s presentation currency), the temporal method must be applied as shown in
the far right columns of the table. The differences in procedure from the current rate
method are that inventory, property, and equipment (and accumulated depreciation),
as well as their related expenses (cost of goods sold and depreciation), are translated
at the historical exchange rates that existed when the assets were acquired: €0.70 in
the case of property and equipment, and €0.74 for inventory. The balance sheet is
translated first, with €472,000 determined as the amount of retained earnings needed
to keep the balance sheet in balance. This amount is transferred to the income state-
ment and statement of retained earnings as the ending balance in retained earnings
as of 31 December 20X1. Income statement items then are translated, with cost of
goods sold and depreciation expense being translated at historical exchange rates. A
negative translation adjustment of €245,000 is determined as the amount needed to
arrive at the ending balance in retained earnings of €472,000, and this adjustment is
reported as a translation loss on the income statement.

The positive translation adjustment under the current rate method can be explained
by the facts that Canadaco has a net asset balance sheet exposure (total assets exceed
total liabilities) during 20X1 and the Canadian dollar strengthened against the euro.
The negative translation adjustment (translation loss) under the temporal method is
explained by the fact that Canadaco has a net liability balance sheet exposure under
this method (because the amount of exposed liabilities [accounts payable plus notes
payable] exceeds the amount of exposed assets [cash plus receivables]) during 20X1
when the Canadian dollar strengthened against the euro.

Canadaco Income Statement and Statement of Retained Earnings, 20X1

Canadaco’s Functional Currency Is: Local Currency (C$) Parent’s Currency (€)
Current Rate Temporal
cs Exch. Rate € Exch. Rate €

Sales 12,000,000 0.75 A 9,000,000 0.75 A 9,000,000
Cost of goods sold (9,000,000) 0.75 A (6,750,000) 0.74 H (6,660,000)
Selling expenses (750,000) 0.75 A (562,500) 0.75 A (562,500)
Depreciation

expense (300,000) 0.75 A (225,000) 0.70 H (210,000)
Interest expense (270,000) 0.75 A (202,500) 0.75 A (202,500)

Income tax (500,000) 0.75 A (375,000) 0.75 A (375,000)
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Canadaco’s Functional Currency Is: Local Currency (CS$) Parent’s Currency (€)
Current Rate Temporal
cs Exch. Rate € Exch. Rate €
Income before
trans. gain (loss) 1,180,000 885,000 990,000
Translation gain
(loss) N/A N/A to balance (245,000)
Net income 1,180,000 885,000 745,000
Less: Dividends,
12/1/20X1 (350,000) 0.78 H (273,000) 0.78 H (273,000)
Retained earnings,
12/31/20X1 830,000 612,000 from B/S 472,000

Note: C = current exchange rate; A = average-for-the-year exchange rate; H = historical exchange rate

Canadaco Balance Sheet, 31 December 20X1

Canadaco’s Functional Currency Is: Local Currency (C$) Parent’s Currency (€)
Current Rate Temporal
cs Exch. Rate € Exch. Rate €
Assets
Cash 980,000 0.80 C 784,000 0.80 C 784,000
Accounts receivable 900,000 0.80 C 720,000 0.80 C 720,000
Inventory 1,200,000 0.80 C 960,000 0.74 H 888,000
Total current
assets 3,080,000 2,464,000 2,392,000
Property and
equipment 3,000,000 0.80 C 2,400,000 0.70 H 2,100,000
Less: accumulated
depreciation (300,000) 0.80 C (240,000) 0.70 H (210,000)
Total assets 5,780,000 4,624,000 4,282,000
Liabilities and
Equity
Accounts payable 450,000 0.80 C 360,000 0.80 C 360,000
Total current
liabilities 450,000 360,000 360,000
Long-term notes
payable 3,000,000 0.80 C 2,400,000 0.80 C 2,400,000
Total liabilities 3,450,000 2,760,000 2,760,000
Capital stock 1,500,000 0.70 H 1,050,000 0.70 H 1,050,000
Retained earnings 830,000 from I/S 612,000 to balance 472,000
Translation
adjustment N/A to balance 202,000 N/A
Total 5,780,000 4,624,000 4,282,000

Note: C = current exchange rate; A = average-for-the-year exchange rate; H = historical exchange rate
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TRANSLATION ANALYTICAL ISSUES

] analyze how the current rate method and the temporal method affect
financial statements and ratios

The two different translation methods used to translate Canadaco’s Canadian dollar
financial statements into euro result in very different amounts to be included in
Interco’s consolidated financial statements. The chart below summarizes some of
these differences:

Canadaco’s Functional
Currency Is: Local Currency (C$)  Parent’s Currency (€)

Translation Method

Item Current Rate (€) Temporal (€) Difference (%)
Sales 9,000,000 9,000,000 0.0

Net income 885,000 745,000 +18.8
Income before translation 885,000 990,000 -10.6

gain (loss)

Total assets 4,624,000 4,282,000 +8.0
Total equity 1,864,000 1,522,000 +22.5

In this particular case, the current rate method results in a significantly larger net
income than the temporal method. This result occurs because under the current rate
method, the translation adjustment is not included in the calculation of income. If
the translation loss were excluded from net income, the temporal method would
result in a significantly larger amount of net income. The combination of smaller net
income under the temporal method and a positive translation adjustment reported
on the balance sheet under the current rate method results in a much larger amount
of total equity under the current rate method. Total assets also are larger under the
current rate method because all assets are translated at the current exchange rate,
which is higher than the historical exchange rates at which inventory and fixed assets
are translated under the temporal method.

To examine the effects of translation on the underlying relationships that exist in
Canadaco’s Canadian dollar financial statements, several significant ratios are calcu-
lated from the original Canadian dollar financial statements and the translated (euro)
financial statements and presented in the table below.

Canadaco’s Functional Local Parent’s
Currency Is: Currency (CS$) Currency (€)
cs Current Rate (€) Temporal (€)
Current ratio 6.84 6.84 6.64
Current assets 3,080,000 2,464,000 2,392,000
Current liabilities = 450,000 = 360,000 = 360,000
Debt-to-assets ratio 0.52 0.52 0.56
Total debt 3,000,000 2,400,000 2,400,000
Total assets = 5,780,000 = 4,624,000 = 4,282,000

Debt-to-equity ratio 1.29 1.29 1.58

147



© CFA Institute. For candidate use only. Not for distribution.

148 Learning Module 3 Multinational Operations
Canadaco’s Functional Local Parent’s
Currency Is: Currency (CS) Currency (€)

cs Current Rate (€) Temporal (€)
Total debt 3,000,000 2,400,000 2,400,000
Total equity = 2,330,000 = 1,864,000 = 1,522,000
Interest coverage 7.22 7.22 7.74
EBIT 1,950,000 1,462,500 1,567,500
Interest payments = 270,000 = 202,500 = 202,500
Gross profit margin 0.25 0.25 0.26
Gross profit 3,000,000 2,250,000 2,340,000
Sales = 12,000,000 = 9,000,000 = 9,000,000
Operating profit
margin 0.16 0.16 0.17
Operating profit 1,950,000 1,462,500 1,567,500
Sales = 12,000,000 = 9,000,000 = 9,000,000
Net profit margin 0.10 0.10 0.08
Net income 1,180,000 885,000 745,000
Sales = 12,000,000 = 9,000,000 = 9,000,000
Receivables turnover 13.33 12.50 12.50
Sales 12,000,000 9,000,000 9,000,000
Accounts receivable = 900,000 = 720,000 = 720,000
Inventory turnover 7.50 7.03 7.50
Cost of goods sold 9,000,000 6,750,000 6,660,000
Inventory = 1,200,000 = 960,000 = 888,000
Fixed asset turnover 4.44 4.17 4.76
Sales 12,000,000 9,000,000 9,000,000
Property & equip-
ment (net) = 2,700,000 = 2,160,000 = 1,890,000
Return on assets 0.20 0.19 0.17
Net income 1,180,000 885,000 745,000
Total assets = 5,780,000 = 4,624,000 = 4,282,000
Return on equity 0.51 0.47 0.49
Net income 1,180,000 885,000 745,000
Total equity - 2,330,000 - 1,864,000 - 1,522,000

Comparing the current rate method (€) and temporal method (€) columns in the
above table shows that financial ratios calculated from Canadaco’s translated financial
statements (in €) differ significantly depending on which method of translation is used.
Of the ratios presented, only receivables turnover is the same under both translation
methods. This is the only ratio presented in which there is no difference in the type of
exchange rate used to translate the items that comprise the numerator and the denom-
inator. Sales are translated at the average exchange rate and receivables are translated
at the current exchange rate under both methods. For each of the other ratios, at least
one of the items included in either the numerator or the denominator is translated
at a different type of rate (current, average, or historical) under the temporal method
than under the current rate method. For example, the current ratio has a different
value under the two translation methods because inventory is translated at the cur-
rent exchange rate under the current rate method and at the historical exchange rate
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under the temporal method. In this case, because the euro/Canadian dollar exchange
rate on 31 December 20X1 (€0.80) is higher than the historical exchange rate when
the inventory was acquired (€0.74), the current ratio is larger under the current rate
method of translation.

Comparing the ratios in the Canadian dollar and current rate method (euro) col-
umns of the above table shows that many of the underlying relationships that exist
in Canadaco’s Canadian dollar financial statements are preserved when the current
rate method of translation is used (i.e., the ratio calculated from the Canadian dol-
lar and euro translated amounts is the same). The current ratio, the leverage ratios
(debt-to-assets and debt-to-equity ratios), the interest coverage ratio, and the profit
margins (gross profit margin, operating profit margin, and net profit margin) are the
same in the Canadian dollar and current rate method (euro) columns of the above
table. This result occurs because each of the ratios is calculated using information from
either the balance sheet or the income statement, but not both. Those ratios that com-
pare amounts from the balance sheet with amounts from the income statement (e.g.,
turnover and return ratios) are different. In this particular case, each of the turnover
and return ratios is larger when calculated from the Canadian dollar amounts than
when calculated using the current rate (euro) amounts. The underlying Canadian dollar
relationships are distorted when translated using the current rate method because the
balance sheet amounts are translated using the current exchange rate while revenues
and expenses are translated using the average exchange rate. (These distortions would
not occur if revenues and expenses also were translated at the current exchange rate.)

Comparing the ratios in the Canadian dollar and temporal method (euro) col-
umns of the table shows that translation using the temporal method distorts all of
the underlying relationships that exist in the Canadian dollar financial statements,
except inventory turnover. Moreover, it is not possible to generalize the direction of
the distortion across ratios. In Canadaco’s case, using the temporal method results in a
larger gross profit margin and operating profit margin but a smaller net profit margin
as compared with the values of these ratios calculated from the original Canadian
dollar amounts. Similarly, receivables turnover is smaller, inventory turnover is the
same, and fixed asset turnover is larger when calculated from the translated amounts.

In translating Canadaco’s Canadian dollar financial statements into euro, the tem-
poral method results in a smaller amount of net income than the current rate method
only because IFRS and US GAAP require the resulting translation loss to be included
in net income when the temporal method is used. The translation loss arises because
the Canadian dollar strengthened against the euro and Canadaco has a larger amount
of liabilities translated at the current exchange rate (monetary liabilities) than it has
assets translated at the current exchange rate (monetary assets). If Canadaco had a
net monetary asset exposure (i.e., if monetary assets exceeded monetary liabilities),
a translation gain would arise and net income under the temporal method (including
the translation gain) would be greater than under the current rate method. Example
5 demonstrates how different types of balance sheet exposure under the temporal
method can affect translated net income.

EXAMPLE 5

Effects of Different Balance Sheet Exposures under the
Temporal Method (Canadaco’s functional currency is the
parent’s functional currency)

1. Canadaco begins operations on 1 January 20X1, with cash of C$1,500,000
and property and equipment of C$3,000,000. In Case A, Canadaco fi-
nances the acquisition of property and equipment with a long-term note
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payable and begins operations with net monetary liabilities of C$1,500,000
(C$3,000,000 long-term note payable less C$1,500,000 cash). In Case B,
Canadaco finances the acquisition of property and equipment with capital
stock and begins operations with net monetary assets of C$1,500,000. To
isolate the effect that balance sheet exposure has on net income under the
temporal method, assume that Canadaco continues to have C$270,000 in
interest expense in Case B, even though there is no debt financing. This as-
sumption is inconsistent with reality, but it allows us to more clearly see the
effect of balance sheet exposure on net income. The only difference between
Case A and Case B is the net monetary asset/liability position of the compa-
ny, as shown in the following table:

Canadaco Balance Sheet, 1 January 20X1

CaseA Case B
Assets
Cash C$1,500,000 C$1,500,000
Property and equipment 3,000,000 3,000,000
C$4,500,000 C$4,500,000
Liabilities and Equity
Long-term note payable C$3,000,000 C$0
Capital stock 1,500,000 4,500,000
C$4,500,000 C$4,500,000

Canadaco purchases and sells inventory in 20X1, generating net income

of C$1,180,000, out of which dividends of C$350,000 are paid. The com-
pany has total assets of C$5,780,000 as of 31 December 20X1. Canadaco’s
functional currency is determined to be the euro (the parent’s presentation
currency), and the company’s Canadian dollar financial statements are
translated into euro using the temporal method. Relevant exchange rates are

as follows:
Date €perCS$
1 January 20X1 0.70
Average, 20X1 0.75
Weighted-average rate when inventory was acquired 0.74
1 December 20X1 when dividends were declared 0.78
31 December 20X1 0.80

What effect does the nature of Canadaco’s net monetary asset or liability
position have on the euro translated amounts?
Solution:

Translation of Canadaco’s 31 December 20X1 balance sheet under the tem-
poral method in Case A and Case B is shown in the following table:
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Canadaco Balance Sheet on 31 December 20X1 under the Temporal Method

Case A: Net Monetary Liabilities Case B: Net Monetary Assets
Exch.
cs Rate € cs Exch. Rate €
Assets
Cash 980,000 0.80 C 784,000 980,000 0.80 C 784,000
Accounts receivable 900,000 0.80 C 720,000 900,000 0.80 C 720,000
Inventory 1,200,000 0.74 H 888,000 1,200,000 0.74 H 888,000
Total current assets 3,080,000 2,392,000 3,080,000 2,392,000
Property and equipment 3,000,000 0.70H 2,100,000 3,000,000 0.70 H 2,100,000
Less: accum. deprec. (300,000) 0.70 H (210,000) (300,000) 0.70 H (210,000)
Total assets 5,780,000 4,282,000 5,780,000 4,282,000
Liabilities and Equity
Accounts payable 450,000 0.80 C 360,000 450,000 0.80 C 360,000
Total current liabilities 450,000 360,000 450,000 360,000
Long-term notes payable 3,000,000 0.80 C 2,400,000 0 0
Total liabilities 3,450,000 2,760,000 450,000 360,000
Capital stock 1,500,000 0.70 H 1,050,000 4,500,000 0.70 H 3,150,000
Retained earnings 830,000 472,000 830,000 772,000
Total 5,780,000 4,282,000 5,780,000 4,282,000

Note: C = current exchange rate; A = average-for-the-year exchange rate; H = historical exchange
rate.

To keep the balance sheet in balance, retained earnings must be €472,000
in Case A (net monetary liability exposure) and €772,000 in Case B (net
monetary asset exposure). The difference in retained earnings of €300,000
is equal to the translation loss that results from holding a Canadian dollar—
denominated note payable during a period in which the Canadian dollar
strengthens against the euro. This difference is determined by multiplying
the amount of long-term note payable in Case A by the change in exchange
rate during the year [C$3,000,000 x (€0.80 — €0.70) = €300,000]. Notes
payable are exposed to foreign exchange risk under the temporal method,
whereas capital stock is not. Canadaco could avoid the €300,000 translation
loss related to long-term debt by financing the acquisition of property and
equipment with equity rather than debt.

Translation of Canadaco’s 20X1 income statement and statement of retained
earnings under the temporal method for Case A and Case B is shown in the

following table:
Canadaco Income Statement and Statement of Retained Earnings for 20X1 under the Temporal Method
Case A: Net Monetary Liabilities Case B: Net Monetary Assets
Exch. Exch.
c$ Rate € c$ Rate €
Sales 12,000,000 0.75 A 9,000,000 12,000,000 0.75 A 9,000,000
Cost of goods sold (9,000,000) 0.74 H (6,660,000) (9,000,000) 0.74 H (6,660,000)

Selling expenses (750,000) 0.75 A (562,500) (750,000) 0.75 A (562,500)
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Case A: Net Monetary Liabilities

Case B: Net Monetary Assets

Exch. Exch.

cs Rate € cs Rate €
Depreciation expense (300,000) 0.70 H (210,000) (300,000) 0.70 H (210,000)
Interest expense (270,000) 0.75 A (202,500) (270,000) 0.75 A (202,500)
Income tax (500,000) 0.75 A (375,000) (500,000) 0.75 A (375,000)
Income before transla-
tion gain (loss) 1,180,000 990,000 1,180,000 990,000
Translation gain (loss) N/A (245,000) N/A 55,000
Net income 1,180,000 745,000 1,180,000 1,045,000
Less: Dividends on 1
December 20X1 (350,000) 0.78 H (273,000) (350,000) 0.78 H (273,000)
Retained earnings on 31
December 20X1 830,000 472,000 830,000 772,000

Note: C = current exchange rate; A = average-for-the-year exchange rate; H = historical exchange
rate.

Income before translation gain (loss) is the same in both cases. To obtain the
amount of retained earnings needed to keep the balance sheet in balance,

a translation loss of €245,000 must be subtracted from net income in Case

A (net monetary liabilities), whereas a translation gain of €55,000 must be
added to net income in Case B (net monetary assets). The difference in net
income between the two cases is €300,000, which equals the translation loss
related to the long-term note payable.

When using the temporal method, companies can manage their exposure to
translation gain (loss) more easily than when using the current rate meth-
od. If a company can manage the balance sheet of a foreign subsidiary such
that monetary assets equal monetary liabilities, no balance sheet exposure
exists. Elimination of balance sheet exposure under the current rate method
occurs only when total assets equal total liabilities. This equality is difficult
to achieve because it requires the foreign subsidiary to have no stockholders’

equity.

For Canadaco, in 20X1, applying the current rate method results in larger euro
amounts of total assets and total equity being reported in the consolidated financial
statements than would result from applying the temporal method. The direction of
these differences between the two translation methods is determined by the direction
of change in the exchange rate between the Canadian dollar and the euro. For example,
total exposed assets are greater under the current rate method because all assets are
translated at the current exchange rate. The current exchange rate at 31 December
20X1 is greater than the exchange rates that existed when the non-monetary assets
were acquired, which is the translation rate for these assets under the temporal method.
Therefore, the current rate method results in a larger amount of total assets because
the Canadian dollar strengthened against the euro. The current rate method would
result in a smaller amount of total assets than the temporal method if the Canadian
dollar had weakened against the euro.

Applying the current rate method also results in a much larger amount of stock-
holders’ equity than the temporal method. A positive translation adjustment arises
under the current rate method, which is included in equity, whereas a translation loss
reduces total equity (through retained earnings) under the temporal method.
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Example 6 shows the effect that the direction of change in the exchange rate
has on the translated amounts. Canadaco’s Canadian dollar financial statements are
translated into euro, first assuming no change in the exchange rate during 20X1, and
then assuming the Canadian dollar strengthens and weakens against the euro. Using
the current rate method to translate the foreign currency financial statements into
the parent’s presentation currency, the foreign currency strengthening increases the
revenues, income, assets, liabilities, and total equity reported on the parent company’s
consolidated financial statements. Likewise, smaller amounts of revenues, income,
assets, liabilities, and total equity will be reported if the foreign currency weakens
against the parent’s presentation currency.

When the temporal method is used to translate foreign currency financial state-
ments, foreign currency strengthening still increases revenues, assets, and liabilities
reported in the parent’s consolidated financial statements. Net income and stock-
holders’ equity, however, translate into smaller amounts (assuming that the foreign
subsidiary has a net monetary liability position) because of the translation loss. The
opposite results are obtained when the foreign currency weakens against the parent’s
presentation currency.

EXAMPLE 6

Effect of Direction of Change in the Exchange Rate on
Translated Amounts

Canadaco’s Canadian dollar (C$) financial statements are translated into euro (€)
under three scenarios: (1) the Canadian dollar remains stable against the euro,
(2) the Canadian dollar strengthens against the euro, and (3) the Canadian dollar
weakens against the euro. Relevant exchange rates are as follows:

€ perCS$

Date Stable Strengthens  Weakens
1 January 20X1 0.70 0.70 0.70
Average, 20X1 0.70 0.75 0.65
Weighted-average rate when inven- 0.70 0.74 0.66
tory was acquired

Rate when dividends were declared 0.70 0.78 0.62

31 December 20X1 0.70 0.80 0.60

What amounts will be reported on the parent’s consolidated financial
statements under the three different exchange rate assumptions if Canadaco’s
Canadian dollar financial statements are translated using the:

1. current rate method?

Solution:

Current Rate Method: Using the current rate method, Canadaco’s Canadian
dollar financial statements would be translated into euro as follows under
the three different exchange rate assumptions:
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Canadaco Income Statement and Statement of Retained Earnings for 20X1 under the Current Rate Method

CS$ Stable C$ Strengthens C$ Weakens
Exch. Exch. Exch.

(& Rate € Rate € Rate €
Sales 12,000,000 0.70 8,400,000 0.75 A 9,000,000 0.65 A 7,800,000
Cost of goods
sold (9,000,000) 0.70 (6,300,000) 0.75 A (6,750,000) 0.65 A (5,850,000)
Selling
expenses (750,000) 0.70 (525,000) 0.75 A (562,500) 0.65 A (487,500)
Deprec.
expense (300,000) 0.70 (210,000) 0.75 A (225,000) 0.65 A (195,000)
Interest
expense (270,000) 0.70 (189,000) 0.75 A (202,500) 0.65 A (175,500)
Income tax (500,000) 0.70 (350,000) 0.75 A (375,000) 0.65 A (325,000)
Net income 1,180,000 826,000 885,000 767,000
Less: Dividends (350,000) 0.70 (245,000) 0.78 H (273,000) 0.62 H (217,000)
Retained
earnings 830,000 581,000 612,000 550,000

Note: C = current (period-end) exchange rate; A = average-for-the-year exchange rate; H = his-
torical exchange rate.

Compared with the translated amount of sales and net income under a
stable Canadian dollar, a stronger Canadian dollar results in a larger amount
of sales and net income being reported in the consolidated income state-
ment. A weaker Canadian dollar results in a smaller amount of sales and net
income being reported in consolidated net income.

Canadaco Balance Sheet on 31 December 20X 1 under the Current Rate Method

C$ Stable C$ Strengthens C$ Weakens
Exch. Exch. Exch.

cs Rate € Rate € Rate €
Assets
Cash 980,000 0.70 686,000 0.80 C 784,000 0.60 C 588,000
Accounts
receivable 900,000 0.70 630,000 0.80 C 720,000 0.60 C 540,000
Inventory 1,200,000 0.70 840,000 0.80 C 960,000 0.60 C 720,000
Total current
assets 3,080,000 2,156,000 2,464,000 1,848,000
Property and
equipment 3,000,000 0.70 2,100,000 0.80 C 2,400,000 0.60 C 1,800,000
Less: accum.
deprec. (300,000) 0.70 (210,000) 0.80 C (240,000) 0.60 C (180,000)
Total assets 5,780,000 4,046,000 4,624,000 3,468,000
Liabilities

and Equity
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CS$ Stable CS$ Strengthens C$ Weakens
Exch. Exch. Exch.

cs$ Rate € Rate € Rate €
Accounts
payable 450,000 0.70 315,000 0.80 C 360,000 0.60 C 270,000
Total current
liabilities 450,000 315,000 360,000 270,000
Long-term
notes pay 3,000,000 0.70 2,100,000 0.80 C 2,400,000 0.60 C 1,800,000
Total
liabilities 3,450,000 2,415,000 2,760,000 2,070,000
Capital stock 1,500,000 0.70 1,050,000 0.70 H 1,050,000 0.70 H 1,050,000
Retained
earnings 830,000 581,000 612,000 550,000
Translation
adjustment N/A 0 202,000 (202,000)
Total equity 2,330,000 1,631,000 1,864,000 1,398,000
Total 5,780,000 4,046,000 4,624,000 3,468,000

Note: C = current (period-end) exchange rate; A = average-for-the-year exchange rate; H = his-
torical exchange rate.

The translation adjustment is zero when the Canadian dollar remains stable
for the year; it is positive when the Canadian dollar strengthens and nega-
tive when the Canadian dollar weakens. Compared with the amounts that
would appear in the euro consolidated balance sheet under a stable Canadi-
an dollar assumption, a stronger Canadian dollar results in a larger amount
of assets, liabilities, and equity being reported on the consolidated balance
sheet, and a weaker Canadian dollar results in a smaller amount of assets,
liabilities, and equity being reported on the consolidated balance sheet.

2. temporal method?

Solution:

Temporal Method: Using the temporal method, Canadaco’s financial state-
ments would be translated into euro as follows under the three different

exchange rate scenarios:

Canadaco Balance Sheet on 31 December 20X1

Temporal Method

CS$ Stable C$ Strengthens C$ Weakens
Exch. Exch. Exch.

c$ Rate € Rate € Rate €
Assets
Cash 980,000 0.70 686,000 0.80 C 784,000 0.60 C 588,000
Accounts
receivable 900,000 0.70 630,000 0.80 C 720,000 0.60 C 540,000
Inventory 1,200,000 0.70 840,000 0.74 H 888,000

0.66 H 792,000
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Temporal Method
CS$ Stable C$ Strengthens C$ Weakens
Exch. Exch. Exch.
cs Rate € Rate € Rate €
Total current
assets 3,080,000 2,156,000 2,392,000 1,920,000
Property and
equipment 3,000,000 0.70 2,100,000 0.70 H 2,100,000 0.70 H 2,100,000
Less: accum.
deprec. (300,000) 0.70 (210,000) 0.70 H (210,000) 0.70 H (210,000)
Total assets 5,780,000 4,046,000 4,282,000 3,810,000
Liabilities and
Equity
Accounts
payable 450,000 0.70 315,000 0.80C 360,000 0.60 C 270,000
Total current
liabilities 450,000 315,000 360,000 270,000
Long-term
notes pay 3,000,000 0.70 2,100,000 0.80 C 2,400,000 0.60 C 1,800,000
Total liabilities 3,450,000 2,415,000 2,760,000 2,070,000
Capital stock 1,500,000 0.70 1,050,000 0.70 H 1,050,000 0.70 H 1,050,000
Retained
earnings 830,000 581,000 472,000 690,000
Total equity 2,330,000 1,631,000 1,522,000 1,740,000
Total 5,780,000 4,046,000 4,282,000 3,810,000

Note: C = current (period-end) exchange rate; A = average-for-the-year exchange rate; H = his-
torical exchange rate.

Compared with the stable Canadian dollar scenario, a stronger Canadi-
an dollar results in a larger amount of assets and liabilities but a smaller
amount of equity reported on the consolidated balance sheet. A weaker Ca-
nadian dollar results in a smaller amount of assets and liabilities but a larger

amount of equity reported on the consolidated balance sheet.

Canadaco Income Statement and Statement of Retained Earnings for 2008 under the Temporal Method

C$ Stable C$ Strengthens C$ Weakens
Exch. Exch. Exch.
c$ Rate € Rate € Rate €
Sales 12,000,000 0.70 8,400,000 0.75 A 9,000,000 0.65 A 7,800,000
Cost of sales (9,000,000) 0.70 (6,300,000) 0.74 H (6,660,000) 0.66 H (5,940,000)
Selling expenses (750,000) 0.70 (525,000) 0.75 A (562,500) 0.65 A (487,500)
Depreciation
expense (300,000) 0.70 (210,000) 0.70 H (210,000) 0.70 H (210,000)
Interest expense (270,000) 0.70 (189,000) 0.75 A (202,500) 0.65 A (175,500)
Income tax (500,000) 0.70 (350,000) 0.75 A (375,000) 0.65 A (325,000)
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CS$ Stable CS$ Strengthens C$ Weakens
Exch. Exch. Exch.

cs Rate € Rate € Rate €
Income before
translation gain
(loss) 1,180,000 826,000 990,000 662,000
Translation gain
(loss) N/A 0 (245,000) 245,000
Net income 1,180,000 826,000 745,000 907,000
Less: Dividends (350,000) 0.70 (245,000) 0.78 H (273,000) 0.62 H (217,000)
Retained earnings 830,000 581,000 472,000 690,000

Note: C = current (period-end) exchange rate; A = average-for-the-year exchange rate; H = his-
torical exchange rate.

No translation gain or loss exists when the Canadian dollar remains stable
during the year. Because the subsidiary has a net monetary liability expo-
sure to changes in the exchange rate, a stronger Canadian dollar results in
a translation loss and a weaker Canadian dollar results in a translation gain.
Compared with a stable Canadian dollar, a stronger Canadian dollar results
in a larger amount of sales and a smaller amount of net income reported
on the consolidated income statement. This difference in direction results
from the translation loss that is included in net income. (As demonstrated
in Example 5, a translation gain would have resulted if the subsidiary had a
net monetary asset exposure.) A weaker Canadian dollar results in a smaller
amount of sales but a larger amount of net income than if the Canadian
dollar had remained stable.

Exhibit 5 summarizes the relationships illustrated in Example 5 and Example 6,
focusing on the typical effect that a strengthening or weakening of the foreign currency
has on financial statement amounts compared with what the amounts would be if the
foreign currency were to remain stable.
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Exhibit 5: Effect of Currency Exchange Rate Movement on Financial

Statements

Temporal Method,
Net Monetary
Liability Exposure

Temporal Method,

Net Monetary
Asset Exposure

Current Rate Method

Foreign currency
strengthens relative
to parent’s presenta-
tion currency

Foreign currency
weakens relative to
parent’s presentation
currency

1 Revenues

1 Assets

1 Liabilities

| Net income

| Shareholders’ equity
Translation loss

| Revenues

| Assets

| Liabilities

1 Net income

1 Shareholders’ equity
Translation gain

T Revenues

1 Assets

1 Liabilities

T Net income

1 Shareholders’
equity
Translation gain
| Revenues

| Assets

| Liabilities

| Net income

| Shareholders’
equity
Translation loss

1 Revenues

1 Assets

1 Liabilities

1 Net income

1 Shareholders’ equity
Positive translation
adjustment

| Revenues

| Assets

| Liabilities

| Net income

| Shareholders’ equity
Negative translation
adjustment

TRANSLATION IN AN HYPERINFLATIONARY

ECONOMY

] analyze how alternative translation methods for subsidiaries
operating in hyperinflationary economies affect financial statements
and ratios

As noted earlier, IFRS and US GAAP differ substantially in their approach to trans-
lating the foreign currency financial statements of foreign entities operating in the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy. US GAAP simply require the foreign currency
financial statements of such an entity to be translated as if the parent’s currency is
the functional currency (i.e., the temporal method must be used with the resulting
translation gain or loss reported in net income). IFRS require the foreign currency
financial statements first to be restated for inflation using the procedures of IAS 29,
and then the inflation-adjusted financial statements are translated using the current
exchange rate.

IAS 29 requires the following procedures in adjusting financial statements for
inflation:

Balance Sheet

=  Monetary assets and monetary liabilities are not restated because they are
already expressed in terms of the monetary unit current at the balance sheet
date. Monetary items consist of cash, receivables, and payables.

= Non-monetary assets and non-monetary liabilities are restated for changes
in the general purchasing power of the monetary unit. Most non-monetary
items are carried at historical cost. In these cases, the restated cost is
determined by applying to the historical cost the change in the general
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price index from the date of acquisition to the balance sheet date. Some
non-monetary items are carried at revalued amounts; for example, property,
plant, and equipment revalued according to the allowed alternative treat-
ment in IAS 16, “Property, Plant and Equipment” These items are restated
from the date of revaluation.

= All components of stockholders’ equity are restated by applying the change
in the general price level from the beginning of the period or, if later, from
the date of contribution to the balance sheet date.

Income Statement

= All income statement items are restated by applying the change in the gen-
eral price index from the dates when the items were originally recorded to
the balance sheet date.

= The net gain or loss in purchasing power that arises from holding monetary
assets and monetary liabilities during a period of inflation is included in net
income.

The procedures for adjusting financial statements for inflation are similar in
concept to the procedures followed when using the temporal method for translation.
By restating non-monetary assets and liabilities along with stockholders’ equity in
terms of the general price level at the balance sheet date, these items are carried at
their historical amount of purchasing power. Only the monetary items, which are
not restated for inflation, are exposed to inflation risk. The effect of that exposure
is reflected through the purchasing power gain or loss on the net monetary asset or
liability position.

Holding cash and receivables during a period of inflation results in a purchasing
power loss, whereas holding payables during inflation results in a purchasing power
gain. This relationship can be demonstrated through the following examples.

Assume that the general price index (GPI) on 1 January 20X1 is 100; that is, a
representative basket of goods and services can be purchased on that date for $100. At
the end of 20X1, the same basket of goods and services costs $120; thus, the country
has experienced an inflation rate of 20% [($120 — $100) + $100]. Cash of $100 can
be used to acquire one basket of goods on 1 January 20X1. One year later, however,
when the GPI stands at 120, the same $100 in cash can now purchase only 83.3% of
a basket of goods and services. At the end of 20X1, it now takes $120 to purchase
the same amount as $100 could purchase at the beginning of the year. The difference
between the amount of cash needed to purchase one market basket at year end ($120)
and the amount actually held ($100) results in a purchasing power loss of $20 from
holding cash of $100 during the year.

Borrowing money during a period of inflation increases purchasing power. Assume
that a company expects to receive $120 in cash at the end of 20X1. If it waits until
the cash is received, the company will be able to purchase exactly 1.0 basket of goods
and services when the GPI stands at 120. If instead, the company borrows $120 on 1
January 20X1 when the GPI is 100, it can acquire 1.2 baskets of goods and services.
This transaction results in a purchasing power gain of $20. Of course, there is an
interest cost associated with the borrowing that offsets a portion of this gain.

A net purchasing power gain will arise when a company holds a greater amount of
monetary liabilities than monetary assets, and a net purchasing power loss will result
when the opposite situation exists. As such, purchasing power gains and losses are
analogous to the translation gains and losses that arise when the currency is weakening
in value and the temporal method of translation is applied.
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Although the procedures required by IFRS and US GAAP for translating the
foreign currency financial statements in high-inflation countries are fundamentally
different, the results, in a rare occurrence, can be very similar. Indeed, if the exchange
rate between two currencies changes by exactly the same percentage as the change in
the general price index in the highly inflationary country, then the two methodologies
produce the same results. Example 7 demonstrates this scenario.

EXAMPLE 7

Translation of Foreign Currency Financial Statements of a
Foreign Entity Operating in a High Inflation Country

1. ABC Company formed a subsidiary in a foreign country on 1 January 20X1,
through a combination of debt and equity financing. The foreign subsidi-
ary acquired land on 1 January 20X1, which it rents to a local farmer. The
foreign subsidiary’s financial statements for its first year of operations, in
foreign currency units (FC), are as follows:

Foreign Subsidiary Income Statement

(in FC) 20X1
Rent revenue 1,000
Interest expense (250)
Net income 750
Foreign Subsidiary Balance Sheets
(in FC) 1 Jan 20X1 31 Dec 20X1
Cash 1,000 1,750
Land 9,000 9,000
Total 10,000 10,750
Note payable (5%) 5,000 5,000
Capital stock 5,000 5,000
Retained earnings 0 750
Total 10,000 10,750

The foreign country experienced significant inflation in 20X1, especially in
the second half of the year. The general price index during the year was as

follows:
1 January 20X1 100
Average, 20X1 125
31 December 20X1 200

The inflation rate in 20X1 was 100%, and the foreign country clearly meets
the definition of a highly inflationary economy.
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As a result of the high inflation rate in the foreign country, the FC weakened
substantially during the year relative to other currencies. Relevant exchange
rates between ABC'’s presentation currency (US dollars) and the FC during
20X1 were as follows:

USS per FC
1 January 20X1 1.00
Average, 20X1 0.80
31 December 20X1 0.50

What amounts will ABC Company include in its consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 20X1 related to this foreign
subsidiary?

Solution:

Assuming that ABC Company wishes to prepare its consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRS, the foreign subsidiary’s 20X1 financial
statements will be restated for local inflation and then translated into ABC'’s
presentation currency using the current exchange rate as follows:

Restatement Inflation- Exch.

FC Factor Adjusted FC  Rate uss
Cash 1,750 200/200 1,750 0.50 875
Land 9,000 200/100 18,000 0.50 9,000
Total 10,750 19,750 9,875
Note payable 5,000 200/200 5,000 0.50 2,500
Capital stock 5,000 200/100 10,000 0.50 5,000
Retained earnings 750 4,750 050 2,375
Total 10,750 19,750 9,875
Revenues 1,000 200/125 1,600 0.50 800
Interest expense (250) 200/125 (400) 0.50 (200)
Subtotal 750 1,200 600
Purchasing power
gain/loss 3,550 0.50 1,775
Net income 4,750 2,375

All financial statement items are restated to the GPI at 31 December 20X1.
The net purchasing power gain of FC3,550 can be explained as follows:

Gain from holding note payable FC5,000 x (200 — 100)/100 = FC5,000
Loss from holding beginning bal- -1,000 x (200 - 100)/100 = (1,000)
ance in cash

Loss from increase in cash during -750 x (200 — 125)/125 = (450)
the year

Net purchasing power gain (loss) FC3,550

Note that all inflation-adjusted FC amounts are translated at the current
exchange rate, and thus no translation adjustment is needed.

Now assume alternatively that ABC Company wishes to comply with US
GAAP in preparing its consolidated financial statements. In that case, the
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foreign subsidiary’s FC financial statements are translated into US dollars
using the temporal method, with the resulting translation gain/loss reported
in net income, as follows:

FC Exch. Rate uss
Cash 1,750 0.50 C 875
Land 9,000 1.00 H 9,000
Total 10,750 9,875
Note payable 5,000 0.50 C 2,500
Capital stock 5,000 1.00H 5,000
Retained earnings 750 2,375
Total 10,750 9,875
Revenues 1,000 0.80 A 800
Interest expense (250) 0.80 A (200)
Subtotal 750 600
Translation gain* 1,775
Net income 2,375

* The dividend is US$0 and the increase in retained earnings is US$2,375 (from the balance sheet);
so, net income is US$2,375, and thus the translation gain is US$1,775.

Note: C = current (period-end) exchange rate; A = average-for-the-year exchange rate; H = his-
torical exchange rate

Application of the temporal method as required by US GAAP in this situation
results in exactly the same US dollar amounts as were obtained under the restate/
translate approach required by IFRS. The equivalence of results under the two
approaches exists because of the exact one-to-one inverse relationship between the
change in the foreign country’s GPI and the change in the dollar value of the FC, as
predicted by the theory of purchasing power parity. The GPI doubled and the FC lost
half its purchasing power, which caused the FC to lose half its value in dollar terms.
To the extent that this relationship does not hold, and it rarely ever does, the two
different methodologies will generate different translated amounts. For example, if
the 31 December 20X1 exchange rate had adjusted to only US$0.60 per FC1 (rather
than US$0.50 per FC1), then translated net income would have been US$2,050 under
US GAAP and US$2,850 under IFRS.

USING BOTH TRANSLATION METHODS

] analyze how the current rate method and the temporal method affect
financial statements and ratios

Under both IFRS and US GAAP, a multinational corporation may need to use both
the current rate and the temporal methods of translation at a single point in time.
This situation will apply when some foreign subsidiaries have a foreign currency as
their functional currency (and therefore are translated using the current rate method)
and other foreign subsidiaries have the parent’s currency as their functional currency
(and therefore are translated using the temporal method). As a result, a multinational
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corporation’s consolidated financial statements can reflect simultaneously both a net
translation gain or loss that is included in the determination of net income (from
foreign subsidiaries translated using the temporal method) and a separate cumulative
translation adjustment reported on the balance sheet in stockholders’ equity (from
foreign subsidiaries translated using the current rate method).

Exxon Mobil Corporation is an example of a company that has a mixture of foreign
currency and parent currency functional currency subsidiaries, as evidenced by the
following excerpt from its 2011 annual report, Note 1 Summary of Accounting Policies:

Foreign Currency Translation. The Corporation selects the functional
reporting currency for its international subsidiaries based on the currency
of the primary economic environment in which each subsidiary operates.
Downstream and Chemical operations primarily use the local currency.
However, the US dollar is used in countries with a history of high infla-
tion (primarily in Latin America) and Singapore, which predominantly
sells into the US dollar export market. Upstream operations which are
relatively self-contained and integrated within a particular country, such
as Canada, the United Kingdom, Norway and continental Europe, use the
local currency. Some upstream operations, primarily in Asia and Africa,
use the US dollar because they predominantly sell crude and natural gas
production into US dollar—-denominated markets. For all operations, gains
or losses from remeasuring foreign currency transactions into the functional
currency are included in income.

Because of the judgment involved in determining the functional currency of foreign
operations, two companies operating in the same industry might apply this judgment
differently. For example, although Exxon Mobil has identified the local currency as the
functional currency for many of its international subsidiaries, Chevron Corporation
has designated the US dollar as the functional currency for substantially all of its
overseas operations, as indicated in its 2011 annual report, Note 1 Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies:

Currency Translation. The US dollar is the functional currency for substan-
tially all of the company’s consolidated operations and those of its equity
affiliates. For those operations, all gains and losses from currency remea-
surement are included in current period income. The cumulative transla-
tion effects for those few entities, both consolidated and affiliated, using
functional currencies other than the US dollar are included in “Currency
translation adjustment” on the Consolidated Statement of Equity.

Evaluating net income reported by Exxon Mobil against net income reported by
Chevron presents a comparability problem. This problem can be partially resolved
by adding the translation adjustments reported in stockholders’ equity to net income
for both companies. The feasibility of this solution depends on the level of detail
disclosed by multinational corporations with respect to the translation of foreign
currency financial statements.

Disclosures Related to Translation Methods

Both IFRS and US GAAP require two types of disclosures related to foreign currency
translation:

1. the amount of exchange differences recognized in net income, and

2. the amount of cumulative translation adjustment classified in a separate
component of equity, along with a reconciliation of the amount of cumula-
tive translation adjustment at the beginning and end of the period.
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US GAAP also specifically require disclosure of the amount of translation adjust-
ment transferred from stockholders’ equity and included in current net income as a
result of the disposal of a foreign entity.

The amount of exchange differences recognized in net income consists of

= foreign currency transaction gains and losses, and

= translation gains and losses resulting from application of the temporal
method.

Neither IFRS nor US GAAP require disclosure of the two separate amounts that
constitute the total exchange difference recognized in net income, and most companies
do not provide disclosure at that level of detail. However, BASF AG (shown earlier in
Exhibit 1) is an exception. Note 6 in BASF’s annual report separately discloses gains
from foreign currency and hedging transactions and gains from translation of financial
statements, both of which are included in the line item “Other Operating Income” on
the income statement, as shown below:

Other Operating Income

Million € 2011 2010

Reversal and adjustment of provisions 170 244

Revenue from miscellaneous revenue-generating activities 207 142

Income from foreign currency and hedging transactions 170 136

Income from the translation of financial statements in foreign 42 76

currencies

Gains on the disposal of property, plant and equipment and 666 101

divestitures

Reversals of impairments of property, plant and equipment — 40

Gains on the reversal of allowance for doubtful business-related 77 36

receivables

Other 676 365
2,008 1,140

The company provides a similar level of detail in Note 7 related to “Other Operating
Expenses”

Disclosures related to foreign currency translation are commonly found in both the
MD&A and the Notes to Financial Statements sections of an annual report. Example 8
uses the foreign currency translation—related disclosures made in 2011 by Yahoo! Inc.

EXAMPLE 8

Disclosures Related to Foreign Currency Translation:
Yahoo! Inc. 2011 Annual Report

Yahoo! Inc. is a US-based digital media company that reports in US dollars and
prepares financial statements in accordance with US GAAP.

The stockholders’ equity section of Yahoo!s consolidated balance sheets
includes the following line items:


Exhibit 1
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Using Both Translation Methods

31 December

(in thousands) 2010 2011

Common stock $1,306 $1,242
Additional paid-in capital 10,109,913 9,825,899
Treasury stock — (416,237)
Retained earnings 1,942,656 2,432,294
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 504,254 697,869

Total Yahoo! Inc. stockholders’ equity

12,558,129 12,541,067

The consolidated statement of stockholders’ equity provides detail on the
components comprising “Accumulated other comprehensive income.” The rel-
evant portion of that statement appears below:

Years Ended 31 December

2009 2010 2011
Accumulated other comprehensive
income
Balance, beginning of year 120,276 369,236 504,254
Net change in unrealized gains/losses on
available-for-sale securities, net of tax (1,936) 3,813 (16,272)
Foreign currency translation adjustments,
net of tax 250,896 131,205 209,887
Balance, end of year 369,236 504,254 697,869

Yahoo! reported the following net income in 2010 and 2011, as shown on

the consolidated statement of income:

2010

2011 % Change

Net income $1,244,628 $1,062,699 -14.6%

Yahoo!’s disclosures for its three geographic segments are disclosed in a note
to the financial statements. Revenue (excluding total acquisition costs) and direct

segment operating costs are shown below:

2009 2010 2011

Revenue ex-TAC by segment:

Americas 3,656,752 3,467,850 3,142,879
EMEA 390,456 368,884 407,467
Asia Pacific 635,281 751,495 830,482
Total revenue ex-TAC 4,682,489 4,588,229 4,380,828
Direct costs by segment:

Americas 620,690 568,017 560,016
EMEA 115,778 118,954 135,266
Asia Pacific 138,739 146,657 194,394

In the MD&A section of the 2011 annual report, Yahoo! describes the source

of its translation exposure:

Translation Exposure
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We are also exposed to foreign exchange rate fluctuations as we convert the
financial statements of our foreign subsidiaries and our investments in equity
interests into US dollars in consolidation. If there is a change in foreign currency
exchange rates, the conversion of the foreign subsidiaries’ financial statements
into US dollars results in a gain or loss which is recorded as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income which is part of stockholders’ equity.

Revenue ex-TAC (total acquisition costs) and related expenses generated
from our international subsidiaries are generally denominated in the currencies
of the local countries. The statements of income of our international operations
are translated into US dollars at exchange rates indicative of market rates during
each applicable period. To the extent the US dollar strengthens against foreign
currencies, the translation of these foreign currency-denominated transactions
results in reduced consolidated revenue and operating expenses. Conversely, our
consolidated revenue and operating expenses will increase if the US dollar weak-
ens against foreign currencies. Using the foreign currency exchange rates from
the year ended December 31, 2010, revenue ex-TAC for the Americas segment
for the year ended December 31, 2011 would have been lower than we reported
by $6 million, revenue ex-TAC for the EMEA segment would have been lower
than we reported by $16 million, and revenue ex-TAC for the Asia Pacific seg-
ment would have been lower than we reported by $59 million. Using the foreign
currency exchange rates from the year ended December 31, 2010, direct costs
for the Americas segment for the year ended December 31, 2011 would have
been lower than we reported by $2 million, direct costs for the EMEA segment
would have been lower than we reported by $5 million, and direct costs for the
Asia Pacific segment would have been lower than we reported by $15 million.

Using the information above, address the following questions:

1. By how much did accumulated other comprehensive income change during
the year ended 31 December 2011? Where can this information be found?

Accumulated other comprehensive income increased by $193,615 thousand
(from $504,254 thousand beginning balance to $697,869 thousand at the
end of the year). This information can be found in two places: the stockhold-
ers’ equity section of the balance sheet and the consolidated statement of
stockholders’ equity.

2. How much foreign currency translation adjustment was included in other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2011? How does
such an adjustment arise?

The amount of foreign currency translation adjustment included in other
comprehensive income for 2011 was $209,887 thousand. The foreign cur-
rency translation adjustment arises from applying the current rate method
to translate the foreign currency functional currency financial statements

of foreign subsidiaries. Assuming that Yahoo!’s foreign subsidiaries have
positive net assets, the positive translation adjustment in 2011 results from a
strengthening in foreign currencies (weakening in the US dollar).

3. If foreign currency translation adjustment had been included in net income
(rather than in other comprehensive income), how would the 2010/2011
change in income have been affected?

If foreign currency translation adjustment had been included in net income
(rather than other comprehensive income), the percentage decrease in
reported net income from 2010 to 2011 of 14.6% would have been smaller
(7.5%).
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2010 2011 % Change
Net income $1,244,628 $1,062,699 -14.6%
Foreign currency translation
adjustment 131,205 209,887
$1,375,833 $1,272,586 -7.5%

4. From what perspective does Yahoo! describe its foreign currency risk?

Yahoo! describes its foreign currency risk from the perspective of how the
US dollar fluctuates against foreign currencies because the dollar is the re-
porting currency. If the US dollar strengthens, then foreign currencies must
weaken, which will result in reduced revenues, expenses, and income from
foreign operations.

5. What percentage of total revenue ex-TAC was generated by the Asia-Pacific
segment for the year ended 31 December 2011? What would this percentage
have been if there had been no change in foreign currency exchange rates
during the year?

The Asia-Pacific segment represented 19.0% of total revenue ex-TAC. Infor-
mation from the MD&A disclosure can be used to determine that if there
had been no change in foreign currency exchange rates during the year, the
segment would have represented a slightly lower percentage of total revenue

(17.9%).
2011, if no change in
2011, as reported exchange rates

Revenue ex-TAC by

segment:

Americas 3,142,879 71.7% 6,000 3,136,879 73.0%
EMEA 407,467 9.3% 16,000 391,467 9.1%
Asia Pacific 830,482 19.0% 59,000 771,482 17.9%
Total revenue ex-TAC 4,380,828 100.0% 4,299,828 100.0%

As noted in the previous section, because of the judgment involved in determining
the functional currency of foreign operations, two companies operating in the same
industry might use different predominant translation methods. As a result, income
reported by these companies may not be directly comparable. Exxon Mobil Corporation
and Chevron Corporation, both operating in the petroleum industry, are an example
of two companies for which this is the case. Whereas Chevron has identified the US
dollar as the functional currency for substantially all of its foreign subsidiaries, Exxon
Mobil indicates that its downstream and chemical operations, as well as some of its
upstream operations, primarily use the local currency as the functional currency.
As a result, Chevron primarily uses the temporal method with translation gains and
losses included in income, while Exxon Mobil uses the current rate method to a much
greater extent, with the resulting translation adjustments excluded from income. To
make the income of these two companies more comparable, an analyst can use the
disclosures related to translation adjustments to include these as gains and losses in
determining an adjusted amount of income. Example 9 demonstrates this process for
Exxon Mobil and Chevron.
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EXAMPLE 9

Comparing Net Income for Exxon Mobil Corporation and
Chevron Corporation

1. Exxon Mobil Corporation uses the current rate method to translate the
foreign currency financial statements of a substantial number of its for-
eign subsidiaries and includes the resulting translation adjustments in the
“Accumulated other non-owner changes in equity” line item in the stock-
holders’ equity section of the consolidated balance sheet. Detail on the items
composing “Accumulated other non-owner changes in equity,” including
“Foreign exchange translation adjustment,” is provided in the consolidated
statement of shareholders’ equity.

Chevron Corporation uses the temporal method to translate the foreign
currency financial statements of substantially all of its foreign subsidiaries.
For those few entities using functional currencies other than the US dollar,
however, the current rate method is used and the resulting translation ad-
justments are included in the “Accumulated other comprehensive loss” com-
ponent of stockholders’ equity. The consolidated statement of stockholders’
equity provides detail on the changes in the component of stockholders’
equity, including a “Currency translation adjustment.”

Combining net income from the income statement and the change in the
cumulative translation adjustment account from the statement of stock-
holders’ equity, an adjusted net income in which translation adjustments are
treated as gains and losses can be calculated for each company, as shown in
the following table (amounts in millions of US dollars):

Exxon Mobil 2011 2010 2009
Reported net income 42,206 31,398 19,658
Translation adjustment (867) 1,034 3,629
Adjusted net income 41,339 32,432 23,287
Chevron 2011 2010 2009
Reported net income 27,008 19,136 10,563
Translation adjustment 17 6 60
Adjusted net income 27,025 19,142 10,623

The direction, positive or negative, of the translation adjustment is the same

for both companies in 2009 and 2010 but not in 2011. Overall, Exxon Mobil

has significantly larger translation adjustments than Chevron because Exxon
Mobil designates the local currency as functional currency for a substantial-
ly larger portion of its foreign operations.

A comparison of the relative amounts of net income generated by the two
companies is different depending on whether reported net income or adjust-
ed net income is used. Exxon Mobil’s reported net income in 2009 is 1.90
times larger than Chevron’s, whereas its adjusted net income is 2.2 times
larger, as shown in the following table.
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2011 2010 2009
Exxon Mobil reported net income/ 1.6 1.6 1.9
Chevron reported net income
Exxon Mobil adjusted net income/ 15 1.7 2.2

Chevron adjusted net income

Including translation adjustments as gains and losses in the measurement

of an adjusted net income provides a more comparable basis for evaluating
the profitability of two companies that use different predominant translation
methods. Bringing the translation adjustments into the calculation of adjust-
ed net income still might not provide truly comparable measures, however,
because of the varying effect that the different translation methods have on
reported net income.

Some analysts believe that all non-owner changes in stockholders’ equity, such
as translation adjustments, should be included in the determination of net income.
This approach is referred to as clean-surplus accounting, as opposed to dirty-surplus
accounting, in which some income items are reported as part of stockholders’ equity
rather than as gains and losses on the income statement. One of the dirty-surplus items
found in both IFRS and US GAAP financial statements is the translation adjustment
that arises when a foreign currency is determined to be the functional currency of a
foreign subsidiary. Disclosures made in accordance with IFRS and US GAAP provide
analysts with the detail needed to calculate net income on a clean-surplus basis. In
fact, both sets of standards now require companies to prepare a statement of com-
prehensive income in which unrealized gains and losses that have been deferred in
stockholders’ equity are included in a measure of comprehensive income.

MULTINATIONAL OPERATIONS AND A COMPANY'S
EFFECTIVE TAX RATE

] describe how multinational operations affect a company’s effective
tax rate

In general, multinational companies incur income taxes in the country in which the
profit is earned. Transfer prices, the prices that related companies charge on inter-
company transactions, affect the allocation of profit between the companies. An entity
with operations in multiple countries with different tax rates could aim to set transfer
prices such that a higher portion of its profit is allocated to lower tax rate jurisdictions.
Countries have established various laws and practices to prevent aggressive transfer
pricing practices. Transfer pricing has been defined as “the system of laws and practices
used by countries to ensure that goods, services and intellectual property transferred
between related companies are appropriately priced, based on market conditions,
such that profits are correctly reflected in each jurisdiction””® Also, most countries
are party to tax treaties that prevent double-taxation of corporate profits by granting
a credit for taxes paid to another country.

5 TP Analytics. http://www.tpanalytics.com.
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Whether and when a company also pays income taxes in its home country depends
on the specific tax regime. In the United States, for example, multinational companies
are liable only for a residual tax on foreign income, after applying a credit for foreign
taxes paid on that same income. The effect of the tax credit is that the multinational
company owes taxes on the foreign income only to the extent that the US corporate
tax rate exceeds the foreign rate of tax on that income. In addition, much of the foreign
income earned by US multinationals is not taxed until it is repatriated.®

An analyst can obtain information about the effect of multinational operations from
companies’ disclosure on effective tax rates. Accounting standards require companies
to provide an explanation of the relationship between tax expense and accounting
profit. The explanation is presented as a reconciliation between the average effective tax
rate (tax expense divided by pretax accounting profits) and the relevant statutory rate.
The purpose of this disclosure is to enable users of financial statements to understand
whether the relationship between tax expense and accounting profit in a particular
fiscal period is unusual and to understand the significant factors—including the effect
of foreign taxes—that could affect that relationship in the future.” Changes in the
effective tax rate impact of foreign taxes could be caused by changes in the applicable
tax rates and/or changes in the mix of profits earned in different jurisdictions.

EXAMPLE 10

Below are excerpts from the effective tax rate reconciliation disclosures by two
companies: Heineken N.V., a Dutch brewer, and Colgate Palmolive, a US con-
sumer products company. Use the disclosures to answer the following questions:

Heineken N.V. Annual Report 2011

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
13. Income tax expense (excerpt)

Reconciliation of the effective tax rate

In millions of EUR 2011 2010

Profit before income tax 2,025 1,982

Share of net profit of associates and joint ventures and (240) (193)
impairments thereof

Profit before income tax excluding share of profit of asso- 1,785 1,789
ciates and joint ventures (inclusive impairments thereof)

% 2011 % 2010

Income tax using the Company’s domestic tax rate 25.0 446 25.5 456

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 3.5 62 1.9 34

Effect of non-deductible expenses

Effect of tax incentives and exempt income (6.0) -107 -8.2 -146

Recognition of previously unrecognised temporary differences (0.5) -9 -0.1 -2

Utilisation or recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses (0.3) -5 -1.2 -21

Unrecognised current year tax losses 1.0 18 0.8 15

Effect of changes in tax rate

0.1 1 0.2 3

6 United States Government Accountability Office (GAO) Report GAO-08-950. US Multinational
Corporations: Effective Tax Rates Are Correlated with Where Income Is Reported. August 2008.
7 International Accounting Standard 12 Income Taxes, 484.
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7

% 2011 % 2010

Withholding taxes 1.5 26 14 25
Under/(over) provided in prior years (1.5) -27 -2.3 -42
Other reconciling items 0.1 2 0.5 9
26.1 465 22.5 403

COLGATE-PALMOLIVE COMPANY Annual Report 2011

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
10. Income Taxes (excerpt)

The difference between the statutory US federal income tax rate and the
Company’s global effective tax rate as reflected in the Consolidated Statements of
Income is as follows:

Percentage of Income before income taxes 2011 2010 2009
Tax at United States statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 0.4 1.1 0.5
Earnings taxed at other than United States

statutory rate (1.7) (4.6) (2.5)
Venezuela hyperinflationary transition charge — 2.8 —
Other, net (1.1) (1.7) (0.8)
Effective tax rate 32.6% 32.6% 32.2%

1. Which company’s home country has a lower statutory tax rate?

Solution:

Heineken’s home country tax rate (25.0% in 2011) is lower than Colgate
Palmolive’s home country tax rate (35.0%).

2. What was the impact of multinational operations on each company’s 2011
effective tax rate?

Solution:

The line item labeled “Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions” indicates
that multinational operations increased Heineken’s effective tax rate by

3.5 percentage points. The line item labeled “Earnings taxed at other than
United States statutory rate” indicates that multinational operations lowered
Colgate Palmolive’s effective tax rate by 1.7 percentage points in 2011.

3. Changes in the tax rate impact of multinational operations can often be
explained by changes of profit mix between countries with higher or lower
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marginal tax rates. What do Heineken’s disclosures suggest about the geo-
graphic mix of its 2011 profit?

Solution:

Multinational operations increased Heineken’s effective tax rate by 3.5 per-
centage points in 2011 but only 1.9 percentage points in 2010. This greater
impact in 2011 could indicate that Heineken’s profit mix in 2011 shifted to
countries with higher marginal tax rates. (The change could also indicate
that the marginal tax rates increased in the countries in which Heineken
earns profits.)

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES ON THE EFFECTS OF
FOREIGN CURRENCY

] explain how changes in the components of sales affect the
sustainability of sales growth

] analyze how currency fluctuations potentially affect financial results,
given a company’s countries of operation

We turn now to the question of how an analyst can use multinational companies’
disclosures to better understand the effects of foreign currency.

Disclosures Related to Sales Growth

Companies often make important disclosures about foreign currency effect on sales
growth in the MD&A. Additional disclosures are also often made in financial presen-
tations to the analyst community.

For a multinational company, sales growth is driven not only by changes in volume
and price but also by changes in the exchange rates between the reporting currency
and the currency in which sales are made. Arguably, growth in sales that comes from
changes in volume or price is more sustainable than growth in sales that comes from
changes in exchange rates. Further, management arguably has greater control over
growth in sales resulting from greater volume or higher price than from changes in
exchange rates. Thus, an analyst will consider the foreign currency effect on sales
growth both for forecasting future performance and for evaluating a management
team’s historical performance.

Companies often include disclosures about the effect of exchange rates on sales
growth in the MD&A. Such disclosures may also appear in other financial reports,
such as company presentations to investors or earnings announcements. Exhibit 6
provides an example of disclosure from the MD&A, and Example 11 illustrates even
more detailed disclosure from a company’s report to analysts.

General Mills” 2011 annual report includes the following disclosures about the
components of net sales growth in its international segment. The first excerpt is
from the MD&A, and the second is from a supplementary schedule reconciling
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non-GAAP measures. Although the overall effect on international net sales
growth was minimal “flat,” the geographic detail provided in the supplementary
schedule shows that the effects varied widely by region.

Excerpt from MD&A

Components of International Net Sales Growth

Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010
vs. 2010 vs. 2009
Contributions from volume growth? 6 pts Flat
Net price realization and mix 1pt 3 pts
Foreign currency exchange Flat 1pt
Net sales growth 7 pts 4 pts

@ Measured in tons based on the stated weight of our product shipments.

Excerpt from Supplementary Schedule on Non-GAAP
Measures

International Segment and Region Sales Growth Rates Excluding Impact of Foreign
Exchange

Fiscal Year 2011

Percentage
change in Percentage change in
Net Salesas  Impact of Foreign Net Sales on Constant
Reported Currency Exchange Currency Basis
Europe 5% -2% 7%
Canada 8 5 3
Asia/Pacific 14 5 9
Latin America -5 -16 11
Total International 7% Flat 7%
segment
EXAMPLE 11

Use the information disclosed in Procter & Gamble Company’s CAGNY
[Consumer Analyst Group of New York] conference slides to answer the fol-
lowing questions:

1. Why does the company present “organic sales growth”?

2. On average, for the four quarters beginning October 2008 and ending
September 2009, how did changes in foreign exchange rates affect
P&G’s reported sales growth?

The Procter & Gamble Company
2012 CAGNY CONFERENCE SLIDES
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Reg G Reconciliation of Non-GAAP measures

In accordance with the SEC’s Regulation G, the following provides defini-
tions of the non-GAAP measures used in the earnings call and slides with the
reconciliation to the most closely related GAAP measure.

1. Organic Sales Growth:

Organic sales growth is a non-GAAP measure of sales growth exclud-
ing the impacts of acquisitions, divestitures and foreign exchange from
year-over-year comparisons. We believe this provides investors with a
more complete understanding of underlying sales trends by providing
sales growth on a consistent basis. “Organic sales” is also one of the
measures used to evaluate senior management and is a factor in deter-
mining their at-risk compensation. The reconciliation of reported sales
growth to organic sales is as follows:

Foreign Acquisition/

Net Sales Exchange Divestiture  Organic Sales
Total P&G Growth Impact Impact Growth
JAS 06 27% -1% -20% 6%
OND 06 8% -3% 0% 5%
JEMO7 8% -2% 0% 6%
AM]J07 8% -3% 0% 5%
JASO07 8% -3% 0% 5%
ONDO07 9% -5% 1% 5%
JEMO8 9% -5% 1% 5%
AM]J08 10% -6% 1% 5%
JAS08 9% -5% 1% 5%
Average—JAS 06— 11% -4% -2% 5%
JAS 08
ONDO08 -3% 5% 0% 2%
JEMO09 -8% 9% 0% 1%
AM]J09 -11% 9% 1% -1%
JAS09 -6% 7% 1% 2%
Average—OND =7% 8% 0% 1%
08-JAS 09
ONDO09 6% -2% 1% 5%
JEMO010 7% -3% 0% 4%
AMJO10 5% -1% 0% 4%
JASO010 2% 3% -1% 4%
ONDO010 2% 2% -1% 3%
JEMO11 5% -1% 0% 4%
AM]J011 10% -5% 0% 5%
JASO11 9% -5% 0% 4%
ONDO11 4% 0% 0% 4%
Average—-OND 5% -1% 0% 4%
09-OND 11
JEM 12 (Estimate) 0% to 2% 3% 0% 3% to 5%

AM] 12(Estimate) -1% to 2% 5% to 4% 0% 4% to 6%
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Solution to 1:

According to its disclosures, Procter & Gamble presents “organic sales growth”
because the company believes it provides investors with a better understanding
of underlying sales trends and because it is one of the measures used for man-
agement evaluation and compensation.

Solution to 2:

The average effect of foreign exchange changes during the period was negative:
Although organic sales grew by 1%, the company reported net sales growth of
-7% as a result of a negative 8% foreign exchange effect In other words, if no
foreign exchange effect had occurred, reported sales growth and organic sales
growth would have been equal, both at 1%.

Disclosures Related to Major Sources of Foreign Exchange Risk

Disclosures about the effects of currency fluctuations often include sensitivity anal-
yses. For example, a company might describe the major sources of foreign exchange
risk given its countries of operations and then disclose the profit impact of a given
change in exchange rates.

Exhibit 7 includes two excerpts from the 2011 BMW AG annual report. The
first excerpt, from the management report, describes the source of the company’s
currency risks and its approach to measuring and managing those risks. The second
excerpt, from the additional disclosures section of the notes, presents the results of
the company’s sensitivity analysis.

Exhibit 7: Excerpts from 2011 BMW AG Annual Report

Excerpt from the management report describing the source of the company’s
currency risks and its approach to measuring and managing those risks:

“The sale of vehicles outside the euro zone gives rise to exchange risks.
Three currencies (the Chinese renminbi, the US dollar and the British pound)
accounted for approximately two-thirds of the BMW Group’s foreign currency
exposures in 2011. We employ cash-flow-at-risk models and scenario analyses
to measure exchange rate risks. These tools provide information which serves
as the basis for decision-making in the area of currency management.

“We manage currency risks both at a strategic (medium and long term)
and at an operating level (short and medium term). In the medium and long
term, foreign exchange risks are managed by “natural hedging’, in other words
by increasing the volume of purchases denominated in foreign currency or
increasing the volume of local production. In this context, the expansion of the
plant in Spartanburg, USA, and the new plant under construction in Tiexi* at
the Shenyang site in China are helping to reduce foreign exchange risks in two
major sales markets. For operating purposes (short and medium term), currency
risks are hedged on the financial markets. Hedging transactions are entered into
only with financial partners of good credit standing. Counterparty risk manage-
ment procedures are carried out continuously to monitor the creditworthiness
of those partners”

Excerpt, from the additional disclosures section of the notes, presenting the
results of the company’s sensitivity analysis risks:
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“The BMW Group measures currency risk using a cash-flow-at-risk model.
The starting point for analysing currency risk with this model is the identifica-
tion of forecast foreign currency transactions or “exposures” At the end of the
reporting period, the principal exposures for the coming year were as follows:

in € million 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Euro/Chinese Renminbi 7,114 6,256
Euro/US Dollar 4,281 3,888
Euro/British Pound 3,266 3,056
Euro/Japanese Yen 1,334 1,086

“In the next stage, these exposures are compared to all hedges that are in place.
The net cash flow surplus represents an uncovered risk position. The cash-
flow-at-risk approach involves allocating the impact of potential exchange rate
fluctuations to operating cash flows on the basis of probability distributions.
Volatilities and correlations serve as input factors to assess the relevant prob-
ability distributions.

“The potential negative impact on earnings for the current period is com-
puted on the basis of current market prices and exposures to a confidence level
of 95% and a holding period of up to one year for each currency. Aggregation
of these results creates a risk reduction effect due to correlations between the
various portfolios.

“The following table shows the potential negative impact for the BMW
Group—measured on the basis of the cash-flow-at-risk approach—attributable
at the balance sheet date to unfavourable changes in exchange rates for the
principal currencies”

in € million 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Euro/Chinese Renminbi 180 265
Euro/US Dollar 121 103
Euro/British Pound 182 184
Euro/Japanese Yen 23 30

The level of detail varies in companies’ disclosures about sensitivity of earnings
to foreign currency fluctuations, with some companies providing information on the
range of possible values of foreign exchange rates. An analyst can use sensitivity anal-
ysis disclosures in conjunction with his or her own forecast of exchange rates when
developing forecasts of profit and cash flow. When detailed disclosures are provided,
the analyst can explicitly incorporate foreign exchange impact. Alternatively, in the
absence of detailed disclosures, the analyst can incorporate the sensitivity analysis
when calibrating the downside risks to base-case profit and cash flow forecasts.

SUMMARY

The translation of foreign currency amounts is an important accounting issue for
companies with multinational operations. Foreign exchange rate fluctuations cause
the functional currency values of foreign currency assets and liabilities resulting from
foreign currency transactions as well as from foreign subsidiaries to change over
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time. These changes in value give rise to foreign exchange differences that companies’
financial statements must reflect. Determining how to measure these foreign exchange
differences and whether to include them in the calculation of net income are the major
issues in accounting for multinational operations.

The local currency is the national currency of the country where an entity
is located. The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which an entity operates. Normally, the local currency is an
entity’s functional currency. For accounting purposes, any currency other
than an entity’s functional currency is a foreign currency for that entity. The
currency in which financial statement amounts are presented is known as
the presentation currency. In most cases, the presentation currency will be
the same as the local currency.

When an export sale (import purchase) on an account is denominated in a
foreign currency, the sales revenue (inventory) and foreign currency account
receivable (account payable) are translated into the seller’s (buyer’s) func-
tional currency using the exchange rate on the transaction date. Any change
in the functional currency value of the foreign currency account receivable
(account payable) that occurs between the transaction date and the settle-
ment date is recognized as a foreign currency transaction gain or loss in net
income.

If a balance sheet date falls between the transaction date and the settlement
date, the foreign currency account receivable (account payable) is translated
at the exchange rate at the balance sheet date. The change in the functional
currency value of the foreign currency account receivable (account pay-
able) is recognized as a foreign currency transaction gain or loss in income.
Analysts should understand that these gains and losses are unrealized at
the time they are recognized and might or might not be realized when the
transactions are settled.

A foreign currency transaction gain arises when an entity has a foreign
currency receivable and the foreign currency strengthens or it has a foreign
currency payable and the foreign currency weakens. A foreign currency
transaction loss arises when an entity has a foreign currency receivable and
the foreign currency weakens or it has a foreign currency payable and the
foreign currency strengthens.

Companies must disclose the net foreign currency gain or loss included

in income. They may choose to report foreign currency transaction gains
and losses as a component of operating income or as a component of
non-operating income. If two companies choose to report foreign currency
transaction gains and losses differently, operating profit and operating profit
margin might not be directly comparable between the two companies.

To prepare consolidated financial statements, foreign currency financial
statements of foreign operations must be translated into the parent com-
pany’s presentation currency. The major conceptual issues related to this
translation process are, What is the appropriate exchange rate for translat-
ing each financial statement item, and how should the resulting translation
adjustment be reflected in the consolidated financial statements? Two differ-
ent translation methods are used worldwide.

Under the current rate method, assets and liabilities are translated at the
current exchange rate, equity items are translated at historical exchange
rates, and revenues and expenses are translated at the exchange rate that
existed when the underlying transaction occurred. For practical reasons, an
average exchange rate is often used to translate income items.
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= Under the temporal method, monetary assets (and non-monetary assets
measured at current value) and monetary liabilities (and non-monetary
liabilities measured at current value) are translated at the current exchange
rate. Non-monetary assets and liabilities not measured at current value
and equity items are translated at historical exchange rates. Revenues and
expenses, other than those expenses related to non-monetary assets, are
translated at the exchange rate that existed when the underlying transaction
occurred. Expenses related to non-monetary assets are translated at the
exchange rates used for the related assets.

= Under both IFRS and US GAAP, the functional currency of a foreign oper-
ation determines the method to be used in translating its foreign currency
financial statements into the parent’s presentation currency and whether
the resulting translation adjustment is recognized in income or as a separate
component of equity.

= The foreign currency financial statements of a foreign operation that has a
foreign currency as its functional currency are translated using the current
rate method, and the translation adjustment is accumulated as a separate
component of equity. The cumulative translation adjustment related to a
specific foreign entity is transferred to net income when that entity is sold or
otherwise disposed of. The balance sheet risk exposure associated with the
current rate method is equal to the foreign subsidiary’s net asset position.

= The foreign currency financial statements of a foreign operation that has
the parent’s presentation currency as its functional currency are translated
using the temporal method, and the translation adjustment is included as
a gain or loss in income. US GAAP refer to this process as remeasurement.
The balance sheet exposure associated with the temporal method is equal
to the foreign subsidiary’s net monetary asset/liability position (adjusted for
non-monetary items measured at current value).

= JFRS and US GAAP differ with respect to the translation of foreign currency
financial statements of foreign operations located in a highly inflationary
country. Under IFRS, the foreign currency statements are first restated for
local inflation and then translated using the current exchange rate. Under
US GAAD, the foreign currency financial statements are translated using the
temporal method, with no restatement for inflation.

= Applying different translation methods for a given foreign operation can
result in very different amounts reported in the parent’s consolidated finan-
cial statements.

=  Companies must disclose the total amount of translation gain or loss
reported in income and the amount of translation adjustment included in
a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Companies are not required
to separately disclose the component of translation gain or loss arising from
foreign currency transactions and the component arising from application
of the temporal method.

= Disclosures related to translation adjustments reported in equity can be
used to include these as gains and losses in determining an adjusted amount
of income following a clean-surplus approach to income measurement.

= Foreign currency translation rules are well established in both IFRS and US
GAAP. Fortunately, except for the treatment of foreign operations located in
highly inflationary countries, the two sets of standards have no major differ-
ences in this area. The ability to understand the impact of foreign currency
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translation on the financial results of a company using IFRS should apply
equally well in the analysis of financial statements prepared in accordance
with US GAAP.

= An analyst can obtain information about the tax impact of multinational
operations from companies’ disclosure on effective tax rates.

= For a multinational company, sales growth is driven not only by changes
in volume and price but also by changes in the exchange rates between the
reporting currency and the currency in which sales are made. Arguably,
growth in sales that comes from changes in volume or price is more sustain-
able than growth in sales that comes from changes in exchange rates.
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PRACTICE PROBLEMS

The following information relates to questions
1-9

Adrienne Yu is an analyst with an international bank. She analyzes Ambleu S.A.
(“Ambleu”), a multinational corporation, for a client presentation. Ambleu com-
plies with IFRS, and its presentation currency is the Norvoltian krone (NVK).
Ambleu’s two subsidiaries, Ngcorp and Cendard, have different functional
currencies: Ngcorp uses the Bindiar franc (FB) and Cendaré uses the Crenland
guinea (CRG).

Yu first analyzes the following three transactions to assess foreign currency trans-
action exposure:

Transaction 1: Cendar6 sells goods to a non-domestic customer that pays in dollars
on the purchase date.

Transaction 2: Ngcorp obtains a loan in Bindiar francs on 1 June 2016 from a
European bank with the Norvoltian krone as its presentation currency.

Transaction 3: Ambleu imports inventory from Bindiar under 45-day credit terms,
and the payment is to be denominated in Bindiar francs.

Yu then reviews Transactions 2 and 3. She determines the method that Ambleu
would use to translate Transaction 2 into its 31 December 2016 consolidated
financial statements. While analyzing Transaction 3, Yu notes that Ambleu pur-
chased inventory on 1 June 2016 for FB27,000/ton. Ambleu pays for the inven-
tory on 15 July 2016. Exhibit 1 presents selected economic data for Bindiar and
Crenland.

Exhibit 1: Selected Economic Data for Bindiar and Crenland

Spot Spot
FB/NVK Bindiar CRG/NVK Crenland
Exchange Inflation Exchange Inflation Crenland
Date Rate Rate (%) Rate Rate (%) GPI
31 Dec 2015 — — 5.6780 — 100.0
1 Jun 2016 4.1779 — — — —
15 Jul 2016 4.1790 — — — —
31 Dec 2016 4.2374 3.1 8.6702 40.6 140.6
Average 2016 4.3450 — — — —
31 Dec 2017 4.3729 2.1 14.4810 62.3 228.2
Average 2017 4.3618 — 11.5823 — 186.2

Prior to reviewing the 2016 and 2017 consolidated financial statements of Am-
bleu, Yu meets with her supervisor, who asks Yu the following two questions:

Question 1 Would a foreign currency translation loss reduce Ambleu’s net
sales growth?
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Question 2 According to IFRS, what disclosures should be included relat-
ing to Ambleu’s treatment of foreign currency translation for
Ngcorp?

To complete her assignment, Yu analyzes selected information and notes from
Ambleu’s 2016 and 2017 consolidated financial statements, presented in Exhibit
2.

Exhibit 2: Selected Information and Notes from Consolidated Financial Statements of Ambleu S.A. (in NVK

millions)
Income Statement 2017 2016 Balance Sheet 2017 2016
Revenue () 1,069 1,034 Cash® 467 425
Profit before tax 294 269 Intangibles 4 575 570
Income tax expense @ -96 -94 — — —
Net profit 198 175 — — —

Note 1: Cendaro’s revenue for 2017 is CRG125.23 million.

Note 2:

2017 2016

(inNVK (in NVK

Reconciliation of Income Tax Expense millions) millions)
Income tax at Ambleu’s domestic tax rate 102 92
Effect of tax rates on non-domestic jurisdictions -14 -9
Unrecognized current year tax losses 8 11
Income tax expense 96 94

Note 3: The parent company transferred NVK15 million to Cendaré on 1 January 2016 to purchase a
patent from a competitor for CRG85.17 million.

Note 4: The 2016 consolidated balance sheet includes Ngcorp’s total intangible assets of NVK3 million,
which were added to Ngcorp’s balance sheet on 15 July 2016.

1. Which transaction would generate foreign currency transaction exposure for
Ambleu?

A. Transaction 1
B. Transaction 2

C. Transaction 3

2. Yu’s determination regarding Transaction 2 should be based on the currency of

the:
A. loan.
B. bank.

C. borrower.

3. Based on Exhibit 1, what is the foreign exchange gain resulting from Transaction
3 on the 31 December 2016 financial statements?

A. NVK1.70 per ton
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B. NVK90.75 per ton
(. NVK248.54 per ton
4. What is the best response to Question 1?
A. Yes
B. No, because it would reduce organic sales growth

C. No, because it would reduce net price realization and mix

5. Based on Exhibit 1, the best response to Question 2 is that Ambleu should
disclose:

A. arestatement for local inflation.
B. that assets carried at historical cost are translated at historical rates.

(. the amount of foreign exchange differences included in net income.

6. Based on Exhibit 1 and Note 1 in Exhibit 2, the amount that Ambleu should
include in its 31 December 2017 revenue from Cendar¢ is closest to:

A. NVK10.60 million.
B. NVK13.25 million.

(. NVK19.73 million.

7. Based on Exhibit 2 and Note 2, the change in Ambleu’s consolidated income tax
rate from 2016 to 2017 most likely resulted from a:

A. decrease in Ambleu’s domestic tax rate.
B. more profitable business mix in its subsidiaries.

C. stronger Norvoltian krone relative to the currencies of its subsidiaries.

8. Based on Exhibit 1 and Note 3 in Exhibit 2, the cumulative translation loss
recognized by Ambleu related to the patent purchase on the 31 December 2017
financial statements is closest to:

A. NVKO0.39 million.
B. NVK1.58 million

C. NVK9.12 million.

9. Based on Exhibit 1 and Note 4 in Exhibit 2, the total intangible assets on Ngcorp’s
balance sheet as of 31 December 2016 are closest to:

A. FBI12.54 million.
B. FB12.71 million.

(. FB13.04 million.
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The following information relates to questions
10-16

Triofind, Inc. (Triofind), based in the country of Norvolt, provides wireless
services to various countries, including Norvolt, Borliand, Abuelio, and Certait.
The company’s presentation currency is the Norvolt euro (NER), and Triofind
complies with IFRS. Triofind has two wholly owned subsidiaries, located in
Borliand and Abuelio. The Borliand subsidiary (Triofind-B) was established on 30
June 2016, by Triofind both investing NER1,000,000, which was converted into
Borliand dollars (BRD), and borrowing an additional BRD500,000.

Marie Janssen, a financial analyst in Triofind’s Norvolt headquarters office, trans-
lates Triofind-B’s financial statements using the temporal method. Non-monetary
assets are measured at cost under the lower of cost or market rule. Spot BRD/
NER exchange rates are presented in Exhibit 1, and the balance sheet for
Triofind-B is presented in Exhibit 2.

Exhibit 1: Spot BRD/NER Exchange Rates

Date BRD per NER
30 June 2016 1.15
Weighted-average rate when inventory was acquired (2016) 1.19
31 December 2016 1.20
Weighted-average rate when inventory was acquired (2017) 1.18
30 June 2017 1.17

Exhibit 2: Triofind-B Balance Sheet for 2016 and 2017 (BRD)

31 Liabilities and 31
December 30 June Stockholders’ December 30 June
Assets 2016 2017 Equity 2016 2017
Cash 900,000 1,350,000 Notes payable 500,000 500,000
Inventory 750,000 500,000 Common stock 1,150,000 1,150,000
Retained earnings 200,000
Total 1,650,000 1,850,000 Total 1,650,000 1,850,000

Janssen next analyzes Triofind’s Abuelio subsidiary (Triofind-A), which uses the
current rate method to translate its results into Norvolt euros. Triofind-A, which
prices its goods in Abuelio pesos (ABP), sells mobile phones to a customer in
Certait on 31 May 2017 and receives payment of 1 million Certait rand (CRD) on
31 July 2017.

On 31 May 2017, Triofind-A also received NER50,000 from Triofind and used the
funds to purchase a new warehouse in Abuelio. Janssen translates the financial
statements of Triofind-A as of 31 July 2017 and must determine the appropriate
value for the warehouse in Triofind’s presentation currency. She observes that
the cumulative Abuelio inflation rate exceeded 100% from 2015 to 2017. Spot
exchange rates and inflation data are presented in Exhibit 3.
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Exhibit 3: Spot Exchange Rates and Inflation Data for Triofind-A

Abuelio Monthly Inflation

Date NER per CRD  NER per ABP Rate (%)
31 May 2017 0.2667 0.0496 —
30 June 2017 0.2703 0.0388 25
31 July 2017 0.2632 0.0312 22

Janssen gathers corporate tax rate data and company disclosure information to
include in Triofind’s annual report. She determines that the corporate tax rates
for Abuelio, Norvolt, and Borliand are 35%, 34%, and 0%, respectively, and that
Norvolt exempts the non-domestic income of multinationals from taxation.
Triofind-B constitutes 25% of Triofind’s net income, and Triofind-A constitutes
15%. Janssen also gathers data on components of net sales growth in different
countries, presented in Exhibit 4.

Exhibit 4: Components of Net Sales Growth (%) Fiscal Year 2017

Contribution from Contribution from Foreign Currency  Net Sales

Country Volume Growth Price Growth Exchange Growth
Abuelio 7 6 -2 11
Borliand 4 5 4 13
Norvolt 7 3 — 10

10. Based on Exhibits 1 and 2 and Janssen’s translation method, total assets for
Triofind-B translated into Triofind’s presentation currency as of 31 December
2016 are closest to:

A. NER1,375,000.
B. NER1,380,252.

(. NER1,434,783.

11. Based on Exhibits 1 and 2, the translation adjustment for Triofind-B’s liabilities
into Triofind’s presentation currency for the six months ended 31 December
2016 is:

A. negative.
B. zero.

(. positive.

12. Based on Exhibits 1 and 2 and Janssen’s translation method, retained earnings for
Triofind-B translated into Triofind’s presentation currency as of 30 June 2017 are
closest to:

A. NER150,225.
B. NER170,940.

C. NER172,414.
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13. The functional currency for Triofind-A’s sale of mobile phones to a customer in
Certait is the:

A. Certait real.
B. Norvolt euro.

C. Abuelio peso.

14. Based on Exhibit 3, the value of the new warehouse in Abuelio on Triofind’s bal-
ance sheet as of 31 July 2017 is closest to:

A. NER31,452.
B. NER47,964.
(. NERS50,000.
15. Relative to its domestic tax rate, Triofind’s effective tax rate is most likely:
A. lower.
B. the same.
C. higher.
16. Based on Exhibit 4, the country with the highest sustainable sales growth is:
A. Norvolt.
B. Abuelio.

C. Borliand.

The following information relates to questions
17-22

Pedro Ruiz is an analyst for a credit rating agency. One of the companies he
follows, Eurexim SA, is based in France and complies with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS). Ruiz has learned that Eurexim used EUR220 million
of its own cash and borrowed an equal amount to open a subsidiary in Ukraine.
The funds were converted into hryvnia (UAH) on 31 December 20X1 at an
exchange rate of EUR1.00 = UAH6.70 and used to purchase UAH1,500 million in
fixed assets and UAH300 million of inventories.

Ruiz is concerned about the effect that the subsidiary’s results might have on
Eurexim’s consolidated financial statements. He calls Eurexim’s Chief Financial
Officer, but learns little. Eurexim is not willing to share sales forecasts and has not
even made a determination as to the subsidiary’s functional currency.

Absent more useful information, Ruiz decides to explore various scenarios to
determine the potential impact on Eurexim’s consolidated financial statements.
Ukraine is not currently in a hyperinflationary environment, but Ruiz is con-
cerned that this situation could change. Ruiz also believes the euro will appreciate
against the hryvnia for the foreseeable future.

17. If Ukraine’s economy becomes highly inflationary, Eurexim will most likely trans-
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late inventory by:

A. restating for inflation and using the temporal method.
B. restating for inflation and using the current exchange rate.

C. using the temporal method with no restatement for inflation.

Given Ruiz’s belief about the direction of exchange rates, Eurexim’s gross profit
margin would be highest if it accounts for the Ukraine subsidiary’s inventory
using:

A. FIFO and the temporal method.
B. FIFO and the current rate method.

(. weighted-average cost and the temporal method.

If the euro is chosen as the Ukraine subsidiary’s functional currency, Eurexim will
translate its fixed assets using the:

A. average rate for the reporting period.
B. rate in effect when the assets were purchased.

(. rate in effect at the end of the reporting period.

If the euro is chosen as the Ukraine subsidiary’s functional currency, Eurexim will
translate its accounts receivable using the:

A. rate in effect at the transaction date.
B. average rate for the reporting period.

C. rate in effect at the end of the reporting period.

If the hryvnia is chosen as the Ukraine subsidiary’s functional currency, Eurexim
will translate its inventory using the:

A. average rate for the reporting period.
B. rate in effect at the end of the reporting period.

C. rate in effect at the time the inventory was purchased.

Based on the information available and Ruiz’s expectations regarding exchange
rates, if the hryvnia is chosen as the Ukraine subsidiary’s functional currency,
Eurexim will most likely report:

A. an addition to the cumulative translation adjustment.
B. a translation gain or loss as a component of net income.

(. asubtraction from the cumulative translation adjustment.
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The following information relates to questions
23-28

Consolidated Motors is a US-based corporation that sells mechanical engines
and components used by electric utilities. Its Canadian subsidiary, Consol-Can,
operates solely in Canada. It was created on 31 December 20X1, and Consolidat-
ed Motors determined at that time that it should use the US dollar as its func-
tional currency.

Chief Financial Officer Monica Templeton was asked to explain to the board of
directors how exchange rates affect the financial statements of both Consol-Can
and the consolidated financial statements of Consolidated Motors. For the pre-
sentation, Templeton collects Consol-Can’s balance sheets for the years ended
20X1 and 20X2 (Exhibit 1), as well as relevant exchange rate information (Exhibit
2).

Exhibit 1: Consol-Can Condensed Balance Sheet for Fiscal Years Ending 31

December (C$ millions)

Account 20X2 20X1
Cash 135 167
Accounts receivable 98 —
Inventory 77 30
Fixed assets 100 100
Accumulated depreciation (10) —
Total assets 400 297
Accounts payable 77 22
Long-term debt 175 175
Common stock 100 100
Retained earnings 48 —
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 400 297

Exhibit 2: Exchange Rate Information

USS$/CS
Rate on 31 December 20X1 0.86
Average rate in 20X2 0.92
Weighted-average rate for inventory purchases 0.92
Rate on 31 December 20X2 0.95

Templeton explains that Consol-Can uses the FIFO inventory accounting method
and that purchases of C$300 million and the sell-through of that inventory oc-
curred evenly throughout 20X2. Her presentation includes reporting the translat-
ed amounts in US dollars for each item, as well as associated translation-related
gains and losses. The board responds with several questions.

=  Would there be a reason to change the functional currency to the Canadian
dollar?
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= Would there be any translation effects for Consolidated Motors if the func-
tional currency for Consol-Can were changed to the Canadian dollar?

=  Would a change in the functional currency have any impact on financial
statement ratios for the parent company?

=  What would be the balance sheet exposure to translation effects if the func-
tional currency were changed?

23. After translating Consol-Can’s inventory and long-term debt into the parent
company’s currency (US$), the amounts reported on Consolidated Motor’s finan-
cial statements on 31 December 20X2 would be closest to (in millions):

A. $71 for inventory and $161 for long-term debt.
B. $71 for inventory and $166 for long-term debt.

C. $73 for inventory and $166 for long-term debt.

24. After translating Consol-Can’s 31 December 20X2 balance sheet into the par-
ent company’s currency (US$), the translated value of retained earnings will be
closest to:

A. $41 million.
B. $44 million.

C. $46 million.

25. In response to the board’s first question, Templeton would most likely reply that
such a change would be justified if:

A. the inflation rate in the United States became hyperinflationary.
B. management wanted to flow more of the gains through net income.

(. Consol-Can were making autonomous decisions about operations, invest-
ing, and financing.

26. In response to the board’s second question, Templeton should reply that if the
change is made, the consolidated financial statements for Consolidated Motors
would begin to recognize:

A. realized gains and losses on monetary assets and liabilities.
B. realized gains and losses on non-monetary assets and liabilities.

(. unrealized gains and losses on non-monetary assets and liabilities.

27. In response to the board’s third question, Templeton should note that the change
will most likely affect:

A. the cash ratio.
B. fixed asset turnover.

C. receivables turnover.

28. In response to the board’s fourth question, the balance sheet exposure (in C$
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millions) would be closest to:

A. -19.
B. 148.
C. 400.

The following information relates to questions
29-34

Romulus Corp. is a US-based company that prepares its financial statements in
accordance with US GAAP. Romulus Corp. has two European subsidiaries: Julius
and Augustus. Anthony Marks, CFA, is an analyst trying to forecast Romulus’s
20X2 results. Marks has prepared separate forecasts for both Julius and Augus-
tus, as well as for Romulus’s other operations (prior to consolidating the results.)
He is now considering the impact of currency translation on the results of both
the subsidiaries and the parent company’s consolidated financials. His research
has provided the following insights:

= The results for Julius will be translated into US dollars using the current rate
method.

= The results for Augustus will be translated into US dollars using the tempo-
ral method.

= Both Julius and Augustus use the FIFO method to account for inventory.
= Julius had year-end 20X1 inventory of €340 million. Marks believes Julius
will report €2,300 in sales and €1,400 in cost of sales in 20X2.

Marks also forecasts the 20X2 year-end balance sheet for Julius (Exhibit 1). Data
and forecasts related to euro/dollar exchange rates are presented in Exhibit 2.

Exhibit 1: Forecasted Balance Sheet Data for Julius, 31

December 20X2 (€ millions)

Cash 50
Accounts receivable 100
Inventory 700
Fixed assets 1,450
Total assets 2,300
Liabilities 700
Common stock 1,500
Retained earnings 100

Total liabilities and shareholder equity 2,300
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Exhibit 2: Exchange Rates ($/€)

31 December 20X1 1.47
31 December 20X2 1.61
20X2 average 1.54
Rate when fixed assets were acquired 1.25
Rate when 20X1 inventory was acquired 1.39
Rate when 20X2 inventory was acquired 1.49

29. Based on the translation method being used for Julius, the subsidiary is most
likely:

A. asales outlet for Romulus’s products.
B. a self-contained, independent operating entity.

(. using the US dollar as its functional currency.

30. To account for its foreign operations, Romulus has most likely designated the
euro as the functional currency for:

A. Julius only.
B. Augustus only.

C. both Julius and Augustus.

31. When Romulus consolidates the results of Julius, any unrealized exchange rate
holding gains on monetary assets should be:

A. reported as part of operating income.
B. reported as a non-operating item on the income statement.

C. reported directly to equity as part of the cumulative translation adjustment.

32. When Marks translates his forecasted balance sheet for Julius into US dollars,
total assets as of 31 December 20X2 (dollars in millions) will be closest to:

A. $1,429.
B. $2,392.
C $3,703.

33. When Marks converts his forecasted income statement data for Julius into US
dollars, the 20X2 gross profit margin will be closest to:

A. 39.1%.
B. 40.9%.
C 44.6%.

34. Relative to the gross margins the subsidiaries report in local currency, Romulus’s
consolidated gross margin most likely:

A. will not be distorted by currency translations.
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B. would be distorted if Augustus were using the same translation method as
Julius.

C. will be distorted because of the translation and inventory accounting meth-
ods Augustus is using.

The following information relates to questions
35-40

Redline Products, Inc. is a US-based multinational with subsidiaries around the
world. One such subsidiary, Acceletron, operates in Singapore, which has seen
mild but not excessive rates of inflation. Acceletron was acquired in 2000 and has
never paid a dividend. It records inventory using the FIFO method.

Chief Financial Officer Margot Villiers was asked by Redline’s board of directors
to explain how the functional currency selection and other accounting choices
affect Redline’s consolidated financial statements. Villiers gathers Acceletron’s
financial statements denominated in Singapore dollars (SGD) in Exhibit 1 and
the US dollar/Singapore dollar exchange rates in Exhibit 2. She does not intend
to identify the functional currency actually in use but rather to use Acceletron
as an example of how the choice of functional currency affects the consolidated
statements.

Exhibit 1: Selected Financial Data for Acceletron, 31 December 2007 (SGD

millions)

Cash SGD125
Accounts receivable 230
Inventory 500
Fixed assets 1,640
Accumulated depreciation (205)
Total assets SGD2,290
Accounts payable 185
Long-term debt 200
Common stock 620
Retained earnings 1,285
Total liabilities and equity 2,290
Total revenues SGD4,800
Net income SGD450

Exhibit 2: Exchange Rates Applicable to Acceletron

Exchange Rate in Effect at Specific Times USD per SGD
Rate when first SGD1 billion of fixed assets were acquired 0.568
Rate when remaining SGD640 million of fixed assets were acquired 0.606

Rate when long-term debt was issued 0.588
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Exchange Rate in Effect at Specific Times USD per SGD

31 December 2006 0.649
Weighted-average rate when inventory was acquired 0.654
Average rate in 2007 0.662

31 December 2007 0.671

35. Compared with using the Singapore dollar as Acceletron’s functional currency for

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

2007, if the US dollar were the functional currency;, it is most likely that Redline’s
consolidated:

A. inventories will be higher.
B. receivable turnover will be lower.

(. fixed asset turnover will be higher.

If the US dollar were chosen as the functional currency for Acceletron in 2007,
Redline could reduce its balance sheet exposure to exchange rates by:

A. selling SGD30 million of fixed assets for cash.
B. issuing SGD30 million of long-term debt to buy fixed assets.

(. issuing SGD30 million in short-term debt to purchase marketable securities.

Redline’s consolidated gross profit margin for 2007 would be /ighest if Acceletron
accounted for inventory using:

A. FIFO, and its functional currency were the US dollar.
B. LIFO, and its functional currency were the US dollar.

(. FIFO, and its functional currency were the Singapore dollar.

If the current rate method is used to translate Acceletron’s financial statements
into US dollars, Redline’s consolidated financial statements will most likely in-
clude Acceletron’s:

A. USD3,178 million in revenues.
B. USD118 million in long-term debt.

(. negative translation adjustment to shareholder equity.

If Acceletron’s financial statements are translated into US dollars using the tem-
poral method, Redline’s consolidated financial statements will most likely include
Acceletron’s:

A. USD336 million in inventory.
B. USD956 million in fixed assets.

C. USD152 million in accounts receivable.

When translating Acceletron’s financial statements into US dollars, Redline is
least likely to use an exchange rate of USD per SGD:

A. 0.671.
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B. 0.588.

¢ 0.654.
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SOLUTIONS

1. Cis correct. In Transaction 3, the payment for the inventory is due in Bindiar
francs, a different currency from the Norvoltian krone, which is Ambleu’s presen-
tation currency. Because the import purchase (account payable) is under 45-day
credit terms, Ambleu has foreign currency transaction exposure. The payment
is subject to fluctuations in the FB/NVK exchange rate during the 45-day peri-
od between the sale and payment dates. Thus, Ambleu is exposed to potential
foreign currency gains if the Bindiar franc weakens against the Norvoltian krone
or foreign currency losses if the Bindiar franc strengthens against the Norvoltian
krone.

2. Cis correct. The currency of Ngcorp as the borrowing foreign subsidiary, relative
to that of Ambleu, determines Ambleu’s choice of translation method for Trans-
action 2. Because Ngcorp’s functional currency is the Bindiar franc and Ambleu’s
presentation currency is the Norvoltian krone, the current rate method rather
than the temporal method should be used. Regardless of the currency in which
the loan is denominated, the loan is first recorded in Ngcorp’s financial state-
ments. Then, Ngcorp’s financial statements, which include the bank loan, are
translated into Ambleu’s consolidated financial statements.

3. Ais correct. On Ambleu’s balance sheet, the cost included in the inventory
account is the translation of FB27,000/ton into Norvoltian krone on the purchase
date. Ambleu could have paid this amount on the purchase date but chose to wait
45 days to settle the account. The inventory cost is determined using the FB/NVK
exchange rate of 4.1779 on the purchase date of 1 June 2016. FB27,000/FB4.1779/
NVK = NVK6,462.58/ton

The cash outflow is the amount exchanged from the Norvoltian krone to the
Bindiar franc to pay the FB27,000/ton owed for the inventory 45 days after the
transaction date. This payment uses the FB/NVK exchange rate of 4.1790 on the
settlement date of 15 July 2016.

FB 27,000/FB4.1790 per NVK = NVK6,460.88/ton

Foreign exchange gain = Inventory cost — Cash payment
=NVK6,462.58 — NVK6,460.88
= NVK1.70/ton

Thus, Ambleu’s cash outflow is less than the cost included in the inventory
account, and NVK1.70/ton is the realized foreign exchange gain relating to this
transaction. By deferring payment for 45 days, and because the Bindiar franc
decreased in value during this period, Ambleu pays NVK1.70/ton less than the
inventory cost on the purchase date of 1 June 2016. Thus, Ambleu will report a
foreign exchange gain in its 2016 net income.

4. Ais correct. Net sales growth equals organic sales growth plus or minus the
effects of acquisitions, divestitures, and foreign exchange. A foreign currency
translation loss would reduce net sales growth. Thus the answer to Question 1 is
yes.

5. Cis correct. IFRS requires that Ambleu disclose “the amount of exchange differ-
ences recognized in profit or loss” when determining net income for the period.
Because companies may present foreign currency transaction gains and losses
in various places on the income statement, it is useful for companies to disclose
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both the amount of transaction gain or loss that is included in income as well as
the presentation alternative used.

6. A is correct. Crenland experienced hyperinflation from 31 December 2015 to 31
December 2017, as shown by the General Price Index, with cumulative inflation
of 128.2% during this period. According to IFRS, Cendard’s financial statements
must be restated for local inflation, then translated into Norvoltian kroner using
the current exchange rate. The 2017 revenue from Cendard that should be in-
cluded in Ambleu’s income statement is calculated as follows:

Revenue in CRG % (GPI 31 December 2017/GPI average 2017)

= Inflation-adjusted revenue in CRG
CRG125.23 million x (228.2/186.2) = CRG153.48 million

Inflation-adjusted revenue in CRG/31 December 2017 exchange rate (CRG/NVK)

= Revenue in Norvoltian kroner

CRG153.48 million/14.4810 = NVK10.60 million

7. Bis correct. The consolidated income tax rate is calculated as income tax expense
divided by profit before tax. Note 2 shows that Ambleu’s consolidated income tax
rate decreases by 2.29%, from 34.94% (=94/269) in 2016 to 32.65% (=96/294) in
2017. The largest component of the decrease stems from the 1.42% change in the
effect of tax rates in non-domestic jurisdictions, which lowers Ambleu’s consoli-
dated income tax rate in 2016 by 3.34% (=9/269) and in 2017 by 4.76% (=14/294).
The decrease in 2017 could indicate that Ambleu’s business mix shifted to coun-
tries with lower marginal tax rates, resulting in a lower consolidated income tax
rate and more profit. (The change could also indicate that the marginal tax rates
decreased in the countries in which Ambleu earns profits.)

8. Bis correct. IAS 29 indicates that a cumulative inflation rate approaching
or exceeding 100% over three years would be an indicator of hyperinflation.
Because the cumulative inflation rate for 2016 and 2017 in Crenland was
128.2%, Cendard’s accounts must first be restated for local inflation. Then, the
inflation-restated Crenland guinea financial statements can be translated into
Ambleu’s presentation currency, the Norvoltian krone, using the current ex-
change rate.

Using this approach, the cumulative translation loss on 31 December 2017 for the
CRG85.17 million patent purchase is ~-NVK1.58 million, as shown in the follow-

ing table.
Restated Cumulative
Carrying Current Translated Annual Translation Gain/
Inflation Value (CRG/ Exchange Rate Amount (NVK Translation Gain/ Loss
Date Rate (%) MM) (CRG/NVK) MM) Loss (NVK MM) (NVK MM)
1 Jan 2016 — 85.17 5.6780 15.00 N/A N/A
31 Dec 2016 40.6 119.75 8.6702 13.81 -1.19 -1.19
31 Dec 2017 62.3 194.35 14.4810 13.42 -0.39 -1.58

9. Bis correct. Because Ngcorp has a functional currency that is different from
Ambleu’s presentation currency, the intangible assets are translated into Norvol-
tian kroner using the current rate method. The current FB/NVK exchange rate
is 4.2374 as of 31 December 2016. Thus, the intangible assets on Ngcorp’s 2016
balance sheet are NVK3 million x FB4.2374/NVK = FB12.71 million.
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10. B is correct. Using the temporal method, monetary assets (i.e., cash) are trans-
lated using the current exchange rate (as of 31 December 2016) of BRD1.20/NER
(or NER0.8333/BRD), and non-monetary assets are translated using the historical
exchange rate when acquired. Inventory is translated at its 2016 weighted-average
rate of BRD1.19/NER (or NER0.8403/BRD). Therefore, the total assets for
Triofind-B translated into Norvolt euros (Triofind’s presentation currency) as of
31 December 2016 are calculated as follows:

31 Applicable
December Exchange Rate
Assets 2016 (BRD) (NER/BRD) Rate Used NER
Cash 900,000 0.8333 Current 750,000
Inventory 750,000 0.8403 Average 630,252
Total 1,650,000 1,380,252

11. Cis correct. The monetary balance sheet items for Triofind-B are translated
at the current exchange rate, which reflects that the Borliand dollar weakened
during the period relative to the Norvolt euro. The rate as of 30 June 2016 was
BRD1.15/NER (or NER/BRDO0.8696) and as of 31 December 2016 was BRD1.20/
NER (or NER/BRDO0.8333). Therefore, notes payable translates to NER416,667
(BRD500,000 x NER/BRD0.8333) as of 31 December 2016, compared with
NER434,783 (BRD500,000 x NER/BRD0.8696) as of 30 June 2016. Thus, the
translation adjustment for liabilities is positive.

12. A is correct. Triofind uses the temporal method to translate the financial state-
ments of Triofind-B. The temporal method uses the current exchange rate
for translating monetary assets and liabilities and the historical exchange rate
(based on the date when the assets were acquired) for non-monetary assets and
liabilities. Monetary assets and liabilities are translated using the current ex-
change rate (as of 30 June 2017) of NER1 = BRD1.17 (or NER0.8547/BRD), and
non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated using the historical exchange
rate (as of 30 June 2016) of NER1 = BRD1.15 (or NER0.8696/BRD). Inventory is
translated at the 2017 weighted average rate of NER1 = BRD1.18 (or NER0.8475/
BRD). The difference required to maintain equality between (a) total assets and
(b) total liabilities and shareholder’s equity is then recorded as retained earnings.
The retained earnings for Triofind-B translated into Norvolt euros (Triofind’s
presentation currency) as of 30 June 2017 is calculated as follows:

Liabilities

30 June Exchange and 30 June Exchange 30 June

2017 Rate (NER/ Rate 30June Stockholders’ 2017 Rate (NER/ Rate 2017

Assets (BRD) BRD) Used 2017 (NER) Equity (BRD) BRD) Used (NER)
Cash 1,350,000 0.8547 C 1,153,846  Notes Payable 500,000 0.8547 C 427,350
Inventory 500,000 0.8475 H 423,729 Common 1,150,000 0.8696 H 1,000,000

Stock
Retained 200,000 150,225
Earnings

1,850,000 1,577,575 Total 1,850,000 1,577,575

13. Cis correct. The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic en-
vironment in which an entity operates. Abuelio is Triofind-A’s primary economic
environment, and its currency is the Abuelio peso (ABP). Another important fac-
tor used to determine the functional currency is the currency that mainly influ-
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ences sales prices for goods and services. The fact that Triofind-A prices its goods
in Abuelio pesos supports the case for the ABP to be the functional currency.

14. B is correct. Triofind complies with IFRS, and Abuelio can be considered a highly
inflationary economy because its cumulative inflation rate exceeded 100% from
2015 to 2017. Thus, Triofind-A’s financials must be restated to include local infla-
tion rates and then translated using the current exchange rate into Norvolt euros,
which is Triofind’s presentation currency. This approach reflects both the likely
change in the local currency value of the warehouse as well as the actual change
in the exchange rate. The original purchase price is ABP1,008,065 (NER50,000/
ABP0.0496). The value of the new warehouse in Abuelio as of 31 July 2017 is
NER47,964, calculated as follows:

Abuelio
Monthly Restated
Inflation Warehouse Warehouse Value
Date Rate (%) Value (ABP) NER/ABP (NER)
31 May 2017 1,008,065 0.0496 50,000
30 June 2017 25 1,260,081 0.0388 48,891
31 July 2017 22 1,537,298 0.0312 47,964

15. A is correct. Norvolt exempts the non-domestic income of multinationals from
taxation. Because Norvolt has a corporate tax rate of 34%, the 0% tax rate in Bor-
liand and the fact that 25% of Triofind’s net income comes from Borliand should
result in a lower effective tax rate on Triofind’s consolidated financial statements
compared with Triofind’s domestic tax rate. Abuelio’s tax rate of 35% is very close
to that of Norvolt, and it constitutes only 15% of Triofind’s net income, so its
effect is unlikely to be significant.

16. B is correct. Although Borliand shows the highest growth in Norvolt euro terms,
this result is partially because of currency fluctuations, which cannot be con-
trolled. Abuelio had the highest change in sales resulting from price and volume
at 13% (excluding foreign currency exchange). This growth is more sustainable
than net sales growth, which includes currency fluctuations, because Triofind’s
management has more control over growth in sales resulting from greater vol-
ume or higher prices.

17. B is correct. IAS 21 requires that the financial statements of the foreign entity
first be restated for local inflation using the procedures outlined in IAS 29, “Fi-
nancial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies.” Then, the inflation-restated
foreign currency financial statements are translated into the parent’s presentation
currency using the current exchange rate. Under US GAAP, the temporal method
would be used with no restatement.

18. B is correct. Ruiz expects the EUR to appreciate against the UAH and expects
some inflation in the Ukraine. In an inflationary environment, FIFO will generate
a higher gross profit than weighted-average cost. For either inventory choice, the
current rate method will give higher gross profit to the parent company if the
subsidiary’s currency is depreciating. Thus, using FIFO and translating using the
current rate method will generate a higher gross profit for the parent company,
Eurexim SA, than any other combination of choices.

19. B is correct. If the parent’s currency is chosen as the functional currency, the
temporal method must be used. Under the temporal method, fixed assets are
translated using the rate in effect at the time the assets were acquired.
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20. C is correct. Monetary assets and liabilities such as accounts receivable are
translated at current (end-of-period) rates regardless of whether the temporal or
current rate method is used.

21. B is correct. When the foreign currency is chosen as the functional currency, the
current rate method is used. All assets and liabilities are translated at the current
(end-of-period) rate.

22. Cis correct. When the foreign currency is chosen as the functional currency,
the current rate method must be used and all gains or losses from translation are
reported as a cumulative translation adjustment to shareholder equity. When the
foreign currency decreases in value (weakens), the current rate method results in
a negative translation adjustment in stockholders’ equity.

23. B is correct. When the parent company’s currency is used as the functional cur-
rency, the temporal method must be used to translate the subsidiary’s accounts.
Under the temporal method, monetary assets and liabilities (e.g., debt) are trans-
lated at the current (year-end) rate, non-monetary assets and liabilities measured
at historical cost (e.g., inventory) are translated at historical exchange rates, and
non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at current value are translated at
the exchange rate at the date when the current value was determined. Because
beginning inventory was sold first and sales and purchases were evenly acquired,
the average rate is most appropriate for translating inventory and C$77 million
x 0.92 = $71 million. Long-term debt is translated at the year-end rate of 0.95.
C$175 million x 0.95 = $166 million.

24. B is correct. Translating the 20X2 balance sheet using the temporal method, as
is required in this instance, results in assets of US$369 million. The translated
liabilities and common stock are equal to US$325 million, meaning that the value
for 20X2 retained earnings is US$369 million — US$325 million = US$44 million.

Temporal Method (20X2)

Account cs Rate Uss
Cash 135 0.95 128
Accounts receivable 98 0.95 93
Inventory 77 0.92 71
Fixed assets 100 0.86 86
Accumulated depreciation (10) 0.86 9)
Total assets 400 369
Accounts payable 77 0.95 73
Long-term debt 175 0.95 166
Common stock 100 0.86 86
Retained earnings 48 to balance 44
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 400 369

25. Cis correct. The Canadian dollar would be the appropriate reporting currency
when substantially all operating, financing, and investing decisions are based on
the local currency. The parent country’s inflation rate is never relevant. Earnings
manipulation is not justified, and at any rate changing the functional currency
would take the gains off of the income statement.

26. C is correct. If the functional currency were changed from the parent curren-
¢y (US dollar) to the local currency (Canadian dollar), the current rate method
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would replace the temporal method. The temporal method ignores unrealized
gains and losses on non-monetary assets and liabilities, but the current rate
method does not.

27. Bis correct. If the Canadian dollar is chosen as the functional currency, the cur-
rent rate method will be used and the current exchange rate will be the rate used
to translate all assets and liabilities. Currently, only monetary assets and liabilities
are translated at the current rate. Sales are translated at the average rate during
the year under either method. Fixed assets are translated using the historical rate
under the temporal method but would switch to current rates under the current
rate method. Therefore, there will most likely be an effect on sales/fixed assets.
Because the cash ratio involves only monetary assets and liabilities, it is unaffect-
ed by the translation method. Receivables turnover pairs a monetary asset with
sales and is thus also unaffected.

28. B is correct. If the functional currency were changed, then Consol-Can would use
the current rate method and the balance sheet exposure would be equal to net
assets (total assets — total liabilities). In this case, 400 — 77 — 175 = 148.

29. B is correct. Julius is using the current rate method, which is most appropriate
when it is operating with a high degree of autonomy.

30. A is correct. If the current rate method is being used (as it is for Julius), the local
currency (euro) is the functional currency. When the temporal method is being
used (as it is for Augustus), the parent company’s currency (US dollar) is the
functional currency.

31. Cis correct. When the current rate method is being used, all currency gains and
losses are recorded as a cumulative translation adjustment to shareholder equity.

32. Cis correct. Under the current rate method, all assets are translated using the
year-end 20X2 (current) rate of $1.61/€1.00. €2,300 x 1.61 = $3,703.

33. A is correct. Under the current rate method, both sales and cost of goods sold
would be translated at the 20X2 average exchange rate. The ratio would be the
same as reported under the euro. €2,300 — €1,400 = €900, €900/€2,300 = 39.1%.
Or, $3,542 — $2,156 = $1,386, $1,386/$3,542 = 39.1%.

34. Cis correct. Augustus is using the temporal method in conjunction with FIFO
inventory accounting. If FIFO is used, ending inventory is assumed to be com-
posed of the most recently acquired items, and thus inventory will be translated
at relatively recent exchange rates. To the extent that the average weight used to
translate sales differs from the historical rate used to translate inventories, the
gross margin will be distorted when translated into US dollars.

35. Cis correct. If the US dollar is the functional currency, the temporal method
must be used. Revenues and receivables (monetary asset) would be the same un-
der either accounting method. Inventory and fixed assets were purchased when
the US dollar was stronger, so at historical rates (temporal method), translated
they would be lower. Identical revenues/lower fixed assets would result in higher
fixed-asset turnover.

36. A is correct. If the US dollar is the functional currency, the temporal method
must be used, and the balance sheet exposure will be the net monetary assets
of 125 + 230 - 185 - 200 = -30, or a net monetary liability of SGD30 million.
This net monetary liability would be eliminated if fixed assets (non-monetary)
were sold to increase cash. Issuing debt, either short-term or long-term, would
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increase the net monetary liability.

A is correct. Because the US dollar has been consistently weakening against

the Singapore dollar, cost of sales will be lower and gross profit higher when an
earlier exchange rate is used to translate inventory, compared with using current
exchange rates. If the Singapore dollar is the functional currency, current rates
would be used. Therefore, the combination of the US dollar (temporal method)
and FIFO will result in the highest gross profit margin.

A is correct. Under the current rate method, revenue is translated at the average
rate for the year, SGD4,800 x 0.662 = USD3,178 million. Debt should be trans-
lated at the current rate, SGD200 x 0.671 = USD134 million. Under the current
rate method, Acceletron would have a net asset balance sheet exposure. Because
the Singapore dollar has been strengthening against the US dollar, the translation
adjustment would be positive rather than negative.

B is correct. Under the temporal method, inventory and fixed assets would be
translated using historical rates. Accounts receivable is a monetary asset and
would be translated at year-end (current) rates. Fixed assets are found as (1,000 x
0.568) + (640 x 0.606) = USD 956 million.

B is correct. USDO0.671/SGD is the current exchange rate. That rate would be
used regardless of whether Acceletron uses the current rate or temporal meth-
od. USDO0.654 was the weighted-average rate when inventory was acquired. That
rate would be used if the company translated its statements under the temporal
method but not the current rate method. USD0.588/SGD was the exchange rate
in effect when long-term debt was issued. As a monetary liability, long-term debt
is always translated using current exchange rates. Consequently, that rate is not
applicable regardless of how Acceletron translates its financial statements.
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LEARNING OUTCOMES
Mastery | The candidate should be able to:
] describe how financial institutions differ from other companies
] describe key aspects of financial regulations of financial institutions

] explain the CAMELS (capital adequacy, asset quality, management,
earnings, liquidity, and sensitivity) approach to analyzing a bank,
including key ratios and its limitations

analyze a bank based on financial statements and other factors

describe other factors to consider in analyzing a bank

0o

describe key ratios and other factors to consider in analyzing an
insurance company

INTRODUCTION

] describe how financial institutions differ from other companies

] describe key aspects of financial regulations of financial institutions

Financial institutions provide a wide range of financial products and services. They
serve as intermediaries between providers and recipients of capital, facilitate asset
and risk management, and execute transactions involving cash, securities, and other
financial assets.

Given the diversity of financial services, it is unsurprising that numerous types
of financial institutions exist. Types of financial institutions include deposit-taking,
loan-making institutions (referred to as banks in this reading), investment banks,
credit card companies, brokers, dealers, exchanges, clearing houses, depositories,
investment managers, financial advisers, and insurance companies. In many situations,
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overlap of services exists across types of institutions. For example, banks not only
take deposits and make loans but also may undertake investment management and
other securities-related activities and may offer such products as derivatives, which
are effectively insurance against adverse effects of movements in the interest rate,
equity, and foreign currency markets. As another example of overlap, life insurance
companies not only provide mortality-related insurance products but also offer savings
vehicles. This reading focuses primarily on two types of financial institutions: banks
(broadly defined as deposit-taking, loan-making institutions) and insurance companies.

What Makes Financial Institutions Different?

A distinctive feature of financial institutions—in particular, banks—is their systemic
importance, which means that their smooth functioning is essential to the overall
health of an economy. The most fundamental role of banks is to serve as interme-
diaries, accepting deposits from capital providers and providing capital via loans to
borrowers. Their role as intermediaries between and among providers and recipients
of capital creates financial inter-linkages across all types of entities, including house-
holds, banks, corporations, and governments. The network of inter-linkages across
entities means that the failure of one bank will negatively affect other financial and
non-financial entities. The larger the bank and the more widespread its inter-linkages,
the greater its potential impact on the entire financial system. If an extremely large
bank were to fail, the negative impact of its failure could spread and potentially result
in the failure of the entire financial system.

Systemic risk has been defined as “a risk of disruption to financial services that is (i)
caused by an impairment of all or parts of the financial system and (ii) has the poten-
tial to have serious negative consequences for the economy as a whole. Fundamental
to the definition is the notion of contagion across the economy from a disruption or
failure in a financial institution, market or instrument. All types of financial inter-
mediaries, markets and infrastructure can potentially be systemically important to
some degree”’! The problem of systemic risk (the risk of failure of the financial system
as a result of the failure of a major financial institution) has emerged as an issue in
many countries around the world in the aftermath of the 2008 global financial crisis.
Financial contagion is a situation in which financial shocks spread from their place or
sector of origin to other locales or sectors. Globally, a faltering economy may infect
other, healthier economies.

Because of their systemic importance, financial institutions’ activities are heavily
regulated. Regulations attempt to constrain excessive risk taking that could cause an
entity to fail. Regulations address various aspects of a financial institution’s operations,
including the amount of capital that must be maintained, the minimum liquidity, and
the riskiness of assets.

The liabilities of most banks are made up primarily of deposits. For example, as of
December 2016, deposits constituted over 80% of the total liabilities of domestically
chartered commercial banks in the United States.? The failure of a bank to honor its
deposits could have negative consequences across the economy. Even the expectation
that a bank might not be able to honor its deposits could cause depositors to withdraw
their money from the bank, and a large sudden withdrawal of deposits (a bank run)

1 “Guidance to Assess the Systemic Importance of Financial Institutions, Markets and Instruments: Initial
Considerations,” report to the G—20 finance ministers and central bank governors, prepared by the staff
of the International Monetary Fund and the Bank for International Settlements and the secretariat of the
Financial Stability Board (October 2009): https://www.imf.org/external/np/g20/pdf/100109.pdf.

2 “Assets and Liabilities of Commercial Banks in the United States - H.8,” Federal Reserve statistical release
(https://www.federalreserve.gov).
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could cause an actual failure and financial contagion across the economy. Therefore,
deposits are often insured (up to a stated limit) by the government of the country in
which the bank operates.

Another distinctive feature of financial institutions is that their assets are predom-
inantly financial assets, such as loans and securities. In contrast, the assets of most
non-financial companies are predominantly tangible assets. Financial assets create
direct exposure to a different variety of risks, including credit risks, liquidity risks,
market risks, and interest rate risks. Unlike many tangible assets, financial assets are
often measured at fair market value for financial reporting.

This reading focuses on the financial analysis of banks and insurers (property and
casualty insurers and life and health insurers). There are many other types of financial
institutions, including different types of depository institutions. Some of these other
financial institutions are described briefly in Exhibit 1. Note that the list in Exhibit 1
includes types of entities that an analyst may evaluate for potential investment and,
therefore, excludes supra-national organizations. Typically, supra-national entities
are formed by member countries to focus on lending activities in support of specific
missions. For example, the World Bank—whose mission is to reduce poverty and sup-
port development globally—comprises 189 member countries and provides loans and
grants through the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development and the
International Development Association.3 Other prominent examples of supra-national
entities are the Asian Development and Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank.

Exhibit 1: A Sampling of Financial Institutions

The list that follows is illustrative only and should not be viewed as comprehen-
sive. The list is organized by primary activity, but many service overlaps exist.
Additionally, the structure of financial service providers differs across countries,
and state ownership of financial institutions is more common in some countries.

Institutions That Provide Basic Banking Services

=  Commercial banks. This term generally refers to institutions whose
business focuses on classic banking services, such as taking deposits,
making loans, and facilitating payment transactions. Historically, regu-
lation in some countries, such as the United States and France, created
distinctions between commercial banking activities (e.g., deposit
taking and loan making), insurance activities, and investment banking
activities, such as securities underwriting, trading, and investing. In
general, this distinction has been declining. For example, in France,
regulations beginning in the mid-1980s eliminated many restrictions
on banks’ allowable types of activities, and in the United States, a 1999
law granted commercial banks the ability to undertake broad-based
securities and insurance activities.* Germany’s universal banks pro-
vide commercial banking, investment banking, insurance, and other
financial and non-financial services, and Spain’s leading commercial
banks are “dominant in cross-selling mutual funds to their retail cli-
ents””” Japanese banks are permitted to engage in a range of activities

3 www.worldbank.org.

4 Berger, Allen N., Phillip Molyneux, and John O.S. Wilson, The Oxford Handbook of Banking (Oxford,
UK: Oxford University Press, 2009).

5 Berger et al., The Oxford Handbook of Banking.
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including equity ownership in non-financial corporations (within
limits) that strengthens their role in corporate governance beyond that
typical of a creditor.®

= Credit unions, cooperative and mutual banks. These are deposi-
tory institutions that function like banks and offer many of the same
services as banks. They are owned by their members, rather than being
publicly traded like many banks. Another difference from commercial
banks is that these institutions are organized as non-profits and, there-
fore, do not pay income taxes.

= Specialized financial service providers.

¢ Building societies and savings and loan associations are depos-
itory institutions that specialize in financing long-term residential
mortgages.

e Mortgage banks originate, sell, and service mortgages and are usually
active participants in the securitization markets.

¢ Trust banks (Japan) are commercial banks, and because their depos-
its are in the form of “money trusts” (typically with three- to five-year
terms and one-year minimums), they can make long-term com-
mercial loans and securities investments. Japan also has city banks
(universal banks), regional banks, second regional banks, and Shinkin
banks and credit cooperatives (which provide commercial banking
services to their members—smaller enterprises and individuals).”

¢ Online payment companies, such as Paypal (United States), Alipay
(China), and other non-bank online payment companies, have
expanded rapidly and continue to broaden service offerings.

Intermediaries within the Investment Industry

Within this category, services offered by different entities are particularly varied.
A few of these are described briefly below.

=  Managers of pooled investment vehicles, such as open-end mutual
funds, closed-end funds, and exchange-traded funds. These financial
institutions pool money from investors and buy and sell securities and
other assets. The investors share ownership in the investment vehicle.
Pooled investment vehicles, as required by regulation, disclose their
investment policies, deposit and redemption procedures, fees and
expenses, past performance statistics, and other information.

»  Hedge funds. These funds also pool investors’ money and invest it.
They tend to follow more complex strategies; be less transparent, less
liquid, and less regulated; and have higher fees and higher minimum
investment amounts than open-end mutual funds, closed-end funds,
and exchange-traded funds.

=  Brokers and dealers. These firms facilitate trade in securities, earning a
commission or spread on the trades.

Insurers

=  Property and casualty (P&C) insurance companies provide pro-
tection against adverse events related to autos, homes, or commercial
activities.

6 Berger et al., The Oxford Handbook of Banking.
7 Berger et al., The Oxford Handbook of Banking.
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= Life and health (L&H) insurers provide mortality- and health-related
insurance products. Life insurance companies also provide savings
products.

=  Reinsurance companies sell insurance to insurers. Rather than paying
policyholder claims directly, they reimburse insurance companies for
claims paid.8

Global Organizations

With respect to global systemic risk, important differences exist between the bank-
ing and insurance sectors.”? Unlike banks, the overall insurance market has a smaller
proportion of cross-border business, although the reinsurance business is largely
international. The international aspect of the reinsurance business increases the
importance of the insurance sector to the global financial system: Reinsurers may
be an international link to financial institutions domiciled in different parts of the
world, thereby increasing systemic vulnerability. Another important difference is
that insurance companies’ foreign branches are generally required to hold assets in a
jurisdiction that are adequate to cover the related policy liabilities in that jurisdiction.

Aside from minimizing systemic risk, other reasons for the establishment of
global and regional regulatory bodies include the harmonization and globalization of
regulatory rules, standards, and oversight. Consistency of standards and regulations
helps minimize regulatory arbitrage (whereby multinational companies capitalize on
differences in jurisdictions’ regulatory systems in order to avoid unfavorable regula-
tion) around the world.

One of the most important global organizations focused on financial stability is
the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, which was established in 1974 and is a
standing committee hosted and supported by the Bank for International Settlements.
Members of the Basel Committee include central banks and entities responsible for
supervising banks. The list of members of the Basel Committee in Exhibit 2 illustrates
the range of entities involved with supervising banking activity in different countries
and jurisdictions.

Exhibit 2: Members of the Basel Committee as of July 2017

Country/Jurisdiction Institutional Representative
Argentina Central Bank of Argentina
Australia Reserve Bank of Australia

Australian Prudential Regulation Authority

Belgium National Bank of Belgium
Brazil Central Bank of Brazil
Canada Bank of Canada

Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions

Chinese mainland People’s Bank of China
China Banking Regulatory Commission

8 Insurance Information Institute (www.iii.org).

9 “Core Principles: Cross-Sectoral Comparison,” report by the Joint Forum (Basel Committee on Banking
Supervision, International Organization of Securities Commissions, and International Association of
Insurance Supervisors; November 2001): https://www.iaisweb.org/page/supervisory-material/joint-forum//
file/34300/core-principles-cross-sectoral-comparison.
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Country/Jurisdiction

Institutional Representative

European Union

France

Germany

Hong Kong SAR
India

Indonesia

Italy

Japan
Korea
Luxembourg

Mexico

Netherlands
Russia

Saudi Arabia
Singapore
South Africa
Spain

Sweden

Switzerland

Turkey

United Kingdom

United States

European Central Bank
European Central Bank Single Supervisory Mechanism

Bank of France
Prudential Supervision and Resolution Authority

Deutsche Bundesbank (Central Bank of Germany)
Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin)

Hong Kong Monetary Authority
Reserve Bank of India

Bank Indonesia
Indonesia Financial Services Authority

Bank of Italy

Bank of Japan
Financial Services Agency

Bank of Korea
Financial Supervisory Service

Surveillance Commission for the Financial Sector

Bank of Mexico
Comisién Nacional Bancaria y de Valores (National
Banking and Securities Commission)

Netherlands Bank

Central Bank of the Russian Federation
Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency
Monetary Authority of Singapore
South African Reserve Bank

Bank of Spain

Sveriges Riksbank (Central Bank of Sweden)
Finansinspektionen (Financial Supervisory Authority)

Swiss National Bank
Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority FINMA

Central Bank of the Republic of Turkey
Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency

Bank of England
Prudential Regulation Authority

Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System
Federal Reserve Bank of New York

Office of the Comptroller of the Currency

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation

Observers

Country/Jurisdiction

Institutional representative

Chile

Malaysia
United Arab Emirates

Central Bank of Chile
Banking and Financial Institutions Supervisory Agency

Central Bank of Malaysia
Central Bank of the United Arab Emirates

Source: www.bis.org.
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Introduction

The Basel Committee developed the international regulatory framework for banks
known as Basel III, which is the enhanced framework succeeding Basel I and Basel II.
The purposes of the measures contained in Basel I1I are the following: “to improve the
banking sector’s ability to absorb shocks arising from financial and economic stress,
whatever the source, improve risk management and governance, and strengthen banks’
transparency and disclosures’1°

Three important highlights of Basel I1I are the minimum capital requirement, min-
imum liquidity, and stable funding. First, Basel III specifies the minimum percentage
of its risk-weighted assets that a bank must fund with equity capital. This minimum
capital requirement prevents a bank from assuming so much financial leverage that
it is unable to withstand loan losses (asset write-downs). Second, Basel III specifies
that a bank must hold enough high-quality liquid assets to cover its liquidity needs in
a 30-day liquidity stress scenario. This minimum liquidity requirement ensures that a
bank would have enough cash to cover a partial loss of funding sources (e.g., custom-
ers’ deposits, other borrowings) or a cash outflow resulting from off-balance-sheet
funding commitments. Third, Basel III requires a bank to have a minimum amount of
stable funding relative to the bank’s liquidity needs over a one-year horizon. Stability
of funding is based on the tenor of deposits (e.g., longer-term deposits are more stable
than shorter-term deposits) and the type of depositor (e.g., funds from consumers’
deposits are considered more stable than funds raised in the interbank markets).

As a result of preventing banks from assuming excessive financial leverage, Basel
IIT has prompted banks to focus on asset quality, hold capital against other types of
risk (such as operational risk), and develop improved risk assessment processes. Basel
III also presents fundamental changes regarding the quality and composition of the
capital base of financial institutions. It has improved the ability of their capital base
to sustain losses, so these are confined to the financial institutions’ capital investors
and are not transmitted to depositors, taxpayers, or other institutions in the financial
system, thereby reducing risk of contagion.

Having developed the regulatory framework, the Basel Committee monitors the
adoption and implementation of Basel III by member jurisdictions.

A number of other important organizations are involved in international cooper-
ation in the area of financial stability. Some of these international organizations are
described briefly below.

= The Financial Stability Board includes representatives from supervisory
and regulatory authorities for the G—20 members plus Hong Kong SAR,
Singapore, Spain, and Switzerland. Its overall goal is to strengthen financial
stability. It aims to identify systemic risk in the financial sector and coordi-
nate actions that jurisdictional authorities can take to address the risks.

= The International Association of Deposit Insurers’ objective is to “enhance
the effectiveness of deposit insurance systems.”

= The International Association of Insurance Supervisors (IAIS) includes rep-
resentatives from insurance regulators and supervisors from most countries
around the world. Its overall goal is to promote effective supervision of the
insurance industry globally.

» The International Organization of Securities Commissions (I0SCO)
includes representatives from the regulators of the securities markets of
various countries and jurisdictions. Its overall goals include maintaining fair
and efficient securities markets.

10 www.bis.org.
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The latter two organizations are part of a Joint Forum with the Basel Committee.
The Joint Forum comprises representatives from the Basel Committee, TAIS, and
IOSCO and works on issues common to the banking, insurance, and securities sectors.

Individual Jurisdictions’ Regulatory Authorities

The global organizations described in the previous section aim to foster financial
stability by working with individual jurisdictions’ regulatory authorities. It is the
individual jurisdictions’ regulatory bodies that have authority over specific aspects
of a financial institution’s operations.

Globally, there are many regulators with overlapping and differing responsibilities
over financial institutions; the global network of regulators and the resulting regu-
lations are complex. Although there is some overlap between member institutions
in the Basel Committee and other global organizations mentioned in the previous
section, specific membership varies. For example, the 83 member organizations of
the International Association of Deposit Insurers include some institutions that are
Basel Committee members, such as the US Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(FDIC), and some that are not Basel Committee members, such as the Singapore
Deposit Insurance Corporation Ltd. and Germany’s Bundesverband deutscher Banken
(Deposit Protection Fund). In some countries, the same regulatory body oversees
both banking and insurance—for example, Japan’s Financial Services Agency. And
in other countries, there is a separate regulatory body for insurance companies—for
example, the US National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) and the
China Insurance Regulatory Commission.

As a financial institution’s operations expand globally, compliance requirements
increase. One of the most global financial institutions, HSBC Holdings, discloses
that their operations are “regulated and supervised by approximately 400 different
central banks and other regulatory authorities in those jurisdictions in which we have
offices, branches or subsidiaries. These authorities impose a variety of requirements

and controls”’!!

ANALYZING A BANK: THE CAMELS APPROACH

] explain the CAMELS (capital adequacy, asset quality, management,
earnings, liquidity, and sensitivity) approach to analyzing a bank,
including key ratios and its limitations

] analyze a bank based on financial statements and other factors

In this section, the term “bank” is used in its general sense and applies to entities
whose primary business activities are taking deposits and making loans. This section
first describes an approach widely used as a starting point to analyze a bank, known
as CAMELS, and follows with a description of additional factors to consider when
analyzing a bank. The section concludes with a case study analysis of a real bank.

11 HSBC Holdings Form 20-F (31 December 2016).
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The CAMELS Approach

“CAMELS” is an acronym for the six components of a widely used bank rating approach
originally developed in the United States.!? The six components are Capital adequacy,
Asset quality, Management capabilities, Earnings sufficiency, Liquidity position, and
Sensitivity to market risk.

A bank examiner using the CAMELS approach to evaluate a bank conducts an
analysis and assigns a numerical rating of 1 through 5 to each component. A rating
of 1 represents the best rating, showing the best practices in risk management and
performance and generating the least concern for regulators. A rating of 5 is the worst
rating, showing the poorest performance and risk management practices and gen-
erating the highest degree of regulatory concern.!3 After the components are rated,
a composite rating for the entire bank is constructed from the component ratings.
This is not a simple arithmetic mean of the six component ratings: Each component is
weighted by the examiner performing the study. The examiner’s judgment will affect
the weighting accorded to each component’s rating. Two examiners could evaluate the
same bank on a CAMELS basis and even assign the same ratings to each component
and yet arrive at different composite ratings for the entire bank.

Although the CAMELS system was developed as a tool for bank examiners, it
provides a useful framework for other purposes, such as equity or debt investment
analysis of banks. The following sections discuss each component of the rating system.

Capital Adequacy

It is important for a bank (as with any company) to have adequate capital so that
potential losses can be absorbed without causing the bank to become financially weak
or even insolvent. Losses reduce the amount of a bank’s retained earnings, which is
one component of capital. Large enough losses could even result in insolvency. A
strong capital position lowers the probability of insolvency and bolsters public con-
fidence in the bank.

Capital adequacy for banks is described in terms of the proportion of the bank’s
assets funded with capital. For purposes of determining capital adequacy, a bank’s
assets are adjusted based on their risk, with riskier assets requiring a higher weight-
ing. The risk weightings are specified by individual countries’ regulators, and these
regulators typically take Basel III into consideration. The risk adjustment results in
an amount for risk-weighted assets to use when determining the amount of capital
required to fund those assets. For example, cash has a risk weighting of zero, so cash
is not included in the risk-weighted assets. As a result, no capital is required to fund
cash. Corporate loans have a risk weighting of 100%, and certain risky assets, such
as loans on high-volatility commercial real estate and loans that are more than 90
days past due, have a weighting greater than 100%. As a simple example, consider a
hypothetical bank with three assets: $10 in cash, $1,000 in performing loans, and $10
in non-performing loans. The bank’s risk-weighted assets (RWAs) would equal ($10
x 0%) + ($1,000 x 100%) + ($10 x 150%) = $1,015. Also, off-balance-sheet exposures
are assigned risk weights and included in the risk-weighted assets.

For purposes of determining a bank’s capital and its capital adequacy, a bank’s cap-
ital is classified into hierarchical tiers. The most important of these tiers is Common
Equity Tier 1 Capital. According to the FDIC:

12 Information on the evolution of risk assessment can be found in “Supervisory Risk Assessment and Early
Warning Systems,” Ranjana Sahajwala and Paul Van den Bergh, Basel Committee on Banking Supervision
Working Paper No. 4 (December 2000). Further information about the CAMELS rating system can be
found in the FDIC’s description of the Uniform Financial Institutions Rating System at www.fdic.gov.

13 Sahajwala and Van den Bergh, “Supervisory Risk Assessment and Early Warning Systems.”
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Basel III capital standards emphasize common equity tier 1 capital as the
predominant form of bank capital. Common equity tier 1 capital is widely
recognized as the most loss-absorbing form of capital, as it is permanent
and places shareholders’ funds at risk of loss in the event of insolvency.
Moreover, Basel III strengthens minimum capital ratio requirements and
risk-weighting definitions, increases Prompt Corrective Action (PCA)
thresholds, establishes a capital conservation buffer, and provides a mech-
anism to mandate counter-cyclical capital buffers.!4

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital includes common stock, issuance surplus related
to common stock, retained earnings, accumulated other comprehensive income, and
certain adjustments including the deduction of intangible assets and deferred tax assets.
Other Tier 1 Capital includes other types of instruments issued by the bank that meet
certain criteria. The criteria require, for example, that the instruments be subordinate
to such obligations as deposits and other debt obligations, not have a fixed maturity,
and not have any type of payment of dividends or interest that is not totally at the
discretion of the bank. Tier 2 Capital includes instruments that are subordinate to
depositors and to general creditors of the bank, have an original minimum maturity
of five years, and meet certain other requirements.

The minimum capital requirements set forth in Basel III are described here because
they are global. However, it is the individual countries’ regulators who have authority
to establish the minimum capital requirements for institutions within their jurisdiction.

=  Common Equity Tier 1 Capital must be at least 4.5% of risk-weighted assets.

= Total Tier 1 Capital must be at least 6.0% of risk-weighted assets.

= Total Capital (Tier 1 Capital plus Tier 2 Capital) must be at least 8.0% of
risk-weighted assets.!®

EXAMPLE 1

Capital Position

Exhibit 3 presents an excerpt from an annual report disclosure by HSBC Holdings
plc about its capital position. The excerpt shows the group’s capital ratios, amount
of capital by tier, and risk-weighted assets by type.

14 FDIC, “Risk Management Manual of Examination Policies,” Section 2.1 (www.fdic.gov). For a compre-
hensive description of capital tiers under Basel III, refer to “Basel III: A global regulatory framework for
more resilient banks and banking systems” (pp. 13-27), available at www.bis.org.

15 www.bis.org.
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Exhibit 3: Excerpt from Annual Report Disclosure of HSBC Holdings

plc

Capital Ratios

At 31 Dec.
2016 (%) 2015 (%)
Common equity tier 1 ratio 13.6 11.9
Tier 1 ratio 16.1 13.9
Total capital ratio 20.1 17.2

Total Regulatory Capital and Risk-Weighted Assets

At 31 Dec.
2016 ($m) 2015 ($m)

Regulatory Capital

Common equity tier 1 capital 116,552 130,863
Additional tier 1 capital 21,470 22,440
Tier 2 capital 34,336 36,530
Total regulatory capital 172,358 189,833
Risk-weighted assets 857,181 1,102,995

Risk-weighted assets (RWAs) by risk types

Capital required*

RWASs ($bn) ($bn)
Credit risk 655.7 52.5
Counterparty credit risk 62.0 5.0
Market risk 41.5 3.3
Operational risk 98.0 7.8
At 31 Dec 2016 857.2 68.6

* “Capital required” represents the Pillar 1 capital charge at 8% of RWAs.

Source: HSBC Holdings plc Annual Report and Accounts 2016 (p. 127).

21

1. Based on Exhibit 3, did HSBC'’s capital ratios strengthen or weaken in 2016?

Solution:

HSBC'’s capital ratios strengthened in 2016. Its Common Equity Tier 1
ratio increased from 11.9% of RWAs to 13.6% of RWAs. Its Tier 1 ratio also
increased from 13.9% to 16.1%, and its Total Capital Ratio increased from

17.2% to 20.1%.
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2. Based on Exhibit 3, what was the primary reason for the change in HSBC'’s
capital ratios in 2016?

Solution:

The primary reason for the change in HSBC'’s capital ratios in 2016 was a
reduction in the amount of risk-weighted assets. Total risk-weighted assets
declined from $1,102,995 million to $857,181 million.

Asset Quality

Asset quality pertains to the amount of existing and potential credit risk associated
with a bank’s assets, focusing primarily on financial assets. The concept of asset quality
extends beyond the composition of a bank’s assets and encompasses the strength of the
overall risk management processes by which the assets are generated and managed.

Loans typically constitute the largest portion of a bank’s assets. Asset quality for
loans reported on the balance sheet depends on the creditworthiness of the borrowers
and the corresponding adequacy of adjustments for expected loan losses. Loans are
measured at amortized cost and are shown on the balance sheet net of allowances
for loan losses.

Investments in securities issued by other entities, often another significant por-
tion of a bank’s assets, are measured differently, depending on how the security is
categorized. Specifically, under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),'®
financial assets are classified in one of three categories, depending on the company’s
business model for managing the asset and on the contractual cash flows of the
asset. The financial asset’s category specifies how it is subsequently measured (either
amortized cost or fair value) and, for those measured based on fair value, how any
changes in value are reported—either through other comprehensive income (OCI) or
through profit and loss (PL). The three categories for financial assets are (1) measured
at amortized cost, (2) measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI), and (3) measured at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL).

In contrast to IFRS, US GAAP require all equity investments “(except those
accounted for under the equity method of accounting or those that result in con-
solidation of the investee) to be measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognized in net income”!” Another exception to fair value measurement is that
an equity investment without a readily determinable fair value can be measured at
cost minus impairment. Thus, under US GAAP, the three categories used to classify
and measure investments apply only to debt securities: held to maturity (measured at
amortized cost), trading (measured at fair value through net income), and available
for sale (measured at fair value through other comprehensive income).

The following example addresses asset quality from the perspective of overall
asset composition. The example includes the asset portion of a bank’s balance sheet.
In practice, terminology used by different entities can vary, and an analyst should
refer to the footnotes for further detail on a line item. Here, two comments can be
helpful in interpreting the line items in the example. First, when determining the
total amount of bank loans, two line items are clearly relevant: “Loans and advances
to banks” and “Loans and advances to customers.” In addition, note that “Reverse
repurchase agreements” are a form of collateralized loan made by a bank to a client.
In a repurchase agreement, a borrower (i.e., a bank client) sells a financial asset to a
lender (i.e., a bank) and commits to repurchase the financial asset for a fixed price

16 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, issued July 2014 and effective beginning January 2018.

17 Accounting Standards Update 2016-01 Financial Instruments—Overall (Subtopic 825-10) Recognition and
Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. This Accounting Standards Update was issued in
January 2016 and is effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after 15 December 2017.
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at a future date. The difference between the selling price and the higher repurchase
price effectively constitutes interest on the borrowing. The borrower describes the
transaction as a “repurchase agreement,” and the lender describes the transaction as
a “reverse repurchase agreement.”18 Second, the term “assets held for sale” is related
to discontinued operations and specifically refers to long-term assets whose value is
driven mainly by their intended disposition rather than their continued use.!® This
term should not be confused with the securities-related term “available for sale”
(described above).

EXAMPLE 2

Asset Quality: Composition of Assets

Exhibit 4 presents the asset portion of the balance sheet of HSBC Holdings,
which is prepared according to IFRS.

Exhibit 4: Excerpt from Consolidated Balance Sheet

HSBC Holdings plc
Consolidated Balance Sheet [Excerpt]

at 31 December

2016 2015
Assets $m $m

Cash and balances at central banks 128,009 98,934
Items in the course of collection from other banks 5,003 5,768
Hong Kong Government certificates of 31,228 28,410
indebtedness

Trading assets 235,125 224,837
Financial assets designated at fair value 24,756 23,852
Derivatives 290,872 288,476
Loans and advances to banks 88,126 90,401
Loans and advances to customers 861,504 924,454
Reverse repurchase agreements, non-trading 160,974 146,255
Financial investments 436,797 428,955
Assets held for sale 4,389 43,900
Prepayments, accrued income and other assets 59,520 54,398
Current tax assets 1,145 1,221
Interests in associates and joint ventures 20,029 19,139
Goodwill and intangible assets 21,346 24,605
Deferred tax assets 6,163 6,051
Total assets at 31 Dec 2,374,986 2,409,656

Source: HSBC Holdings plc Annual Report and Accounts 2016.

1. The following items are the most liquid: Cash and balances at central banks,
Items in the course of collection from other banks, and Hong Kong Govern-
ment certificates of indebtedness. What proportion of HSBC’s total assets

18 The Office of Financial Research (part of the US Department of the Treasury) estimates that the size
of the repurchase (“repo”) market is $3.5 trillion.
19 IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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was invested in these liquid assets in 2015? In 2016? Did HSBC'’s balance
sheet liquidity decrease or increase in 2016?

Solution:
HSBC’s balance sheet liquidity increased in 2016.

In 2015, the proportion of HSBC’s balance sheet invested in highly liquid
assets was 5.5%

[($98,934 + $5,768 + $28,410)/$2,409,656 = 5.5%].

In 2016, the proportion of HSBC’s balance sheet invested in highly liquid
assets was 6.9%

[($128,009 + $5,003 + $31,228)/$2,374,986 = 6.9%].

2. How did the percentage of investments to total assets change from 2015 to
2016? (Include trading assets, financial assets designated at fair value, and
financial investments as investments.)

Solution:

The percentage of investments on HSBC'’s balance sheet increased in 2016.

In 2015, the percentage of investments to total assets was 28.1%
[($224,837 + $23,852 + $428,955)/$2,409,656 = 28.1%)].
In 2016, the percentage of investments to total assets was 29.3%

[($235,125 + $24,756 + $436,797)/$2,374,986 = 29.3%].

3. What proportion of HSBC'’s assets are loans? (As noted, the banks’ loans
include “Loans and advances to banks” and “Loans and advances to custom-
ers” In addition, “Reverse repurchase agreements” are a form of collateral-
ized loan.)

Solution:

In 2015, loans represented 48.2% [($90,401 + $924,454 +
$146,255)/$2,409,656 = 48.2%] of HSBC'’s total assets, and in 2016, loans
represented 46.8% [($88,126 + $861,504 + $160,974)/$2,374,986 = 46.8%)] of
HSBC'’s total assets.

The next example addresses asset quality from the perspective of credit quality.
Assessment of credit risk is of course fundamental to banks’ decisions about loans—
the largest category of a banks’ assets. As noted, investments in securities often
constitute a significant portion of a bank’s assets, and those activities also involve
credit risk. Further, a bank’s trading activities—including off-balance-sheet trading
activities—create exposure to counterparty credit risk. Off-balance-sheet obligations
such as guarantees, unused committed credit lines, and letters of credit represent
potential assets (as well as potential liabilities) to the bank and thus involve credit risk.
In addition to credit risk, other factors, such as liquidity, can also affect the value and
marketability of a bank’s assets. Diversification of credit risk exposure (and avoiding
credit concentration) across the entire asset base—loans and investments—and among
counterparties is an important aspect of asset quality.
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EXAMPLE 3

Credit Quality of Assets

Exhibit 5 presents an excerpt from an annual report disclosure by HSBC Holdings
plc about the credit quality of its financial instruments. The exhibit shows the
distribution of financial instruments by credit quality.

Financial instruments included in the exhibit correspond to total amounts
for some line items of assets listed on the balance sheet and to partial amounts
for line items on the balance sheet where only a portion of the asset involves
exposure to credit risk. Total amounts are included for the following balance
sheet items: Cash and balances at central banks; Items in the course of collec-
tion from other banks; Hong Kong Government certificates of indebtedness;
Derivatives; Loans and advances to banks; Loans and advances to customers; and
Reverse repurchase agreements, non-trading. Partial amounts are included for
the following balance sheet items: Trading assets; Financial assets designated at
fair value; Financial investments; Assets held for sale; and Prepayments, accrued
income and other assets.

Exhibit 5: Excerpt from Annual Report Disclosure of HSBC Holdings

plc

At 31 Dec. 2016 At 31 Dec. 2015

($m) ($m)
Neither past due Strong credit quality $1,579,517 $1,553,830
nor impaired  Good credit quality $313,707 $331,141
Satisfactory credit $263,995 $293,178
quality
Sub-standard credit $26,094 $26,199
quality
Past due but not $9,028 $13,030
impaired
Impaired $20,510 $28,058
Total gross amount $2,212,851 $2,245,436
Impairment $(8,100) $(11,027)
allowances
Total $2,204,751 $2,234,409

Source: HSBC Holdings plc Annual Report and Accounts 2016 (pp. 88—89).
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Solutions Exhibit

At 31 Dec. At 31 Dec.
2016 2015
Percentage
Percentage Percentage change
of total gross  of total gross  in dollar
amount amount amount
Neither Strong credit quality 71.4% 69.2% 1.7%
B Good credit quality 14.2% 14.7% -5.3%
due nor . .
) . Satisfactory credit 11.9% 13.1% -10.0%
impaired )
quality
Sub-standard credit 1.2% 1.2% -0.4%
quality
Past due but not 0.4% 0.6% -30.7%
impaired
Impaired 0.9% 1.2% -26.9%
Total gross amount 100.0% 100.0% -1.5%
Impairment -0.4% -0.5% -26.5%
allowances

1. Based on Exhibit 5, did the credit quality of HSBC’s financial instruments
improve or deteriorate in 2016? Specifically, how did the proportion of as-
sets invested in strong credit quality instruments change from year to year?

Solution:

Based on Exhibit 5, the credit quality of HSBC'’s financial instruments
improved in 2016. As shown in the Solutions Exhibit, the percentage of
total investment assets invested in strong credit quality instruments rose
from 69.2% in 2015 to 71.4% in 2016 [$1,553,830/$2,245,436 = 69.2%;
$1,579,517/$2,212,851 = 71.4%].

2. Based on Exhibit 5, does the change in HSBC’s impairment allowances in
2016 reflect the change in the credit quality of financial instruments (specifi-
cally the amount of impaired assets)?

Solution:

Yes. Based on Exhibit 5, the change in HSBC’s impairment allowances in
2016 reflects the change in the credit quality of financial instruments. In
general, it is expected that the amount of impairment allowances will be re-
lated to the amount of impaired assets. The 26.5% decrease in the amount of
HSBC’s impairment allowances in 2016 corresponds to the 26.9% decrease
in impaired assets. As a corollary, the amount of impairment allowances as
a percentage of impaired assets remained roughly constant in both years
($11,027/$28,058 = 39.3% for 2015 and $8,100/$20,510 = 39.5% for 2016).

Management Capabilities

Many of the attributes of effective management of financial institutions are the same as
those for other types of entities. Effective management involves successfully identifying
and exploiting appropriate profit opportunities while simultaneously managing risk.
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For all types of entities, compliance with laws and regulations is essential. A strong
governance structure—with an independent board that avoids excessive compensa-
tion or self-dealing—is also critically important. Sound internal controls, transparent
management communication, and financial reporting quality are indicators of man-
agement effectiveness. Across all entities, overall performance is ultimately the most
reliable indicator of management effectiveness.

For financial institutions, a particularly important aspect of management capability
is the ability to identify and control risk, including credit risk, market risk, operating
risk, legal risk, and other risks. Directors of banks set overall guidance on risk exposure
levels and appropriate implementation policies and provide oversight of bank man-
agement. Banks’ senior managers must develop and implement effective procedures
for measuring and monitoring risks consistent with that guidance.

Earnings

As with any entity, financial institutions should ideally generate an amount of earnings
to provide an adequate return on capital to their capital providers and specifically
to reward their stockholders through capital appreciation and/or distribution of the
earnings. Further, all companies’ earnings should ideally be high quality and trending
upward. In general, high-quality earnings mean that accounting estimates are unbi-
ased and the earnings are derived from sustainable rather than non-recurring items.

For banks, one important area involving significant estimates is loan impairment
allowances. In estimating losses on the loan portfolio collectively, statistical analysis
of historical loan losses can provide a basis for an estimation, but statistical analysis
based on past data must be supplemented with management judgement about the
potential for deviation in future. In estimating losses on individual loans, assessments
are required concerning the likelihood of the borrower’s default or bankruptcy and the
value of any collateral. HSBC describes the complexity of estimating loan impairment
allowances as follows: “The exercise of judgement requires the use of assumptions which
are highly subjective and very sensitive to the risk factors, in particular to changes in
economic and credit conditions across a large number of geographical areas. Many
of the factors have a high degree of interdependency and there is no single factor to
which our loan impairment allowances as a whole are sensitive.2

Banks also must use estimates in valuing some financial assets and liabilities that
must be measured at fair value. When fair value of an investment is based on observable
market prices, valuation requires little judgment. However, when fair values cannot
be based on observable market prices, judgment is required.

Under both IFRS and US GAAP, fair value measurements of financial assets and
liabilities are categorized on the basis of the type of inputs used to establish the fair
value. Both sets of standards use the concept of a fair value hierarchy.?! The three
“levels” of the fair value hierarchy pertain to the observability of the inputs used to
establish the fair value.

= Level 1 inputs are quoted prices for identical financial assets or liabilities in
active markets.

= Level 2 inputs are observable but are not the quoted prices for identical
financial instruments in active markets. Level 2 inputs include quoted prices
for similar financial instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identi-
cal financial instruments in markets that are not active, and observable data

20 HSBC Holdings plc Annual Report and Accounts 2016, page 199: www.hsbc.com/investor-relations/
group-results-and-reporting/annual-report

21 Refer to IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement and Financial Accounting Standards Board ASC 820 Fair
Value Measurement.
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such as interest rates, yield curves, credit spreads, and implied volatility.
The inputs are used in a model to determine the fair value of the financial
instrument.

= Level 3 inputs are unobservable. The fair value of a financial instrument is
based on a model (or models) and unobservable inputs. Financial modeling,
by its very nature, contains subjective estimates that are unobservable and
will differ from one modeler to another. For example, a financial instru-
ment’s value might be based on an option-pricing model employing an
unobservable and subjective estimate of the instrument’s market volatility.
Another example is that a financial instrument’s value might be based on
estimated future cash flows, discounted to a present value. Neither the esti-
mated future cash flows nor the discount rate can be observed objectively,
because they depend on the determinations made by the modeler.

In practice, the “Level 1, 2, 3” fair value terminology can also refer to the valuation
approach used. A Level 3 valuation technique is one that relies on one or more sig-
nificant inputs that are unobservable. For example, as noted, a company might value
a private equity investment using a model of estimated future cash flows.

Also, in practice, the “Level 1, 2, 3” terminology can refer to the assets or liabilities
being valued using a given level of input. For example, investments can be referred to
as “Level 1, “Level 2, or “Level 3” investments depending on whether their fair value
is determined based on observable market prices for the exact instrument, observable
market inputs for similar investments, or unobservable inputs, respectively.

Other areas involving significant estimates are common to non-financial and
financial companies. Judging whether goodwill impairment exists requires estimating
future cash flows of a business unit. Deciding to recognize a deferred tax asset relies
on making assumptions about the probability of future taxes. Determining whether
and how much of a liability to recognize in connection with contingencies (e.g.,
litigation) typically depends on professional expert advice but nonetheless requires
some management judgment.

Regarding sustainability of a bank’s earnings, it is important to examine the
composition of earnings. Banks’ earnings typically comprise (a) net interest income
(the difference between interest earned on loans minus interest paid on the deposits
supporting those loans), (b) service income, and (c) trading income. Of these three
general sources, trading income is typically the most volatile. Thus, a greater pro-
portion of net interest income and service income is typically more sustainable than
trading income. In addition, lower volatility within net interest income is desirable:
Highly volatile net interest income could indicate excessive interest rate risk exposure.

EXAMPLE 4

Composition of Earnings

An analyst has gathered the information in Exhibit 6 to evaluate how important
each source of income is to HSBC.

Exhibit 6: Five-Year Summary of HSBC’s Total Operating Income

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
($m) ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m)
Net interest income $29,813 $32,531 $34,705 $35,539 $37,672
Net fee income $12,777 $14,705 $15,957 $16,434 $16,430

Net trading income $9,452 $8,723 $6,760 $8,690 $7,091
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2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
($m) ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m)
Net income/(expense) from financial ($2,666) $1,532 $2,473 $768 ($2,226)
instruments designated at fair value
Gains less losses from financial $1,385 $2,068 $1,335 $2,012 $1,189
investments
Dividend income $95 $123 $311 $322 $221
Net insurance premium income $9,951 $10,355 $11,921 $11,940 $13,044
Gains on disposal of US branch net- — — — — $7,024

work, US cards business, and Ping
An Insurance (Group) Company of

China, Ltd.
Other operating income/(expense) ($971) $1,055 $1,131 $2,632 $2,100
Total operating income $59,836 $71,092 $74,593 $78,337 $82,545

Source: HSBC Holdings plc Annual Report and Accounts 2016 (p. 31).

1. Based on Exhibit 6, what is HSBC’s primary source of operating income, and
what proportion of total operating income was earned from this source in
2016?

Solution:

HSBC’s primary source of operating income is net interest income. In 2016,
49.8% ($29,813/$59,836 = 49.8%) of total operating income was earned from
net interest income in 2016.

2. Based on Exhibit 6, what proportion of total operating income did HSBC
earn from trading income in 2016?
Solution:

In 2016, HSBC earned 15.8% ($9,452/$59,836 = 15.8%) of total operating
income from trading activities.

3. Based on Exhibit 6, describe the trend in HSBC’s operating income.

Solution:

From 2012 to 2016, HSBC'’s operating income declined each year. The com-
position of operating income was fairly constant from 2012 to 2015, with
around 46% from net interest income and 21% from fee income.

Exhibit 7: Five-Year Summary of HSBC's Total Operating Income: Common-Size Statement

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

As a Percentage of Total Operating Income

Net interest income 49.8% 45.8% 46.5% 45.4% 45.6%
Net fee income 21.4% 20.7% 21.4% 21.0% 19.9%
Net trading income 15.8% 12.3% 9.1% 11.1% 8.6%
Net income/(expense) from financial instruments -4.5% 2.2% 3.3% 1.0% -2.7%

designated at fair value

Gains less losses from financial investments 2.3% 2.9% 1.8% 2.6% 1.4%
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2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
Dividend income 0.2% 0.2% 0.4% 0.4% 0.3%
Net insurance premium income 16.6% 14.6% 16.0% 15.2% 15.8%
Gains on disposal of US branch network, US — — — — 8.5%
cards business, and Ping An Insurance (Group)
Company of China, Ltd.
Other operating income/(expense) -1.6% 1.5% 1.5% 3.4% 2.5%
Total operating income 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Liquidity Position

Adequate liquidity is essential for any type of entity. Banks’ systemic importance
increases the importance of adequate liquidity. If a non-bank entity’s insufficient
liquidity prevents it from paying a current liability, the impact would primarily affect
the entity’s own supply chain. In contrast, because deposits constitute the primary
component of a bank’s current liabilities, the impact of a bank’s failure to honor a
current liability could affect an entire economy. Deposits in most banks are insured
up to some specified amount by government insurers; thus, liquidity is a key focus
of regulators.

The Basel III Regulatory Framework??2 cites the sudden illiquidity accompanying
the financial crisis of 2008 as a main motivation for the introduction of a global
liquidity standard. Because of the sudden pressures on liquidity at the inception of
the financial crisis, some banks experienced difficulties, despite having an adequate
capital base. Basel III thus introduced two minimum liquidity standards, both to be
phased in over subsequent years.

= The Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) is expressed as the minimum percent-
age of a bank’s expected cash outflows that must be held in highly liquid
assets. For this ratio, the expected cash outflows (the denominator) are the
bank’s anticipated one-month liquidity needs in a stress scenario, and the
highly liquid assets (the numerator) include only those that are easily con-
vertible into cash. The standards set a target minimum of 100%.

= The Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) is expressed as the minimum percent-
age of a bank’s required stable funding that must be sourced from available
stable funding. For this ratio, required stable funding (the denominator) is
a function of the composition and maturity of a bank’s asset base, whereas
available stable funding (the numerator) is a function of the composition
and maturity of a bank’s funding sources (i.e., capital and deposits and other
liabilities). Under Basel I1I, the available stable funding is determined by
assigning a bank’s capital and liabilities to one of five categories presented
in Exhibit 8, shown below. The amount assigned to each category is then
multiplied by an available stable funding (ASF) factor, and the total available
stable funding is the sum of the weighted amounts.?3

22 Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, “Basel III: A Global Regulatory Framework For More Resilient
Banks and Banking System”: www.bis.org/publ/bcbs189.pdf.

23 Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, “Basel III: The Net Stable Funding Ratio” (October 2014, p.
3): www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d295.pdf. Exhibit 8 is adapted from page 6 of this document.
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Exhibit 8: Categories of Available Stable Funding

ASF
Factor Components of ASF Category

100% = Total regulatory capital (excluding Tier 2 instruments with residual maturity
of less than one year)

Other capital instruments and liabilities with effective residual maturity of
one year or more

95% = Stable non-maturity (demand) deposits and term deposits with residual matu-
rity of less than one year provided by retail and small business customers

90% Less stable non-maturity deposits and term deposits with residual maturity of

less than one year provided by retail and small business customers

50% = Funding with residual maturity of less than one year provided by non-finan-
cial corporate customers

Operational deposits

= Funding with residual maturity of less than one year from sovereigns, public
sector entities, and multilateral and national development banks

Other funding with residual maturity between six months and less than one
year not included in the above categories, including funding provided by
central banks and financial institutions

0% = All other liabilities and equity not included in the above categories, including
liabilities without a stated maturity (with a specific treatment for deferred tax
liabilities and minority interests)

= Net Stable Funding Ratio derivative liabilities net of Net Stable Funding Ratio
derivative assets if Net Stable Funding Ratio derivative liabilities are greater
than Net Stable Funding Ratio derivative assets

= “Trade date” payables arising from purchases of financial instruments, foreign
currencies, and commodities

The rationale for the Net Stable Funding Ratio is that it relates the liquidity needs of
the financial institution’s assets to the liquidity provided by the funding sources. With
assets, for example, loans with long-dated maturities require stable funding whereas
highly liquid assets do not. With funding sources, long-dated deposits and other
liabilities are considered more stable than short-dated liabilities, and deposits from
retail customers are considered more stable than deposits with the same maturity
from other counterparties. The standards set a target minimum of greater than 100%.

Among the several liquidity-monitoring metrics described in Basel III,%* two
are discussed here: concentration of funding and contractual maturity mismatch.
Concentration of funding refers to the proportion of funding that is obtained from
a single source. Excessive concentration of funding exposes a bank to the risk that a
single funding source could be withdrawn.

Contractual maturity mismatch refers to the maturity dates of a bank’s assets
compared to the maturity dates of a bank’s funding sources. In a normal yield curve
environment, where long-term interest rates are higher than short-term rates, a
bank can maximize its net interest income—all else equal—by borrowing short term
and lending long term. In doing so, the bank would minimize the interest paid to its
depositors and maximize interest earned on its loan assets. In excess, however, such
maturity mismatches expose the bank to liquidity risk if the bank needs to return

24 Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, “Basel III: A Global Regulatory Framework For More Resilient
Banks and Banking System”: www.bis.org/publ/bcbs189.pdf.
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cash on its maturing deposits prior to the time that it receives cash repayment of
loans from its borrowers. Monitoring maturity mismatch is thus an important tool
in liquidity risk management.

EXAMPLE 5

The following excerpts from HSBC’s annual report explain the bank’s approach
to management of its liquidity and funding risk. The disclosures state that the
group’s principal operating entities were within the risk tolerance levels estab-
lished by the board for the Liquidity Coverage Ratio, the Net Stable Funding
Ratio, depositor concentration, and term funding maturity concentration.

Exhibit 9: Liquidity Disclosure—Excerpts from HSBC’s Annual Report

The management of liquidity and funding is primarily undertaken locally
(by country) in our operating entities in compliance with the Group’s LFRF
[liquidity and funding risk management framework], and with practices and
limits set by the GMB [Group Management Board] through the RMM [Risk
Management Meeting of the Group Management Board] and approved by
the Board. Our general policy is that each defined operating entity should
be self-sufficient in funding its own activities. Where transactions exist
between operating entities, they are reflected symmetrically in both entities.

As part of our asset, liability and capital management structure, we
have established asset and liability committees (“ALCQO”) at Group level,
in the regions and in operating entities. . . . The primary responsibility for
managing liquidity and funding within the Group’s framework and risk
appetite resides with the local operating entities’ ALCOs, Holdings ALCO
and the RMM. . ..

The Liquidity Coverage Ratio (“LCR”) aims to ensure that a bank has
sufficient unencumbered high-quality liquid assets (“HQLA”) to meet
its liquidity needs in a 30-calendar-day liquidity stress scenario. HQLA
consist of cash or assets that can be converted into cash at little or no loss
of value in markets. We reported a Group European Commission (“EC”)
LCR at 31 December 2016 of 136% (31 December 2015: 116%) to the PRA
[UK Prudential Regulation Authority]. . . . At 31 December 2016, all the
Group’s principal operating entities were within the LCR risk tolerance
level established by the Board. . . . The liquidity position of the Group
can also be represented by the stand-alone ratios of each of our principal
operating entities. . . .

The Net Stable Funding Ratio (“NSFR”) requires institutions to maintain
sufficient stable funding relative to required stable funding, and reflects
a bank’s long-term funding profile (funding with a term of more than a
year). It is designed to complement the LCR. At 31 December 2016, the
Group’s principal operating entities were within the NSFR risk tolerance
level established by the Board and applicable under the LERF.

The LCR and NSER metrics assume a stressed outflow based on a
portfolio of depositors within each deposit segment. The validity of these
assumptions is challenged if the portfolio of depositors is not large enough
to avoid depositor concentration. Operating entities are exposed to term
re-financing concentration risk if the current maturity profile results in
future maturities being overly concentrated in any defined period. At 31
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December 2016, all principal operating entities were within the risk tol-
erance levels set for depositor concentration and term funding maturity
concentration. These risk tolerances were established by the Board. . . .
[The table below displays the following liquidity metrics for HSBC'’s
principal operating entities: individual LCR on an EC LCR basis and NSER.]

Operating Entities’ Liquidity Measures

LCR NSFR
Dec-16 Dec-15 Dec-16

(%) (%) (%)
HSBC UK liquidity group 123 107 116
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking 185 150 157
Corporation, Hong Kong Branch
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking 154 189 112
Corporation, Singapore Branch
HSBC Bank USA 130 116 120
HSBC France 122 127 120
Hang Seng Bank 218 199 162
HSBC Canada 142 142 139
HSBC Bank China 253 183 49
HSBC Middle East, UAE Branch 241 141
HSBC Mexico 177 128
HSBC Private Bank 178 155

Source: HSBC Holdings plc Annual Report and Accounts 2016 (pp. 108, 143, and 144).

1. Based on the exhibit, in 2016, which of HSBC’s operating entities had
the highest level of liquid assets relative to its liquidity needs in a stress
scenario?

Solution:

Based on the exhibit, HSBC Bank China had the highest level of liquid as-
sets relative to its liquidity needs in a stress scenario. Its 2016 LCR of 253%
is higher than that of any of the other HSBC entities.

2. Based on the exhibit, which of HSBC’s operating entities had the most stable
funding relative to its required need for stable funding?

Solution:

Based on the exhibit, Hang Seng Bank had the most stable funding relative
to its required need for stable funding. Its 2016 NSER of 162% is higher than
that of any of the other HSBC entities.

3. Based on the exhibit, which of HSBC’s operating entities is the furthest away
from achieving the Basel III target for NSFR?

Solution:

Based on the exhibit, HSBC Bank China is the furthest away from achieving
the Basel III standard of NSFR greater than 100%. Its NSER of 49% is lower
than that of any of the other HSBC entities. (It is possible that these metrics
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result from RMB capital controls in China or jurisdictional issues; however,
the example does not provide sufficient information to confirm the reason.)

Sensitivity to Market Risk

Almost every entity has some exposure to changes in interest rates, exchange rates,
equity prices, or commodity prices. Every company in the United States, for example,
is required to provide quantitative and qualitative disclosures in annual filings about
exposure to market risk. The nature of banks’ operations generally makes sensitivity of
earnings to market risks a particularly important consideration for analysts. Mismatches
in the maturity, repricing frequency, reference rates, or currency of banks’ loans and
deposits create exposure to market movements. Further, exposure to risk arises not
only from loans and deposits on a bank’s balance sheet but also from off-balance-sheet
exposures, including, for example, guarantees or derivatives positions linked to interest
rates, exchange rates, equities, or commodities. It is important to understand how
an adverse change in any of these markets would affect a bank’s earnings. It is also
important to evaluate the strength of a bank’s ability to manage market risks.

Banks disclose information about the sensitivity of earnings to different market
conditions—namely, the earnings impact of a shift up or down in some market. Consider
a bank’s sensitivity to interest rate risk. Even in a purely hypothetical situation of a
bank with assets and liabilities that are identical in terms of interest rates, maturity,
and frequency of repricing, an increase in interest rates would cause the bank’s net
interest income to increase. This would occur simply because banks have more assets
than liabilities. In reality, of course, the terms of a bank’s assets and liabilities differ.
Generally, the yield on a bank’s loan assets is presumed to be higher than the rate it
must pay its depositors, particularly consumer deposits. With respect to term structure,
in a typical yield curve environment, longer-dated assets would have a higher yield
ceteris paribus than shorter-dated funding sources, but another aspect of interest rate
sensitivity is repricing frequency. For example, having assets with greater repricing
frequency than liabilities would benefit earnings in a rising interest rate scenario. In
sum, many structural factors affect interest rate sensitivity.

The following example includes an interest rate sensitivity disclosure showing the
earnings impact of an upward and downward shift in interest rates. Disclosures such
as these reflect the existing structure of a bank’s assets and liabilities.

EXAMPLE 6

Market Risk

The following excerpts from HSBC’s annual report explain the bank’s approach
to monitoring its market risk and illustrates one of the tools used by the bank:
sensitivity analysis.

Exhibit 10: Excerpt from HSBC’s Annual Report

Our objective is to manage and control market risk exposures while main-
taining a market profile consistent with our risk appetite. We use a range
of tools to monitor and limit market risk exposures including sensitivity
analysis, value at risk and stress testing.

The following table sets out the assessed impact on our base case
projected net interest income (“NII”) for 2016 (excluding insurance) of a
series of four quarterly parallel shocks of 25 basis points to the current
market-implied path of interest rates worldwide at the beginning of each
quarter from 1 January 2017. . ..
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The sensitivities shown represent our assessment as to the change
in expected base case net interest income under the two rate scenarios,
assuming that all other non-interest rate risk variables remain constant,
and there are no management actions. . . .
We expect NII to rise in the rising rate scenario and fall in the falling
rate scenario. This is due to a structural mismatch between our assets and
liabilities (on balance we would expect our assets to reprice more quickly,
and to a greater extent, than our liabilities).
Net Interest Income Sensitivity (Audited)
Rest of Hong
USdollar Americas Kongdol- Rest of Sterling
bloc bloc lar bloc  Asia bloc bloc Euro bloc Total
($m) ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m)
Change in 2016 net interest income
arising from a shift in yield curves of:
+25 basis points at the beginning of 605 47 504 280 61 212 1,709
each quarter
-25 basis points at the beginning of -1,024 -41 -797 -292 -261 9 -2,406

each quarter

Source: HSBC Holdings plc Annual Report and Accounts 2016 (pp. 78 and 117).

1. Based on the exhibit, by how much would HSBC'’s planned net interest in-
come decrease if the yield curves shifted downward by 25 basis points at the
beginning of each quarter for four quarters?

Solution

HSBC'’s planned net interest income would decrease by $2,406 million if the
yield curves shifted downward by 25 basis points at the beginning of each
quarter.

2. If a decrease in interest rates would hurt the earnings of banks such as
HSBC, why would central banks lower interest rates so significantly follow-
ing the financial crisis in order to prop up the financial sector?

Solution

An interest rate sensitivity table such as the one presented by HSBC is a
static presentation and thus assumes that the relation between the structure
of assets and liabilities in place at the time would remain stationary. Fol-
lowing the financial crisis, the central banks’ actions reduced interest rates
at which banks could borrow (effectively, to near zero), while the rates that
banks were able to charge their loan customers were—while still low—far
higher than their borrowing costs. Further, the central banks’ actions were
not intended solely to prop up banks’ earnings but also to provide liquidity
and stimulus to the overall economy.

As described in the example, another tool that HSBC uses to measure and monitor
market risk is value at risk (VaR). Recall that VaR is a way to estimate the amount of
potential loss based on simulations that incorporate historical pricing information.



© CFA Institute. For candidate use only. Not for distribution.
226 Learning Module 4 Analysis of Financial Institutions

HSBC estimates its VaR using a 99% confidence level, a one-day holding period, and
two prior years of pricing data on foreign exchange rates, interest rates, equity prices,
commodity prices, and associated volatilities.

3 ANALYZING A BANK: NON-CAMELS FACTORS

] describe other factors to consider in analyzing a bank

] analyze a bank based on financial statements and other factors

While the CAMELS approach to assessing bank soundness is fairly comprehensive,
there are important bank-specific attributes that it does not completely address. There
are also important attributes not addressed by the CAMELS approach that apply to
both banks and other types of companies.

Banking-Specific Analytical Considerations Not Addressed by
CAMELS

The CAMELS acronym is useful as a composite of major factors, but it is neither
comprehensive nor comprehensively integrated. Also, the ordering of the factors does
not signify importance. For example, strong capital (the “C”) and strong liquidity (the
“L”) are equally important in the Basel III standards.2”

The following bank attributes are either unaddressed or not fully addressed by a
CAMELS analysis:

= Government support. Governments do not normally strive to save a
company or even an entire industry that may be facing failure. In capitalist
societies, failure is the unfortunate occasional by-product of risk taking
with capital, and bankruptcy laws and courts serve to administer the results
of failed capital allocation. The banking industry is different from other
industries, however, regarding government support. It is in a government’s
interest to have a healthy banking system because a nation’s economy is
affected by banks’ lending activity, and a nation’s central bank needs a
healthy banking system for the effective transmission of monetary policy.

A healthy banking system also facilitates commerce by providing adequate
payment processing and instilling depositor confidence in the safekeeping of
their deposits.

Government agencies monitor the health of banks in the entire system and
will close banks that might fail or will arrange mergers with healthy ones
able to absorb them. This pruning activity addresses issues with banks that
might otherwise weaken the banking system if left unattended. Alternatively,
governments may directly assist banks to keep them afloat rather than clos-
ing them or arranging for mergers with healthier banks. Visible examples

of both assisting and pruning activities occurred during the financial crisis
of 2008. For example, the US Treasury created the Troubled Asset Relief
Program (TARP) to purchase loans held by banks and to provide equity

25 Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, “Basel III: A Global Regulatory Framework For More Resilient
Banks and Banking System” (December 2010, p. 8, item B.34): www.bis.org/publ/bcbs189.pdf.
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injections to the banks. During the same period, the Treasury also arranged
numerous mergers among banking giants, leading to even bigger banking
giants.

CAMELS analysis will not provide an assessment of government support,
but an investor can qualitatively assess whether a bank will enjoy the sup-
port of the government in times of economic distress. The following are
factors to consider:

» Size of the bank. Is the bank large enough to bring damage to a signifi-
cant part of the economy in the event of its failure? Is it “too big to fail”?

e Status of the country’s banking system. Is the nation’s banking system
healthy enough to handle a particular bank’s failure? Rather than force
the banking system to cope with the failure of a particular bank, would it
be a better solution for the government to intervene with taxpayer funds
to support it? The global financial crisis of 2008—2009 led the US Federal
Reserve to develop the concept of SIFIs: systemically important finan-
cial institutions, ones that would pose a significant risk to the economy
in the event of a failure. Such institutions have been the target of an
increased degree of regulation in the post-crisis era.

=  Government ownership. Public ownership of banks may include a strong
ownership representation by the government of their home country.
Government ownership may exist for several reasons. A “development” view
of government ownership incorporates a belief that government ownership
aids financial development of the banks, leading to broad economic growth.
A more pessimistic view is that a nation’s banking system is not strong
enough to stand on its own and attract large amounts of capital, because
of low ethical standards within the industry or a lack of confidence in the
banking system among the nation’s public at large—an important source of
funds for any bank.26

Whatever the reason may be for a government’s ownership stake in a

bank, its presence adds another dimension of security for a bank inves-

tor. A government that owns a stake in a bank is likely to intervene on the
bank’s behalf in the event of economic distress. Conversely, a government
that plans to reduce its ownership stake in a bank may directly reduce that
dimension of security; however, that may not always be the case. During the
global financial crisis of 2008—2009, some governments became reluctant
owners of banks, which were ultimately supported by taxpayer funding.
When government ownership of such banks was reduced after the crisis
ended, markets viewed the reduction as a signal of renewed strength.

= Mission of banking entity. Not all banks share the same mission. For
example, community banks primarily serve the needs of the immediate
community in which they operate. That community’s welfare could be
driven by an economy based on farming, mining, or oil or could depend
on a single large manufacturing entity. The fortunes of the banks and their
borrowers and depositors would depend on economic factors that affect the
primary industry or employer. Contrast that situation with a global banking
entity absorbing deposits from all around the world while investing globally
as well. The global bank is more diversified against a single risk than any
community bank.

26 Rafael La Porta, Florencio Lopez-de-Silanes, and Andrei Shleifer, “Government Ownership of Banks,’
NBER Working Paper No. 7620 (March 2000).
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The mission of the bank and the economics of its constituents will affect the
way the bank manages its assets and liabilities. That is a qualitative assess-
ment that the bank investor needs to make, and it is not addressed by a
CAMELS analysis.

Corporate culture. A bank’s culture may be very risk averse and cautious
and make only loans perceived to be low risk, or alternatively, it may be risk
seeking and willing to take risk in pursuit of high returns on investment. Or
a bank’s culture may be somewhere in the middle of those two extremes. An
overly cautious culture may be too risk averse to provide adequate returns
to shareholders for taking on the risk of ownership. A highly risk-hungry
culture may lead to boom and bust results and volatility. Differences in the
cultural environment are particularly important for banks operating in mul-
tiple countries, where there may be a disconnect between corporate culture
and national culture.

A bank investor can qualitatively assess a bank’s cultural environment by
considering factors such as these:

¢ Has the bank generated recent losses resulting from a narrowly focused
investment strategy, such as a large, outsized exposure to a particularly
risky country or area of the economy?

» Has the bank restated its financial statements owing to financial report-
ing internal control failures?

¢ Does the bank award above-average equity-based compensation to
its top managers, possibly incentivizing risk-taking behavior and
short-termism?

¢ What does the bank’s experience with loss reserves say about its culture?
Has it frequently been slow to provide for losses, only to record large
asset write-downs later?

Analytical Considerations Not Addressed by CAMELS That Are
Also Relevant for Any Company

There are other factors relevant to the analysis of a bank—and to any kind of company—
that are not covered by the CAMELS approach. The following factors merit consider-
ation by debt and equity investors in banks as well as investors in non-banking entities:

Competitive environment. A bank’s competitive position, relative to its
peers, may affect how it allocates capital and assesses risks; it may also affect
the aforementioned cultural mindset. A regional bank may have a near-mo-
nopolistic hold on a particular region and not take very many risks beyond
maintaining its grip. A global bank may be affected by the actions of other
global banks. Managers of a global bank may not be satisfied with following
the lead of other banks and may pursue ambitious goals of growing market
share at all costs and with little regard for risks, or they may be content
with more profitable but slower growth. It depends on how the bank’s
managers perceive their competitive position and how they will react to the
perception.

Off-balance-sheet items. Off-balance-sheet assets and liabilities pose a risk
to entities and their investors if they should unexpectedly drain resources.
The global financial crisis of 2008—2009 was hastened by the Lehman
Brothers bankruptcy, and the opacity of their involvement with such finan-
cial instruments as credit derivatives prevented concise pre-crisis analysis of
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the risks they shouldered. However difficult to examine, off-balance-sheet
exposures need consideration whenever one analyzes a bank or financial
institution.

Not all off-balance-sheet items involve exotic or highly engineered financial
instruments. Operating leases are a low-risk example of off-balance-sheet
liabilities: They are not a recognized liability of a company, yet they provide
a creditor with a claim on a company’s future cash flows. Fortunately, visi-
bility into such future obligations is easily accessed by investors in the lease
footnotes.

A financial institution analyst should be alert to the existence in the financial
statements of an accounting construct known as variable interest entities, or
VIEs. Variable interest entities are a form of “special-purpose entity” usually
formed solely for one purpose: perhaps to hold only certain assets or assets
that may be financed with specific debt instruments. Before the accounting
for variable interest entities was developed, companies sometimes used
outside parties to take a majority ownership stake in the special-purpose
entity, ensuring that they would not have to consolidate the special-purpose
entity’s assets and liabilities. The accounting standard setters developed the
VIE model to capture the consolidation of such special-purpose entities.

By meeting generalized criteria for consolidation apart from clearly defined
equity ownership tests, a company that is the primary beneficiary of a VIE’s
existence may be required to consolidate the VIE’s financial statements with
its own, even if it has no equity ownership in it. Yet a variable interest entity
may also result in off-balance-sheet assets and liabilities for a bank if the
bank has an interest in the VIE but is not required to consolidate it. If the
VIE is not consolidated with the bank, its existence and certain financial
information must be disclosed. Those non-consolidated VIEs should be of
interest to investors: The reasons given for non-consolidation should be
examined for reasonableness, and the implications to the bank of various
scenarios affecting the VIE should be considered.

Benefit plans are another “off-balance-sheet” item for investors to examine.
Although these are not completely off-balance-sheet items because the net
benefit plan assets or obligations appear on the balance sheet, the econom-
ics that drive them are different from the bank’s business. Shortfalls in assets
due to market performance can cause rapid increases in required contribu-
tions to plans. Interest rate decreases, which drive plan obligations higher,
can also cause rapid cash drains for required contributions to plans. Bank
investors should examine benefits plan footnotes to determine the degree of
risk posed by such plans.

One particular off-balance-sheet item that is found in financial companies
only—sometimes in banks—is assets under management (AUM). Banks may
have trust departments that generate management fees based on the assets
under management. Those assets belong to the clients and are not consol-
idated with a bank’s balance sheet accounts, yet they drive the returns of

the bank. If such returns are material to a bank’s results, the bank investor
should be concerned with the size and growth or decline in assets under
management.

= Segment information. Banks may be organized in different lines of busi-
ness. They can be organized according to domestic and foreign markets;
they can be organized along consumer or industrial lines of business; they
may offer financial services, such as leasing or market making in securities;
and they may have related businesses that are not strictly banking driven,
such as trust operations. Regardless of the lines of business a bank (or any
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other company) may pursue, segment information should illustrate the
information used by the chief operating decision maker in the entity. That
information can help the investor decide whether capital is being allocated
well within the bank’s internally competing operations.

= Currency exposure. Although it may not be a problem for smaller, regional
banks that operate in a single currency, floating currency exchange rates can
create problems for global banks. Banks may finance and lend in a variety of
currencies, resulting in foreign currency transaction exposure. Large banks
may actively trade in foreign currencies and actively hedge using foreign
exchange derivatives, leading to unforeseen gains or losses when world
events affect currencies unexpectedly; not all banks may be successful cur-
rency traders. Global banks face the same balance sheet translation issues
that affect other multinational corporations. When a bank’s home currency
strengthens against the functional currencies of its foreign subsidiaries, the
translation of balance sheet accounts at the end of an accounting period may
lead to currency translation adjustments that can reduce capital.

= Risk factors. Investors should review the risk factors presented in a compa-
ny’s annual filing. Sometimes derided as a mere list of worst-case scenarios
created by a company’s legal counsel, the risk factors section of a company’s
filing can also fill gaps in an investor’s knowledge about legal and regulatory
issues that might not otherwise be uncovered.

= Basel III disclosures. The Basel III requirements include extensive dis-
closures that complement the minimum risk-based capital requirements
and other quantitative requirements with the goal of promoting market
discipline by providing useful regulatory information to investors and other
interested parties on a consistent, comparable basis.2”

4 ANALYZING A BANK: EXAMPLE OF CAMELS
APPROACH

] explain the CAMELS (capital adequacy, asset quality, management,
earnings, liquidity, and sensitivity) approach to analyzing a bank,
including key ratios and its limitations

] analyze a bank based on financial statements and other factors

This section illustrates the CAMELS approach using Citigroup’s financial statements
as an example. The CAMELS approach is based on the evidence gathered by the
analyst in assessing each CAMELS component, and this evidence will vary from inves-
tor to investor. Some aspects of the CAMELS approach will matter more to certain
investors than others: An equity investor may be far more concerned with earnings
and earnings quality than with capital adequacy. A fixed-income investor might be
far more concerned with capital adequacy and liquidity than earnings. The interests
of each type of investor will determine what kind of analysis they perform to assess
each CAMELS component. The following example of Citigroup is not intended to
show all possible analyses.

27 Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, “Standards: Revised Pillar 3 Disclosure Requirements”
(January 2015, p. 3): https://www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d309.pdf.


https://www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d309.pdf

© CFA Institute. For candidate use only. Not for distribution.
Analyzing a Bank: Example of CAMELS Approach 231

It should also be understood that although the CAMELS approach entails quan-
titative aspects, it is not a wholly formulaic approach to analyzing a bank. An ana-
lyst’s judgment and discretion also matter greatly in the application of the CAMELS
approach. Judgment and discretion figure into the kind of testing done by an investor
to gather evidence for the various CAMELS components, and judgment and discretion
also figure into the rating of the various CAMELS components once the evidence has
been reviewed.

The following sections present examples of the relevant information for each
component and conclude with a summary assessment. In each case, the summary
assessment includes a rating, where a rating of 1 is the highest and a rating of 5 is
the lowest.

Capital Adequacy

As noted above, capital adequacy relates to the proportion of a bank’s assets funded by
capital, with the assets accorded varying risk weightings. Not only are assets stratified
into risk classes, but the bank capital funding those assets is also stratified into tiers:
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital, Total Tier 1 Capital, and Tier 2 Capital.

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital includes common stock, issuance surplus related
to common stock, retained earnings, accumulated other comprehensive income, and
certain adjustments, including the deduction of intangible assets and deferred tax assets.

Exhibit 11 shows the calculation of Citigroup’s Common Equity Tier 1 Capital,
Risk-Weighted Assets, and Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratio at the end of 2016
and 2015. Citigroup’s ratio is well within the required limits in both years. The ratio
declined slightly in 2016, from 14.60% to 14.35%. The decline in the ratio is mostly
attributable to the increase in deferred tax assets disallowed in the computation of
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital.

Exhibit 11: Components of Citigroup Common Equity Tier 1 Capital under Current Regulatory Standards

(Basel lll Advanced Approaches with Transition Arrangements)

(In millions of dollars) 31 Dec. 2016 31 Dec. 2015
Citigroup common stockholders’ equity $206,051 $205,286
Add: Qualifying non-controlling interests 259 369
Regulatory capital adjustments and deductions:

Less: Net unrealized gains (losses) on securities available for sale (AFS), net of (320) (544)
tax

Less: Defined benefit plan liability adjustment, net of tax (2,066) (3,070)
Less: Accumulated net unrealized losses on cash flow hedges, net of tax (4) (560) (617)
Less: Cumulative unrealized net gain (loss) related to changes in fair value of (37) 176

financial liabilities attributable to own creditworthiness, net of tax

Less: Intangible assets:

Goodwill, net of related deferred tax liabilities 20,858 21,980
Identifiable intangible assets other than mortgage servicing rights (MSRs), net 2,926 1,434
of related deferred tax liabilities

Less: Defined benefit pension plan net assets 514 318
Less: Deferred tax assets (DTAs) arising from net operating loss, foreign tax 12,802 9,464

credit, and general business credit carry-forwards

Less: Excess over 10%/15% limitations for other DTAs,certain common stock 4,815 2,652
investments, and mortgage servicing rights
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(In millions of dollars) 31 Dec. 2016 31 Dec. 2015
Total Common Equity Tier 1 Capital $167,378 $173,862
Risk-Weighted Assets under Current Regulatory Standards:

Credit risk $773,483 $791,036
Market risk 64,006 74,817
Operational risk 329,275 325,000
Total risk-weighted assets $1,166,764 $1,190,853
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratio (Tier 1 Capital/Total risk-weighted 14.35% 14.60%
assets)

Stated minimum Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratio 4.50% 4.50%

Total Tier 1 Capital includes other instruments issued by the bank that meet certain
criteria based on their subordination to deposit and other debt obligations, bear no
fixed maturity, and carry no requirement to pay dividends or interest without full
discretion of the bank. Preferred stocks can be constructed to meet these criteria.

Exhibit 12 shows the calculation of Citigroup’s Total Tier 1 Capital and Total Tier
1 Capital Ratio at the end of 2016 and 2015. Again, Citigroup’s ratio is well within
the required limits in both years. The ratio improved in 2016, from 14.81% to 15.29%.
The increase in this ratio is mostly attributable to additional perpetual preferred stock
qualifying for inclusion in 2016 and the decrease in the amount of deferred tax assets
disallowed in the computation of Total Tier 1 Capital.

Exhibit 12: Components of Citigroup Total Tier 1 Capital under Current Regulatory Standards (Basel lll

Advanced Approaches with Transition Arrangements)

(In millions of dollars) 31 Dec. 2016 31 Dec. 2015
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital (from Exhibit 11) $167,378 $173,862
Additional Tier 1 Capital:

Qualifying perpetual preferred stock 19,069 16,571
Qualifying trust preferred securities 1,371 1,707
Qualifying non-controlling interests 17 12

Regulatory capital adjustments and deductions:

Less: Cumulative unrealized net gain (loss) related to changes in fair value of (24) 265
financial liabilities attributable to own creditworthiness, net of tax

Less: Defined benefit pension plan net assets 343 476
Less: DTAs arising from net operating loss, foreign tax credit and general 8,535 14,195
business credit carry-forwards

Less: Permitted ownership interests in covered funds 533 567
Less: Minimum regulatory capital requirements of insurance underwriting 61 229
subsidiaries

Total additional Tier 1 Capital $11,009 $2,558
Total Tier 1 Capital (Common Equity Tier 1 Capital + Additional Tier 1 $178,387 $176,420
Capital)

Total risk-weighted assets (from Exhibit 11) $1,166,764 $1,190,853
Tier 1 Capital Ratio 15.29% 14.81%

Minimum Tier 1 Capital Ratio 6.00% 6.00%




© CFA Institute. For candidate use only. Not for distribution.
Analyzing a Bank: Example of CAMELS Approach 233

Tier 2 Capital includes, on a limited basis, portions of the allowance for loan and lease
losses and other instruments that are subordinate to depositors and general creditors.
Exhibit 13 shows the calculation of Citigroup’s Tier 2 Capital and Total Capital Ratio
at the end of 2016 and 2015. Consistent with the Common Equity Tier 1 Capital
Ratio and the Total Tier 1 Capital Ratio, the 2016 Total Capital Ratio far exceeds the
minimum requirement. The Total Capital Ratio improved from the 2015 level, from
16.69% to 17.33%. The improvement was mostly due to the increase in Total Tier 1
Capital and the amount of qualifying subordinated debt.

Exhibit 13: Components of Citigroup Tier 2 Capital under Current Regulatory Standards (Basel Ill Advanced

Approaches with Transition Arrangements)

(In millions of dollars) 31 Dec. 2016 31 Dec. 2015
Total Tier 1 Capital (Common Equity Tier 1 Capital + Additional Tier 1 Capital) $178,387 $176,420
Qualifying subordinated debt 22,818 21,370
Qualifying trust preferred securities 317 0
Qualifying non-controlling interests 22 17
Excess of eligible credit reserves over expected credit losses 660 1,163

Regulatory capital adjustments and deductions:

Add: Unrealized gains on AFS equity exposures includable in Tier 2 Capital 3 5
Less: Minimum regulatory capital requirements of insurance underwriting 61 229
subsidiaries

Total Tier 2 Capital $23,759 $22,326
Total Capital (Tier 1 Capital + Tier 2 Capital) $202,146 $198,746
Total risk-weighted assets $1,166,764 $1,190,853
Total Capital Ratio 17.33% 16.69%
Minimum Capital Ratio 8.00% 8.00%

In summary, Citigroup’s capital adequacy at the end of 2016 appears to be solidly
positive. For each of the three chief capital ratios, the company has exceeded the
minimum levels required for being considered to be a well-capitalized bank. A rating
of 1 could be justified by their ratios, which far exceeded the minimum levels.

Asset Quality

Asset quality matters greatly to a bank. As financial intermediaries in an economy,
banks owe their existence to the creation of loans. If a bank’s credit policies are
unsound, its capital base can be quickly eroded during economic downturns, creating
strains on the bank’s liquidity and its ability to generate earnings. Creating new loans
becomes problematic.

A portion of bank assets are held in highly liquid financial instruments, such as
cash, deposits held at other banks, and instruments that may convert into cash in a
very short time frame, such as repurchase agreements and some receivables. These
are not highly risky assets.

Increasing in riskiness are the investments made by the bank in financial instru-
ments with cash deemed to be in excess of operating needs. Under US GAAP and IFRS,
these investments may be classified as available-for-sale investments, which are reported
at fair value, or held-to-maturity investments, which are reported at their amortized
cost unless an impairment occurs. While these investments are riskier than the liquid
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securities and reflect an investment decision made by management, their value is quite
transparent and their reported value reflects their realizability in cash—although it
takes more analytical effort to make that assertion for held-to-maturity securities.

The riskiest, and often the largest, asset classes are the loans underwritten by the
bank. Loans embody credit risk and the judgment of management in extending credit
to customers. The underwriting risks and the management judgments in assessing
them are reflected in the allowance for loan losses. It is here that the analyst faces
some of the most difficult assessments in understanding the quality of banking assets
and is at a disadvantage, because some information simply is unavailable to an analyst
(or investor). Conversely, an examiner for a supervisory regulator has the ability to
see the bank from the inside and assess the soundness of loan (and investment) pol-
icies and procedures. An examiner may also review the construction and workings
of internal control procedures and may be able to examine how exceptions to credit
policies are being handled.?8

Although the analyst is interested in all of those inner workings, he/she can be
concerned only with circumstantial evidence that the credit policies are sound and
are being maintained. That circumstantial evidence can be found in the financial
statements, but it is not completely obvious from merely looking at a balance sheet.
There are ways to find evidence of asset quality, as will be shown with Citigroup.
Exhibit 14 shows the asset side of Citigroup’s balance sheet on a condensed basis at
the end of 2016 and 2015.

Exhibit 14: Citigroup Asset Composition, 31 December 2016 and 2015

31 December 2016 31 December 2015
(In millions of dollars) $ % Total Assets $ % Total Assets
Liquid assets:
Cash and due from banks $23,043 1.3% $20,900 1.2%
Deposits with banks 137,451 7.7% 112,197 6.5%
Federal funds sold and securities borrowed or pur- 236,813 13.2% 219,675 12.7%
chased under resale agreements
Brokerage receivables 28,887 1.6% 27,683 1.6%
Trading account assets 243,925 13.6% 241,215 13.9%
Total liquid assets 670,119 37.4% 621,670 35.9%
Investments:
Available-for-sale 299,424 16.7% 299,136 17.3%
Held-to-maturity 45,667 2.5% 36,215 2.1%
Non-marketable equity securities 8,213 0.5% 7,604 0.4%
Total investments 353,304 19.7% 342,955 19.8%
Loans:
Consumer 325,366 18.2% 325,785 18.8%
Corporate 299,003 16.7% 291,832 16.9%
Loans, net of unearned income 624,369 34.9% 617,617 35.7%
Allowance for loan losses (12,060) -0.7% (12,626) -0.7%
Total loans, net 612,309 34.2% 604,991 35.0%

28 See Section 3.1 of the FDIC’s “RMS Manual of Examination Policies,” available at https://www.fdic.gov/
regulations/safety/manual/section3-1.pdf.
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31 December 2016 31 December 2015

(In millions of dollars) $ % Total Assets $ % Total Assets
Goodwill 21,659 1.2% 22,349 1.3%
Intangible assets (other than MSRs) 5,114 0.3% 3,721 0.2%
Mortgage servicing rights (MSRs) 1,564 0.1% 1,781 0.1%
Other assets 128,008 7.1% 133,743 7.7%

Total assets $1,792,077 100.0% $1,731,210 100.0%

Observations from the composition of the assets:

= Citigroup’s liquid assets are the largest single group of all, at 37.4% in 2016,
and slightly greater than the year before, indicating greater liquidity.

= The proportion of investments to total assets of 19.7% is practically
unchanged from 2015; the majority of the investments are available-for-sale
securities reported at fair value.

= Consumer and corporate loans are the highest-risk assets and in both years
amount to more than one-third of all assets. They are the second largest
class of assets after the liquid assets.

In assessing asset quality, an analyst would want to focus on the riskiest assets in
the mix: the investments and the loans. He or she would want to determine that the
investments, while transparent in value, represent sound investment decisions and
that the loans result from similarly reasoned underwriting policies. The analyst would
want assurance that the stated amount of loans is collectible and that the allowance
for loan losses is reasonably stated.

First, take a look at the investments. Exhibit 15 shows Citigroup’s available-for-sale
securities by class at the end of 2016. Exhibit 15 was extracted from Note 13 of the 2016
10-K, which showed the amortized cost by investment instrument, gross unrealized
gains, gross unrealized losses, and fair value as stated in the balance sheet. Added
to the table were the gross unrealized gains and losses expressed as a percentage of
amortized cost, which is the amount invested.

Exhibit 15: Citigroup Available-for-Sale (AFS) Securities at 31 December 2016

% of Cost:

Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized
(In millions of dollars) Amortized Cost Gains Losses FairValue  Gains Losses
Debt securities AFS
Mortgage-backed securities:
US government-sponsored agency guaranteed $38,663 $248 $506 $38,405 0.6% 1.3%
Prime 2 — — 2 — —
Alt-A 43 7 — 50 16.3% —
Non-US residential 3,852 13 7 3,858 0.3% 0.2%
Commercial 357 2 1 358 0.6% 0.3%
Total mortgage-backed securities $42,917 $270 $514 $42,673 0.6% 1.2%

US Treasury and federal agency securities
US Treasury $113,606 $629 $452 $113,783 0.6% 0.4%
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% of Cost:
Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized
(In millions of dollars) Amortized Cost Gains Losses FairValue Gains Losses
Agency obligations 9,952 21 85 9,888 0.2% 0.9%
Total US Treasury and federal agency $123,558 $650 $537 $123,671 0.5% 0.4%
securities
State and municipal $10,797 $80 $757 $10,120 0.7% 7.0%
Foreign government 98,112 590 554 98,148 0.6% 0.6%
Corporate 17,195 105 176 17,124 0.6% 1.0%
Asset-backed securities 6,810 6 22 6,794 0.1% 0.3%
Other debt securities 503 — — 503 0.0% 0.0%
Total debt securities AFS $299,892 $1,701 $2,560 $299,033 0.6% 0.9%
Marketable equity securities AFS $377 $20 $6 $391 5.3% 1.6%
Total securities AFS $300,269 $1,721 $2,566 $299,424 0.6% 0.9%

The fair value ($299,424 million) is less than the amortized cost ($300,269 million) in

the aggregate, and the net difference is $845 million; the largest contributor to that

loss is the state and municipal obligations, with a $757 million loss. At a 7% loss in

value, those were the only securities to generate losses greater than 2%.
Observations from the AFS securities valuation table:

= Although Citigroup has not generated a net winning strategy with its avail-
able-for-sale investments, its losses do not suggest reckless abandon.

= In future years, new US GAAP standards will eliminate the AFS classi-
fication for marketable equity securities. They will still be measured at
fair value, just as they were measured at year end 2016. Starting in 2018,
however, the gains and losses resulting from remeasurement will be shown
directly in the income statement instead of being recorded in other compre-
hensive income. As of 31 December 2016, Citigroup’s unrealized gains on
its AFS equity investments exceeded its unrealized losses. Based on market
values at that point in time, the reclassification would benefit the group’s
income.

A closer look at the gross unrealized losses is possible, because Note 13 also contains
a simple aging of the losses: It shows how much of the $2.566 billion of unrealized
losses are less than 12 months old and how much of the losses are 12 months old or
older, by category. The longer a loss position exists, the greater the possibility that
a security is impaired on an “other-than-temporary” basis. It would be unusual for
losses to exist for long periods of time and then suddenly reverse.

The aging for the losses in Citigroup’s available-for-sale securities is shown in
Exhibit 16. Observations from the aging of AFS unrealized losses table:

= A slight majority (54%) of the losses are less than 12 months old, making
them of less concern than the rest.

= Of the $1.172 billion of gross unrealized losses 12 months old or older, 60%
($702 million) are related to state and municipal securities, which raises a
concern that the largest class of losses may in fact become realized.
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Exhibit 16: Citigroup Aging of Unrealized Losses on Available-for-Sale Securities at 31 December 2016

Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total
Gross Gross
unrealized unrealized Gross unre-
(In millions of dollars) Fair value losses Fair value losses Fair value alized losses
Mortgage-backed securities
US government-sponsored agency $23,534 $436 $2,236 $70 $25,770 $506
sponsored
Prime 1 — — — 1 —
Non-US residential 486 — 1,276 7 1,762 7
Commercial 75 1 58 — 133 1
Total mortgage-backed securities $24,096 $437 $3,570 $77 $27,666 $514
US Treasury and federal agency
securities
US Treasury $44,342 $445 $1,335 $7 $45,677 $452
Agency obligations 6,552 83 250 2 6,802 85
Total US Treasury and federal agency $50,894 $528 $1,585 $9 $52,479 $537
securities
State and municipal $1,616 $55 $3,116 $702 $4,732 $757
Foreign government 38,226 243 8,973 311 47,199 554
Corporate 7,011 129 1,877 47 8,888 176
Asset-backed securities 411 — 3,213 22 3,624 22
Other debt securities 5 — — — 5 —
Marketable equity securities AFS 19 2 24 4 43 6
Total securities AFS $122,278 $1,394 $22,358 $1,172 $144,636 $2,566

A similar analysis can be done for the held-to-maturity (HTM) securities. Even though
they represent a much smaller proportion of total assets, they still provide evidence
of the manager’s investment acumen. The result of the HTM securities review of the
losses and aging of the losses is consistent with the results of the available-for-sale
securities review. Though not presented in exhibits because of space limitations,
Citigroup’s unrealized losses on its HTM securities totaled $457 million, which is
1.3% of the amount invested. Of that $457 million loss in value, 82% ($373 million)
stemmed from held-to-maturity securities that were showing losses older than 12
months, of which $180 million related to state and municipal securities.
Observations on the HTM securities:

= The losses on the HTM securities are much less in dollar amount than the
losses on the AFS securities, and although they are minor in percentage
terms of a loss, they are troubling because of their age. Problem assets do
not usually improve with age, and the fact that the bulk of the losses on the
HTM securities are older than 12 months may indicate management reluc-
tance to report economic reality.

= Because HTM securities are reported at amortized cost on the balance
sheet, the classification obscures the fair value of the securities. The age of
the securities generating the losses indicates that there may be more severe
impairment than already recognized. The analysis of the HTM securities
reinforces the observations noted in the analysis of the available-for-sale
securities review.
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Investment assets are not as significant in amount or as risky as the loans. The
analyst wants to determine that the loans are the result of a sound credit policy and
will be realized over their term. This cannot be determined without analyzing the
allowance for loan losses. As was seen in Exhibit 14, allowance for loan losses is
a balance sheet account; it is a contra asset account to loans. (It is analogous to an
account common for non-financial institutions, allowance for bad debts, which is a
contra asset account to accounts receivable.) Provision for loan losses is an income
statement expense account that increases the amount of the allowance for loan losses.
Actual loan losses (i.e., charge-offs—net of recoveries) reduce the amount of the
allowance for loan losses.

The allowance for loan losses matters greatly to understanding loan quality, because
total loans minus the allowance for loan losses represents the expected value of the
loans. A bank’s balance sheet will typically show the total amount of loans, the amount
of allowance for loan losses, and the net amount. Importantly, the allowance for loan
losses is discretionary by its very nature. Underestimating the allowance for loan losses
would overstate the amounts reported for assets and net income. Almost every bank
will disclose allowances for loan losses among its most critical accounting estimates.

To effectively assess the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses, an analyst can
examine measures that involve less management discretion. Net charge-offs of loans
are less discretionary indicators of loan quality than the allowance for loan losses but
have the disadvantage of being a confirming event: The loan has already turned out to
be a non-performing asset. Another disadvantage is that net charge-offs can be used in
good times to pack away earnings to be brought into earnings later through recoveries
of charge-offs. Non-performing loans are another measure that can help in assessing
adequacy of the allowance for loan losses. Non-performing (i.e., non-accrual) loans
are loans that are not currently paying their contractual amounts due, making them
a more objective measure of the quality of loans in the portfolio.

Three ratios are helpful in assessing the quality of the allowance for loan losses:

= The ratio of the allowance for loan losses to non-performing loans
= The ratio of the allowance for loan losses to net loan charge-offs

= The ratio of the provision for loan losses to net loan charge-offs

In each ratio, a discretionary measure (such as the allowance for loan losses or
provision for loan losses) is compared to a more objective measure.2? In the case of
Citigroup, the loans and the allowance for loan losses are stratified between con-
sumer loans and corporate loans. Because the types of loan customers differ greatly,
the analysis of each should be performed separately. Exhibit 17 shows the variables
required to compute the ratios for the last five years, selected from the management
discussion and analysis of the relevant 10-Ks, and the resulting ratios.

Exhibit 17: Citigroup’s Loan Loss Analysis Data at 31 December

(In millions of dollars) 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Data for Calculating Allowance for Loan Loss Ratios
Allowance for loan losses:
Consumer $9,358 $9,835 $13,547 $16,974 $22,585
Corporate $2,702 $2,791 $2,447 $2,674 $2,870

Provision for loan losses:

29 For more discussion on the analysis of the allowance of loan loss reserves, see Stephen G. Ryan, Financial
Instruments and Institutions: Accounting and Disclosure Rules (Hoboken, NJ: Wiley, 2002): 100—105.
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(In millions of dollars) 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Consumer $6,323 $6,228 $6,695 $7,587 $10,312

Corporate $426 $880 $133 $17 $146

Charge-offs:

Consumer $7,644 $8,692 $10,650 $12,400 $16,365

Corporate $578 $349 $458 $369 $640

Recoveries:

Consumer $1,594 $1,634 $1,975 $2,138 $2,357

Corporate $67 $105 $160 $168 $417

Net charge-offs:

Consumer $6,050 $7,058 $8,675 $10,262 $14,008

Corporate $511 $244 $298 $201 $223

Non-accrual loans:

Consumer $3,158 $3,658 $5,905 $7,045 $9,136

Corporate $2,421 $1,596 $1,202 $1,958 $2,394
Allowance for Loan Loss Ratios

Allowance for loan losses to non-accrual

loans:

Consumer 2.96 2.69 2.29 241 2.47

Corporate 1.12 1.75 2.04 1.37 1.20

Allowance for loan losses to net loan

charge-offs:

Consumer 1.55 1.39 1.56 1.65 1.61

Corporate 5.29 11.44 8.21 13.30 12.87

Provision for loan losses to net loan

charge-offs:

Consumer 1.05 0.88 0.77 0.74 0.74

Corporate 0.83 3.61 0.45 0.08 0.65

Observations on the allowance for loan losses to non-accrual loans, which are loans
that have experienced some non-payment from borrowers:

= For the consumer loans, the 2016 ratio of 2.96 is the highest level in the last
five years, and this ratio has been increasing in the last two years. It indi-
cates that the allowance (a discretionary amount) is increasing faster than
the actual non-accrual loans, lending confidence to analysts that the allow-
ance is being built in advance of loans turning out poorly.

= For the corporate loans, the 2016 ratio of 1.12 is less definitive. It might
be expected that the ratio would be more volatile than for the consumer
business because the corporate lending business is not homogeneous, and
specific credits and their failures could cause spikes in the ratio. Still, the
allowance has declined in each of the last three years, and in 2016, it is at its
lowest point in five years. This arouses concern that the allowance for loan
losses may be a thin layer of protection against future losses.

Observations on the allowance for loan losses to net loan charge-offs:

= For the consumer loans, the 2016 ratio of 1.55 shows improvement from
2015 and indicates that there is a cushion between the allowance and the net
loan charge-offs that has remained fairly constant over the last five years.
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= For the corporate loans, the 2016 ratio of 5.29 shows an ample cushion
between the allowance and the net loan charge-offs, although it declined
greatly from 2015 and is much lower than at any time in the last five years.

Observations on the provision for loan losses to net loan charge-offs:

= The provision for loan losses is the amount added to the allowance each
year, and one should expect that the provision correlates to the amount of
net loan charge-offs.

= For the consumer loans, the 2016 ratio is the first ratio in five years where
the provision exceeded the net loan charge-offs, and although it had
been lower in the previous four years, the proportion of the provision to
charge-offs had been increasing in the last three years. This indicates that
the bank had become more conservative in its provisioning.

= For the corporate loans, the 2016 ratio significantly decreased from the pre-
vious year, and the ratio has been less than 1.0 in four of the last five years.
This indicates that the provision for corporate loans has trailed the actual
net charge-off experience. The large addition in 2015 gives the appearance of
an urgent “catch-up” adjustment.

In summary, Citigroup’s asset quality at the end of 2016 was mixed. The policies for
investments appear to be fairly conservative, but the age of some of the investments
with unrealized losses indicates a possible denial of impairment. With regard to loan
quality, the ratio analysis of the allowance for loan losses suggests that the consumer
loans appear to be well reserved, but the same ratio analysis for the corporate loans
does not generate the same degree of comfort. A rating of 2.5—near the midpoint of
the rating scale—could be assigned to the asset quality based on the mixed signals
from the evidence.

Management Capabilities

External investors can observe only circumstantial evidence of management’s quality.
Some circumstantial evidence can be found through a review of the proxy statement.
Observations based on a review of Citigroup’s 2016 proxy:

= Citigroup aims for t